
CITY OF SCOTTSBLUFF
City of Scottsbluff Council Chambers

2525 Circle Drive, Scottsbluff, NE  69361
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA

Regular Meeting
June 2, 2014

6:00 PM

1. Roll Call

2. Pledge of Allegiance.

3. For public information, a copy of the Nebraska Open Meetings Act is available for 
review.

4. Notice of changes in the agenda by the city clerk (Additions may not be made to this 
agenda less than 24 hours before the beginning of the meeting unless added under Item 5 
of this agenda.)

5. Citizens with business not scheduled on the agenda (As required by state law, no matter 
may be considered under this item unless council determines that the matter requires 
emergency action.)

6. Consent Calendar:

a) Approve the minutes of the  May 19, 2014 Regular Meeting.

b) Consider approval of plans and specifications for Compost Facility 
improvements and authorize the city clerk to advertise for bids to be received by 
June 24, 2014 at 2:00 p.m.

c) Consider approval of plans and specifications for the Five Oaks Paving District 
311 and authorize the city clerk to advertise for bids to be received by 11:00 
a.m.,  June 27, 2014

7. Claims:

a) Council to approve a claim in the amount of $2239.88 to Scotts Bluff County 
for the purchase of an ID Card Printer for Region 22 Emergency Management.

b) Regular Claims

8. Petitions, Communications, Public Input:

a) Council to consider a Community Festival Permit for the NEXT Young 
Professionals at the Broadway Mini Park, parking lot, including street closures, 
vendors, and noise permit for a Best of the West Beer and Wine Festival on 
August 23, 2014 from 12:00 noon to 9:00 p.m.

b) Council to consider a Special Designated Liquor License for the Liquor Cabinet 
and NEXT Young Professionals to serve wine and beer at a Community 
Festival event at the Broadway Mini Park on August 23, 2014 from 12:00 noon 
to 9:00 p.m.

c) Council to receive a report from Lane Danielzuk, Gering City Administrator, on 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 1 / 404



2

a   proposal from the Sports Facility Advisory on the development of a regional 
recreation master plan.

9. Reports from Staff, Boards & Commissions:

a) Council to approve an outdoor teen dance and noise permit at the Lied 
Scottsbluff Public Library on July 18, 2014 from 7:00 p.m. to 9:00 p.m.

b) Council to authorize Mayor to sign Grant Agreement for a 319 grant in the 
amount of $40,000.00 for Stormwater Management.

c) Council to authorize Mayor to sign the contract with Copier Connection for a 
Police Department copy machine.

d) Council to consider the Developers Agreement with C & T Holdings, LLC,  for 
the Five Oaks project and authorize the Mayor to execute the agreement.

10. Resolution & Ordinances:

a) Council to consider the Ordinance for Annexation of Block 9, Five Oaks 
Subdivision, situated on the SE corner of Avenue I and 42nd Street (second 
reading).

b) Council to consider the Ordinance for Annexation of proposed Block 6, & 
Block 14, Five Oaks Subdivision, these parcels are west of proposed Five Oaks 
Drive and north of 36th Street and proposed Sage Brush Drive (second reading).

11. Executive Session

a) Council reserves the right to enter into closed session if deemed necessary if the 
item is on the agenda.

12. Public Comments:   The purpose of this agenda item is to allow for public comment of 
items for potential discussion at a future Council Meeting.  Comments brought to the 
Council are for information only.  The Council will not take any action on the item 
except for referring it to staff to address or placement on a future Council Agenda.  This 
comment period will be limited to three (3) minutes per person

13. Council reports (informational only):
14. Scottsbluff Youth Council Representative report (informational only):
15. Adjournment.

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 2 / 404



City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska
Monday, June 2, 2014

Regular Meeting

Item Consent1

Approve the minutes of the  May 19, 2014 Regular Meeting.

Staff Contact: Cindy Dickinson, City Clerk

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 3 / 404



1

Regular Meeting
May 19, 2014

The Scottsbluff City Council met in a regular meeting on Monday, May 19, 2014 at 6:00 p.m. in 
the Council Chambers of City Hall, 2525 Circle Drive, Scottsbluff.  A notice of the meeting had been 
published on May 16, 2014, in the Star Herald, a newspaper published and of general circulation in the 
city. The notice stated the date, hour and place of the meeting, that the meeting would be open to the 
public. That anyone with a disability desiring reasonable accommodation to attend the council meeting 
should contact the city clerk’s office, and that an agenda of the meeting kept continuously current was 
available for public inspection at the office of the city clerk in City Hall; provided, the city council could 
modify the agenda at the meeting if it determined that an emergency so required.  A similar notice, 
together with a copy of the agenda, also had been delivered to each council member, made available to 
radio stations KNEB, KMOR, KOAQ, and television stations KSTF and KDUH, and the Star Herald.  
The notice was also available on the City’s website on May 16, 2014.  An agenda kept continuously 
current was available for public inspection at the office of the city clerk at all times from publication of 
the notice to the time of the meeting.  

Mayor Randy Meininger presided and City Clerk Dickinson recorded the proceedings. The 
Pledge of Allegiance was recited.  Mayor Meininger welcomed everyone in attendance and encouraged 
all citizens to participate in the council meeting asking those wishing to speak to come to the microphone 
and state their name and address for the record. Mayor Meininger informed those in attendance that a 
copy of the Nebraska Open Meetings Act is posted in the back of the room on the west wall for the 
public’s review. The following Council Members were present: Raymond Gonzales, Mark McCarthy, 
Randy Meininger, Liz Hilyard and Scott Shaver. Absent: None.  

Mayor Meininger asked if there were any changes to the agenda. Item number 11 a, Report from 
Gering City Administrator, was removed. Mayor Meininger asked if any citizens with business not 
scheduled on the agenda wished to include an item providing the City Council determines the item 
requires emergency action. There were none.

Moved by Council Member Gonzales, seconded by Council Member McCarthy, that: 

1. “The minutes of the  May 5, 2014 Regular Meeting be approved,”

2. “The plans and specifications for the Radiological Contaminant Study be approved and 
authorize the City Clerk to advertise for bids to be received by 2:00 p.m. June 9, 2014,”

3. “Council received the Lied Scottsbluff Public Library summer schedule,” “YEAS”, Gonzales, 
Shaver, McCarthy, Meininger and Hilyard,  NAYS” None. Absent: None.

Moved by Mayor Meininger, seconded by Council Member Gonzales, “that the following claims be 
and hereby are approved and should be paid as provided by law out of the respective funds designated in 
the list of claims dated May 19, 2014, as on file with the City Clerk and submitted to the City Council,”  
“YEAS”, Gonzales, Shaver, McCarthy, Meininger and Hilyard,  “NAYS” None. Absent: None.

CLAIMS
911 CUSTOM,PUB SAFETY CIP PO#2,698.95;  ABBIGAIL YELLMAN,REIMB,59.66;  ACTION 
COMMUNICATION INC.,PUB SAFETY-CIP PO#1,3524.73;  AIR EVAC EMS, INC, 
MEMBERSHIPS, 2090;  AL'S TOWING,CONTRACTUAL,85;  APWA,MEMBERSHIPS,146;  
ASSURITY LIFE INSURANCE CO,LIFE INS EE PD,34.36;  AUTOZONE, INC,DEP SUP,29.09;  B & 
C STEEL CORPORATION,EQP MTC,12.89;  B TO STAY B BOOKS INC,BKS,80.67;  BLUFFS 
SANITARY SUPPLY INC.,JANIT SUPPL,39.58;  BRUNZ, BRANDI,SCHOOLS & CONF,54;  

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 4 / 404



2

CAPITAL BUSINESS SYSTEMS INC.,MAINT CONTRCT,136.72;  CARLSON, DEBRA, 
REIMB.,46.32;  CARR TRUMBULL LBR INC.,DEPT SUP,105.18;  CEMENTER'S 
INC,CEMENT,48.15;  CENTRAL STATES WIRE PRODUCT INC.,DEPT SUPPLIES,1575;  
CENTURY LUMBER CENTER,DEP SUP,22.97;  CENTURY MFG,OTHER FUEL,564.21;  CITY OF 
GERING,DISPOSAL FEES,42501.93;  CITY OF SCB,PETTY CASH,81.74;  CONNECTING POINT 
INC,RENT-MACH,53.94;  CONSOLIDATED MANAGEMENT,SCHOOLS & CONF,561.25;  
CONTRACTORS MATERIALS INC.,SUPP,105.68;  CREDIT MANAGEMENT SERVICES 
INC.,WAGE ATT.,400.94;  CULLIGAN OF SCOTTSBLUFF,DEPT SUPPLIES,113.8;  D & H 
ELECTRONICS INC.,DEPT SUP,129.57;  DALE'S TIRE & RETREADING, INC.,VEHICLE 
MTNC,2033.63;  DUHAMEL BROADCASTING ENT.,ADVERTISING,325;  ENERGY 
LABORATORIES, INC,SAMPLES,108;  ENVIRO SERV INC,SAMPLES,105;  FEDERAL EXPRESS 
CORP.,SHIPPING FEES,107.95;  FIRST STATE BANK,LEASE PAYMENT,52569.86;  FLOYD'S 
SALES & SERV INC.,VEHICLE MTNC,695.52;  FRANK IMPLEMENT INC.,PARTS,402.55;  
FREMONT MOTOR SCOTTSBLUFF,LLC,VEHICLE MTNC,18.63;  GERING CITIZEN,NWS 
SUBSC.,30;  GOLD WATCH LLC,DISPOSAL FEES,1500;  HACH COMPANY,LAB SUP,265.47;  
HEATHER BECK, REFUND 25.91; HEILBRUN FARM IND SUPP.INC.,DEPT SUPPLIES,1435.73;  
HOLIDAY INN - MID TOWN,SCHOOLS & CONF,83;  HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES, 
STRMWTR SUPPLIES,0.98;  ICMA RETIREMENT TRUST-457,DEFERRED COMP - EE,1325.14;  
IDEAL LINEN SUP INC.,DEPT SUPPLIES,819.94;  INDEPENDENT PLUMBING & HEATING, 
INC,GRD MTC,356.04;  INGRAM LIBRARY SERVICES INC,BKS,404.65;  INTERNAL REVENUE 
SERVICE,941 TAXES WITHHELD,59488.34;  INTRALINKS, INC,EQUIP. MNT,37.5;  JERRY 
HIGEL,TRAFFIC SIGNAL & CONTRLLR SERVICE,1700;  JIRDON AGRI CHEM.INC., MOS. 
SUPP,623.65;  JOHN DEERE FINANCIAL,DEP SUP,384.41;  JOHN DEERE FINANCIAL,GRD 
MTC,26.98;  JOHN DEERE FINANCIAL,VEH MTC,12.99;  K N E B,STRM WTR ADVTSG,400;  
KEMBEL SAND & GRAVEL INC,GRD MTC,741.35;  KIMBALL MIDWEST,SUPP,571.24;  LANCE 
KITE,SCHOOLS & CONF,134;  LEXISNEXIS RISK DATA MANAGMENT INC,CONSULTING,100;  
LONG'S EXTERIOR DESIGN LLC,STRM WTR SUP,12807.47;  M.C. SCHAFF & ASSOC, 
INC,COMPOST FACILITY UPGRADE,2825.5;  MADISON NATIONAL LIFE INS CO, INC,LIFE 
INSURANCE - ER,1781.11;  MAILFINANCE INC,EQUIP LEASE,153.09;  MARINE RESCUE 
PRODUCTS, INC.,DEP SUP,943.72;  MATHESON TRI-GAS INC,DEPT SUP,37.88;  MATTHEW 
BRODERICK,SCHOOLS & CONF,54;  MENARDS, DEP SUP,315.49;  MENDOZA, 
FRANK,MEMBERSHIPS,57.5;  MES,EQUIP REPL.,276;  MONEY WISE OFFICE SUPPLIES,DEPT 
SUPP.,309.77;  MONUMENT PREVENTION COALITION,CONTRACTUAL,880;  NE CHILD 
SUPPORT PAYMENT CENTER,NE CHILD SUPPORT PYBLE,2089.06;  NE LAW ENFORCEMENT 
TRAINING CENTER,SCHOOLS & CONF,50;  NEBRASK@ ONLINE,CONTRACT,60;  NEBRASKA 
MACHINERY COMPANY,EQUIP MAINT,11200;  NEBRASKALAND TIRE,VEH MAINT,132.77;  
NORTHWEST PIPE FITTINGS, INC. OF SCB,GRD MTC,534.84;  OCLC, INC,CONTR. 
SVCS,235.96;  ONE CALL CONCEPTS, CONTRCTL SVC,161.8;  OREGON TRAIL PLBG & HTG 
INC,CONTRACTUAL SVC,130;  PANHANDLE COOP INC.,GASOLINE,25525.9;  PANHANDLE 
GEOTECHNICAL, CONTRACTUAL SVC,685;  PANHANDLE HUMANE SOC,CONTRCTL 
SVC,4881.32;  PERMA-BOUND,BKS,2507.16;  PIONEER TINT & CLEAR BRA,PUB SAFETY-CIP 
PO#2,398;  PLATTE VALLEY BANK,HSA EE PYBLE,13998.46;  POSTMASTER,POSTAGE,870.78;  
POWERPLAN, EQUIP MTNC,953.31;  QUILL CORP,DEPT SUPP,288.95;  RCI,MEDICAL 
EXP,41697.44;  REGION I OFFICE OF HUMAN DEVEL,CONTRACTUAL SERVICES,825;  S M E 
C,EE CONTRIBUTION - BIWEEKLY,240;  SANDBERG IMPLEMENT, INC,EQP MTC,336.33;  SCB 
CO WEED CONTROL, FIREARMS RANGE,272.5;  SCB COUNTY,SEPTIC PERMIT,83;  SCB 
FIREFIGHTERS UNION LOCAL 1454,FIRE EE DUES,210;  SCB POLICE OFFICERS 
ASS'N,POLICE EE DUES,378;  SCOTTS BLUFF COUNTY COURT,COURT COSTS,286;  
SCOTTSBLUFF BODY & PAINT, INC,PUB SAFETY-CIP PO #1,967.97;  SCOTTSBLUFF 
LANDSCAPING INC,GRD MTC,425;  SCOTTSBLUFF SCREENPRINTING & EMBROIDERY, 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 5 / 404



3

LLC,DEP SUP,2508.5;  SEEWALD CONSTRUCTION CO,STRUCTURES,56084.8;  SHERIFF'S 
OFFICE,LEGAL FEES,32.16;  SHOWCASES,DPT SUP.,143.37;  SIMMONS OLSEN LAW FIRM, 
P.C.,CONTRACTUAL SERVICES,10392.12;  SIMON CONTRACTORS, CONCRETE, 4784.85;  
SLAFTER OIL CO INC.,EQP MTC,22.1;  SNELL SERVICES INC.,EQUIP. MNT.,1830;  
SOUTHWESTERN EQUIP. CO. INC.,VEHICLE MTNC,1145.46;  SS AUTOMOTIVE, VEH 
MAINT,390.26;  STAPLES,DEPT SUPPL,313.69;  STAR HERALD,LEGAL PUBLICATIONS, 45.42;  
THE MOWER SHOP,EQP MTC,29.76;  THOMPSON GLASS INC,DEPT SUPPL,360;  TOMMY'S 
JOHNNY'S INC,CON SRV,1305;  TOTAL FUNDS BY HASLER,POSTAGE,1300;  UNIQUE 
MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC,CONT. SVCS,232.7;  UPSTART ENTERPRISES, LLC,DEPT 
SUPPL,84.87;  US BANK,INTEREST,64791.39;  US BANK,DEP SUP,2438.84;  USA BLUEBOOK, 
LAB SUP,598.52;  VALLEY BANK & TRUST CO,INTEREST,10627.5;  VERA CAMPOS, REFUND 
6.06; VERIZON WIRELESS,CELL SERVICE,146.11;  VILLAGRANA JR, MIGUEL,REFUND,25;  
VISTABEAM,DEP SUP,54.95;  WALMART COMMUNITY/GEMB,DEP SUP,336.65;  WELLS 
FARGO BANK N.A.,TSA POLICE,29016.42;  WESTERN PATHOLOGY CONSULTANTS, INC, 
CONTRACT,228;  WESTERN TRAVEL TERMINAL,VEH MAINT,44;  WINNELSON COMPANY 
INC.,DEP SUP,20.42;  WINTER CREEK CANAL CO,POST CLOSURE CARE,4020.75;  YMCA OF 
SCOTTSBLUFF,EE - FAMILY,1371.3.

Council reviewed the Walmart manager liquor license for Daniel Steele.  Mr. Steele approached the 
Council and explained that he has been a Walmart store manager for eight years.  He said that the 
Scottsbluff store has displayed nothing but professionalism and he plans to continue this high standard.  
Regarding the company policy about selling alcohol to minors, he said this violates their policy and 
results in termination.  He has completed the alcohol sales training classes and the staff also attends these 
classes.  Chief Spencer interviewed Mr. Steele and was very impressed with his policies and management 
expertise.  The Liquor License Investigatory Board was also supportive of this manager appointment.

Moved by Council Member McCarthy, seconded by Council Member McCarthy, “to forward a 
positive recommendation to the Nebraska Liquor License Commission for the Liquor License Manager 
License for Daniel Steele as manager of the WalMart Liquor License, located at 3322 Ave. I, Scottsbluff, 
NE,” “YEAS”, Gonzales, Shaver, McCarthy, Meininger and Hilyard,  “NAYS” None. Absent: None.

Mr. Jedd Fischer, Project Manager for Nebraska Public Power District (NPPD), gave an overview 
of the construction of a new substation south of Stegall, NE.  NPPD plans to construct a 115,000 volt 
electric transmission line from the existing Scottsbluff substation to a new substation to be built 
approximately five miles south of Stegall near the existing Stegall Substation.  The approximate 23 mile, 
$39 million transmission line will enhance transmission system reliability in the western Nebraska 
Panhandle region.  The line is expected to be in service by mid-2017.

NPPD has conducted Agency Meetings with US Fish and Wildlife, NE Game and Parks, NE State 
Historical Society, Platte Valley Attractions and the National Park Service.  Their project communication 
methods will include: meetings, newsletters, information through the website, media releases, access to a 
toll free phone and email.

Mayor Meininger opened the Public Hearing at 6:20 p.m. as scheduled for this date to consider the 
Liquor License for Prime Cut Meat Mart and Restaurant.  Moved by Mayor Meininger, seconded by 
Council Member Gonzales, “That the following exhibits, presented on behalf of the City Council, be 
entered into the record: 1) Liquor License Application for Prime  Cut Meat Mart and Restaurant; 2) City 
Council Check List for Section 53-132 (Reissue 2010); 3) Written Statement of Police Chief Kevin 
Spencer;  4) Written Statement of City Clerk Dickinson; 5) Written Statement of Planning Administrator 
Urdiales; “YEAS”, Gonzales, Shaver, McCarthy, Meininger and Hilyard,  “NAYS” None. Absent: None.

Marty and Brenda Manley, owners, and Police Chief Kevin Spencer were sworn in to testify on the 
liquor license.  The Manley’s explained that they have owned the business for 40 years and feel it’s time 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 6 / 404



4

to make some changes. Many of their customers have commented that it would be nice if they had their 
liquor license.  They have done some research, made changes to their employee manual to include 
responsible alcohol server training and policies.  They also installed a security camera by the alcohol 
storage.  All employees who serve or check will be required to take the server training offered by the 
Nebraska State Patrol, if there is a compliance failure, every employee will take the course again and the 
employee responsible for the failure will be terminated.  Mr. Manley added that inventory will be taken 
every night.

Chief Spencer informed the Council that during his interview with the Manley’s, he was very 
impressed with their policy and plan for alcohol sales.  The location of the business was not a concern.  
Mr. Kuckkahn added that the Liquor License Investigatory Board also interviewed the owners and 
expressed their concern regarding control of alcohol at tables with minors.  The owners will make sure 
they have adequate staff to monitor compliance.  There were no comments by the public.  Mayor 
Meininger closed the public hearing at 6:30 p.m.

Moved by Mayor Meininger, seconded by Council Member McCarthy, “to forward a positive 
recommendation to the Nebraska Liquor License Commission regarding the Class I Liquor License for 
Prime Cut Meat Market and Restaurant, 305 West 27th St.,” “YEAS”,  Gonzales, Shaver, McCarthy, 
Meininger and Hilyard,  “NAYS” None. Absent: None.

RESOLUTION NO.  14-05-01

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
SCOTTSBLUFF, NEBRASKA:

1. On May 19, 2014 the matter of the application of a Class I liquor license for Prime Cut Meat 
Market and Restaurant, 305 West 27th St., Scottsbluff, NE 69361 came on for consideration by the 
Council.  The following exhibits were offered and received:

 Exhibit 1 - Application of Class I liquor license for Prime Cut Meat Market and Restaurant, 
                  305 West 27th St., Scottsbluff, NE.
Exhibit 2 - City Council Check List for Section 53-132 (Reissue 2010)
Exhibit 3 - Written statement of Police Chief dated May 15, 2014
Exhibit 4 - Written statement of City Clerk dated May 19, 2014
Exhibit 5 - Written statement of Development Services Director dated April 21, 2014

2. Witnesses were sworn and testimony was received in support of the application at the public 
hearing on this date from  Marty and Brenda Manley.  Police Chief Kevin Spencer spoke on behalf 
of the City.

3. Upon consideration of the evidence and the criterion to be considered by the City Council 
pursuant to law, the City Council finds as follows:
a. Applicant has demonstrated a fitness, willingness, and ability to properly serve or 

sell liquor in conformance to the rules and regulations of the Nebraska Liquor 
Control Act.

b. Applicant has met its burden with regard to the check list provided by Section 53-
132 R.R.S. (1984) and demonstrates a willingness and ability to properly serve or 
sell liquor in conformance to the rules and regulations of the Nebraska Liquor 
Control Act and its management and control appears to be sufficient to insure 
compliance with such rules and regulations.

4. By reason of the above, the Applicant has met the burden of proof and persuasion in producing 
evidence pertaining to the criterion prescribed in the Nebraska Statutes.

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 7 / 404



5

Based on the above findings, the City Council approves the application and recommends to the 
Nebraska Liquor Control Commission that a Retail Class I liquor license be issued to Prime Cut 
Meat Market and Restaurant, at the premises described in the application.

5. The City Clerk shall transmit a copy of this Resolution to the Commission.
6. Cost of publication: $17.17.

Passed and approved this 19th day of May 2014.

____________________________________
Mayor

ATTEST:

_______________________________
City Clerk

“seal”

Mayor Meininger opened the public hearing at 6:31 p.m. as advertised for this date to consider zone 
change requests for Lots 2- 3 and Lots 8 -9, Subdivision of Enterprise Tracts, from R-1A Single Family 
Residential to C-2 Neighborhood and Retail Commercial.  City Planner Annie Folck explained that this 
zone change will bring these lots in line with the existing zoning, making it more marketable to sell.  The 
Planning Commission and staff have recommended approval of this zone change.  There were no 
comments by the public; Mayor Meininger closed the public hearing at 6:35 p.m.  Mayor Meininger 
introduced Ordinance No. 4126 which was read by title on first reading: AN ORDINANCE DEALING 
WITH ZONING, AMENDING SECTION 25-1-4 BY UPDATING THE OFFICIAL ZONING DISTRICT MAP TO 
SHOW THAT REAL ESTATE DESCRIBED AS LOTS 2, 3, 8, AND 9, SUBDIVISION OF ENTERPRISE 
TRACTS 12 THROUGH 15, (31,191 SQ. FT.) CITY OF SCOTTSBLUFF, SCOTTS BLUFF COUNTY, 
NEBRASKA, WHICH IS CURRENTLY ZONED AS R-IA SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL, WILL NOW 
BE INCLUDED IN THE C-2 NEIGHBORHOOD & RETAIL COMMERCIAL, AND REPEALING PRIOR 
SECTION 25-1-4.

Moved by Mayor Meininger, seconded by Council Member Gonzales, “That the statutory rule 
requiring the Ordinance to be read by title on three different days be suspended,”  “YEAS”,  Gonzales, 
Shaver, McCarthy, Meininger and Hilyard,  “NAYS” None. Absent: None. The motion carried having 
been approved by three-fourths of the Council Members.  

Moved by Mayor Meininger, seconded by Council Member Gonzales, “That Ordinance No. 4126  
be adopted,” “YEAS”, Gonzales, Shaver, McCarthy, Meininger and Hilyard, “NAYS” None. Absent: 
None.

City Planner Folck presented the Preliminary Plat for the Five Oaks Subdivision and an overview of 
the entire development.  The revised plat has been scaled back to eliminate one of the streets on the West 
side of Five Oaks Drive. All improvements will be covered under the Developer’s Agreement which will 
be submitted to the City Council.  The developer has submitted three final plats within the revised 
preliminary plat and annexation of the seven residential lots into the corporate boundary of the City.  The 
other part of the development includes another annexation request for the northwest portion of the 
development.  The Planning Commission and staff have made positive recommendations to approve the 
preliminary plat, all final plats, zone changes and the annexation requests.

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 8 / 404



6

Mayor Meininger opened the public hearing at 6:40 p.m. as scheduled for this date to consider the  
Annexation of Block 9, Five Oaks Subdivision.  Ms. Folck explained that this is the property owned by 
Webb Orthodontics and Eye Care, located on the Southeast corner of Avenue I and West 42nd Street.  
There were no comments by the public.  Mayor Meininger closed the public hearing at 6:43 p.m.  Council 
Member Gonzales introduced the Ordinance by title on first reading:  AN ORDINANCE ANNEXING A 
PARCEL OF LAND KNOWN AS BLOCK 9, FIVE OAKS SUBDIVISION LOCATED IN THE 
NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 14, TOWNSHIP 22 NORTH, RANGE 55 WEST OF 
THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, SCOTTS BLUFF COUNTY, NEBRASKA.  This Ordinance 
will be read two more times in accordance with the Nebraska State Statutes.

Mayor Meininger opened the public hearing at 6:43 p.m. as advertised for this date to consider the 
rezone of proposed final plats in Five Oaks Subdivision Lots 1-3, & Tract 2,  Block 6;   Lot 7, Block 13;  
& Lot 8 & Tract 1, Block 14,  from Agriculture to R-1A Residential and approve Ordinance No. 4127.  
There were no comments from the public.  Mayor Meininger closed the public hearing at 6:44 p.m.  
Mayor Meininger introduced Ordinance No. 4127 which was read by title on first reading:  AN 
ORDINANCE DEALING WITH ZONING, AMENDING SECTION 25-1-4 BY UPDATING THE 
OFFICIAL ZONING DISTRICT MAP TO SHOW THAT PROPOSED LOTS 1-3 AND TRACT 2, 
BLOCK 6 OF THE FIVE OAKS FINAL PLAT, CONTAINING 55,136 SQ. FT. (1.27 ACRES), MORE 
OR LESS, SITUATED IN THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 14, TOWNSHIP 22 NORTH, 
RANGE 55 WEST, OF THE 6TH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, SCOTTSBLUFF, SCOTTS BLUFF COUNTY, 
NEBRASKA, ALL IN FIVE OAKS SUBDIVISION, CITY OF SCOTTSBLUFF, SCOTTS BLUFF 
COUNTY, NEBRASKA, WHICH IS CURRENTLY ZONED AS A-AGRICULTURE, WILL NOW BE 
INCLUDED IN THE R-1 A SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL, AND REPEALING PRIOR SECTION 25-
1-4.

Moved by Mayor Meininger, seconded by Council Member Gonzales, “That the statutory rule 
requiring the Ordinance to be read by title on three different days be suspended,”  “YEAS”,  Gonzales, 
Shaver, McCarthy, Meininger and Hilyard,  “NAYS” None. Absent: None. The motion carried having 
been approved by three-fourths of the Council Members.  

Moved by Mayor Meininger, seconded by Council Member McCarthy, “That Ordinance No. 4127  
be adopted,” “YEAS”, Gonzales, Shaver, McCarthy, Meininger and Hilyard, “NAYS” None. Absent: 
None.

Council reviewed the Resolution for the final plat of  Lots 1-3 & Tract 2, Block 6, Five Oaks 
Subdivision.  Moved by Council Member Gonzales, seconded by Council Member Shaver, “to approve 
Resolution No. 14-05-02, the final plat of  Lots 1-3 & Tract 2, Block 6, Five Oaks Subdivision, 
Scottsbluff, NE,” “YEAS”, Gonzales, Shaver, McCarthy, Meininger and Hilyard, “NAYS” None. Absent: 
None.

RESOLUTION NO. 14-05-02

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SCOTTSBLUFF, 
NEBRASKA:

That the final plat of Lots 1-3 and Tract 2 Block 6 of Five Oaks Subdivision, situated in the northwest 
quarter of Section 14, Township 22 North, Range 55 West of the 6th Principal Meridian, to the City of 
Scottsbluff, Scotts Bluff County, Nebraska dated April 14, 2014, duly made, acknowledged and certified, 
is approved. Such Plat is ordered filed and recorded in the office of the Register of Deeds, Scotts Bluff 
County, Nebraska.

Passed and approved this 19th day of May 2014.

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 9 / 404



7

____________________________________

Mayor

Attest:

______________________________

City Clerk

SEAL

Council reviewed the Annexation and Plat Resolutions for the final plat of Lot 7, Block 13, Five 
Oaks Subdivision.  Moved by Council Member McCarthy, seconded by Council Member Hilyard “to 
approve the Annexation Resolution No. 14-05-03 and Plat Resolution No. 14-05-04 for the final plat of 
Lot 7, Block 13, Five Oaks Subdivision,” “YEAS”, Gonzales,  McCarthy, Meininger and Hilyard, 
“NAYS” Shaver. Absent: None.

RESOLUTION 14-05-03

WHEREAS, a request has been submitted by C & T Holdings, L.L.C., a Nebraska Limited Liability 
Company, as the owner for the inclusion of Lot 7, Block 13, Five Oaks Subdivision, within the corporate 
limits and boundaries of the City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska, and said real estate being described as a Tract 
of land being Lot 7, Block 13, Five Oaks Subdivision, all located in the NW 1/4 of Section 14, Township 
22 North, Range 55 West of the 6th Principal Meridian, Scotts Bluff County, Nebraska, more particularly 
described as follows:

A parcel of land known as Lot 7, Block 13 of the Five Oaks final plat, containing 12,950 sq. ft. (0.30 
acres), more or less, in the Northwest Quarter of Section 14, Township 22 North, Range 55 West of the 
6th Principal Meridian in Scotts Bluff County, Nebraska said tract or parcel being more particularly 
described as follows:

Commencing at the Northwest corner of Section 14, Township 22 North, Range 55 West of the 6th 
Principal Meridian, being a found 1" diameter steel bolt, flush in the surface of Highway 71, stamped in 
part “survey mark”, whence the West sixteenth of said Section 14, being a found 3 1/4" diameter 
aluminum cap, flush in the surface of 42nd Street, stamped in part “Baker & Associates Inc. PLS 731" 
bears South 8813'30" East, a distance of 1326.35 feet; thence South 3510'32" East, a distance of 
1638.01 feet to a point on the existing Northeast corner of the intersection of 38th Street and Five Oaks 
Drive and to the point of beginning; 
Thence along the East right of way line of Five Oaks Drive on a arc of a curve to the left, a radius of 
211.00 feet, a central angle of 2126'20", a distance of 78.95 feet, (a chord bearing North 1201'32" West, 
a distance of 78.49 feet),
Thence departing said East right of way line South 8826'48" East, a distance of 128.75 feet,
Thence along an arc of a curve to the right, a radius of 318.00 feet, a central angle of 2152'10", a 
distance of 121.38 feet, (a chord bearing South 1120'37" West, a distance of 120.64 feet) to a point on 
the North right of way line of 38th Street,
Thence along the North right of way line of 38th Street North 6938'46" West, a distance of 129.40 feet to 
the point of beginning, and

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 10 / 404



8

WHEREAS, the Scottsbluff City Planning Commission has received a request and held a public hearing 
on May 12, 2014 on the approval of a plat and inclusion of Lot 7, Block 13, Five Oaks Subdivision within 
the corporate limits and recommended the Scottsbluff City Council approve said request; and

WHEREAS, said request to include the land within the corporate limits was duly signed by the owner of 
the real estate affected with the express intent of platting the real estate as Lot 7, Block 13, Five Oaks 
Subdivision, an Addition to the City of Scottsbluff, Scotts Bluff County, Nebraska; and

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held by the Scottsbluff City Council relating to the request on May 19, 
2014, to approve the plat and deem the addition to be included within the corporate limits to be 
advantageous to and in the best interests of the City of Scottsbluff.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Scottsbluff, 
Nebraska that the real estate which is platted as Lot 7, Block 13, Five Oaks Subdivision, pursuant to 
Section 19-916 of the Nebraska Revised Statutes and Section 21-1-61 of the Scottsbluff Municipal Code 
shall be included within the corporate limits of the City of Scottsbluff, Scotts Bluff County, Nebraska 
shall be and become a part of said City for all purposes whatsoever, that the inhabitants of said addition 
shall be entitled to all the rights and privileges, and shall be subject to all of the laws, ordinances, rules 
and regulations of the City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the inclusion of Lot 7, Block 13, Five Oaks Subdivision within the 
corporate limits of the City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska is subject to the final plat being filed with the Scotts 
Bluff County Register of Deeds.
PASSED AND APPROVED this 19th day of May, 2014.

_________________________________

Mayor

ATTEST:

_____________________________

City Clerk

(Seal)

RESOLUTION 14-05-04

WHEREAS, a request has been submitted by C & T Holdings, L.L.C., a Nebraska Limited 
Liability Company, as the owner for the inclusion of Lot 7, Block 13, Five Oaks Subdivision, within the 
corporate limits and boundaries of the City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska, and said real estate being described 
as a Tract of land located in the NW1/4 of Section 14, Township 22 North, Range 55 West of the 6th 
Principal Meridian, Scotts Bluff County, Nebraska, more particularly described as follows:

A parcel of land known as Lot 7, Block 13 of the Five Oaks final plat, containing 12,950 sq. ft. 
(0.30 acres), more or less, in the Northwest Quarter of Section 14, Township 22 North, Range 55 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 11 / 404



9

West of the 6th Principal Meridian in Scotts Bluff County, Nebraska said tract or parcel being 
more particularly described as follows:

Commencing at the Northwest corner of Section 14, Township 22 North, Range 55 West of the 
6th Principal Meridian, being a found 1" diameter steel bolt, flush in the surface of Highway 71, 
stamped in part “survey mark”, whence the West sixteenth of said Section 14, being a found 3 
1/4" diameter aluminum cap, flush in the surface of 42nd Street, stamped in part “Baker & 
Associates Inc. PLS 731" bears South 8813'30" East, a distance of 1326.35 feet; thence South 
3510'32" East, a distance of 1638.01 feet to a point on the existing Northeast corner of the 
intersection of 38th Street and Five Oaks Drive and to the point of beginning; 

Thence along the East right of way line of Five Oaks Drive on a arc of a curve to the left, a radius 
of 211.00 feet, a central angle of 2126'20", a distance of 78.95 feet, (a chord bearing North 
1201'32" West, a distance of 78.49 feet),

Thence departing said East right of way line South 8826'48" East, a distance of 128.75 feet,

Thence along an arc of a curve to the right, a radius of 318.00 feet, a central angle of 2152'10", a 
distance of 121.38 feet, (a chord bearing South 1120'37" West, a distance of 120.64 feet) to a 
point on the North right of way line of 38th Street,

Thence along the North right of way line of 38th Street North 6938'46" West, a distance of 
129.40 feet to the point of beginning, and

WHEREAS, the Scottsbluff City Planning Commission has received a request and held a public 
hearing on May 12, 2014 on the approval of a plat and inclusion of Lot 7, Block 13, Five Oaks 
Subdivision within the corporate limits and recommend the Scottsbluff City Council approve the plat and 
request to include within the corporate limits; and

WHEREAS, said request to include the land within the corporate limits was duly signed by the 
owner of the real estate affected with the express intent of platting the real estate as Lot 7, Block 13, Five 
Oaks Subdivision, an Addition to the City of Scottsbluff, Scotts Bluff County, Nebraska; and

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held by the Scottsbluff City Council relating to the request on 
May 19, 2014, to approve the plat and deem the addition to be included within the corporate limits as it 
was advantageous to and in the best interests of the City of Scottsbluff.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Scottsbluff, Nebraska that the plat of Lot 7, Block 13, Five Oaks Subdivision, an Addition to the City of 
Scottsbluff, Scotts Bluff County, Nebraska, duly made out, acknowledged and certified, and the same 
hereby is approved and that the Mayor of the City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska shall be and is hereby 
authorized and directed to execute the final plat on behalf of the City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska. 

PASSED AND APPROVED this 19th day of  May, 2014.

_________________________________
Mayor

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 12 / 404



10

ATTEST:

_____________________________
City Cl City Clerk 

(SEAL)

Moved by Council Member Gonzales, seconded by Mayor Meininger, “to approve Resolution 
No. 14-05-05 Final Plat of Lot 8 and Tract 1, Block 14, Five Oaks Subdivision, City of Scottsbluff,” 
“YEAS”, Gonzales, Shaver, McCarthy, Meininger and Hilyard, “NAYS” None. Absent: None.

RESOLUTION NO. 14-05-05

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SCOTTSBLUFF, 
NEBRASKA:

That the final plat of Lot 8 and Tract 1 of Block 14 of Five Oaks Subdivision, situated in the northwest 
quarter of Section 14, Township 22 North, Range 55 West of the 6th Principal Meridian, to the City of 
Scottsbluff, Scotts Bluff County, Nebraska dated April 14, 2014, duly made, acknowledged and certified, 
is approved. Such Plat is ordered filed and recorded in the office of the Register of Deeds, Scotts Bluff 
County, Nebraska.

Passed and approved this 19th day of May 2014.

____________________________________

Mayor

Attest:

______________________________

City Clerk

SEAL

Mayor Meininger opened the public hearing at 6:45 p.m. as advertised for this date to consider 
the Annexation of proposed Block 6, & Block 14, Five Oaks Subdivision.  These parcels are west of 
proposed Five Oaks Drive and north of 36th Street and proposed Sage Brush Drive.  There were no 
comments from the public.  Mayor Meininger closed the public hearing at 6:47 p.m.  Council Member 
Gonzales introduced the Ordinance which was read by title on first reading: AN ORDINANCE 
ANNEXING CERTAIN REAL ESTATE LOCATED IN THE  NORTHWEST QUARTER OF 
SECTION 14, TOWNSHIP 22 NORTH, RANGE 55 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL 
MERIDIAN, SCOTTS BLUFF COUNTY, NEBRASKA, PLATTED AND NOW KNOWN AS 
LOTS 1-3 AND TRACT 2, BLOCK 6 AND LOT 8 AND TRACT 1, BLOCK 14, OF FIVE OAKS 
SUBDIVISION, CITY OF SCOTTSBLUFF, SCOTTS BLUFF COUNTY, NEBRASKA. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 13 / 404



11

City Manager Kuckkahn reported on the financial condition of the city as recently reviewed by 
the Revenue Committee.  He reported that the City is in excellent financial condition with a reserve of $3 
million, which is substantially larger than previous years.  The Economic Development fund is very 
strong with a current balance of $5 million, so we will be looking at appropriate allocations for this fund, 
such as capital improvements, subdividing, possible land acquisitions, and providing developable land to 
attract business. 

The City’s budget is in excellent shape with adequate reserves.  Our levy is very low, so there is 
some flexibility if we decide to increase the levy.  Our current budget condition is a result of good 
decisions the Council has made regarding the budget.  The Revenue Committee is recommending zero 
growth and zero increase in assumed sales tax revenue.  We are looking at some adjustments now to 
accommodate any unforeseen decreases in revenue in the future.  

Moved by Council Member McCarthy, seconded by Council Member Hilyard, “to accept the 
Revenue Committee Revenue Assumptions for the FY 2015 budget,” “YEAS”, Gonzales,  McCarthy, 
Meininger and Hilyard, “NAYS” Shaver. Absent: None.

Assistant City Manager Johnson presented an agreement with the YMCA, providing for use of 
the park ponds on the east side of Riverside Park for their summer recreation programs.  The YMCA will 
use the ponds at no cost.  Moved by Council Member Gonzales, seconded by Council Member Shaver, 
“to approve the license agreement with the YMCA for the use of Riverside Park ponds and authorize the 
Mayor to execute the agreement,” “YEAS”, Gonzales, Shaver, McCarthy, Meininger and Hilyard, 
“NAYS” None. Absent: None.

City Manager Kuckkahn presented the LB840 extension agreement with Vertex, which will allow 
them time to achieve their hiring goals.  The logic behind this extension is that they have good employees 
and we want them to continue with their business growth.  The LB840 Application Review committee 
recommended approval of the extension. The Economic Development Citizens Review Committee will 
review the performance at a later date.  Moved by Council Member Gonzales, seconded by Council 
Member Hilyard, “to approve the Economic Development Assistance Extension Agreement with Vertex 
and authorize the City Manager to execute the agreement,” “YEAS”, Gonzales,  McCarthy, Meininger 
and Hilyard, “NAYS” Shaver. Absent: None.

Assistant City Manager Johnson presented the agreement with Western States Contracting 
Alliance for a new postage machine which will be $106.76 per month for the first year, increasing to 
$148.76 for four years.  Moved by Council Member McCarthy, seconded by Council Member Gonzales, 
“to authorize the Mayor to sign the lease agreement for the new postage machine, “YEAS”, Gonzales, 
Shaver, McCarthy, Meininger and Hilyard, “NAYS” None. Absent: None.

Mr. Johnson presented the agreement to purchase a folder/inserter machine.  Following the software 
conversion, it became necessary to purchase a new folder machine as our invoices are now paper.  The 
purchase price of this equipment is $7,213.00 and is covered by the software CIP budget.  A new machine 
was preferred over a used machine due to the large amount of use and the intricate parts in the machine.  
Moved by Council Member Gonzales, seconded by Council Member Hilyard, “to authorize the Mayor to 
sign the purchase agreement for a folder/inserter machine,” “YEAS”, Gonzales,  McCarthy, Meininger 
and Hilyard, “NAYS” Shaver. Absent: None.

Council reviewed the lease agreement with Verizon for construction of a cell tower on city owned 
land located at the 23 Club Baseball complex.  Mr. Kuckkahn explained that this has been a lengthy 
process with Verizon.  The zoning in this location is C-2 and a tower can go as high as 150’, however, it’s 
unlikely it will be that tall.  The lease amount is $900 per month.  Mr. Shaver commented that there was 
not a provision or fund set aside in the contract for clean-up and removal if Verizon abandoned the 
location.  Moved by Mayor Meininger, seconded by Council Member Gonzales, “to approve the  
agreement with Verizon to lease land located in the SW corner of the 23 Club Baseball complex for the 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 14 / 404



12

construction of a cell tower,” “YEAS”, Gonzales,  McCarthy, Meininger and Hilyard, “NAYS” Shaver. 
Absent: None.

City Planner Folck presented a certification for an Agricultural Estate Dwelling site in the city’s 
extra territorial jurisdiction.  The owners have subdivided 2.6 acres of the farmland which will be 
developed into a rural residential home.  Moved by Council Member Gonzales, seconded by Council 
Member Hilyard, “to approve the plat for an Agricultural Estate Dwelling site situated north of  Highland 
Road and West of County Road 24 and authorize the Mayor to sign the certification,” “YEAS”, Gonzales, 
Shaver, McCarthy, Meininger and Hilyard, “NAYS” None. Absent: None.

Mr. Kuckkahn presented the ordinance allowing for the creation of Paving District No. 311, which 
will be a special assessment district, repaid by those who benefit from the improvement.  Mayor 
Meininger introduced Ordinance No. 4128 which was read by title on first reading: AN ORDINANCE 
OF THE CITY OF SCOTTSBLUFF, NEBRASKA CREATING PAVING DISTRICT NO. 311; 
DEFINING THE SAME AND THE LIMITS THEREOF; PROVIDING FOR PAVING, GRADING, 
CURBING AND GUTTERING, OR SUCH OTHER WORK AS IS NECESSARY AND INCIDENTAL 
THERETO; PROVIDING FOR PLANS, SPECIFICATIONS, ESTIMATES OF COST AND 
SECURING OF BIDS; PROVIDING FOR THE PAYMENT OF SUCH WORK AND OTHER 
EXPENSES INCIDENTAL THERETO; PROVIDING FOR ASSESSMENT OF THE COST OF SAID 
IMPROVEMENTS AGAINST THE PROPERTY IN SAID DISTRICT ESPECIALLY BENEFITTED 
THEREBY IN PROPORTION TO SAID BENEFITS; PROVIDING FOR THE ISSUANCE OF 
DISTRICT IMPROVEMENT WARRANTS AND DISTRICT AND INTERSECTION IMPROVEMENT 
BONDS AND FOR THE LEVY OF SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS AND GENERAL TAXES TO PAY 
FOR SAID IMPROVEMENTS; PROVIDING FOR THE REPEALING OF ALL ORDINANCES IN 
CONFLICT HEREWITH; AND PROVIDING FOR THE PUBLICATION OF THIS ORDINANCE 
AND THE TIME WHEN THIS ORDINANCE SHALL TAKE EFFECT. 

Moved by Mayor Meininger, seconded by Council Member Gonzales, “That the statutory rule 
requiring the Ordinance to be read by title on three different days be suspended,”  “YEAS”,  Gonzales, 
McCarthy, Meininger and Hilyard,  “NAYS” Shaver. Absent: None. The motion carried having been 
approved by three-fourths of the Council Members.  

Moved by Council Member Gonzales, seconded by Council Member McCarthy, “That Ordinance 
No. 4128  be adopted,” “YEAS”, Gonzales, McCarthy, Meininger and Hilyard, “NAYS” Shaver. Absent: 
None.

Council introduced Ordinance No. 4129 which was read by title on second reading: AN 
ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF SCOTTSBLUFF AMENDING THE MUNICIPAL CODE AT CHAPTER 20, 
ARTICLE 6, RELATING TO THE USE OF RIGHT-OF-WAY OF THE CITY AND REQUIRING PERMITS FOR 
USE OF CITY RIGHT-OF-WAY AND FEES, AMENDING CHAPTER 22, ARTICLE 6, RELATING TO 
PARKING AND TRAFFIC, REPEALING PRIOR PROVISIONS OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE, AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

Regarding this Ordinance, Council Member Shaver commented on the fact that the Farmer’s 
Market organization does not currently pay a permit fee for the use of the sidewalk for their summer 
event.  Mr. Kuckkahn said they would consider having the organization pay a fee for use of the sidewalk.  
He added that the reason for the fee charge is for the inspection process of the location to make sure the 
business is allowing enough of a right-of-way and ADA access.  We can watch this new use of the 
sidewalk right-of-way and make changes if needed.  

Moved by Council Member Gonzales, seconded by Council Member Hilyard, “That the statutory 
rule requiring the Ordinance to be read by title on three different days be suspended,”  “YEAS”,  

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 15 / 404



13

Gonzales, McCarthy, Meininger and Hilyard,  “NAYS” Shaver. Absent: None. The motion carried having 
been approved by three-fourths of the Council Members.  

Moved by Mayor Meininger, seconded by Council Member Gonzales, “That Ordinance No. 4129  
be adopted,” “YEAS”, Gonzales, McCarthy, Meininger and Hilyard, “NAYS” Shaver. Absent: None.

Moved by Mayor Meininger, seconded by Council Member Hilyard, “to approve the Rules and 
Regulations for the use of the Right-of-Way in the City of Scottsbluff,” “YEAS”, Gonzales, Shaver, 
McCarthy, Meininger and Hilyard, “NAYS” None. Absent: None.

Council introduced the 2014 National Electrical Code by title on third reading:   AN ORDINANCE 
DEALING WITH ELECTRICITY, AMENDING THE SCOTTSBLUFF MUNICIPAL CODE SECTION 
4-2-33, ADOPTING THE 2014 NATIONAL ELECTRICAL CODE, SUBJECT TO CERTAIN 
STIPULATED MODIFICATIONS, AND REPEALING FORMER SECTIONS, AND PROVIDING 
FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

Council Member Shaver reported that he checked with some cities in Nebraska and Colorado 
who have not yet adopted this code because some of the supplies and equipment required to meet the code 
are not manufactured yet.  Bill Trumbull with Trumbull’s Do It Center said that he has seen many cities 
wait to adopt the 2014 Electric Code until they are forced to comply with the Ordinance because it is 
almost impossible to comply with the new regulations due to the inability to get some of the supplies.  
Council agreed to wait until the deadline set by the State to adopt this code.

Moved by Council Member McCarthy, seconded by Council Member Hilyard, “to adjourn the 
meeting at 7:25 p.m.,” “YEAS”, Gonzales, Shaver, McCarthy, Meininger and Hilyard, “NAYS” None. 
Absent: None.

________________________________
    Mayor

ATTEST:

________________________________
                City Clerk

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 16 / 404



City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska
Monday, June 2, 2014

Regular Meeting

Item Consent2

Consider approval of plans and specifications for Compost Facility 
improvements and authorize the city clerk to advertise for bids to 
be received by June 24, 2014 at 2:00 p.m.

Staff Contact: Annie Folck, City Planner

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 17 / 404



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 18 / 404



SPECIFICATIONS INDEX 
City of Scottsbluff 

Concrete Pad & Retention Pond for Compost Facility at Scottsbluff WTP 
 
Description Section 

Advertisement for Bids  

Instructions to Bidders 200 

Bid Form 410 

Bid Bond 430 

Notice of Award 510 

Agreement 520 

Notice to Proceed 550 

Performance Bond 610 

Payment Bond 615 

Application for Payment 620 

Certificate of Substantial Completion 625 

General Conditions 700 

Supplementary Conditions 800 

Change Order 941 

Pay Items 1000 

Construction Surveying 1020 

Portland Cement Concrete Pavement 4000 

Portland Cement Concrete 4100 

Preparation of Subgrade - Roadway 4200 

Portland Cement Concrete Curb & Gutter 4400 

Excavation and Embankment 6000 

  
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 19 / 404



Advertisement for Bids 
Concrete Pad & Retention Pond for Compost Facility at Scottsbluff WTP 

 
Owner: City of Scottsbluff 
Address: 2525 Circle Drive, Scottsbluff, NE 69361 
 
Sealed Bids for the construction of the Concrete Pad & Retention Pond for Compost 
Facility at Scottsbluff WTP will be received by Cindy Dickinson, City Clerk at City Hall, 
2525 Circle Drive,  Scottsbluff, Nebraska until xx:xx A.M., (Local Time) XX XX, 2014, 
and then at said office publicly opened and read aloud. 
 
The Contract Documents may be examined at the following locations: 
 
City of Scottsbluff 
2525 Circle Drive 
Scottsbluff, NE 69361 
 
M.C. Schaff & Associates 
818 South Beltline Highway East 
Scottsbluff, NE 69361 
 
Copies of the Contract Documents may be obtained at the office of M.C. Schaff & 
Associates located at 818 South Beltline Highway East, Scottsbluff, NE 69361 upon 
payment of $25.00 for each set, none of which will be refunded.  
 
       /s/ Cindy Dickinson 
            City Clerk 
 
Publish three times: 
xx/xx/14; xx/xx/14; xx/xx/14 
One affidavit of publication requested 
 

 
 
 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 20 / 404



 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Copyr

I

ENGINE

A

EJCDC C
right © 2007 Natio

INSTRUC
CONST

EERS JOINT

Is

AMERICAN C

ASSOCIATED

AMERIC

PROFESSION

NATIONAL S

CONSTR

C-200 Instructions
onal Society of Pro

CTIONS
TRUCTI

Prep

T CONTRA

ssued and Pu

  

  

COUNCIL OF
_________

D GENERAL C
_________

CAN SOCIET
__________

NAL ENGINE
A Practice

SOCIETY OF 

End

RUCTION SPE

s to Bidders for Co
ofessional Engine

S TO BID
ON CON

pared by 
 

ACT DOCU
 

and 
 

ublished Join
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

F ENGINEER
_____________

 
CONTRACTO

_____________
 

TY OF CIVIL E
____________

 
EERS IN PRIV
e Division of th
 PROFESSION

dorsed by 

ECIFICATION

onstruction Contr
eers for EJCDC. A

DDERS F
NTRACT

UMENTS C

ntly by 

  

RING COMPA
__ 

ORS OF AME
__ 

ENGINEERS 
___ 

VATE PRACT
he 
NAL ENGINE

NS INSTITUTE

racts 
All rights reserved

FOR 
TS 

OMMITTE

 

ANIES 

ERICA 

 

TICE 

EERS 

E 

 

d. 

EE 

 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 21 / 404



EJCDC C-200 Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers 
1420 King Street, Alexandria, VA 22314-2794 

(703) 684-2882 
www.nspe.org 

 
American Council of Engineering Companies 

1015 15th Street N.W., Washington, DC 20005 
(202) 347-7474 
www.acec.org 

 
American Society of Civil Engineers 

1801 Alexander Bell Drive, Reston, VA 20191-4400 
(800) 548-2723 
www.asce.org 

 
Associated General Contractors of America 

2300 Wilson Boulevard, Suite 400, Arlington, VA   22201-3308 
(703) 548-3118 
www.agc.org 

 
 
 

The copyright for this EJCDC document is owned jointly by the four 
EJCDC sponsoring organizations and held in trust for their benefit by NSPE. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 22 / 404



EJCDC C-200 Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

Page iii 
 

 

INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

Article 1 – Defined Terms ................................................................................................................................. 1 

Article 2 – Copies of Bidding Documents ........................................................................................................ 1 

Article 3 – Qualifications of Bidders ................................................................................................................ 1 

Article 4 – Examination of Bidding Documents, Other Related Data, and Site ............................................. 1 

Article 5 – Pre-Bid Conference ......................................................................................................................... 4 

Article 6 – Site and Other Areas ....................................................................................................................... 4 

Article 7 – Interpretations and Addenda ........................................................................................................... 5 

Article 8 – Bid Security ..................................................................................................................................... 5 

Article 9 – Contract Times ................................................................................................................................ 5 

Article 10 – Liquidated Damages ..................................................................................................................... 5 

Article 11 – Substitute and “Or-Equal” Items .................................................................................................. 5 

Article 12 – Subcontractors, Suppliers and Others .......................................................................................... 6 

Article 13 – Preparation of Bid ......................................................................................................................... 6 

Article 14 – Basis of Bid; Comparison of Bids ................................................................................................ 7 

Article 15 – Submittal of Bid ............................................................................................................................ 8 

Article 16 – Modification and Withdrawal of Bid ........................................................................................... 8 

Article 17 – Opening of Bids ............................................................................................................................ 9 

Article 18 – Bids to Remain Subject to Acceptance ........................................................................................ 9 

Article 19 – Evaluation of Bids and Award of Contract .................................................................................. 9 

Article 20 – Contract Security and Insurance ................................................................................................... 9 

Article 21 – Signing of Agreement ................................................................................................................. 10 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 23 / 404



 

EJCDC C-200 Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

Page 1 of 10 
 

ARTICLE 1 – DEFINED TERMS 

1.01 Terms used in these Instructions to Bidders have the meanings indicated in the General 
Conditions and Supplementary Conditions. Additional terms used in these Instructions to 
Bidders have the meanings indicated below: 

A. Issuing Office – The office from which the Bidding Documents are to be issued and where the 
bidding procedures are to be administered. 

ARTICLE 2 – COPIES OF BIDDING DOCUMENTS 

2.01 Complete sets of the Bidding Documents in the number and for the deposit sum, if any, stated in 
the advertisement or invitation to bid may be obtained from the Issuing Office. The deposit will 
be refunded to each document holder of record who returns a complete set of Bidding 
Documents in good condition within 30 days after opening of Bids. 

2.02 Complete sets of Bidding Documents shall be used in preparing Bids; neither Owner nor 
Engineer assumes any responsibility for errors or misinterpretations resulting from the use of 
incomplete sets of Bidding Documents. 

2.03 Owner and Engineer, in making copies of Bidding Documents available on the above terms, do 
so only for the purpose of obtaining Bids for the Work and do not authorize or confer a license  
for any other use. 

ARTICLE 3 – QUALIFICATIONS OF BIDDERS 

3.01 To demonstrate Bidder’s qualifications to perform the Work, within five days of Owner’s 
request, Bidder shall submit written evidence such as financial data, previous experience, present 
commitments, and such other data as may be called for below. 

A. A list of five similar projects and the primary contact’s name and phone number. 

3.02 Bidder is advised to carefully review those portions of the Bid Form requiring Bidder’s 
representations and certifications. 

ARTICLE 4 – EXAMINATION OF BIDDING DOCUMENTS, OTHER RELATED DATA, AND 
SITE  

4.01 Subsurface and Physical Conditions 

A. The Supplementary Conditions identify: 

1. Those reports known to Owner of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or 
contiguous to the Site. 

2. Those drawings known to Owner of physical conditions relating to existing surface or 
subsurface structures at the Site (except Underground Facilities). 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 24 / 404



 

EJCDC C-200 Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

Page 2 of 10 
 

B. Copies of reports and drawings referenced in Paragraph 4.01.A will be made available by 
Owner to any Bidder on request. Those reports and drawings are not part of the Contract 
Documents, but the “technical data” contained therein upon which Bidder is entitled to rely as 
provided in Paragraph 4.02 of the General Conditions has been identified and established in  
Paragraph 4.02 of the Supplementary Conditions. Bidder is responsible for any interpretation 
or conclusion Bidder draws from any “technical data” or any other data, interpretations, 
opinions, or information contained in such reports or shown or indicated in such drawings. 

4.02 Underground Facilities 

A. Information and data shown or indicated in the Bidding Documents with respect to existing 
Underground Facilities at or contiguous to the Site is based upon information and data 
furnished to Owner and Engineer by owners of such Underground Facilities, including Owner, 
or others. 

4.03 Hazardous Environmental Condition 

A. The Supplementary Conditions identify any reports and drawings known to Owner relating to a 
Hazardous Environmental Condition identified at the Site. 

B. Copies of reports and drawings referenced in Paragraph 4.03.A will be made available by 
Owner to any Bidder on request. Those reports and drawings are not part of the Contract 
Documents, but the “technical data” contained therein upon which Bidder is entitled to rely as 
provided in Paragraph 4.06 of the General Conditions has been identified and established in 
Paragraph 4.06 of the Supplementary Conditions. Bidder is responsible for any interpretation 
or conclusion Bidder draws from any “technical data” or any other data, interpretations, 
opinions, or information contained in such reports or shown or indicated in such drawings. 

4.04 Provisions concerning responsibilities for the adequacy of data furnished to prospective Bidders 
with respect to subsurface conditions, other physical conditions, and Underground Facilities, and 
possible changes in the Bidding Documents due to differing or unanticipated subsurface or 
physical conditions appear in Paragraphs 4.02, 4.03, and 4.04 of the General Conditions. 
Provisions concerning responsibilities for the adequacy of data furnished to prospective Bidders 
with respect to a Hazardous Environmental Condition at the Site, if any, and possible changes in 
the Contract Documents due to any Hazardous Environmental Condition uncovered or revealed 
at the Site which was not shown or indicated in the Drawings or Specifications or identified in 
the Contract Documents to be within the scope of the Work, appear in Paragraph 4.06 of the 
General Conditions. 

4.05 On request, Owner will provide Bidder access to the Site to conduct such examinations, 
investigations, explorations, tests, and studies as Bidder deems necessary for submission of a 
Bid. Bidder shall fill all holes and clean up and restore the Site to its former condition upon 
completion of such explorations, investigations, tests, and studies. Bidder shall comply with all 
applicable Laws and Regulations relative to excavation and utility locates. 

4.06 A. Reference is made to Article 7 of the Supplementary Conditions for the identification of the 
general nature of other work that is to be performed at the Site by Owner or others (such as 
utilities and other prime contractors) that relates to the Work contemplated by these Bidding 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 25 / 404



 

EJCDC C-200 Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

Page 3 of 10 
 

Documents. On request, Owner will provide to each Bidder for examination access to or 
copies of contract documents (other than portions thereof related to price) for such other 
work. 

B. Paragraph 6.13.C of the General Conditions indicates that if an Owner safety program exists, it 
will be noted in the Supplementary Conditions. 

4.07 It is the responsibility of each Bidder before submitting a Bid to: 

A. examine and carefully study the Bidding Documents, and the other related data identified in the 
Bidding Documents;  

B. visit the Site and become familiar with and satisfy Bidder as to the general, local, and Site 
conditions that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work; 

C. become familiar with and satisfy Bidder as to all federal, state, and local Laws and Regulations 
that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work; 

D. carefully study all: (1) reports of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or 
contiguous to the Site and all drawings of physical conditions relating to existing surface or 
subsurface structures at the Site (except Underground Facilities) that have been identified in 
Paragraph 4.02 of the Supplementary Conditions as containing reliable "technical data," and 
(2) reports and drawings of Hazardous Environmental Conditions, if any, at the Site that have 
been identified in the Paragraph 4.06 of the Supplementary Conditions as containing reliable 
"technical data"; 

E. consider the information known to Bidder; information commonly known to contractors doing 
business in the locality of the Site; information and observations obtained from visits to the 
Site; the Bidding Documents; and the Site-related reports and drawings identified in the 
Bidding Documents, with respect to the effect of such information, observations, and 
documents on (1) the cost, progress, and performance of the Work; (2) the means, methods, 
techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction to be employed by Bidder, including 
applying any specific means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction 
expressly required by the Bidding Documents; and (3) Bidder’s safety precautions and 
programs; 

F. agree at the time of submitting its Bid that no further examinations, investigations, 
explorations, tests, studies, or data are necessary for the determination of its Bid for 
performance of the Work at the price(s) bid and within the times required, and in accordance 
with the other terms and conditions of the Bidding Documents; 

G. become aware of the general nature of the work to be performed by Owner and others at the 
Site that relates to the Work as indicated in the Bidding Documents; 

H. promptly give Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or discrepancies that 
Bidder discovers in the Bidding Documents and confirm that the written resolution thereof by 
Engineer is acceptable to Bidder; and 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 26 / 404



 

EJCDC C-200 Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

Page 4 of 10 
 

I. determine that the Bidding Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey 
understanding of all terms and conditions for the performance of the Work. 

4.08 The submission of a Bid will constitute an incontrovertible representation by Bidder that Bidder 
has complied with every requirement of this Article 4, that without exception the Bid is premised 
upon performing and furnishing the Work required by the Bidding Documents and applying any 
specific means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction that may be 
shown or indicated or expressly required by the Bidding Documents, that Bidder has given 
Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, and discrepancies that Bidder has 
discovered in the Bidding Documents and the written resolutions thereof by Engineer are 
acceptable to Bidder, and that the Bidding Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and 
convey understanding of all terms and conditions for performing and furnishing the Work. 

ARTICLE 5 – PRE-BID CONFERENCE 

5.01 A pre-Bid conference will be held at       [a.m.][p.m.] local time on       at      . 
Representatives of Owner and Engineer will be present to discuss the Project. Bidders are 
[required] [encouraged] to attend and participate in the conference. Engineer will transmit to all 
prospective Bidders of record such Addenda as Engineer considers necessary in response to 
questions arising at the conference. Oral statements may not be relied upon and will not be 
binding or legally effective. 

ARTICLE 6 – SITE AND OTHER AREAS 

6.01 The Site is identified in the Bidding Documents. Easements for permanent structures or 
permanent changes in existing facilities are to be obtained and paid for by Owner unless 
otherwise provided in the Bidding Documents. All additional lands and access thereto required 
for temporary construction facilities, construction equipment, or storage of materials and 
equipment to be incorporated in the Work are to be obtained and paid for by Contractor. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 27 / 404



 

EJCDC C-200 Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

Page 5 of 10 
 

ARTICLE 7 – INTERPRETATIONS AND ADDENDA 

7.01 All questions about the meaning or intent of the Bidding Documents are to be submitted to 
Engineer in writing. Interpretations or clarifications considered necessary by Engineer in 
response to such questions will be issued by Addenda mailed or delivered to all parties recorded 
by Engineer as having received the Bidding Documents. Questions received less than ten days 
prior to the date for opening of Bids may not be answered. Only questions answered by Addenda 
will be binding. Oral and other interpretations or clarifications will be without legal effect. 

7.02 Addenda may be issued to clarify, correct, or change the Bidding Documents as deemed 
advisable by Owner or Engineer. 

ARTICLE 8 – BID SECURITY 

8.01 A Bid must be accompanied by Bid security made payable to Owner in an amount of 5 percent 
of Bidder’s maximum Bid price and in the form of a certified check, bank money order, or a Bid 
bond (on the form attached) issued by a surety meeting the requirements of Paragraphs 5.01 and 
5.02 of the General Conditions. 

8.02 The Bid security of the Successful Bidder will be retained until such Bidder has executed the 
Contract Documents, furnished the required contract security and met the other conditions of the 
Notice of Award, whereupon the Bid security will be returned. If the Successful Bidder fails to 
execute and deliver the Contract Documents and furnish the required contract security within 15 
days after the Notice of Award, Owner may consider Bidder to be in default, annul the Notice of 
Award, and the Bid security of that Bidder will be forfeited. Such forfeiture shall be Owner’s 
exclusive remedy if Bidder defaults.  The Bid security of other Bidders whom Owner believes to 
have a reasonable chance of receiving the award may be retained by Owner until the earlier of 
seven days after the Effective Date of the Agreement or 61 days after the Bid opening, 
whereupon Bid security furnished by such Bidders will be returned. 

8.03 Bid security of other Bidders whom Owner believes do not have a reasonable chance of 
receiving the award will be returned within seven days after the Bid opening. 

ARTICLE 9 – CONTRACT TIMES 

9.01 The number of days within which, or the dates by which, [Milestones are to be achieved and] the 
Work is to be substantially completed and ready for final payment are set forth in the Agreement.  

ARTICLE 10 – LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 

10.01 Provisions for liquidated damages, if any, are set forth in the Agreement. 

ARTICLE 11 – SUBSTITUTE AND “OR-EQUAL” ITEMS 

11.01 The Contract, if awarded, will be on the basis of materials and equipment specified or described 
in the Bidding Documents, or those substitute or “or-equal” materials and equipment approved 
by Engineer and identified by Addendum. The materials and equipment described in the Bidding 
Documents establish a standard of required type, function and quality to be met by any proposed 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 28 / 404



 

EJCDC C-200 Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

Page 6 of 10 
 

substitute or “or-equal” item. No item of material or equipment will be considered by Engineer 
as a substitute or “or-equal” unless written request for approval has been submitted by Bidder 
and has been received by Engineer at least 15 days prior to the date for receipt of Bids. Each 
such request shall conform to the requirements of Paragraph 6.05 of the General Conditions. The 
burden of proof of the merit of the proposed item is upon Bidder. Engineer’s decision of 
approval or disapproval of a proposed item will be final. If Engineer approves any proposed 
item, such approval will be set forth in an Addendum issued to all prospective Bidders. Bidders 
shall not rely upon approvals made in any other manner. 

ARTICLE 12 – SUBCONTRACTORS, SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS 

12.01 If the Supplementary Conditions require the identity of certain Subcontractors, Suppliers, 
individuals, or entities to be submitted to Owner in advance of a specified date prior to the 
Effective Date of the Agreement, the apparent Successful Bidder, and any other Bidder so 
requested, shall within five days after Bid opening, submit to Owner a list of all such 
Subcontractors, Suppliers, individuals, or entities proposed for those portions of the Work for 
which such identification is required. Such list shall be accompanied by an experience statement 
with pertinent information regarding similar projects and other evidence of qualification for each 
such Subcontractor, Supplier, individual, or entity if requested by Owner. If Owner or Engineer, 
after due investigation, has reasonable objection to any proposed Subcontractor, Supplier, 
individual, or entity, Owner may, before the Notice of Award is given, request apparent 
Successful Bidder to submit a substitute, without an increase in the Bid. 

12.02 If apparent Successful Bidder declines to make any such substitution, Owner may award the 
Contract to the next lowest Bidder that proposes to use acceptable Subcontractors, Suppliers, 
individuals, or entities. Declining to make requested substitutions will not constitute grounds for 
forfeiture of the Bid security of any Bidder. Any Subcontractor, Supplier, individual, or entity so 
listed and against which Owner or Engineer makes no written objection prior to the giving of the 
Notice of Award will be deemed acceptable to Owner and Engineer subject to revocation of such 
acceptance after the Effective Date of the Agreement as provided in Paragraph 6.06 of the 
General Conditions. 

12.03 Contractor shall not be required to employ any Subcontractor, Supplier, individual, or entity 
against whom Contractor has reasonable objection. 

ARTICLE 13 – PREPARATION OF BID 

13.01 The Bid Form is included with the Bidding Documents. Additional copies may be obtained from 
Engineer. 

13.02 All blanks on the Bid Form shall be completed in ink and the Bid Form signed in ink. Erasures or 
alterations shall be initialed in ink by the person signing the Bid Form. A Bid price shall be 
indicated for each Bid item, alternative, adjustment unit price item, and unit price item listed 
therein.  In the case of optional alternatives the words “No Bid,” “No Change,” or “Not 
Applicable” may be entered. 

13.03 A Bid by a corporation shall be executed in the corporate name by the president or a vice-
president or other corporate officer accompanied by evidence of authority to sign. The corporate 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 29 / 404



 

EJCDC C-200 Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

Page 7 of 10 
 

seal shall be affixed and attested by the secretary or an assistant secretary. The corporate address 
and state of incorporation shall be shown. 

13.04 A Bid by a partnership shall be executed in the partnership name and signed by a partner (whose 
title must appear under the signature), accompanied by evidence of authority to sign. The official 
address of the partnership shall be shown. 

13.05 A Bid by a limited liability company shall be executed in the name of the firm by a member and 
accompanied by evidence of authority to sign. The state of formation of the firm and the official 
address of the firm shall be shown. 

13.06 A Bid by an individual shall show the Bidder’s name and official address. 

13.07 A Bid by a joint venture shall be executed by each joint venturer in the manner indicated on the 
Bid Form. The official address of the joint venture shall be shown. 

13.08 All names shall be printed in ink below the signatures. 

13.09 The Bid shall contain an acknowledgment of receipt of all Addenda, the numbers of which shall 
be filled in on the Bid Form. 

13.10 Postal and e-mail addresses and telephone number for communications regarding the Bid shall 
be shown. 

13.11 The Bid shall contain evidence of Bidder’s authority and qualification to do business in the state 
where the Project is located, or Bidder shall covenant in writing to obtain such authority and 
qualification prior to award of the Contract and attach such covenant to the Bid. Bidder’s state 
contractor license number, if any, shall also be shown on the Bid Form. 

 
ARTICLE 14 – BASIS OF BID; COMPARISON OF BIDS 

14.01 Lump Sum 

A. Bidders shall submit a Bid on a lump sum basis as set forth in the Bid Form. 

14.02 Unit Price 

A. Bidders shall submit a Bid on a unit price basis for each item of Work listed in the Bid 
schedule. 

B. The total of all estimated prices will be the sum of the products of the estimated quantity of 
each item and the corresponding unit price. The final quantities and Contract Price will be 
determined in accordance with Paragraph 11.03 of the General Conditions. 

C. Discrepancies between the multiplication of units of Work and unit prices will be resolved in 
favor of the unit prices. Discrepancies between the indicated sum of any column of figures and 
the correct sum thereof will be resolved in favor of the correct sum. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 30 / 404



 

EJCDC C-200 Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

Page 8 of 10 
 

14.03 Allowances 

A. For cash allowances the Bid price shall include such amounts as the Bidder deems proper for 
Contractor's overhead, costs, profit, and other expenses on account of cash allowances, if any, 
named in the Contract Documents, in accordance with Paragraph 11.02.B of the General 
Conditions. 

14.04 Completion Time Comparisons 

A. Bid prices will be compared after adjusting for differences in the time designated by Bidders 
for Substantial Completion. The adjusting amount will be determined at the rate set forth in the 
Contract Documents for liquidated damages for failing to achieve Substantial Completion for 
each day before or after the desired date appearing in Article 9 above. 

ARTICLE 15 – SUBMITTAL OF BID 

15.01 With each copy of the Bidding Documents, a Bidder is furnished one separate unbound copy of 
the Bid Form, and, if required, the Bid Bond Form. The unbound copy of the Bid Form is to be 
completed and submitted with the Bid security and the following documents:   

15.02 A Bid shall be submitted no later than the date and time prescribed and at the place indicated in 
the advertisement or invitation to bid and shall be enclosed in a plainly marked package with the 
Project title (and, if applicable, the designated portion of the Project for which the Bid is 
submitted), the name and address of Bidder, and shall be accompanied by the Bid security and 
other required documents. If a Bid is sent by mail or other delivery system, the sealed envelope 
containing the Bid shall be enclosed in a separate package plainly marked on the outside with the 
notation “BID ENCLOSED.” A mailed Bid shall be addressed to Owner at the address in Article 
1.01 of the Bid Form. 

ARTICLE 16 – MODIFICATION AND WITHDRAWAL OF BID 

16.01 A Bid may be modified or withdrawn by an appropriate document duly executed in the same 
manner that a Bid must be executed and delivered to the place where Bids are to be submitted 
prior to the date and time for the opening of Bids. 

16.02 If within 24 hours after Bids are opened any Bidder files a duly signed written notice with Owner 
and promptly thereafter demonstrates to the reasonable satisfaction of Owner that there was a 
material and substantial mistake in the preparation of its Bid, that Bidder may withdraw its Bid, 
and the Bid security will be returned. Thereafter, if the Work is rebid, that Bidder will be 
disqualified from further bidding on the Work. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 31 / 404



 

EJCDC C-200 Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

Page 9 of 10 
 

ARTICLE 17 – OPENING OF BIDS 

17.01 Bids will be opened at the time and place indicated in the Advertisement or Invitation to Bid and, 
unless obviously non-responsive, read aloud publicly. An abstract of the amounts of the base 
Bids and major alternates, if any, will be made available to Bidders after the opening of Bids. 

ARTICLE 18 – BIDS TO REMAIN SUBJECT TO ACCEPTANCE 

18.01 All Bids will remain subject to acceptance for the period of time stated in the Bid Form, but 
Owner may, in its sole discretion, release any Bid and return the Bid security prior to the end of 
this period. 

ARTICLE 19 – EVALUATION OF BIDS AND AWARD OF CONTRACT 

19.01 Owner reserves the right to reject any or all Bids, including without limitation, nonconforming, 
nonresponsive, unbalanced, or conditional Bids. Owner further reserves the right to reject the Bid 
of any Bidder whom it finds, after reasonable inquiry and evaluation, to not be responsible. 
Owner may also reject the Bid of any Bidder if Owner believes that it would not be in the best 
interest of the Project to make an award to that Bidder. Owner also reserves the right to waive all 
informalities not involving price, time, or changes in the Work and to negotiate contract terms 
with the Successful Bidder. 

19.02 More than one Bid for the same Work from an individual or entity under the same or different 
names will not be considered. Reasonable grounds for believing that any Bidder has an interest 
in more than one Bid for the Work may be cause for disqualification of that Bidder and the 
rejection of all Bids in which that Bidder has an interest. 

19.03 In evaluating Bids, Owner will consider whether or not the Bids comply with the prescribed 
requirements, and such alternates, unit prices and other data, as may be requested in the Bid 
Form or prior to the Notice of Award. 

19.04 In evaluating Bidders, Owner will consider the qualifications of Bidders and may consider the 
qualifications and experience of Subcontractors, Suppliers, and other individuals or entities 
proposed for those portions of the Work for which the identity of Subcontractors, Suppliers, and 
other individuals or entities must be submitted as provided in the Supplementary Conditions. 

19.05 Owner may conduct such investigations as Owner deems necessary to establish the 
responsibility, qualifications, and financial ability of Bidders, proposed Subcontractors, 
Suppliers, individuals, or entities proposed for those portions of the Work in accordance with the 
Contract Documents. 

19.06 If the Contract is to be awarded, Owner will award the Contract to the Bidder whose Bid is in the 
best interests of the Project. 

ARTICLE 20 – CONTRACT SECURITY AND INSURANCE 

20.01 Article 5 of the General Conditions, as may be modified by the Supplementary Conditions, sets 
forth Owner’s requirements as to performance and payment bonds and insurance. When the 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 32 / 404



 

EJCDC C-200 Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

Page 10 of 10 
 

Successful Bidder delivers the executed Agreement to Owner, it shall be accompanied by such 
bonds. 

ARTICLE 21 – SIGNING OF AGREEMENT 

21.01 When Owner issues a Notice of Award to the Successful Bidder, it shall be accompanied by the 
required number of unsigned counterparts of the Agreement along with the other Contract 
Documents which are identified in the Agreement as attached thereto. Within 15 days thereafter, 
Successful Bidder shall sign and deliver the required number of counterparts of the Agreement 
and attached documents to Owner. Within ten days thereafter, Owner shall deliver one fully 
signed counterpart to Successful Bidder with a complete set of the Drawings with appropriate 
identification. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 33 / 404



 

 

 

 
 

Copyr

F

ENGIN

EJC
right © 2007 Natio

FOR CO

NEERS JOI

AMERICAN

ASSOCIATE

AMER

PROFESSI

NATIONAL

CONST

CDC C-410 Bid F
onal Society of Pro

BID
ONSTRU

Pr

NT CONTR

Issued and P

 

N COUNCIL 
_______

ED GENERAL
_______

RICAN SOCIE
________

IONAL ENGIN
A Practi

L SOCIETY O

En

TRUCTION SP

Form for Construc
ofessional Engine

D FORM
CTION C

repared by 
 

RACT DOC
 

and 
 

Published Jo

 

  
 

  
 
 

OF ENGINEE
_____________

 
L CONTRACT

_____________
 

ETY OF CIVIL
_____________

 
NEERS IN PR
ice Division of 
OF PROFESSIO

 
 
 

ndorsed by 

PECIFICATIO

 
 
 
 
 

ction Contracts 
eers for EJCDC. A

M 
CONTRA

CUMENTS C

ointly by 

  

ERING COMP
____ 

TORS OF AM
____ 

L ENGINEER
____ 

RIVATE PRAC
f the 
ONAL ENGIN

ONS INSTITUT

All rights reserved

RACTS 

COMMITT

 

PANIES 

MERICA 

RS 

CTICE 

NEERS 

TE 

d. 

TEE 

 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 34 / 404



EJCDC C-410 Bid Form for Construction Contracts 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers 
1420 King Street, Alexandria, VA 22314-2794 

(703) 684-2882 
www.nspe.org 

 
American Council of Engineering Companies 

1015 15th Street N.W., Washington, DC 20005 
(202) 347-7474 
www.acec.org 

 
American Society of Civil Engineers 

1801 Alexander Bell Drive, Reston, VA 20191-4400 
(800) 548-2723 
www.asce.org 

 
Associated General Contractors of America 

2300 Wilson Boulevard, Suite 400, Arlington, VA  22201-3308 
(703) 548-3118 
www.agc.org 

 
 
 

The copyright for this EJCDC document is owned jointly by the four 
EJCDC sponsoring organizations and held in trust for their benefit by NSPE. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 35 / 404



EJCDC C-410 Bid Form for Construction Contracts 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

Page iii 
 

BID FORM 

Concrete Pad & Retention Pond for Compost Facility at Scottsbluff WTP 
Scottsbluff, Nebraska 

 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

Article 1 – Bid Recipient ................................................................................................................................... 1 

Article 2 – Bidder’s Acknowledgements .......................................................................................................... 1 

Article 3 – Bidder’s Representations ................................................................................................................ 1 

Article 4 – Bidder’s Certification ...................................................................................................................... 2 

Article 5 – Basis of Bid ..................................................................................................................................... 3 

Article 6 – Time of Completion ........................................................................................................................ 3 

Article 7 – Attachments to This Bid ................................................................................................................. 3 

Article 8 – Defined Terms ................................................................................................................................. 4 

Article 9 – Bid Submittal................................................................................................................................... 5 

 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 36 / 404



EJCDC C-410 Bid Form for Construction Contracts 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

Page 1 of 6 
 

ARTICLE 1 – BID RECIPIENT 

1.01 This Bid is submitted to: 

City of Scottsbluff 
2525 Circle Drive  
Scottsbluff, NE 69361            
 

1.02 The undersigned Bidder proposes and agrees, if this Bid is accepted, to enter into an Agreement 
with Owner in the form included in the Bidding Documents to perform all Work as specified or 
indicated in the Bidding Documents for the prices and within the times indicated in this Bid and in 
accordance with the other terms and conditions of the Bidding Documents. 

ARTICLE 2 – BIDDER’S ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

2.01 Bidder accepts all of the terms and conditions of the Instructions to Bidders, including without 
limitation those dealing with the disposition of Bid security. This Bid will remain subject to 
acceptance for 60 days after the Bid opening, or for such longer period of time that Bidder may 
agree to in writing upon request of Owner. 

ARTICLE 3 – BIDDER’S REPRESENTATIONS 

3.01 In submitting this Bid, Bidder represents that: 

A. Bidder has examined and carefully studied the Bidding Documents, other related data 
identified in the Bidding Documents, and the following Addenda, receipt of which is hereby 
acknowledged: 

Addendum No.  Addendum Date 

             
             
             

B. Bidder has visited the Site and become familiar with and is satisfied as to the general, local, 
and Site conditions that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work. 

C. Bidder is familiar with and is satisfied as to all Laws and Regulations that may affect cost, 
progress, and performance of the Work. 

D. Bidder has carefully studied all: (1) reports of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at 
or contiguous to the Site and all drawings of physical conditions relating to existing surface or 
subsurface structures at the Site (except Underground Facilities) that have been identified in 
SC-4.02 as containing reliable "technical data," and (2) reports and drawings of Hazardous 
Environmental Conditions, if any, at the Site that have been identified in SC-4.06 as containing 
reliable "technical data." 

E. Bidder has considered the information known to Bidder; information commonly known to 
contractors doing business in the locality of the Site; information and observations obtained 
from visits to the Site; the Bidding Documents; and the Site-related reports and drawings 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 37 / 404



EJCDC C-410 Bid Form for Construction Contracts 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

Page 2 of 6 
 

identified in the Bidding Documents, with respect to the effect of such information, 
observations, and documents on (1) the cost, progress, and performance of the Work; (2) the 
means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction to be employed by 
Bidder, including applying the specific means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures 
of construction expressly required by the Bidding Documents; and (3) Bidder’s safety 
precautions and programs. 

F. Based on the information and observations referred to in Paragraph 3.01.E above, Bidder does 
not consider that further examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, or data are 
necessary for the determination of this Bid for performance of the Work at the price(s) bid and 
within the times required, and in accordance with the other terms and conditions of the Bidding 
Documents. 

G. Bidder is aware of the general nature of work to be performed by Owner and others at the Site 
that relates to the Work as indicated in the Bidding Documents. 

H. Bidder has given Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or discrepancies 
that Bidder has discovered in the Bidding Documents, and the written resolution thereof by 
Engineer is acceptable to Bidder. 

1. The Bidding Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all 
terms and conditions for the performance of the Work for which this Bid is submitted. 

ARTICLE 4 – BIDDER’S CERTIFICATION 

4.01 Bidder certifies that: 

A. This Bid is genuine and not made in the interest of or on behalf of any undisclosed individual 
or entity and is not submitted in conformity with any collusive agreement or rules of any group, 
association, organization, or corporation; 

B. Bidder has not directly or indirectly induced or solicited any other Bidder to submit a false or 
sham Bid; 

C. Bidder has not solicited or induced any individual or entity to refrain from bidding; and  

D. Bidder has not engaged in corrupt, fraudulent, collusive, or coercive practices in competing for 
the Contract.  For the purposes of this Paragraph 4.01.D: 

1. “corrupt practice” means the offering, giving, receiving, or soliciting of any thing of value 
likely to influence the action of a public official in the bidding process; 

2. “fraudulent practice” means an intentional misrepresentation of facts made (a) to influence 
the bidding process to the detriment of Owner, (b) to establish bid prices at artificial non-
competitive levels, or (c) to deprive Owner of the benefits of free and open competition; 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 38 / 404



EJCDC C-410 Bid Form for Construction Contracts 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

Page 3 of 6 
 

3. “collusive practice” means a scheme or arrangement between two or more Bidders, with or 
without the knowledge of Owner, a purpose of which is to establish bid prices at artificial, 
non-competitive levels; and 

4. “coercive practice” means harming or threatening to harm, directly or indirectly, persons or 
their property to influence their participation in the bidding process or affect the execution 
of the Contract. 

ARTICLE 5 – BASIS OF BID 

Bidder will complete the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents for the following 
price(s): 

  Estimated   Total 
Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price Estimated Price 
      
1 Mobilization 1 LS $_______________ $_______________ 

2 Clearing and Grubbing. 1 LS $_______________ $_______________ 

3 Excavation (Established 
Quantity) 

3,000 CY $_______________ $_______________ 

4 30-Inch P.C. Concrete Curb & 
Gutter 

760 LF $_______________ $_______________ 

5 10-Inch P.C. Concrete Pavement 61,200  SF $_______________ $_______________ 

6 Storm Water Pollution 
Prevention Plan (SWPPP) 

1 LS $_______________ $_______________ 

                            TOTAL ITEMS 1-6   $_______________

Unit Prices have been computed in accordance with Paragraph 11.03.B of the General Conditions. 

Bidder acknowledges that estimated quantities are not guaranteed, and are solely for the purpose of 
comparison of Bids, and final payment for all unit price Bid items will be based on actual 
quantities, determined as provided in the Contract Documents. 

ARTICLE 6 – TIME OF COMPLETION 

6.01 Bidder agrees that the Work will be substantially complete and will be completed and ready for 
final payment in accordance with Paragraph 14.07 of the General Conditions on or before the dates 
or within the number of calendar days indicated in the Agreement. 

6.02 Bidder accepts the provisions of the Agreement as to liquidated damages. 

ARTICLE 7 – ATTACHMENTS TO THIS BID 

7.01 The following documents are submitted with and made a condition of this Bid: 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 39 / 404



EJCDC C-410 Bid Form for Construction Contracts 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

Page 4 of 6 
 

A. Required Bid security in the form of a Bid Bond (EJCDC No. C-430) or Certified Check 
(circle type of security provided; 

B. List of Project References; 

ARTICLE 8 – DEFINED TERMS 

8.01 The terms used in this Bid with initial capital letters have the meanings stated in the Instructions to 
Bidders, the General Conditions, and the Supplementary Conditions. 

  

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 40 / 404



EJCDC C-410 Bid Form for Construction Contracts 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

Page 5 of 6 
 

ARTICLE 9 – BID SUBMITTAL 

9.01 This Bid is submitted by: 

If Bidder is: 
 
An Individual 
 
 Name (typed or printed):         
 
 By:            

(Individual’s signature) 
 
 Doing business as:          
 
 
A Partnership 
 
 Partnership Name:          
 
 By:            
  (Signature of general partner -- attach evidence of authority to sign) 
 
 Name (typed or printed):         
 
A Corporation 
 
 Corporation Name:          (SEAL) 
 
 State of Incorporation:       
 Type (General Business, Professional, Service, Limited Liability):_______ 
 
 By:            
 (Signature -- attach evidence of authority to sign) 
 
 Name (typed or printed):         
 
 Title:            
  (CORPORATE SEAL) 
 
 Attest            
 

Date of Qualification to do business in   NEBRASKA   is ____/____/____. 
 

 
  

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 41 / 404



EJCDC C-410 Bid Form for Construction Contracts 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

Page 6 of 6 
 

A Joint Venture 
 
 Name of Joint Venture:         
 
 First Joint Venturer Name:         (SEAL) 
 
 
 By:            
  (Signature of first joint venture partner -- attach evidence of authority to sign) 
 
 Name (typed or printed):         
 
 Title:            
 
 
 
 Second Joint Venturer Name:       (SEAL) 
 
 
 By:            
  (Signature of second joint venture partner -- attach evidence of authority to sign) 
 
 Name (typed or printed):         
 
 Title:            
 

(Each joint venturer must sign. The manner of signing for each individual, partnership, 
and corporation that is a party to the joint venture should be in the manner indicated 
above.) 

 
 
Bidder's Business Address            
 
              
 
Phone No. _____________________________________ Fax No.       
 
E-mail ______________________________      _______ 
 
 
SUBMITTED on     , 20____. 
 
 
State Contractor License No.     . [If applicable] 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 42 / 404



PENAL SUM FORM 
 

EJCDC C-430 Bid Bond (Penal Sum Form) 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee. 

Page 1 of 2 
 

BID BOND 

Any singular reference to Bidder, Surety, Owner or other party shall be considered plural where applicable. 

BIDDER (Name and Address): 
       
       
       
SURETY (Name and Address of Principal Place of Business): 
       
       
       
OWNER (Name and Address): 

 

City of Scottsbluff 
2525 Circle Drive 
Scottsbluff, NE 69361 

BID 
 Bid Due Date:  
 Description:    Concrete Pad & Retention Pond for Compost Facility at Scottsbluff WTP 
BOND 
 Bond Number:       
 Date (Not earlier than Bid due date):       
 Penal sum        $                                   
  (Words)  (Figures) 
 
Surety and Bidder, intending to be legally bound hereby, subject to the terms set forth below, do each cause 
this Bid Bond to be duly executed by an authorized officer, agent, or representative. 
 
BIDDER SURETY  
      (Seal)       (Seal) 
Bidder’s Name and Corporate Seal Surety’s Name and Corporate Seal 
 
By:        By:        
 Signature  Signature (Attach Power of Attorney) 
   
                
 Print Name  Print Name 
   
                
 Title  Title 
 
Attest:        Attest:        
 Signature  Signature 
   
                
 Title  Title 
Note: Above addresses are to be used for giving any required notice.  Provide execution by any additional parties, such as joint 
venturers, if necessary. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 43 / 404



PENAL SUM FORM 
 

EJCDC C-430 Bid Bond (Penal Sum Form) 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee. 

Page 2 of 2 
 

1. Bidder and Surety, jointly and severally, bind themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, successors, 
and assigns to pay to Owner upon default of Bidder the penal sum set forth on the face of this Bond.  Payment of 
the penal sum is the extent of Bidder’s and Surety’s liability.  Recovery of such penal sum under the terms of this 
Bond shall be Owner’s sole and exclusive remedy upon default of Bidder.  

2. Default of Bidder shall occur upon the failure of Bidder to deliver within the time required by the Bidding 
Documents (or any extension thereof agreed to in writing by Owner) the executed Agreement required by the 
Bidding Documents and any performance and payment bonds required by the Bidding Documents. 

3. This obligation shall be null and void if: 

3.1 Owner accepts Bidder’s Bid and Bidder delivers within the time required by the Bidding Documents (or 
any extension thereof agreed to in writing by Owner) the executed Agreement required by the Bidding 
Documents and any performance and payment bonds required by the Bidding Documents, or 

3.2 All Bids are rejected by Owner, or 

3.3 Owner fails to issue a Notice of Award to Bidder within the time specified in the Bidding Documents 
(or any extension thereof agreed to in writing by Bidder and, if applicable, consented to by Surety when 
required by Paragraph 5 hereof). 

4. Payment under this Bond will be due and payable upon default of Bidder and within 30 calendar days after 
receipt by Bidder and Surety of written notice of default from Owner, which notice will be given with reasonable 
promptness, identifying this Bond and the Project and including a statement of the amount due. 

5. Surety waives notice of any and all defenses based on or arising out of any time extension to issue Notice of 
Award agreed to in writing by Owner and Bidder, provided that the total time for issuing Notice of Award 
including extensions shall not in the aggregate exceed 120 days from Bid due date without Surety’s written 
consent. 

6. No suit or action shall be commenced under this Bond prior to 30 calendar days after the notice of default 
required in Paragraph 4 above is received by Bidder and Surety and in no case later than one year after Bid due 
date. 

7. Any suit or action under this Bond shall be commenced only in a court of competent jurisdiction located in 
the state in which the Project is located. 

8. Notices required hereunder shall be in writing and sent to Bidder and Surety at their respective addresses 
shown on the face of this Bond. Such notices may be sent by personal delivery, commercial courier, or by United 
States Registered or Certified Mail, return receipt requested, postage pre-paid, and shall be deemed to be effective 
upon receipt by the party concerned. 

9. Surety shall cause to be attached to this Bond a current and effective Power of Attorney evidencing the 
authority of the officer, agent, or representative who executed this Bond on behalf of Surety to execute, seal, and 
deliver such Bond and bind the Surety thereby. 

10. This Bond is intended to conform to all applicable statutory requirements. Any applicable requirement of any 
applicable statute that has been omitted from this Bond shall be deemed to be included herein as if set forth at 
length. If any provision of this Bond conflicts with any applicable statute, then the provision of said statute shall 
govern and the remainder of this Bond that is not in conflict therewith shall continue in full force and effect. 

11. The term “Bid” as used herein includes a Bid, offer, or proposal as applicable. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 44 / 404



EJCDC C-510 Notice of Award 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by the Construction Specifications Institute. 

Page 1 of 1 

 

Notice of Award 
 

 Date:  __________________ 
 
Project: Concrete Pad & Retention Pond for Compost Facility at Scottsbluff WTP 

Owner: City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska Owner's Contract No.: 

Contract: Engineer's Project No.: RM140157-00

Bidder: 

Bidder's Address: [send Notice of Award Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested] 

 

 

 You are notified that your Bid dated       for the above Contract has been considered.  You are the 
Successful Bidder and are awarded a Contract for       
 

 [Indicate total Work, alternates, or sections of Work awarded.] 

 The Contract Price of your Contract is             Dollars ($     ). 

[Insert appropriate data if unit prices are used.  Change language for cost-plus contracts.] 

       copies of the proposed Contract Documents (except Drawings) accompany this Notice of Award. 

       sets of the Drawings will be delivered separately or otherwise made available to you immediately. 

 You must comply with the following conditions precedent within [15] days of the date you receive this 
Notice of Award. 

  1. Deliver to the Owner [     ] fully executed counterparts of the Contract Documents. 

  2. Deliver with the executed Contract Documents the Contract security [Bonds] as specified in the 
Instructions to Bidders (Article 20), General Conditions (Paragraph 5.01), and Supplementary 
Conditions (Paragraph SC-5.01). 

  3. Other conditions precedent: 
        

    
 Failure to comply with these conditions within the time specified will entitle Owner to consider you in 
default, annul this Notice of Award, and declare your Bid security forfeited.   

 Within ten days after you comply with the above conditions, Owner will return to you one fully executed 
counterpart of the Contract Documents. 

    
  Owner 
  By:   
  Authorized Signature 
     
  Title 
Copy to Engineer 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 45 / 404



 

C

EJCDC C-5
Copyr

BETW
CONSTR

ENGIN

520 Agreement Be
right © 2007 Natio

WEEN O
RUCTION

NEERS JOI

AMERICAN

ASSOCIATE

AMER

PROFESSI

NATIONAL

CONST

etween Owner and
onal Society of Pro

AGR
OWNER A
N CONT

Pr

NT CONTR

Issued and P

 

 

N COUNCIL 
_______

ED GENERAL
_______

RICAN SOCIE
________

IONAL ENGIN
A Practi

L SOCIETY O

En

TRUCTION SP

d Contractor for C
ofessional Engine

REEMEN
AND CO

TRACT (
 

repared by 
 

RACT DOC
 

and 
 

Published Jo
 
 

  
 

  
 
 

OF ENGINEE
_____________

 
L CONTRACT

_____________
 

ETY OF CIVIL
_____________

 
NEERS IN PR
ice Division of 
OF PROFESSIO

 
 

ndorsed by 

PECIFICATIO
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Construction Con
eers for EJCDC. A

NT 
ONTRAC
STIPULA

CUMENTS C

ointly by 

  

ERING COMP
____ 

TORS OF AM
____ 

L ENGINEER
____ 

RIVATE PRAC
f the 
ONAL ENGIN

ONS INSTITUT

ntract (Stipulated 
All rights reserved

CTOR FO
ATED P

COMMITT

 

PANIES 

MERICA 

RS 

CTICE 

NEERS 

TE 

Price) 
d. 

OR 
PRICE) 

TEE 

 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 46 / 404



EJCDC C-520 Agreement Between Owner and Contractor for Construction Contract (Stipulated Price) 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers 
1420 King Street, Alexandria, VA 22314-2794 

(703) 684-2882 
www.nspe.org 

 
American Council of Engineering Companies 

1015 15th Street N.W., Washington, DC 20005 
(202) 347-7474 
www.acec.org 

 
American Society of Civil Engineers 

1801 Alexander Bell Drive, Reston, VA 20191-4400 
(800) 548-2723 
www.asce.org 

 
Associated General Contractors of America 

2300 Wilson Boulevard, Suite 400, Arlington, VA  22201-3308 
(703) 548-3118 
www.agc.org 

 
 
 

The copyright for this EJCDC document is owned jointly by the four 
EJCDC sponsoring organizations and held in trust for their benefit by NSPE.

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 47 / 404



 

EJCDC C-520 Agreement Between Owner and Contractor for Construction Contract (Stipulated Price) 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

 

AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN OWNER AND CONTRACTOR 

FOR CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT (STIPULATED PRICE) 
 

THIS AGREEMENT is by and between City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska (“Owner”) and

      (“Contractor”).

Owner and Contractor hereby agree as follows: 
 
ARTICLE 1 – WORK 

1.01 Contractor shall complete all Work as specified or indicated in the Contract Documents. 
The Work is generally described as follows: 

Clearing and grubbing, excavation for a retention pond, construction of 720 lineal 
feet of 30” P.C. concrete curb and gutter, construction of 30,710 square feet of 8” 
P.C. concrete pavement, construction of a 12’ wide concrete flume, and associated 
improvements for the City of Scottsbluff 
 

ARTICLE 2 – THE PROJECT 

2.01 The Project for which the Work under the Contract Documents may be the whole or only 
a part is generally described as follows: 

Concrete Pad & Retention Pond for Compost Facility at Scottsbluff WTP  

ARTICLE 3 – ENGINEER 

3.01 The Project has been designed by M.C. Schaff & Associates, Inc. (Engineer), which is to 
act as Owner’s representative, assume all duties and responsibilities, and have the rights 
and authority assigned to Engineer in the Contract Documents in connection with the 
completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

ARTICLE 4 – CONTRACT TIMES 

4.01 Time of the Essence 

A. All time limits for Milestones, if any, Substantial Completion, and completion and 
readiness for final payment as stated in the Contract Documents are of the essence of 
the Contract.  

4.02 Days to Achieve Substantial Completion and Final Payment 

A. The Work will be substantially completed within 90 calendar days after the date when 
the Contract Times commence to run as provided in Paragraph 2.03 of the General 
Conditions, and completed and ready for final payment in accordance with Paragraph 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 48 / 404



 

EJCDC C-520 Agreement Between Owner and Contractor for Construction Contract (Stipulated Price) 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

 

14.07 of the General Conditions within 15 calendar days after the date when the 
Contract Times commence to run. 

4.03 Liquidated Damages 

A. Contractor and Owner recognize that time is of the essence as stated in Paragraph 4.01 
above and that Owner will suffer financial loss if the Work is not completed within the 
times specified in Paragraph 4.02 above, plus any extensions thereof allowed in 
accordance with Article 12 of the General Conditions. The parties also recognize the 
delays, expense, and difficulties involved in proving in a legal or arbitration proceeding 
the actual loss suffered by Owner if the Work is not completed on time. Accordingly, 
instead of requiring any such proof, Owner and Contractor agree that as liquidated 
damages for delay (but not as a penalty), Contractor shall pay Owner $300.00 for each 
day that expires after the time specified in Paragraph 4.02 above for Substantial 
Completion until the Work is substantially complete. After Substantial Completion, if 
Contractor shall neglect, refuse, or fail to complete the remaining Work within the 
Contract Time or any proper extension thereof granted by Owner, Contractor shall pay 
Owner $300.00 for each day that expires after the time specified in Paragraph 4.02 
above for completion and readiness for final payment until the Work is completed and 
ready for final payment. 

ARTICLE 5 – CONTRACT PRICE 

5.01 Owner shall pay Contractor for completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents an amount in current funds equal to the sum of the amounts determined 
pursuant to Paragraphs 5.01.A, 5.01.B, and 5.01.C below: 

A. For all Work other than Unit Price Work, a lump sum of:  $0.00.  All specific cash 
allowances are included in the above price in accordance with Paragraph 11.02 of the 
General Conditions. 

B. For all Unit Price Work, an amount equal to the sum of the established unit price for 
each separately identified item of Unit Price Work times the actual quantity of that 
item: 

  Estimated   Total 
Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price Estimated Price 
      
1 Mobilization 1 LS $_______________ $_______________ 

2 
 

Clearing and Grubbing. 1 LS $_______________ $_______________ 

3 Excavation (Established 
Quantity) 

3,000 CY $_______________ $_______________ 

4 30-Inch P.C. Concrete Curb 
& Gutter 

760 LF $_______________ $_______________ 

5 10-Inch P.C. Concrete 
Pavement 

61,200  SF $_______________ $_______________ 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 49 / 404



 

EJCDC C-520 Agreement Between Owner and Contractor for Construction Contract (Stipulated Price) 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

 

6 Storm Water Pollution 
Prevention Plan (SWPPP) 

1 LS $_______________ $_______________ 

                                                                     Total – Items 1 thru 6 =   $_______________ 

 
The Bid prices for Unit Price Work set forth as of the Effective Date of the Agreement 

are based on estimated quantities.  As provided in Paragraph 11.03 of the General Conditions, 
estimated quantities are not guaranteed, and determinations of actual quantities and classifications 
are to be made by Engineer as provided in Paragraph 9.07 of the General Conditions. 
 

C. For all Work, at the prices stated in Contractor’s Bid, attached hereto as an exhibit. 

ARTICLE 6 – PAYMENT PROCEDURES 

6.01 Submittal and Processing of Payments 

A. Contractor shall submit Applications for Payment in accordance with Article 14 of the 
General Conditions. Applications for Payment will be processed by Engineer as 
provided in the General Conditions. 

6.02 Progress Payments; Retainage 

A. Owner shall make progress payments on account of the Contract Price on the basis of 
Contractor’s Applications for Payment on or about the 25th day of each month during 
performance of the Work as provided in Paragraph 6.02.A.1 below. All such payments 
will be measured by the schedule of values established as provided in Paragraph 2.07.A 
of the General Conditions (and in the case of Unit Price Work based on the number of 
units completed) or, in the event there is no schedule of values, as provided in the 
General Requirements. 

1. Prior to Substantial Completion, progress payments will be made in an amount 
equal to the percentage indicated below but, in each case, less the aggregate of 
payments previously made and less such amounts as Engineer may determine or 
Owner may withhold, including but not limited to liquidated damages, in 
accordance with Paragraph 14.02 of the General Conditions. 

a. 95 percent of Work completed (with the balance being retainage). If the Work 
has been 50 percent completed as determined by Engineer, and if the character 
and progress of the Work have been satisfactory to Owner and Engineer, then 
as long as the character and progress of the Work remain satisfactory to Owner 
and Engineer, there will be no additional retainage; and 

b. 95 percent of cost of materials and equipment not incorporated in the Work 
(with the balance being retainage). 

B. Upon Substantial Completion, Owner shall pay an amount sufficient to increase total 
payments to Contractor to 95 percent of the Work completed, less such amounts as 
Engineer shall determine in accordance with Paragraph 14.02.B.5 of the General 
Conditions and less 200 percent of Engineer’s estimate of the value of Work to be 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 50 / 404



 

EJCDC C-520 Agreement Between Owner and Contractor for Construction Contract (Stipulated Price) 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

 

completed or corrected as shown on the tentative list of items to be completed or 
corrected attached to the certificate of Substantial Completion.  

6.03 Final Payment 

A. Upon final completion and acceptance of the Work in accordance with Paragraph 14.07 
of the General Conditions, Owner shall pay the remainder of the Contract Price as 
recommended by Engineer as provided in said Paragraph 14.07. 

ARTICLE 7 – INTEREST 

7.01 All moneys not paid when due as provided in Article 14 of the General Conditions shall 
bear interest at the rate of 5 percent per annum. 

ARTICLE 8 – CONTRACTOR’S REPRESENTATIONS 

8.01 In order to induce Owner to enter into this Agreement, Contractor makes the following 
representations: 

A. Contractor has examined and carefully studied the Contract Documents and the other 
related data identified in the Bidding Documents. 

B. Contractor has visited the Site and become familiar with and is satisfied as to the 
general, local, and Site conditions that may affect cost, progress, and performance of 
the Work. 

C. Contractor is familiar with and is satisfied as to all federal, state, and local Laws and 
Regulations that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work. 

D. Contractor has carefully studied all: (1) reports of explorations and tests of subsurface 
conditions at or contiguous to the Site and all drawings of physical conditions relating 
to existing surface or subsurface structures at the Site (except Underground Facilities), 
if any, that have been identified in Paragraph SC-4.02 of the Supplementary Conditions 
as containing reliable "technical data," and (2) reports and drawings of Hazardous 
Environmental Conditions, if any, at the Site that have been identified in Paragraph SC-
4.06 of the Supplementary Conditions as containing reliable "technical data." 

E. Contractor has considered the information known to Contractor; information commonly 
known to contractors doing business in the locality of the Site; information and 
observations obtained from visits to the Site; the Contract Documents; and the Site-
related reports and drawings identified in the Contract Documents, with respect to the 
effect of such information, observations, and documents on (1) the cost, progress, and 
performance of the Work; (2) the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and 
procedures of construction to be employed by Contractor, including any specific 
means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction expressly 
required by the Contract Documents; and (3) Contractor’s safety precautions and 
programs.   

F. Based on the information and observations referred to in Paragraph 8.01.E above, 
Contractor does not consider that further examinations, investigations, explorations, 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 51 / 404



 

EJCDC C-520 Agreement Between Owner and Contractor for Construction Contract (Stipulated Price) 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

 

tests, studies, or data are necessary for the performance of the Work at the Contract 
Price, within the Contract Times, and in accordance with the other terms and conditions 
of the Contract Documents. 

G. Contractor is aware of the general nature of work to be performed by Owner and others 
at the Site that relates to the Work as indicated in the Contract Documents. 

H. Contractor has given Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or 
discrepancies that Contractor has discovered in the Contract Documents, and the 
written resolution thereof by Engineer is acceptable to Contractor. 

I. The Contract Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding 
of all terms and conditions for performance and furnishing of the Work. 

ARTICLE 9 – CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

9.01 Contents 

A. The Contract Documents consist of the following: 

1. This Agreement (pages 1 to 11, inclusive). 

2. Performance bond (pages 1 to 3, inclusive). 

3. Payment bond (pages 1 to 3, inclusive). 

4. Other bonds (pages       to      , inclusive). 

5. General Conditions (pages   1    to   62   , inclusive). 

6. Supplementary Conditions (pages   1    to   7   , inclusive). 

7. Specifications as listed in the table of contents of the Project Manual. 

8. Addenda (numbers N/A ). 

9. Exhibits to this Agreement (enumerated as follows): 

a. Contractor’s Bid (pages 1 to 6, inclusive). 

b. Documentation submitted by Contractor prior to Notice of Award (pages       
to      , inclusive). 

c. [List other required attachments (if any), such as documents required by 
funding or lending agencies]. 

10. The following which may be delivered or issued on or after the Effective Date of 
the Agreement and are not attached hereto: 

a. Notice to Proceed (pages 1 ). 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 52 / 404



 

EJCDC C-520 Agreement Between Owner and Contractor for Construction Contract (Stipulated Price) 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

 

b. Work Change Directives. 

c. Change Orders. 

B. The documents listed in Paragraph 9.01.A are attached to this Agreement (except as 
expressly noted otherwise above). 

C. There are no Contract Documents other than those listed above in this Article 9. 

D. The Contract Documents may only be amended, modified, or supplemented as 
provided in Paragraph 3.04 of the General Conditions. 

ARTICLE 10 – MISCELLANEOUS 

10.01 Terms 

A. Terms used in this Agreement will have the meanings stated in the General Conditions 
and the Supplementary Conditions. 

10.02 Assignment of Contract 

A. No assignment by a party hereto of any rights under or interests in the Contract will be 
binding on another party hereto without the written consent of the party sought to be 
bound; and, specifically but without limitation, moneys that may become due and 
moneys that are due may not be assigned without such consent (except to the extent 
that the effect of this restriction may be limited by law), and unless specifically stated to 
the contrary in any written consent to an assignment, no assignment will release or 
discharge the assignor from any duty or responsibility under the Contract Documents. 

10.03 Successors and Assigns 

A. Owner and Contractor each binds itself, its partners, successors, assigns, and legal 
representatives to the other party hereto, its partners, successors, assigns, and legal 
representatives in respect to all covenants, agreements, and obligations contained in the 
Contract Documents. 

10.04 Severability 

A. Any provision or part of the Contract Documents held to be void or unenforceable 
under any Law or Regulation shall be deemed stricken, and all remaining provisions 
shall continue to be valid and binding upon Owner and Contractor, who agree that the 
Contract Documents shall be reformed to replace such stricken provision or part thereof 
with a valid and enforceable provision that comes as close as possible to expressing the 
intention of the stricken provision. 

 

10.05 Contractor’s Certifications 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 53 / 404



 

EJCDC C-520 Agreement Between Owner and Contractor for Construction Contract (Stipulated Price) 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

 

A. Contractor certifies that it has not engaged in corrupt, fraudulent, collusive, or coercive 
practices in competing for or in executing the Contract.  For the purposes of this 
Paragraph 10.05: 

1. “corrupt practice” means the offering, giving, receiving, or soliciting of any thing of 
value likely to influence the action of a public official in the bidding process or in 
the Contract execution; 

2. “fraudulent practice” means an intentional misrepresentation of facts made (a) to 
influence the bidding process or the execution of the Contract to the detriment of 
Owner, (b) to establish Bid or Contract prices at artificial non-competitive levels, or 
(c) to deprive Owner of the benefits of free and open competition; 

3. “collusive practice” means a scheme or arrangement between two or more Bidders, 
with or without the knowledge of Owner, a purpose of which is to establish Bid 
prices at artificial, non-competitive levels; and 

4. “coercive practice” means harming or threatening to harm, directly or indirectly, 
persons or their property to influence their participation in the bidding process or 
affect the execution of the Contract. 

10.06 Other Provisions 

A. None 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 54 / 404



 

EJCDC C-520 Agreement Between Owner and Contractor for Construction Contract (Stipulated Price) 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Owner and Contractor have signed this Agreement.  Counterparts have been 
delivered to Owner and Contractor. All portions of the Contract Documents have been signed or have been 
identified by Owner and Contractor or on their behalf. 

This Agreement will be effective on                 , 20___ (which is the Effective Date of the 
Agreement).   

 
   
OWNER:  CONTRACTOR 

City of Scottsbluff        

By:   By:        

Title: Mayor  Title:       

  
 (If Contractor is a corporation, a partnership, 
or a joint venture, attach evidence of authority 
to sign.) 

Attest:   Attest:       

Title:   Title:       

Address for giving notices:  Address for giving notices: 

City of Scottsbluff        

2525 Circle Drive        

Scottsbluff, NE 69361        

   

  License No.:                                                  

(If Owner is a corporation, attach evidence  
of authority to sign. If Owner is a public body,
attach evidence of authority to sign and resolution
or other documents authorizing execution  
of this Agreement.) 

 

           (Where applicable) 

NOTE TO USER:  Use in those states or other 
jurisdictions where applicable or required. 

 Agent for service of process: 

       
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 55 / 404



EJCDC C-550 Notice to Proceed 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by the Construction Specifications Institute. 

Page 1 of 1 

 

Notice to Proceed 
 

Date:  _____________    ___ 
 
Project: Concrete Pad & Retention Pond for Compost Facility at Scottsbluff WTP 

Owner: City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska Owner's Contract No.: 

Contract: Engineer's Project No.: RM140157-00 

Contractor:  

Contractor's Address:  

 

 

 

 

 You are notified that the Contract Times under the above Contract will commence to run 
on    .  On or before that date, you are to start performing your obligations 
under the Contract Documents.  In accordance with Article 4 of the Agreement, the date of 
Substantial Completion is    , and the date of readiness for final payment is                     
[(or) the number of days to achieve Substantial Completion is 90 calendar days, and the number 
of days to achieve readiness for final payment is 15 calendar days]. 
 
 Before you may start any Work at the Site, Paragraph 2.01.B of the General Conditions 
provides that you and Owner must each deliver to the other (with copies to Engineer and other 
identified additional insureds and loss payees) certificates of insurance which each is required to 
purchase and maintain in accordance with the Contract Documents. 
 
 Also, before you may start any Work at the Site, you must: Notify the Engineer 
 
   

  Engineer 

  Given by: 

  Authorized Signature  

   

  Title 

   

  Date 

Copy to City 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 56 / 404



EJCDC C-610 Performance Bond 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee. 

Page 1 of 3 

 

PERFORMANCE BOND 

Any singular reference to Contractor, Surety, Owner, or other party shall be considered plural where applicable. 

CONTRACTOR (Name and Address): SURETY (Name, and Address of Principal Place of Business): 
              
              
              
OWNER (Name and Address):  
 City of Scottsbluff   

 
2525 Circle Drive 
Scottsbluff, NE 69361   

CONTRACT    
 Effective Date of Agreement:         
 Amount:         
 Description (Name and Location): Concrete Pad & Retention Pond for Compost Facility at Scottsbluff WTP 
    
BOND    
 Bond Number:         

 
Date (Not earlier than Effective Date of 
Agreement):        

 Amount:       
 Modifications to this Bond Form:       
    
Surety and Contractor, intending to be legally bound hereby, subject to the terms set forth below, do each cause 
this Performance Bond to be duly executed by an authorized officer, agent, or representative. 
    
CONTRACTOR AS PRINCIPAL SURETY  
     
       (Seal)   (Seal)
 Contractor's Name and Corporate Seal Surety’s Name and Corporate Seal 
 
 By:        By:        
  Signature  Signature (Attach Power of Attorney) 
    
                 
  Print Name  Print Name 
    
                 
  Title  Title 
    
 Attest:        Attest:        
  Signature  Signature  
      
                
 Title  Title 
 
Note:  Provide execution by additional parties, such as joint venturers, if necessary. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 57 / 404



EJCDC C-610 Performance Bond 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee. 

Page 2 of 3 

 

Contractor and Surety, jointly and severally, bind themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, 
successors, and assigns to Owner for the performance of the Contract, which is incorporated herein by 
reference. 
 
1. If Contractor performs the Contract, Surety and Contractor have no obligation under this Bond, except to 
participate in conferences as provided in Paragraph 2.1. 
 
2. If there is no Owner Default, Surety’s obligation under this Bond shall arise after: 

2.1 Owner has notified Contractor and Surety, at the addresses described in Paragraph 9 below, that 
Owner is considering declaring a Contractor Default and has requested and attempted to arrange a 
conference with Contractor and Surety to be held not later than 15 days after receipt of such notice 
to discuss methods of performing the Contract. If Owner, Contractor, and Surety agree, Contractor 
shall be allowed a reasonable time to perform the Contract, but such an agreement shall not waive 
Owner’s right, if any, subsequently to declare a Contractor Default; and 

2.2 Owner has declared a Contractor Default and formally terminated Contractor’s right to complete 
the Contract. Such Contractor Default shall not be declared earlier than 20 days after Contractor 
and Surety have received notice as provided in Paragraph 2.1; and 

2.3 Owner has agreed to pay the Balance of the Contract Price to: 
1. Surety in accordance with the terms of the Contract; or 
2. Another contractor selected pursuant to Paragraph 3.3 to perform the Contract. 
 

3. When Owner has satisfied the conditions of Paragraph 2, Surety shall promptly, and at Surety’s expense, 
take one of the following actions: 
 

3.1 Arrange for Contractor, with consent of Owner, to perform and complete the Contract; or 
3.2 Undertake to perform and complete the Contract itself, through its agents or through independent 

contractors; or 
3.3 Obtain bids or negotiated proposals from qualified contractors acceptable to Owner for a contract 

for performance and completion of the Contract, arrange for a contract to be prepared for execution 
by Owner and contractor selected with Owner’s concurrence, to be secured with performance and 
payment bonds executed by a qualified surety equivalent to the bonds issued on the Contract, and 
pay to Owner the amount of damages as described in Paragraph 5 in excess of the Balance of the 
Contract Price incurred by Owner resulting from Contractor Default; or 

3.4 Waive its right to perform and complete, arrange for completion, or obtain a new contractor, and 
with reasonable promptness under the circumstances:   

1. After investigation, determine the amount for which it may be liable to Owner and, as soon as 
practicable after the amount is determined, tender payment therefor to Owner; or 

2. Deny liability in whole or in part and notify Owner citing reasons therefor. 
 

4. If Surety does not proceed as provided in Paragraph 3 with reasonable promptness, Surety shall be 
deemed to be in default on this Bond 15 days after receipt of an additional written notice from Owner to 
Surety demanding that Surety perform its obligations under this Bond, and Owner shall be entitled to enforce 
any remedy available to Owner. If Surety proceeds as provided in Paragraph 3.4, and Owner refuses the 
payment tendered or Surety has denied liability, in whole or in part, without further notice Owner shall be 
entitled to enforce any remedy available to Owner. 
 
5. After Owner has terminated Contractor’s right to complete the Contract, and if Surety elects to act under 
Paragraph 3.1, 3.2, or 3.3 above, then the responsibilities of Surety to Owner shall not be greater than those 
of Contractor under the Contract, and the responsibilities of Owner to Surety shall not be greater than those 
of Owner under the Contract. To the limit of the amount of this Bond, but subject to commitment by Owner 
of the Balance of the Contract Price to mitigation of costs and damages on the Contract, Surety is obligated 
without duplication for: 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 58 / 404



EJCDC C-610 Performance Bond 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee. 

Page 3 of 3 

 

 
5.1 The responsibilities of Contractor for correction of defective Work and completion of the Contract; 
5.2 Additional legal, design professional, and delay costs resulting from Contractor’s Default, and 

resulting from the actions of or failure to act of Surety under Paragraph 3; and 
5.3 Liquidated damages, or if no liquidated damages are specified in the Contract, actual damages 

caused by delayed performance or non-performance of Contractor. 
 

6. Surety shall not be liable to Owner or others for obligations of Contractor that are unrelated to the 
Contract, and the Balance of the Contract Price shall not be reduced or set off on account of any such 
unrelated obligations. No right of action shall accrue on this Bond to any person or entity other than Owner 
or its heirs, executors, administrators, or successors. 
 
7. Surety hereby waives notice of any change, including changes of time, to Contract or to related 
subcontracts, purchase orders, and other obligations. 
 
8. Any proceeding, legal or equitable, under this Bond may be instituted in any court of competent 
jurisdiction in the location in which the Work or part of the Work is located, and shall be instituted within 
two years after Contractor Default or within two years after Contractor ceased working or within two years 
after Surety refuses or fails to perform its obligations under this Bond, whichever occurs first. If the 
provisions of this paragraph are void or prohibited by law, the minimum period of limitation available to 
sureties as a defense in the jurisdiction of the suit shall be applicable. 
 
9. Notice to Surety, Owner, or Contractor shall be mailed or delivered to the address shown on the signature 
page. 
 
10. When this Bond has been furnished to comply with a statutory requirement in the location where the 
Contract was to be performed, any provision in this Bond conflicting with said statutory requirement shall be 
deemed deleted herefrom and provisions conforming to such statutory requirement shall be deemed 
incorporated herein. The intent is that this Bond shall be construed as a statutory bond and not as a common 
law bond. 
 
11. Definitions. 
 

11.1 Balance of the Contract Price:  The total amount payable by Owner to Contractor under the 
Contract after all proper adjustments have been made, including allowance to Contractor of any 
amounts received or to be received by Owner in settlement of insurance or other Claims for 
damages to which Contractor is entitled, reduced by all valid and proper payments made to or on 
behalf of Contractor under the Contract.  

11.2 Contract:  The agreement between Owner and Contractor identified on the signature page, 
including all Contract Documents and changes thereto.  

11.3 Contractor Default:  Failure of Contractor, which has neither been remedied nor waived, to perform 
or otherwise to comply with the terms of the Contract. 

11.4 Owner Default:  Failure of Owner, which has neither been remedied nor waived, to pay Contractor 
as required by the Contract or to perform and complete or otherwise comply with the other terms 
thereof. 

 
FOR INFORMATION ONLY – (Name, Address and Telephone) 
Surety Agency or Broker: 
Owner’s Representative (Engineer or other party): 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 59 / 404



EJCDC C-615(A) Payment Bond 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee. 

Page 1 of 3 
 

PAYMENT BOND 

Any singular reference to Contractor, Surety, Owner, or other party shall be considered plural where applicable. 

CONTRACTOR (Name and Address): SURETY (Name, and Address of Principal Place of 
Business): 

         
         
OWNER (Name and Address):  
 City of Scottsbluff   

 
252 Circle Drive 
Mitchell, NE 69361   

CONTRACT    
 Effective Date of Agreement:         
 Amount:          

 
Description (Name and Location):   Concrete Pad & Retention Pond for Compost Facility at Scottsbluff 
WTP 

BOND    
 Bond Number:         

 
Date (Not earlier than Effective Date of 
Agreement):        

 Amount:       
 Modifications to this Bond Form:       
    
Surety and Contractor, intending to be legally bound hereby, subject to the terms set forth below, do each 
cause this Payment Bond to be duly executed by an authorized officer, agent, or representative. 
    
CONTRACTOR AS PRINCIPAL SURETY  
   
  (Seal)   (Seal)
 Contractor's Name and Corporate Seal Surety’s Name and Corporate Seal 
 
By:       By:       
 Signature  Signature (Attach Power of Attorney) 
   
              
 Print Name  Print Name 
   
              
 Title  Title 
   
Attest:       Attest:       
 Signature  Signature 
    
              
 Title  Title 
 
Note:  Provide execution by additional parties, such as joint venturers, if necessary. 
   

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 60 / 404



EJCDC C-615(A) Payment Bond 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee. 

Page 2 of 3 
 

1. Contractor and Surety, jointly and severally, bind themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, 
successors, and assigns to Owner to pay for labor, materials, and equipment furnished by Claimants for use 
in the performance of the Contract, which is incorporated herein by reference.  

2. With respect to Owner, this obligation shall be null and void if Contractor: 

2.1 Promptly makes payment, directly or indirectly, for all sums due Claimants, and 

2.2 Defends, indemnifies, and holds harmless Owner from all claims, demands, liens, or suits alleging 
non-payment by Contractor by any person or entity who furnished labor, materials, or equipment 
for use in the performance of the Contract, provided Owner has promptly notified Contractor and 
Surety (at the addresses described in Paragraph 12) of any claims, demands, liens, or suits and 
tendered defense of such claims, demands, liens, or suits to Contractor and Surety, and provided 
there is no Owner Default. 

3. With respect to Claimants, this obligation shall be null and void if Contractor promptly makes payment, 
directly or indirectly, for all sums due. 

4. Surety shall have no obligation to Claimants under this Bond until: 

4.1 Claimants who are employed by or have a direct contract with Contractor have given notice to 
Surety (at the address described in Paragraph 12) and sent a copy, or notice thereof, to Owner, 
stating that a claim is being made under this Bond and, with substantial accuracy, the amount of the 
claim. 

 
4.2 Claimants who do not have a direct contract with Contractor: 

1. Have furnished written notice to Contractor and sent a copy, or notice thereof, to Owner, within 
90 days after having last performed labor or last furnished materials or equipment included in the 
claim stating, with substantial accuracy, the amount of the claim and the name of the party to 
whom the materials or equipment were furnished or supplied, or for whom the labor was done or 
performed; and 

2. Have either received a rejection in whole or in part from Contractor, or not received within 30 
days of furnishing the above notice any communication from Contractor by which Contractor had 
indicated the claim will be paid directly or indirectly; and 

3. Not having been paid within the above 30 days, have sent a written notice to Surety (at the 
address described in Paragraph 12) and sent a copy, or notice thereof, to Owner, stating that a 
claim is being made under this Bond and enclosing a copy of the previous written notice 
furnished to Contractor. 

5. If a notice by a Claimant required by Paragraph 4 is provided by Owner to Contractor or to Surety, that is 
sufficient compliance. 

6. Reserved.   

7. Surety’s total obligation shall not exceed the amount of this Bond, and the amount of this Bond shall be 
credited for any payments made in good faith by Surety. 

8. Amounts owed by Owner to Contractor under the Contract shall be used for the performance of the 
Contract and to satisfy claims, if any, under any performance bond. By Contractor furnishing and Owner 
accepting this Bond, they agree that all funds earned by Contractor in the performance of the Contract are 
dedicated to satisfy obligations of Contractor and Surety under this Bond, subject to Owner’s priority to use 
the funds for the completion of the Work. 

9. Surety shall not be liable to Owner, Claimants, or others for obligations of Contractor that are unrelated 
to the Contract. Owner shall not be liable for payment of any costs or expenses of any Claimant under this 
Bond, and shall have under this Bond no obligations to make payments to, give notices on behalf of, or 
otherwise have obligations to Claimants under this Bond. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 61 / 404



EJCDC C-615(A) Payment Bond 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee. 

Page 3 of 3 
 

10. Surety hereby waives notice of any change, including changes of time, to the Contract or to related 
subcontracts, purchase orders, and other obligations. 

11. No suit or action shall be commenced by a Claimant under this Bond other than in a court of competent 
jurisdiction in the location in which the Work or part of the Work is located or after the expiration of one 
year from the date (1) on which the Claimant gave the notice required by Paragraph 4.1 or Paragraph 4.2.3, 
or (2) on which the last labor or service was performed by anyone or the last materials or equipment were 
furnished by anyone under the Contract, whichever of (1) or (2) first occurs. If the provisions of this 
paragraph are void or prohibited by law, the minimum period of limitation available to sureties as a defense 
in the jurisdiction of the suit shall be applicable. 

12. Notice to Surety, Owner, or Contractor shall be mailed or delivered to the addresses shown on the 
signature page. Actual receipt of notice by Surety, Owner, or Contractor, however accomplished, shall be 
sufficient compliance as of the date received at the address shown on the signature page. 

13. When this Bond has been furnished to comply with a statutory requirement in the location where the 
Contract was to be performed, any provision in this Bond conflicting with said statutory requirement shall be 
deemed deleted herefrom and provisions conforming to such statutory requirement shall be deemed 
incorporated herein. The intent is that this Bond shall be construed as a statutory Bond and not as a common 
law bond.  

14. Upon request of any person or entity appearing to be a potential beneficiary of this Bond, Contractor 
shall promptly furnish a copy of this Bond or shall permit a copy to be made. 

15. Definitions 

15.1 Claimant:  An individual or entity having a direct contract with Contractor, or with a first-tier 
subcontractor of Contractor, to furnish labor, materials, or equipment for use in the performance of 
the Contract. The intent of this Bond shall be to include without limitation in the terms “labor, 
materials or equipment” that part of water, gas, power, light, heat, oil, gasoline, telephone service, 
or rental equipment used in the Contract, architectural and engineering services required for 
performance of the Work of Contractor and Contractor’s subcontractors, and all other items for 
which a mechanic’s lien may be asserted in the jurisdiction where the labor, materials, or 
equipment were furnished. 

15.2 Contract:  The agreement between Owner and Contractor identified on the signature page, 
including all Contract Documents and changes thereto. 

15.3 Owner Default:  Failure of Owner, which has neither been remedied nor waived, to pay Contractor 
as required by the Contract, or to perform and complete or otherwise comply with the other terms 
thereof. 

 
 
 
FOR INFORMATION ONLY – (Name, Address, and Telephone) 
Surety Agency or Broker: 
Owner’s Representative (Engineer or other): M.C. Schaff & Associates 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 62 / 404



Contractor's Application for Payment No.
Application Period: Application Date:

To (Owner): From (Contractor): Via (Engineer):

Project: Contract:

Owner's Contract No.: Contractor's Project No.: Engineer's Project No.:

1.  ORIGINAL CONTRACT PRICE............................................................ $

2.  Net change by Change Orders................................................................... $

3.  Current Contract Price (Line 1 ± 2).......................................................... $

4.  TOTAL COMPLETED AND STORED TO DATE

    (Column F on Progress Estimate)............................................................. $

5.  RETAINAGE:

a. X #REF! Work Completed.......... $

b. X #REF! Stored Material............ $

c. Total Retainage (Line 5a + Line 5b)................................ $

6.  AMOUNT ELIGIBLE TO DATE (Line 4 - Line 5c).............................. $

7.  LESS PREVIOUS PAYMENTS (Line 6 from prior Application)......... $

8.  AMOUNT DUE THIS APPLICATION................................................... $

9. BALANCE TO FINISH, PLUS RETAINAGE

   (Column G on Progress Estimate + Line 5 above).................................... $

Contractor's Certification

   Payment of: $

   is recommended by:

   Payment of: $

   is approved by:

By: Date:    Approved by:

#REF!

(Engineer)

(Owner)

(Date)

(Line 8 or other - attach explanation of the other amount)

#REF!

#REF!

Endorsed by the Construction Specifications Institute.

(Line 8 or other - attach explanation of the other amount)

(Date)

Funding Agency (if applicable) (Date)

The undersigned Contractor certifies that to the best of its knowledge: (1) all previous progress payments 
received from Owner on account of Work done under the Contract have been applied on account to 
discharge Contractor's legitimate obligations incurred in connection with Work covered by prior 
Applications for Payment; (2) title of all Work, materials and equipment incorporated in said Work or 
otherwise listed in or covered by this Application for Payment will pass to Owner at time of payment free 
and clear of all Liens, security interests and encumbrances (except such as are covered by a Bond 
acceptable to Owner indemnifying Owner against any such Liens, security interest or encumbrances); and 
(3) all Work covered by this Application for Payment is in accordance with the Contract Documents and 
is not defective.

#REF!

#REF!

#REF!

#REF!

Additions

CHANGE ORDERS

Application For Payment

Change Order Summary

NET CHANGE BY

Approved Change Orders

TOTALS

M.C. Schaff and Associates

Number Deductions

EJCDC C-620 Contractor's Application for Payment
© 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved.

Page 1 of 3

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 63 / 404



Progress Estimate             Contractor's Application

For (contract): Application Number:

Application Period: Application Date:

Balance to Finish

(B - F)

Totals

%        
(F)        
BBid Item No. Description

Total Completed 
and Stored to Date 

(D + E)
Value

Materials Presently 
Stored (not in C)

Item

Bid Quantity Unit Price Bid Value
Estimated 
Quantity 
Installed

FA B C D E

EJCDC C-620 Contractor's Application for Payment
© 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved.

Page 2 of 3
Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 64 / 404



Stored Material Summary                                                 Contractor's Application

For (contract): Application Number:

Application Period: Application Date:

A B G
Materials Remaining

in Storage ($)
(D + E - F)

Totals

Date 
(Month/Year)

Amount      
($)

Invoice No.
Shop Drawing 

Transmittal No.
Materials Description

Stored Previously Stored this Month Incorporated in Work
Date 

(Month/Year)
Amount       

($)
Amount       

($)
Subtotal

C D E F

EJCDC C-620 Contractor's Application for Payment
© 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved.

Page 3 of 3
Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 65 / 404



EJCDC C-625 Certificate of Substantial Completion 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by the Construction Specifications Institute. 

Page 1 of 2 

 

Certificate of Substantial Completion 
 

Project: Concrete Pad & Retention Pond for Compost Facility at Scottsbluff WTP 

Owner: City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska Owner's Contract No.: 

Contract: Engineer's Project No.: RM140157 

This [tentative] [definitive] Certificate of Substantial Completion applies to: 

� All Work under the Contract Documents: �The following specified portions of the Work: 
 

 

 

 

  

 Date of Substantial Completion 

 
The Work to which this Certificate applies has been inspected by authorized representatives of Owner, 
Contractor, and Engineer, and found to be substantially complete.  The Date of Substantial Completion 
of the Project or portion thereof designated above is hereby declared and is also the date of 
commencement of applicable warranties required by the Contract Documents, except as stated below. 
 
A [tentative] [definitive] list of items to be completed or corrected is attached hereto.  This list may not 
be all-inclusive, and the failure to include any items on such list does not alter the responsibility of the 
Contractor to complete all Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. 
 
The responsibilities between Owner and Contractor for security, operation, safety, maintenance, 
heat, utilities, insurance and warranties shall be as provided in the Contract Documents except as 
amended as follows: 

� Amended Responsibilities �Not Amended   

Owner's Amended Responsibilities: 

 

 

 

Contractor's Amended Responsibilities: 

 

 

 

 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 66 / 404



EJCDC C-625 Certificate of Substantial Completion 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by the Construction Specifications Institute. 

Page 2 of 2 

 

The following documents are attached to and made part of this Certificate: 

 

 

 
This Certificate does not constitute an acceptance of Work not in accordance with the Contract 
Documents nor is it a release of Contractor's obligation to complete the Work in accordance with the 
Contract Documents. 
   

   

Executed by Engineer  Date 

   

Accepted by Contractor  Date 

   

Accepted by Owner  Date 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 67 / 404



 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Copyr

S
O

ENGIN

EJCDC C-700
right © 2007 Natio

STANDA
OF THE C

NEERS JOI

AMERICAN

ASSOCIATE

AMER

PROFESSI

NATIONAL

CONST

0 Standard Gener
onal Society of Pro

ARD GEN
CONSTR

Pr

NT CONTR

Issued and P

 

N COUNCIL 
_______

ED GENERAL
_______

RICAN SOCIE
________

IONAL ENGIN
A Practi

L SOCIETY O

En

TRUCTION SP

ral Conditions of t
ofessional Enginee

NERAL C
RUCTIO

 
repared by 

 
RACT DOC

 
and 

 
Published Jo

 

  
 

  
 
 

OF ENGINEE
_____________

 
L CONTRACT

_____________
 

ETY OF CIVIL
_____________

 
NEERS IN PR
ice Division of 
OF PROFESSIO

 
 

ndorsed by 

PECIFICATIO
 
 
 
 
 

the Construction C
ers for EJCDC.  A

CONDIT
ON CONT

CUMENTS C

ointly by 

  

ERING COMP
____ 

TORS OF AM
____ 

L ENGINEER
____ 

RIVATE PRAC
f the 
ONAL ENGIN

ONS INSTITUT

Contract 
All rights reserved

TIONS 
TRACT 

COMMITT

 

PANIES 

MERICA 

RS 

CTICE 

NEERS 

TE 

 

d. 

TEE 

 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 68 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers 

1420 King Street, Alexandria, VA 22314-2794 
(703) 684-2882 
www.nspe.org 

 
American Council of Engineering Companies 

1015 15th Street N.W., Washington, DC 20005 
(202) 347-7474 
www.acec.org 

 
American Society of Civil Engineers 

1801 Alexander Bell Drive, Reston, VA 20191-4400 
(800) 548-2723 
www.asce.org 

 
Associated General Contractors of America 

 2300 Wilson Boulevard, Suite 400, Arlington, VA   22201-3308 
(703) 548-3118 
www.agc.org 

 
 
 

The copyright for this EJCDC document is owned jointly by the four 
EJCDC sponsoring organizations and held in trust for their benefit by NSPE. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 69 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page i 

 

STANDARD GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE 
CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

Article 1 – Definitions and Terminology .......................................................................................................... 1 
1.01 Defined Terms ............................................................................................................................... 1 
1.02 Terminology .................................................................................................................................. 5 

Article 2 – Preliminary Matters ......................................................................................................................... 6 
2.01 Delivery of Bonds and Evidence of Insurance ............................................................................. 6 
2.02 Copies of Documents .................................................................................................................... 6 
2.03 Commencement of Contract Times; Notice to Proceed .............................................................. 6 
2.04 Starting the Work .......................................................................................................................... 7 
2.05 Before Starting Construction ........................................................................................................ 7 
2.06 Preconstruction Conference; Designation of Authorized Representatives ................................. 7 
2.07 Initial Acceptance of Schedules ................................................................................................... 7 

Article 3 – Contract Documents:  Intent, Amending, Reuse ............................................................................ 8 
3.01 Intent .............................................................................................................................................. 8 
3.02 Reference Standards ..................................................................................................................... 8 
3.03 Reporting and Resolving Discrepancies ...................................................................................... 8 
3.04 Amending and Supplementing Contract Documents .................................................................. 9 
3.05 Reuse of Documents ................................................................................................................... 10 
3.06 Electronic Data ............................................................................................................................ 10 

Article 4 – Availability of Lands; Subsurface and Physical Conditions; Hazardous Environmental 
Conditions; Reference Points .......................................................................................................... 10 

4.01 Availability of Lands .................................................................................................................. 10 
4.02 Subsurface and Physical Conditions .......................................................................................... 11 
4.03 Differing Subsurface or Physical Conditions ............................................................................. 11 
4.04 Underground Facilities ............................................................................................................... 13 
4.05 Reference Points ......................................................................................................................... 14 
4.06 Hazardous Environmental Condition at Site .............................................................................. 14 

Article 5 – Bonds and Insurance ..................................................................................................................... 16 
5.01 Performance, Payment, and Other Bonds .................................................................................. 16 
5.02 Licensed Sureties and Insurers ................................................................................................... 16 
5.03 Certificates of Insurance ............................................................................................................. 16 
5.04 Contractor’s Insurance ................................................................................................................ 17 
5.05 Owner’s Liability Insurance ....................................................................................................... 18 
5.06 Property Insurance ...................................................................................................................... 18 
5.07 Waiver of Rights ......................................................................................................................... 20 
5.08 Receipt and Application of Insurance Proceeds ........................................................................ 21 
5.09 Acceptance of Bonds and Insurance; Option to Replace ........................................................... 21 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 70 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page ii 

 

5.10 Partial Utilization, Acknowledgment of Property Insurer ......................................................... 21 

Article 6 – Contractor’s Responsibilities ........................................................................................................ 22 
6.01 Supervision and Superintendence .............................................................................................. 22 
6.02 Labor; Working Hours ................................................................................................................ 22 
6.03 Services, Materials, and Equipment ........................................................................................... 22 
6.04 Progress Schedule ....................................................................................................................... 23 
6.05 Substitutes and “Or-Equals” ....................................................................................................... 23 
6.06 Concerning Subcontractors, Suppliers, and Others ................................................................... 25 
6.07 Patent Fees and Royalties ........................................................................................................... 26 
6.08 Permits ......................................................................................................................................... 27 
6.09 Laws and Regulations ................................................................................................................. 27 
6.10 Taxes ........................................................................................................................................... 28 
6.11 Use of Site and Other Areas ....................................................................................................... 28 
6.12 Record Documents ...................................................................................................................... 29 
6.13 Safety and Protection .................................................................................................................. 29 
6.14 Safety Representative ................................................................................................................. 30 
6.15 Hazard Communication Programs ............................................................................................. 30 
6.16 Emergencies ................................................................................................................................ 30 
6.17 Shop Drawings and Samples ...................................................................................................... 30 
6.18 Continuing the Work .................................................................................................................. 32 
6.19 Contractor’s General Warranty and Guarantee .......................................................................... 32 
6.20 Indemnification ........................................................................................................................... 33 
6.21 Delegation of Professional Design Services .............................................................................. 34 

Article 7 – Other Work at the Site ................................................................................................................... 34 
7.01 Related Work at Site ................................................................................................................... 34 
7.02 Coordination ................................................................................................................................ 35 
7.03 Legal Relationships ..................................................................................................................... 35 

Article 8 – Owner’s Responsibilities .............................................................................................................. 36 
8.01 Communications to Contractor ................................................................................................... 36 
8.02 Replacement of Engineer ............................................................................................................ 36 
8.03 Furnish Data ................................................................................................................................ 36 
8.04 Pay When Due ............................................................................................................................ 36 
8.05 Lands and Easements; Reports and Tests .................................................................................. 36 
8.06 Insurance ..................................................................................................................................... 36 
8.07 Change Orders ............................................................................................................................. 36 
8.08 Inspections, Tests, and Approvals .............................................................................................. 36 
8.09 Limitations on Owner’s Responsibilities ................................................................................... 36 
8.10 Undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition .................................................................... 37 
8.11 Evidence of Financial Arrangements ......................................................................................... 37 
8.12 Compliance with Safety Program ............................................................................................... 37 

Article 9 – Engineer’s Status During Construction ........................................................................................ 37 
9.01 Owner’s Representative .............................................................................................................. 37 
9.02 Visits to Site ................................................................................................................................ 37 
9.03 Project Representative ................................................................................................................ 38 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 71 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page iii 

 

9.04 Authorized Variations in Work .................................................................................................. 38 
9.05 Rejecting Defective Work .......................................................................................................... 38 
9.06 Shop Drawings, Change Orders and Payments ......................................................................... 38 
9.07 Determinations for Unit Price Work .......................................................................................... 38 
9.08 Decisions on Requirements of Contract Documents and Acceptability of Work .................... 39 
9.09 Limitations on Engineer’s Authority and Responsibilities ........................................................ 39 
9.10 Compliance with Safety Program ............................................................................................... 40 

Article 10 – Changes in the Work; Claims ..................................................................................................... 40 
10.01 Authorized Changes in the Work ............................................................................................... 40 
10.02 Unauthorized Changes in the Work ........................................................................................... 40 
10.03 Execution of Change Orders ....................................................................................................... 40 
10.04 Notification to Surety .................................................................................................................. 41 
10.05 Claims .......................................................................................................................................... 41 

Article 11 – Cost of the Work; Allowances; Unit Price Work ....................................................................... 42 
11.01 Cost of the Work ......................................................................................................................... 42 
11.02 Allowances .................................................................................................................................. 44 
11.03 Unit Price Work .......................................................................................................................... 45 

Article 12 – Change of Contract Price; Change of Contract Times ............................................................... 45 
12.01 Change of Contract Price ............................................................................................................ 45 
12.02 Change of Contract Times .......................................................................................................... 47 
12.03 Delays .......................................................................................................................................... 47 

Article 13 – Tests and Inspections; Correction, Removal or Acceptance of Defective Work ...................... 48 
13.01 Notice of Defects ........................................................................................................................ 48 
13.02 Access to Work ........................................................................................................................... 48 
13.03 Tests and Inspections .................................................................................................................. 48 
13.04 Uncovering Work ....................................................................................................................... 49 
13.05 Owner May Stop the Work ......................................................................................................... 49 
13.06 Correction or Removal of Defective Work ................................................................................ 49 
13.07 Correction Period ........................................................................................................................ 50 
13.08 Acceptance of Defective Work .................................................................................................. 51 
13.09 Owner May Correct Defective Work ......................................................................................... 51 

Article 14 – Payments to Contractor and Completion .................................................................................... 52 
14.01 Schedule of Values ..................................................................................................................... 52 
14.02 Progress Payments ...................................................................................................................... 52 
14.03 Contractor’s Warranty of Title ................................................................................................... 54 
14.04 Substantial Completion ............................................................................................................... 55 
14.05 Partial Utilization ........................................................................................................................ 55 
14.06 Final Inspection ........................................................................................................................... 56 
14.07 Final Payment ............................................................................................................................. 56 
14.08 Final Completion Delayed .......................................................................................................... 57 
14.09 Waiver of Claims ........................................................................................................................ 58 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 72 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page iv 

 

Article 15 – Suspension of Work and Termination ........................................................................................ 58 
15.01 Owner May Suspend Work ........................................................................................................ 58 
15.02 Owner May Terminate for Cause ............................................................................................... 58 
15.03 Owner May Terminate For Convenience ................................................................................... 59 
15.04 Contractor May Stop Work or Terminate .................................................................................. 60 

Article 16 – Dispute Resolution ...................................................................................................................... 60 
16.01 Methods and Procedures ............................................................................................................. 60 

Article 17 – Miscellaneous .............................................................................................................................. 61 
17.01 Giving Notice .............................................................................................................................. 61 
17.02 Computation of Times ................................................................................................................ 61 
17.03 Cumulative Remedies ................................................................................................................. 61 
17.04 Survival of Obligations ............................................................................................................... 61 
17.05 Controlling Law .......................................................................................................................... 61 
17.06 Headings ...................................................................................................................................... 61 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 73 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 1  of  61 
 

ARTICLE 1 – DEFINITIONS AND TERMINOLOGY 

1.01 Defined Terms 

A. Wherever used in the Bidding Requirements or Contract Documents and printed with initial 
capital letters, the terms listed below will have the meanings indicated which are applicable to 
both the singular and plural thereof. In addition to terms specifically defined, terms with initial 
capital letters in the Contract Documents include references to identified articles and paragraphs, 
and the titles of other documents or forms. 

1. Addenda—Written or graphic instruments issued prior to the opening of Bids which clarify, 
correct, or change the Bidding Requirements or the proposed Contract Documents. 

2. Agreement—The written instrument which is evidence of the agreement between Owner and 
Contractor covering the Work. 

3. Application for Payment—The form acceptable to Engineer which is to be used by 
Contractor during the course of the Work in requesting progress or final payments and which 
is to be accompanied by such supporting documentation as is required by the Contract 
Documents. 

4. Asbestos—Any material that contains more than one percent asbestos and is friable or is 
releasing asbestos fibers into the air above current action levels established by the United 
States Occupational Safety and Health Administration. 

5. Bid—The offer or proposal of a Bidder submitted on the prescribed form setting forth the 
prices for the Work to be performed. 

6. Bidder—The individual or entity who submits a Bid directly to Owner. 

7. Bidding Documents—The Bidding Requirements and the proposed Contract Documents 
(including all Addenda). 

8. Bidding Requirements—The advertisement or invitation to bid, Instructions to Bidders, Bid 
security of acceptable form, if any, and the Bid Form with any supplements. 

9. Change Order—A document recommended by Engineer which is signed by Contractor and 
Owner and authorizes an addition, deletion, or revision in the Work or an adjustment in the 
Contract Price or the Contract Times, issued on or after the Effective Date of the Agreement. 

10. Claim—A demand or assertion by Owner or Contractor seeking an adjustment of Contract 
Price or Contract Times, or both, or other relief with respect to the terms of the Contract. A 
demand for money or services by a third party is not a Claim. 

11. Contract—The entire and integrated written agreement between the Owner and Contractor 
concerning the Work. The Contract supersedes prior negotiations, representations, or 
agreements, whether written or oral. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 74 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 2  of  61 
 

12. Contract Documents—Those items so designated in the Agreement. Only printed or hard 
copies of the items listed in the Agreement are Contract Documents. Approved Shop 
Drawings, other Contractor submittals, and the reports and drawings of subsurface and 
physical conditions are not Contract Documents. 

13. Contract Price—The moneys payable by Owner to Contractor for completion of the Work in 
accordance with the Contract Documents as stated in the Agreement (subject to the 
provisions of Paragraph 11.03 in the case of Unit Price Work). 

14. Contract Times—The number of days or the dates stated in the Agreement to:  (i) achieve 
Milestones, if any; (ii) achieve Substantial Completion; and (iii) complete the Work so that it 
is ready for final payment as evidenced by Engineer’s written recommendation of final 
payment. 

15. Contractor—The individual or entity with whom Owner has entered into the Agreement. 

16. Cost of the Work—See Paragraph 11.01 for definition. 

17. Drawings—That part of the Contract Documents prepared or approved by Engineer which 
graphically shows the scope, extent, and character of the Work to be performed by 
Contractor. Shop Drawings and other Contractor submittals are not Drawings as so defined. 

18. Effective Date of the Agreement—The date indicated in the Agreement on which it becomes 
effective, but if no such date is indicated, it means the date on which the Agreement is signed 
and delivered by the last of the two parties to sign and deliver. 

19. Engineer—The individual or entity named as such in the Agreement. 

20. Field Order—A written order issued by Engineer which requires minor changes in the Work 
but which does not involve a change in the Contract Price or the Contract Times. 

21. General Requirements—Sections of Division 1 of the Specifications. 

22. Hazardous Environmental Condition—The presence at the Site of Asbestos, PCBs, 
Petroleum, Hazardous Waste, or Radioactive Material in such quantities or circumstances 
that may present a substantial danger to persons or property exposed thereto. 

23. Hazardous Waste—The term Hazardous Waste shall have the meaning provided in Section 
1004 of the Solid Waste Disposal Act (42 USC Section 6903) as amended from time to time. 

24. Laws and Regulations; Laws or Regulations—Any and all applicable laws, rules, 
regulations, ordinances, codes, and orders of any and all governmental bodies, agencies, 
authorities, and courts having jurisdiction. 

25. Liens—Charges, security interests, or encumbrances upon Project funds, real property, or 
personal property. 

26. Milestone—A principal event specified in the Contract Documents relating to an 
intermediate completion date or time prior to Substantial Completion of all the Work. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 75 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 3  of  61 
 

27. Notice of Award—The written notice by Owner to the Successful Bidder stating that upon 
timely compliance by the Successful Bidder with the conditions precedent listed therein, 
Owner will sign and deliver the Agreement. 

28. Notice to Proceed—A written notice given by Owner to Contractor fixing the date on which 
the Contract Times will commence to run and on which Contractor shall start to perform the 
Work under the Contract Documents. 

29. Owner—The individual or entity with whom Contractor has entered into the Agreement and 
for whom the Work is to be performed. 

30. PCBs—Polychlorinated biphenyls. 

31. Petroleum—Petroleum, including crude oil or any fraction thereof which is liquid at standard 
conditions of temperature and pressure (60 degrees Fahrenheit and 14.7 pounds per square 
inch absolute), such as oil, petroleum, fuel oil, oil sludge, oil refuse, gasoline, kerosene, and 
oil mixed with other non-Hazardous Waste and crude oils. 

32. Progress Schedule—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Contractor, describing the 
sequence and duration of the activities comprising the Contractor’s plan to accomplish the 
Work within the Contract Times. 

33. Project—The total construction of which the Work to be performed under the Contract 
Documents may be the whole, or a part. 

34. Project Manual—The bound documentary information prepared for bidding and constructing 
the Work. A listing of the contents of the Project Manual, which may be bound in one or 
more volumes, is contained in the table(s) of contents. 

35. Radioactive Material—Source, special nuclear, or byproduct material as defined by the 
Atomic Energy Act of 1954 (42 USC Section 2011 et seq.) as amended from time to time. 

36. Resident Project Representative—The authorized representative of Engineer who may be 
assigned to the Site or any part thereof. 

37. Samples—Physical examples of materials, equipment, or workmanship that are 
representative of some portion of the Work and which establish the standards by which such 
portion of the Work will be judged. 

38. Schedule of Submittals—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Contractor, of required 
submittals and the time requirements to support scheduled performance of related 
construction activities. 

39. Schedule of Values—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Contractor, allocating portions 
of the Contract Price to various portions of the Work and used as the basis for reviewing 
Contractor’s Applications for Payment. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 76 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 4  of  61 
 

40. Shop Drawings—All drawings, diagrams, illustrations, schedules, and other data or 
information which are specifically prepared or assembled by or for Contractor and submitted 
by Contractor to illustrate some portion of the Work. 

41. Site—Lands or areas indicated in the Contract Documents as being furnished by Owner upon 
which the Work is to be performed, including rights-of-way and easements for access 
thereto, and such other lands furnished by Owner which are designated for the use of 
Contractor. 

42. Specifications—That part of the Contract Documents consisting of written requirements for 
materials, equipment, systems, standards and workmanship as applied to the Work, and 
certain administrative requirements and procedural matters applicable thereto. 

43. Subcontractor—An individual or entity having a direct contract with Contractor or with any 
other Subcontractor for the performance of a part of the Work at the Site. 

44. Substantial Completion—The time at which the Work (or a specified part thereof) has 
progressed to the point where, in the opinion of Engineer, the Work (or a specified part 
thereof) is sufficiently complete, in accordance with the Contract Documents, so that the 
Work (or a specified part thereof) can be utilized for the purposes for which it is intended. 
The terms “substantially complete” and “substantially completed” as applied to all or part of 
the Work refer to Substantial Completion thereof. 

45. Successful Bidder—The Bidder submitting a responsive Bid to whom Owner makes an 
award. 

46. Supplementary Conditions—That part of the Contract Documents which amends or 
supplements these General Conditions. 

47. Supplier—A manufacturer, fabricator, supplier, distributor, materialman, or vendor having a 
direct contract with Contractor or with any Subcontractor to furnish materials or equipment 
to be incorporated in the Work by Contractor or Subcontractor. 

48. Underground Facilities—All underground pipelines, conduits, ducts, cables, wires, 
manholes, vaults, tanks, tunnels, or other such facilities or attachments, and any encasements 
containing such facilities, including those that convey electricity, gases, steam, liquid 
petroleum products, telephone or other communications, cable television, water, wastewater, 
storm water, other liquids or chemicals, or traffic or other control systems. 

49. Unit Price Work—Work to be paid for on the basis of unit prices. 

50. Work—The entire construction or the various separately identifiable parts thereof required to 
be provided under the Contract Documents. Work includes and is the result of performing or 
providing all labor, services, and documentation necessary to produce such construction, and 
furnishing, installing, and incorporating all materials and equipment into such construction, 
all as required by the Contract Documents. 

51. Work Change Directive—A written statement to Contractor issued on or after the Effective 
Date of the Agreement and signed by Owner and recommended by Engineer ordering an 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 77 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 5  of  61 
 

addition, deletion, or revision in the Work, or responding to differing or unforeseen 
subsurface or physical conditions under which the Work is to be performed or to 
emergencies. A Work Change Directive will not change the Contract Price or the Contract 
Times but is evidence that the parties expect that the change ordered or documented by a 
Work Change Directive will be incorporated in a subsequently issued Change Order 
following negotiations by the parties as to its effect, if any, on the Contract Price or Contract 
Times. 

1.02 Terminology 

A. The words and terms discussed in Paragraph 1.02.B through F are not defined but, when used in 
the Bidding Requirements or Contract Documents, have the indicated meaning. 

B. Intent of Certain Terms or Adjectives: 

1. The Contract Documents include the terms “as allowed,” “as approved,” “as ordered,” “as 
directed” or terms of like effect or import to authorize an exercise of professional judgment 
by Engineer. In addition, the adjectives “reasonable,” “suitable,” “acceptable,” “proper,” 
“satisfactory,” or adjectives of like effect or import are used to describe an action or 
determination of Engineer as to the Work. It is intended that such exercise of professional 
judgment, action, or determination will be solely to evaluate, in general, the Work for 
compliance with the information in the Contract Documents and with the design concept of 
the  Project as a functioning whole as shown or indicated in the Contract Documents (unless 
there is a specific statement indicating otherwise). The use of any such term or adjective is 
not intended to and shall not be effective to assign to Engineer any duty or authority to 
supervise or direct the performance of the Work, or any duty or authority to undertake 
responsibility contrary to the provisions of Paragraph 9.09 or any other provision of the 
Contract Documents. 

C. Day: 

1. The word “day” means a calendar day of 24 hours measured from midnight to the next 
midnight. 

D. Defective: 

1. The word “defective,” when modifying the word “Work,” refers to Work that is 
unsatisfactory, faulty, or deficient in that it: 

a. does not conform to the Contract Documents; or 

b. does not meet the requirements of any applicable inspection, reference standard, test, or 
approval referred to in the Contract Documents; or  

c. has been damaged prior to Engineer’s recommendation of final payment (unless 
responsibility for the protection thereof has been assumed by Owner at Substantial 
Completion in accordance with Paragraph 14.04 or 14.05). 

E. Furnish, Install, Perform, Provide: 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 78 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 6  of  61 
 

1. The word “furnish,” when used in connection with services, materials, or equipment, shall 
mean to supply and deliver said services, materials, or equipment to the Site (or some other 
specified location) ready for use or installation and in usable or operable condition. 

2. The word “install,” when used in connection with services, materials, or equipment, shall 
mean to put into use or place in final position said services, materials, or equipment complete 
and ready for intended use. 

3. The words “perform” or “provide,” when used in connection with services, materials, or 
equipment, shall mean to furnish and install said services, materials, or equipment complete 
and ready for intended use. 

4. When “furnish,” “install,” “perform,” or “provide” is not used in connection with services, 
materials, or equipment in a context clearly requiring an obligation of Contractor, “provide” 
is implied. 

F. Unless stated otherwise in the Contract Documents, words or phrases that have a well-known 
technical or construction industry or trade meaning are used in the Contract Documents in 
accordance with such recognized meaning. 

ARTICLE 2 – PRELIMINARY MATTERS 

2.01 Delivery of Bonds and Evidence of Insurance 

A. When Contractor delivers the executed counterparts of the Agreement to Owner, Contractor 
shall also deliver to Owner such bonds as Contractor may be required to furnish. 

B. Evidence of Insurance:  Before any Work at the Site is started, Contractor and Owner shall each 
deliver to the other, with copies to each additional insured identified in the Supplementary 
Conditions, certificates of insurance (and other evidence of insurance which either of them or 
any additional insured may reasonably request) which Contractor and Owner respectively are 
required to purchase and maintain in accordance with Article 5. 

2.02 Copies of Documents 

A. Owner shall furnish to Contractor up to ten printed or hard copies of the Drawings and Project 
Manual. Additional copies will be furnished upon request at the cost of reproduction. 

2.03 Commencement of Contract Times; Notice to Proceed 

A. The Contract Times will commence to run on the thirtieth day after the Effective Date of the 
Agreement or, if a Notice to Proceed is given, on the day indicated in the Notice to Proceed. A 
Notice to Proceed may be given at any time within 30 days after the Effective Date of the 
Agreement. In no event will the Contract Times commence to run later than the sixtieth day after 
the day of Bid opening or the thirtieth day after the Effective Date of the Agreement, whichever 
date is earlier. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 79 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 7  of  61 
 

2.04 Starting the Work 

A. Contractor shall start to perform the Work on the date when the Contract Times commence to 
run. No Work shall be done at the Site prior to the date on which the Contract Times commence 
to run. 

2.05 Before Starting Construction 

A. Preliminary Schedules: Within 10 days after the Effective Date of the Agreement (unless 
otherwise specified in the General Requirements), Contractor shall submit to Engineer for timely 
review: 

1. a preliminary Progress Schedule indicating the times (numbers of days or dates) for starting 
and completing the various stages of the Work, including any Milestones specified in the 
Contract Documents; 

2. a preliminary Schedule of Submittals; and 

3. a preliminary Schedule of Values for all of the Work which includes quantities and prices of 
items which when added together equal the Contract Price and subdivides the Work into 
component parts in sufficient detail to serve as the basis for progress payments during 
performance of the Work. Such prices will include an appropriate amount of overhead and 
profit applicable to each item of Work. 

2.06 Preconstruction Conference; Designation of Authorized Representatives 

A. Before any Work at the Site is started, a conference attended by Owner, Contractor, Engineer, 
and others as appropriate will be held to establish a working understanding among the parties as 
to the Work and to discuss the schedules referred to in Paragraph 2.05.A, procedures for 
handling Shop Drawings and other submittals, processing Applications for Payment, and 
maintaining required records. 

B. At this conference Owner and Contractor each shall designate, in writing, a specific individual to 
act as its authorized representative with respect to the services and responsibilities under the 
Contract.  Such individuals shall have the authority to transmit instructions, receive information, 
render decisions relative to the Contract, and otherwise act on behalf of each respective party. 

2.07 Initial Acceptance of Schedules 

A. At least 10 days before submission of the first Application for Payment a conference attended by 
Contractor, Engineer, and others as appropriate will be held to review for acceptability to 
Engineer as provided below the schedules submitted in accordance with Paragraph 2.05.A. 
Contractor shall have an additional 10 days to make corrections and adjustments and to complete 
and resubmit the schedules. No progress payment shall be made to Contractor until acceptable 
schedules are submitted to Engineer. 

1. The Progress Schedule will be acceptable to Engineer if it provides an orderly progression of 
the Work to completion within the Contract Times. Such acceptance will not impose on 
Engineer responsibility for the Progress Schedule, for sequencing, scheduling, or progress of 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 80 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 8  of  61 
 

the Work, nor interfere with or relieve Contractor from Contractor’s full responsibility 
therefor. 

2. Contractor’s Schedule of Submittals will be acceptable to Engineer if it provides a workable 
arrangement for reviewing and processing the required submittals. 

3. Contractor’s Schedule of Values will be acceptable to Engineer as to form and substance if it 
provides a reasonable allocation of the Contract Price to component parts of the Work. 

ARTICLE 3 – CONTRACT DOCUMENTS:  INTENT, AMENDING, REUSE 

3.01 Intent 

A. The Contract Documents are complementary; what is required by one is as binding as if required 
by all. 

B. It is the intent of the Contract Documents to describe a functionally complete project (or part 
thereof) to be constructed in accordance with the Contract Documents. Any labor, 
documentation, services, materials, or equipment that reasonably may be inferred from the 
Contract Documents or from prevailing custom or trade usage as being required to produce the 
indicated result will be provided whether or not specifically called for, at no additional cost to 
Owner. 

C. Clarifications and interpretations of the Contract Documents shall be issued by Engineer as 
provided in Article 9. 

3.02 Reference Standards 

A. Standards, Specifications, Codes, Laws, and Regulations 

1. Reference to standards, specifications, manuals, or codes of any technical society, 
organization, or association, or to Laws or Regulations, whether such reference be specific or 
by implication, shall mean the standard, specification, manual, code, or Laws or Regulations 
in effect at the time of opening of Bids (or on the Effective Date of the Agreement if there 
were no Bids), except as may be otherwise specifically stated in the Contract Documents. 

2. No provision of any such standard, specification, manual, or code, or any instruction of a 
Supplier, shall be effective to change the duties or responsibilities of Owner, Contractor, or 
Engineer, or any of their subcontractors, consultants, agents, or employees, from those set 
forth in the Contract Documents. No such provision or instruction shall be effective to assign 
to Owner, Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, partners,  employees, 
agents, consultants, or subcontractors, any duty or authority to supervise or direct the 
performance of the Work or any duty or authority to undertake responsibility inconsistent 
with the provisions of the Contract Documents. 

3.03 Reporting and Resolving Discrepancies 

A. Reporting Discrepancies: 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 81 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 9  of  61 
 

1. Contractor’s Review of Contract Documents Before Starting Work:  Before undertaking each 
part of the Work, Contractor shall carefully study and compare the Contract Documents and 
check and verify pertinent figures therein and all applicable field measurements. Contractor 
shall promptly report in writing to Engineer any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy 
which Contractor discovers, or has actual knowledge of, and shall obtain a written 
interpretation or clarification from Engineer before proceeding with any Work affected 
thereby. 

2. Contractor’s Review of Contract Documents During Performance of Work:  If, during the 
performance of the Work, Contractor discovers any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy 
within the Contract Documents, or between the Contract Documents and (a) any applicable 
Law or Regulation , (b) any standard, specification, manual, or code, or (c) any instruction of 
any Supplier, then Contractor shall promptly report it to Engineer in writing. Contractor shall 
not proceed with the Work affected thereby (except in an emergency as required by 
Paragraph 6.16.A) until an amendment or supplement to the Contract Documents has been 
issued by one of the methods indicated in Paragraph 3.04. 

3. Contractor shall not be liable to Owner or Engineer for failure to report any conflict, error, 
ambiguity, or discrepancy in the Contract Documents unless Contractor had actual 
knowledge thereof. 

B. Resolving Discrepancies: 

1. Except as may be otherwise specifically stated in the Contract Documents, the provisions of 
the Contract Documents shall take precedence in resolving any conflict, error, ambiguity, or 
discrepancy between the provisions of the Contract Documents and: 

a. the provisions of any standard, specification, manual, or code, or the instruction of any 
Supplier (whether or not specifically incorporated by reference in the Contract 
Documents); or 

b. the provisions of any Laws or Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work 
(unless such an interpretation of the provisions of the Contract Documents would result 
in violation of such Law or Regulation). 

3.04 Amending and Supplementing Contract Documents 

A. The Contract Documents may be amended to provide for additions, deletions, and revisions in 
the Work or to modify the terms and conditions thereof by either a Change Order or a Work 
Change Directive. 

B. The requirements of the Contract Documents may be supplemented, and minor variations and 
deviations in the Work may be authorized, by one or more of the following ways: 

1. A Field Order;  

2. Engineer’s approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample (subject to the provisions of Paragraph 
6.17.D.3); or  

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 82 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 10  of  61 
 

3. Engineer’s written interpretation or clarification. 

3.05 Reuse of Documents 

A. Contractor and any Subcontractor or Supplier shall not: 

1. have or acquire any title to or ownership rights in any of the Drawings, Specifications, or 
other documents (or copies of any thereof) prepared by or bearing the seal of Engineer or its 
consultants, including electronic media editions; or  

2. reuse any such Drawings, Specifications, other documents, or copies thereof on extensions of 
the Project or any other project without written consent of Owner and Engineer and specific 
written verification or adaptation by Engineer. 

B. The prohibitions of this Paragraph 3.05 will survive final payment, or termination of the 
Contract. Nothing herein shall preclude Contractor from retaining copies of the Contract 
Documents for record purposes. 

3.06 Electronic Data 

A. Unless otherwise stated in the Supplementary Conditions, the data furnished by Owner or 
Engineer to Contractor, or by Contractor to Owner or Engineer, that may be relied upon are 
limited to the printed copies (also known as hard copies). Files in electronic media format of 
text, data, graphics, or other types are furnished only for the convenience of the receiving party. 
Any conclusion or information obtained or derived from such electronic files will be at the user’s 
sole risk. If there is a discrepancy between the electronic files and the hard copies, the hard 
copies govern. 

B. Because data stored in electronic media format can deteriorate or be modified inadvertently or 
otherwise without authorization of the data’s creator, the party receiving electronic files agrees 
that it will perform acceptance tests or procedures within 60 days, after which the receiving party 
shall be deemed to have accepted the data thus transferred. Any errors detected within the 60-
day acceptance period will be corrected by the transferring party. 

C. When transferring documents in electronic media format, the transferring party makes no 
representations as to long term compatibility, usability, or readability of documents resulting 
from the use of software application packages, operating systems, or computer hardware 
differing from those used by the data’s creator. 

ARTICLE 4 – AVAILABILITY OF LANDS; SUBSURFACE AND PHYSICAL CONDITIONS; 
HAZARDOUS ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS; REFERENCE POINTS 

4.01 Availability of Lands 

A. Owner shall furnish the Site. Owner shall notify Contractor of any encumbrances or restrictions 
not of general application but specifically related to use of the Site with which Contractor must 
comply in performing the Work. Owner will obtain in a timely manner and pay for easements 
for permanent structures or permanent changes in existing facilities. If Contractor and Owner are 
unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any adjustment in the 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 83 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 11  of  61 
 

Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, as a result of any delay in Owner’s furnishing the Site 
or a part thereof, Contractor may make a Claim therefor as provided in Paragraph 10.05. 

B. Upon reasonable written request, Owner shall furnish Contractor with a current statement of 
record legal title and legal description of the lands upon which the Work is to be performed and 
Owner’s interest therein as necessary for giving notice of or filing a mechanic’s or construction 
lien against such lands in accordance with applicable Laws and Regulations. 

C. Contractor shall provide for all additional lands and access thereto that may be required for 
temporary construction facilities or storage of materials and equipment. 

4.02 Subsurface and Physical Conditions 

A. Reports and Drawings:  The Supplementary Conditions identify: 

1. those reports known to Owner of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or 
contiguous to the Site;  and 

2. those drawings known to Owner of physical conditions relating to existing surface or 
subsurface structures at the Site (except Underground Facilities). 

B. Limited Reliance by Contractor on Technical Data Authorized:  Contractor may rely upon the 
accuracy of the “technical data” contained in such reports and drawings, but such reports and 
drawings are not Contract Documents. Such “technical data” is identified in the Supplementary 
Conditions. Except for such reliance on such “technical data,” Contractor may not rely upon or 
make any claim against Owner or Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, 
partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors with respect to: 

1. the completeness of such reports and drawings for Contractor’s purposes, including, but not 
limited to, any aspects of the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of 
construction to be employed by Contractor, and safety precautions and programs incident 
thereto; or 

2. other data, interpretations, opinions, and information contained in such reports or shown or 
indicated in such drawings; or 

3. any Contractor interpretation of or conclusion drawn from any “technical data” or any such 
other data, interpretations, opinions, or information. 

4.03 Differing Subsurface or Physical Conditions 

A. Notice:  If Contractor believes that any subsurface or physical condition that is uncovered or 
revealed either: 

1. is of such a nature as to establish that any “technical data” on which Contractor is entitled to 
rely as provided in Paragraph 4.02 is materially inaccurate; or 

2. is of such a nature as to require a change in the Contract Documents; or 

3. differs materially from that shown or indicated in the Contract Documents; or  

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 84 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 12  of  61 
 

4. is of an unusual nature, and differs materially from conditions ordinarily encountered and 
generally recognized as inherent in work of the character provided for in the Contract 
Documents; 

then Contractor shall, promptly after becoming aware thereof and before further disturbing the 
subsurface or physical conditions or performing any Work in connection therewith (except in an 
emergency as required by Paragraph 6.16.A), notify Owner and Engineer in writing about such 
condition. Contractor shall not further disturb such condition or perform any Work in connection 
therewith (except as aforesaid) until receipt of written order to do so. 

B. Engineer’s Review: After receipt of written notice as required by Paragraph 4.03.A, Engineer 
will promptly review the pertinent condition, determine the necessity of Owner’s obtaining 
additional exploration or tests with respect thereto, and advise Owner in writing (with a copy to 
Contractor) of Engineer’s findings and conclusions. 

C. Possible Price and Times Adjustments: 

1. The Contract Price or the Contract Times, or both, will be equitably adjusted to the extent 
that the existence of such differing subsurface or physical condition causes an increase or 
decrease in Contractor’s cost of, or time required for, performance of the Work; subject, 
however, to the following: 

a. such condition must meet any one or more of the categories described in Paragraph 
4.03.A; and 

b. with respect to Work that is paid for on a unit price basis, any adjustment in Contract 
Price will be subject to the provisions of Paragraphs 9.07 and 11.03. 

2. Contractor shall not be entitled to any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times if: 

a. Contractor knew of the existence of such conditions at the time Contractor made a final 
commitment to Owner with respect to Contract Price and Contract Times by the 
submission of a Bid or becoming bound under a negotiated contract; or 

b. the existence of such condition could reasonably have been discovered or revealed as a 
result of any examination, investigation, exploration, test, or study of the Site and 
contiguous areas required by the Bidding Requirements or Contract Documents to be 
conducted by or for Contractor prior to Contractor’s making such final commitment; or 

c. Contractor failed to give the written notice as required by Paragraph 4.03.A. 

3. If Owner and Contractor are unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if 
any, of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, a Claim may be 
made therefor as provided in Paragraph 10.05. However, neither Owner or Engineer, or any 
of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or 
subcontractors shall be liable to Contractor for any claims, costs, losses, or damages 
(including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other 
professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) sustained by 
Contractor on or in connection with any other project or anticipated project. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 85 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 13  of  61 
 

4.04 Underground Facilities 

A. Shown or Indicated:  The information and data shown or indicated in the Contract Documents 
with respect to existing Underground Facilities at or contiguous to the Site is based on 
information and data furnished to Owner or Engineer by the owners of such Underground 
Facilities, including Owner, or by others. Unless it is otherwise expressly provided in the 
Supplementary Conditions: 

1. Owner and Engineer shall not be responsible for the accuracy or completeness of any such 
information or data provided by others; and 

2. the cost of all of the following will be included in the Contract Price, and Contractor shall 
have full responsibility for: 

a. reviewing and checking all such information and data; 

b. locating all Underground Facilities shown or indicated in the Contract Documents; 

c. coordination of the Work with the owners of such Underground Facilities, including 
Owner, during construction; and  

d. the safety and protection of all such Underground Facilities and repairing any damage 
thereto resulting from the Work. 

B. Not Shown or Indicated: 

1. If an Underground Facility is uncovered or revealed at or contiguous to the Site which was 
not shown or indicated, or not shown or indicated with reasonable accuracy in the Contract 
Documents, Contractor shall, promptly after becoming aware thereof and before further 
disturbing conditions affected thereby or performing any Work in connection therewith 
(except in an emergency as required by Paragraph 6.16.A), identify the owner of such 
Underground Facility and give written notice to that owner and to Owner and Engineer. 
Engineer will promptly review the Underground Facility and determine the extent, if any, to 
which a change is required in the Contract Documents to reflect and document the 
consequences of the existence or location of the Underground Facility. During such time, 
Contractor shall be responsible for the safety and protection of such Underground Facility. 

2. If Engineer concludes that a change in the Contract Documents is required, a Work Change 
Directive or a Change Order will be issued to reflect and document such consequences. An 
equitable adjustment shall be made in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, to the 
extent that they are attributable to the existence or location of any Underground Facility that 
was not shown or indicated or not shown or indicated with reasonable accuracy in the 
Contract Documents and that Contractor did not know of and could not reasonably have 
been expected to be aware of or to have anticipated. If Owner and Contractor are unable to 
agree on entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any such adjustment in Contract 
Price or Contract Times, Owner or Contractor may make a Claim therefor as provided in 
Paragraph 10.05. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 86 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 14  of  61 
 

4.05 Reference Points 

A. Owner shall provide engineering surveys to establish reference points for construction which in 
Engineer’s judgment are necessary to enable Contractor to proceed with the Work. Contractor 
shall be responsible for laying out the Work, shall protect and preserve the established reference 
points and property monuments, and shall make no changes or relocations without the prior 
written approval of Owner. Contractor shall report to Engineer whenever any reference point or 
property monument is lost or destroyed or requires relocation because of necessary changes in 
grades or locations, and shall be responsible for the accurate replacement or relocation of such 
reference points or property monuments by professionally qualified personnel. 

4.06 Hazardous Environmental Condition at Site 

A. Reports and Drawings:  The Supplementary Conditions identify those reports and drawings 
known to Owner relating to Hazardous Environmental Conditions that have been identified at 
the Site. 

B. Limited Reliance by Contractor on Technical Data Authorized:  Contractor may rely upon the 
accuracy of the “technical data” contained in such reports and drawings, but such reports and 
drawings are not Contract Documents. Such “technical data” is identified in the Supplementary 
Conditions. Except for such reliance on such “technical data,” Contractor may not rely upon or 
make any claim against Owner or Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, 
partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors with respect to: 

1. the completeness of such reports and drawings for Contractor’s purposes, including, but not 
limited to, any aspects of the means, methods, techniques, sequences and procedures of 
construction to be employed by Contractor and safety precautions and programs incident 
thereto; or 

2. other data, interpretations, opinions and information contained in such reports or shown or 
indicated in such drawings; or 

3. any Contractor interpretation of or conclusion drawn from any “technical data” or any such 
other data, interpretations, opinions or information. 

C. Contractor shall not be responsible for any Hazardous Environmental Condition uncovered or 
revealed at the Site which was not shown or indicated in Drawings or Specifications or identified 
in the Contract Documents to be within the scope of the Work. Contractor shall be responsible 
for a Hazardous Environmental Condition created with any materials brought to the Site by 
Contractor, Subcontractors, Suppliers, or anyone else for whom Contractor is responsible. 

D. If Contractor encounters a Hazardous Environmental Condition or if Contractor or anyone for 
whom Contractor is responsible creates a Hazardous Environmental Condition, Contractor shall 
immediately:  (i) secure or otherwise isolate such condition; (ii) stop all Work in connection with 
such condition and in any area affected thereby (except in an emergency as required by 
Paragraph 6.16.A); and (iii) notify Owner and Engineer (and promptly thereafter confirm such 
notice in writing). Owner shall promptly consult with Engineer concerning the necessity for 
Owner to retain a qualified expert to evaluate such condition or take corrective action, if any.  
Promptly after consulting with Engineer, Owner shall take such actions as are necessary to 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 87 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 15  of  61 
 

permit Owner to timely obtain required permits and provide Contractor the written notice 
required by Paragraph 4.06.E. 

E. Contractor shall not be required to resume Work in connection with such condition or in any 
affected area until after Owner has obtained any required permits related thereto and delivered 
written notice to Contractor:  (i) specifying that such condition and any affected area is or has 
been rendered safe for the resumption of Work; or (ii) specifying any special conditions under 
which such Work may be resumed safely. If Owner and Contractor cannot agree as to 
entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any adjustment in Contract Price or Contract 
Times, or both, as a result of such Work stoppage or such special conditions under which Work 
is agreed to be resumed by Contractor, either party may make a Claim therefor as provided in 
Paragraph 10.05. 

F. If after receipt of such written notice Contractor does not agree to resume such Work based on a 
reasonable belief it is unsafe, or does not agree to resume such Work under such special 
conditions, then Owner may order the portion of the Work that is in the area affected by such 
condition to be deleted from the Work. If Owner and Contractor cannot agree as to entitlement 
to or on the amount or extent, if any, of an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times as a 
result of deleting such portion of the Work, then either party may make a Claim therefor as 
provided in Paragraph 10.05. Owner may have such deleted portion of the Work performed by 
Owner’s own forces or others in accordance with Article 7. 

G. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Owner shall indemnify and hold 
harmless Contractor, Subcontractors, and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, 
partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them from and 
against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of 
engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other 
dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to a Hazardous Environmental Condition, 
provided that such Hazardous Environmental Condition:  (i) was not shown or indicated in the 
Drawings or Specifications or identified in the Contract Documents to be included within the 
scope of the Work, and (ii) was not created by Contractor or by anyone for whom Contractor is 
responsible. Nothing in this Paragraph 4.06.G shall obligate Owner to indemnify any individual 
or entity from and against the consequences of that individual’s or entity’s own negligence. 

H. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Contractor shall indemnify and hold 
harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, 
consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, 
losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, 
attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) 
arising out of or relating to a Hazardous Environmental Condition created by Contractor or by 
anyone for whom Contractor is responsible. Nothing in this Paragraph 4.06.H shall obligate 
Contractor to indemnify any individual or entity from and against the consequences of that 
individual’s or entity’s own negligence. 

I. The provisions of Paragraphs 4.02, 4.03, and 4.04 do not apply to a Hazardous Environmental 
Condition uncovered or revealed at the Site. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 88 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 16  of  61 
 

ARTICLE 5 – BONDS AND INSURANCE 

5.01 Performance, Payment, and Other Bonds 

A. Contractor shall furnish performance and payment bonds, each in an amount at least equal to the 
Contract Price as security for the faithful performance and payment of all of Contractor’s 
obligations under the Contract Documents. These bonds shall remain in effect until one year 
after the date when final payment becomes due or until completion of the correction period 
specified in Paragraph 13.07, whichever is later, except as provided otherwise by Laws or 
Regulations or by the Contract Documents. Contractor shall also furnish such other bonds as are 
required by the Contract Documents. 

B. All bonds shall be in the form prescribed by the Contract Documents except as provided 
otherwise by Laws or Regulations, and shall be executed by such sureties as are named in the list 
of “Companies Holding Certificates of Authority as Acceptable Sureties on Federal Bonds and 
as Acceptable Reinsuring Companies” as published in Circular 570 (amended) by the Financial 
Management Service, Surety Bond Branch, U.S. Department of the Treasury. All bonds signed 
by an agent or attorney-in-fact must be accompanied by a certified copy of that individual’s 
authority to bind the surety.  The evidence of authority shall show that it is effective on the date 
the agent or attorney-in-fact signed each bond. 

C. If the surety on any bond furnished by Contractor is declared bankrupt or becomes insolvent or 
its right to do business is terminated in any state where any part of the Project is located or it 
ceases to meet the requirements of Paragraph 5.01.B, Contractor shall promptly notify Owner 
and Engineer and shall, within 20 days after the event giving rise to such notification, provide 
another bond and surety, both of which shall comply with the requirements of Paragraphs 5.01.B 
and 5.02. 

5.02 Licensed Sureties and Insurers 

A. All bonds and insurance required by the Contract Documents to be purchased and maintained by 
Owner or Contractor shall be obtained from surety or insurance companies that are duly licensed 
or authorized in the jurisdiction in which the Project is located to issue bonds or insurance 
policies for the limits and coverages so required. Such surety and insurance companies shall also 
meet such additional requirements and qualifications as may be provided in the Supplementary 
Conditions. 

5.03 Certificates of Insurance 

A. Contractor shall deliver to Owner, with copies to each additional insured and loss payee 
identified in the Supplementary Conditions, certificates of insurance (and other evidence of 
insurance requested by Owner or any other additional insured) which Contractor is required to 
purchase and maintain. 

B. Owner shall deliver to Contractor, with copies to each additional insured and loss payee 
identified in the Supplementary Conditions, certificates of insurance (and other evidence of 
insurance requested by Contractor or any other additional insured) which Owner is required to 
purchase and maintain. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 89 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 17  of  61 
 

C. Failure of Owner to demand such certificates or other evidence of Contractor's full compliance 
with these insurance requirements or failure of Owner to identify a deficiency in compliance 
from the evidence provided shall not be construed as a waiver of Contractor’s obligation to 
maintain such insurance. 

D. Owner does not represent that insurance coverage and limits established in this Contract 
necessarily will be adequate to protect Contractor. 

E. The insurance and insurance limits required herein shall not be deemed as a limitation on 
Contractor’s liability under the indemnities granted to Owner in the Contract Documents. 

5.04 Contractor’s Insurance 

A. Contractor shall purchase and maintain such insurance as is appropriate for the Work being 
performed and as will provide protection from claims set forth below which may arise out of or 
result from Contractor’s performance of the Work and Contractor’s other obligations under the 
Contract Documents, whether it is to be performed by Contractor, any Subcontractor or Supplier, 
or by anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the Work, or by 
anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable: 

1. claims under workers’ compensation, disability benefits, and other similar employee benefit 
acts; 

2. claims for damages because of bodily injury, occupational sickness or disease, or death of 
Contractor’s employees; 

3. claims for damages because of bodily injury, sickness or disease, or death of any person 
other than Contractor’s employees; 

4. claims for damages insured by reasonably available personal injury liability coverage which 
are sustained: 

a. by any person as a result of an offense directly or indirectly related to the employment of 
such person by Contractor, or  

b. by any other person for any other reason; 

5. claims for damages, other than to the Work itself, because of injury to or destruction of 
tangible property wherever located, including loss of use resulting therefrom; and 

6. claims for damages because of bodily injury or death of any person or property damage 
arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use of any motor vehicle. 

B. The policies of insurance required by this Paragraph 5.04 shall: 

1. with respect to insurance required by Paragraphs 5.04.A.3 through 5.04.A.6 inclusive,  be 
written on an occurrence basis, include as additional insureds (subject to any customary 
exclusion regarding professional liability) Owner and Engineer, and any other individuals or 
entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions, all of whom shall be listed as additional 
insureds, and include coverage for the respective officers, directors, members, partners, 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 90 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 18  of  61 
 

employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of all such additional 
insureds, and the insurance afforded to these additional insureds shall provide primary 
coverage for all claims covered thereby; 

2. include at least the specific coverages and be written for not less than the limits of liability 
provided in the Supplementary Conditions or required by Laws or Regulations, whichever is 
greater; 

3. include contractual liability insurance covering Contractor’s indemnity obligations under 
Paragraphs 6.11 and 6.20; 

4. contain a provision or endorsement that the coverage afforded will not be canceled, 
materially changed or renewal refused until at least 30 days prior written notice has been 
given to Owner and Contractor and to each other additional insured identified in the 
Supplementary Conditions to whom a certificate of insurance has been issued (and the 
certificates of insurance furnished by the Contractor pursuant to Paragraph 5.03 will so 
provide); 

5. remain in effect at least until final payment and at all times thereafter when Contractor may 
be correcting, removing, or replacing defective Work in accordance with Paragraph 13.07; 
and 

6. include completed operations coverage:   

a. Such insurance shall remain in effect for two years after final payment. 

b. Contractor shall furnish Owner and each other additional insured identified in the 
Supplementary Conditions, to whom a certificate of insurance has been issued, evidence 
satisfactory to Owner and any such additional insured of continuation of such insurance 
at final payment and one year thereafter.   

5.05 Owner’s Liability Insurance 

A. In addition to the insurance required to be provided by Contractor under Paragraph 5.04, Owner, 
at Owner’s option, may purchase and maintain at Owner’s expense Owner’s own liability 
insurance as will protect Owner against claims which may arise from operations under the 
Contract Documents. 

5.06 Property Insurance 

A. Unless otherwise provided in the Supplementary Conditions, Owner shall purchase and maintain 
property insurance upon the Work at the Site in the amount of the full replacement cost thereof 
(subject to such deductible amounts as may be provided in the Supplementary Conditions or 
required by Laws and Regulations). This insurance shall: 

1. include the interests of Owner, Contractor, Subcontractors, and Engineer, and any other 
individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions, and the officers, directors, 
members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 91 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 19  of  61 
 

them, each of whom is deemed to have an insurable interest and shall be listed as a loss 
payee; 

2. be written on a Builder’s Risk “all-risk” policy form that shall at least include insurance for 
physical loss or damage to the Work, temporary buildings, falsework, and materials and 
equipment in transit, and shall insure against at least the following perils or causes of loss:  
fire, lightning, extended coverage, theft, vandalism and malicious mischief, earthquake, 
collapse, debris removal, demolition occasioned by enforcement of Laws and Regulations, 
water damage (other than that caused by flood), and such other perils or causes of loss as 
may be specifically required by the Supplementary Conditions. 

3. include expenses incurred in the repair or replacement of any insured property (including but 
not limited to fees and charges of engineers and architects); 

4. cover materials and equipment stored at the Site or at another location that was agreed to in 
writing by Owner prior to being incorporated in the Work, provided that such materials and 
equipment have been included in an Application for Payment recommended by Engineer; 

5. allow for partial utilization of the Work by Owner; 

6. include testing and startup; and 

7. be maintained in effect until final payment is made unless otherwise agreed to in writing by 
Owner, Contractor, and Engineer with 30 days written notice to each other loss payee to 
whom a certificate of insurance has been issued. 

B. Owner shall purchase and maintain such equipment breakdown insurance or additional property 
insurance as may be required by the Supplementary Conditions or Laws and Regulations which 
will include the interests of Owner, Contractor, Subcontractors, and Engineer, and any other 
individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions, and the officers, directors, 
members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them, 
each of whom is deemed to have an insurable interest and shall be listed as a loss payee.   

C. All the policies of insurance (and the certificates or other evidence thereof) required to be 
purchased and maintained in accordance with this Paragraph 5.06 will contain a provision or 
endorsement that the coverage afforded will not be canceled or materially changed or renewal 
refused until at least 30 days prior written notice has been given to Owner and Contractor and to 
each other loss payee to whom a certificate of insurance has been issued and will contain waiver 
provisions in accordance with Paragraph 5.07. 

D. Owner shall not be responsible for purchasing and maintaining any property insurance specified 
in this Paragraph 5.06 to protect the interests of Contractor, Subcontractors, or others in the 
Work to the extent of any deductible amounts that are identified in the Supplementary 
Conditions. The risk of loss within such identified deductible amount will be borne by 
Contractor, Subcontractors, or others suffering any such loss, and if any of them wishes property 
insurance coverage within the limits of such amounts, each may purchase and maintain it at the 
purchaser’s own expense. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 92 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 20  of  61 
 

E. If Contractor requests in writing that other special insurance be included in the property 
insurance policies provided under this Paragraph 5.06, Owner shall, if possible, include such 
insurance, and the cost thereof will be charged to Contractor by appropriate Change Order. Prior 
to commencement of the Work at the Site, Owner shall in writing advise Contractor whether or 
not such other insurance has been procured by Owner. 

5.07 Waiver of Rights 

A. Owner and Contractor intend that all policies purchased in accordance with Paragraph 5.06 will 
protect Owner, Contractor, Subcontractors, and Engineer, and all other individuals or entities 
identified in the Supplementary Conditions as loss payees (and the officers, directors, members, 
partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them) in such 
policies and will provide primary coverage for all losses and damages caused by the perils or 
causes of loss covered thereby. All such policies shall contain provisions to the effect that in the 
event of payment of any loss or damage the insurers will have no rights of recovery against any 
of the insureds or loss payees thereunder. Owner and Contractor waive all rights against each 
other and their respective officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants 
and subcontractors of each and any of them for all losses and damages caused by, arising out of 
or resulting from any of the perils or causes of loss covered by such policies and any other 
property insurance applicable to the Work; and, in addition, waive all such rights against 
Subcontractors and Engineer, and all other individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary 
Conditions as loss payees (and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, 
consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them) under such policies for losses and 
damages so caused. None of the above waivers shall extend to the rights that any party making 
such waiver may have to the proceeds of insurance held by Owner as trustee or otherwise 
payable under any policy so issued. 

B. Owner waives all rights against Contractor, Subcontractors, and Engineer, and the officers, 
directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any 
of them for: 

1. loss due to business interruption, loss of use, or other consequential loss extending beyond 
direct physical loss or damage to Owner’s property or the Work caused by, arising out of, or 
resulting from fire or other perils whether or not insured by Owner; and 

2. loss or damage to the completed Project or part thereof caused by, arising out of, or resulting 
from fire or other insured peril or cause of loss covered by any property insurance 
maintained on the completed Project or part thereof by Owner during partial utilization 
pursuant to Paragraph 14.05, after Substantial Completion pursuant to Paragraph 14.04, or 
after final payment pursuant to Paragraph 14.07. 

C. Any insurance policy maintained by Owner covering any loss, damage or consequential loss 
referred to in Paragraph 5.07.B shall contain provisions to the effect that in the event of payment 
of any such loss, damage, or consequential loss, the insurers will have no rights of recovery 
against Contractor, Subcontractors, or Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, 
employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 93 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 21  of  61 
 

5.08 Receipt and Application of Insurance Proceeds 

A. Any insured loss under the policies of insurance required by Paragraph 5.06 will be adjusted 
with Owner and made payable to Owner as fiduciary for the loss payees, as their interests may 
appear, subject to the requirements of any applicable mortgage clause and of Paragraph 5.08.B. 
Owner shall deposit in a separate account any money so received and shall distribute it in 
accordance with such agreement as the parties in interest may reach. If no other special 
agreement is reached, the damaged Work shall be repaired or replaced, the moneys so received 
applied on account thereof, and the Work and the cost thereof covered by an appropriate Change 
Order. 

B. Owner as fiduciary shall have power to adjust and settle any loss with the insurers unless one of 
the parties in interest shall object in writing within 15 days after the occurrence of loss to 
Owner’s exercise of this power. If such objection be made, Owner as fiduciary shall make 
settlement with the insurers in accordance with such agreement as the parties in interest may 
reach. If no such agreement among the parties in interest is reached, Owner as fiduciary shall 
adjust and settle the loss with the insurers and, if required in writing by any party in interest, 
Owner as fiduciary shall give bond for the proper performance of such duties. 

5.09 Acceptance of Bonds and Insurance; Option to Replace 

A. If either Owner or Contractor has any objection to the coverage afforded by or other provisions 
of the bonds or insurance required to be purchased and maintained by the other party in 
accordance with Article 5 on the basis of non-conformance with the Contract Documents, the 
objecting party shall so notify the other party in writing within 10 days after receipt of the 
certificates (or other evidence requested) required by Paragraph 2.01.B. Owner and Contractor 
shall each provide to the other such additional information in respect of insurance provided as 
the other may reasonably request. If either party does not purchase or maintain all of the bonds 
and insurance required of such party by the Contract Documents, such party shall notify the 
other party in writing of such failure to purchase prior to the start of the Work, or of such failure 
to maintain prior to any change in the required coverage. Without prejudice to any other right or 
remedy, the other party may elect to obtain equivalent bonds or insurance to protect such other 
party’s interests at the expense of the party who was required to provide such coverage, and a 
Change Order shall be issued to adjust the Contract Price accordingly. 

5.10 Partial Utilization, Acknowledgment of Property Insurer 

A. If Owner finds it necessary to occupy or use a portion or portions of the Work prior to 
Substantial Completion of all the Work as provided in Paragraph 14.05, no such use or 
occupancy shall commence before the insurers providing the property insurance pursuant to 
Paragraph 5.06 have acknowledged notice thereof and in writing effected any changes in 
coverage necessitated thereby. The insurers providing the property insurance shall consent by 
endorsement on the policy or policies, but the property insurance shall not be canceled or 
permitted to lapse on account of any such partial use or occupancy. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 94 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 22  of  61 
 

ARTICLE 6 – CONTRACTOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES 

6.01 Supervision and Superintendence 

A. Contractor shall supervise, inspect, and direct the Work competently and efficiently, devoting 
such attention thereto and applying such skills and expertise as may be necessary to perform the 
Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. Contractor shall be solely responsible for the 
means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction. Contractor shall not be 
responsible for the negligence of Owner or Engineer in the design or specification of a specific 
means, method, technique, sequence, or procedure of construction which is shown or indicated 
in and expressly required by the Contract Documents. 

B. At all times during the progress of the Work, Contractor shall assign a competent resident 
superintendent who shall not be replaced without written notice to Owner and Engineer except 
under extraordinary circumstances.  

6.02 Labor; Working Hours 

A. Contractor shall provide competent, suitably qualified personnel to survey and lay out the Work 
and perform construction as required by the Contract Documents. Contractor shall at all times 
maintain good discipline and order at the Site. 

B. Except as otherwise required for the safety or protection of persons or the Work or property at 
the Site or adjacent thereto, and except as otherwise stated in the Contract Documents, all Work 
at the Site shall be performed during regular working hours. Contractor will not permit the 
performance of Work on a Saturday, Sunday, or any legal holiday without Owner’s written 
consent (which will not be unreasonably withheld) given after prior written notice to Engineer.   

6.03 Services, Materials, and Equipment 

A. Unless otherwise specified in the Contract Documents, Contractor shall provide and assume full 
responsibility for all services, materials, equipment, labor, transportation, construction 
equipment and machinery, tools, appliances, fuel, power, light, heat, telephone, water, sanitary 
facilities, temporary facilities, and all other facilities and incidentals necessary for the 
performance, testing, start-up, and completion of the Work. 

B. All materials and equipment incorporated into the Work shall be as specified or, if not specified, 
shall be of good quality and new, except as otherwise provided in the Contract Documents. All 
special warranties and guarantees required by the Specifications shall expressly run to the benefit 
of Owner. If required by Engineer, Contractor shall furnish satisfactory evidence (including 
reports of required tests) as to the source, kind, and quality of materials and equipment. 

C. All materials and equipment shall be stored, applied, installed, connected, erected, protected, 
used, cleaned, and conditioned in accordance with instructions of the applicable Supplier, except 
as otherwise may be provided in the Contract Documents. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 95 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 23  of  61 
 

6.04 Progress Schedule 

A. Contractor shall adhere to the Progress Schedule established in accordance with Paragraph 2.07 
as it may be adjusted from time to time as provided below. 

1. Contractor shall submit to Engineer for acceptance (to the extent indicated in Paragraph 
2.07) proposed adjustments in the Progress Schedule that will not result in changing the 
Contract Times. Such adjustments will comply with any provisions of the General 
Requirements applicable thereto. 

2. Proposed adjustments in the Progress Schedule that will change the Contract Times shall be 
submitted in accordance with the requirements of Article 12. Adjustments in Contract Times 
may only be made by a Change Order. 

6.05 Substitutes and “Or-Equals” 

A. Whenever an item of material or equipment is specified or described in the Contract Documents 
by using the name of a proprietary item or the name of a particular Supplier, the specification or 
description is intended to establish the type, function, appearance, and quality required. Unless 
the specification or description contains or is followed by words reading that no like, equivalent, 
or “or-equal” item or no substitution is permitted, other items of material or equipment or 
material or equipment of other Suppliers may be submitted to Engineer for review under the 
circumstances described below. 

1. “Or-Equal” Items: If in Engineer’s sole discretion an item of material or equipment 
proposed by Contractor is functionally equal to that named and sufficiently similar so that no 
change in related Work will be required, it may be considered by Engineer as an “or-equal” 
item, in which case review and approval of the proposed item may, in Engineer’s sole 
discretion, be accomplished without compliance with some or all of the requirements for 
approval of proposed substitute items. For the purposes of this Paragraph 6.05.A.1, a 
proposed item of material or equipment will be considered functionally equal to an item so 
named if: 

a. in the exercise of reasonable judgment Engineer determines that: 

1) it is at least equal in materials of construction, quality, durability, appearance, 
strength, and design characteristics;  

2) it will reliably perform at least equally well the function and achieve the results 
imposed by the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole; and  

3) it has a proven record of performance and availability of responsive service. 

b. Contractor certifies that, if approved and incorporated into the Work: 

1) there will be no increase in cost to the Owner or increase in Contract Times; and  

2) it will conform substantially to the detailed requirements of the item named in the 
Contract Documents. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 96 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 24  of  61 
 

2. Substitute Items: 

a. If in Engineer’s sole discretion an item of material or equipment proposed by Contractor 
does not qualify as an “or-equal” item under Paragraph 6.05.A.1, it will be considered a 
proposed substitute item. 

b. Contractor shall submit sufficient information as provided below to allow Engineer to 
determine if the item of material or equipment proposed is essentially equivalent to that 
named and an acceptable substitute therefor. Requests for review of proposed substitute 
items of material or equipment will not be accepted by Engineer from anyone other than 
Contractor. 

c. The requirements for review by Engineer will be as set forth in Paragraph 6.05.A.2.d, as 
supplemented by the General Requirements, and as Engineer may decide is appropriate 
under the circumstances. 

d. Contractor shall make written application to Engineer for review of a proposed substitute 
item of material or equipment that Contractor seeks to furnish or use. The application: 

1) shall certify that the proposed substitute item will: 

a) perform adequately the functions and achieve the results called for by the general 
design,  

b) be similar in substance to that specified, and 

c) be suited to the same use as that specified;  

2) will state: 

a) the extent, if any, to which the use of the proposed substitute item will prejudice 
Contractor’s achievement of Substantial Completion on time, 

b) whether use of the proposed substitute item in the Work will require a change in 
any of the Contract Documents (or in the provisions of any other direct contract 
with Owner for other work on the Project) to adapt the design to the proposed 
substitute item, and 

c) whether incorporation or use of the proposed substitute item in connection with 
the Work is subject to payment of any license fee or royalty; 

3) will identify: 

a) all variations of the proposed substitute item from that specified, and  

b) available engineering, sales, maintenance, repair, and replacement services; and 

4) shall contain an itemized estimate of all costs or credits that will result directly or 
indirectly from use of such substitute item, including costs of redesign and claims of 
other contractors affected by any resulting change. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 97 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 25  of  61 
 

B. Substitute Construction Methods or Procedures:  If a specific means, method, technique, 
sequence, or procedure of construction is expressly required by the Contract Documents, 
Contractor may furnish or utilize a substitute means, method, technique, sequence, or procedure 
of construction approved by Engineer. Contractor shall submit sufficient information to allow 
Engineer, in Engineer’s sole discretion, to determine that the substitute proposed is equivalent to 
that expressly called for by the Contract Documents. The requirements for review by Engineer 
will be similar to those provided in Paragraph 6.05.A.2. 

C. Engineer’s Evaluation:  Engineer will be allowed a reasonable time within which to evaluate 
each proposal or submittal made pursuant to Paragraphs 6.05.A and 6.05.B. Engineer may 
require Contractor to furnish additional data about the proposed substitute item. Engineer will be 
the sole judge of acceptability. No “or equal” or substitute will be ordered, installed or utilized 
until Engineer’s review is complete, which will be evidenced by a Change Order in the case of a 
substitute and an approved Shop Drawing for an “or equal.” Engineer will advise Contractor in 
writing of any negative determination. 

D. Special Guarantee:  Owner may require Contractor to furnish at Contractor’s expense a special 
performance guarantee or other surety with respect to any substitute. 

E. Engineer’s Cost Reimbursement:  Engineer will record Engineer’s costs in evaluating a 
substitute proposed or submitted by Contractor pursuant to Paragraphs 6.05.A.2 and 6.05.B. 
Whether or not Engineer approves a substitute so proposed or submitted by Contractor, 
Contractor shall reimburse Owner for the reasonable charges of Engineer for evaluating each 
such proposed substitute. Contractor shall also reimburse Owner for the reasonable charges of 
Engineer for making changes in the Contract Documents (or in the provisions of any other direct 
contract with Owner) resulting from the acceptance of each proposed substitute. 

F. Contractor’s Expense:  Contractor shall provide all data in support of any proposed substitute or 
“or-equal” at Contractor’s expense. 

6.06 Concerning Subcontractors, Suppliers, and Others 

A. Contractor shall not employ any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity (including 
those acceptable to Owner as indicated in Paragraph 6.06.B), whether initially or as a 
replacement, against whom Owner may have reasonable objection. Contractor shall not be 
required to employ any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity to furnish or 
perform any of the Work against whom Contractor has reasonable objection. 

B. If the Supplementary Conditions require the identity of certain Subcontractors, Suppliers, or 
other individuals or entities to be submitted to Owner in advance for acceptance by Owner by a 
specified date prior to the Effective Date of the Agreement, and if Contractor has submitted a list 
thereof in accordance with the Supplementary Conditions, Owner’s acceptance (either in writing 
or by failing to make written objection thereto by the date indicated for acceptance or objection 
in the Bidding Documents or the Contract Documents) of any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or 
other individual or entity so identified may be revoked on the basis of reasonable objection after 
due investigation. Contractor shall submit an acceptable replacement for the rejected 
Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity, and the Contract Price will be adjusted by 
the difference in the cost occasioned by such replacement, and an appropriate Change Order will 
be issued. No acceptance by Owner of any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 98 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 26  of  61 
 

entity, whether initially or as a replacement, shall constitute a waiver of any right of Owner or 
Engineer to reject defective Work. 

C. Contractor shall be fully responsible to Owner and Engineer for all acts and omissions of the 
Subcontractors, Suppliers, and other individuals or entities performing or furnishing any of the 
Work just as Contractor is responsible for Contractor’s own acts and omissions. Nothing in the 
Contract Documents: 

1. shall create for the benefit of any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity 
any contractual relationship between Owner or Engineer and any such Subcontractor, 
Supplier or other individual or entity; nor 

2. shall create any obligation on the part of Owner or Engineer to pay or to see to the payment 
of any moneys due any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity except as 
may otherwise be required by Laws and Regulations. 

D. Contractor shall be solely responsible for scheduling and coordinating the Work of 
Subcontractors, Suppliers, and other individuals or entities performing or furnishing any of the 
Work under a direct or indirect contract with Contractor. 

E. Contractor shall require all Subcontractors, Suppliers, and such other individuals or entities 
performing or furnishing any of the Work to communicate with Engineer through Contractor. 

F. The divisions and sections of the Specifications and the identifications of any Drawings shall not 
control Contractor in dividing the Work among Subcontractors or Suppliers or delineating the 
Work to be performed by any specific trade. 

G. All Work performed for Contractor by a Subcontractor or Supplier will be pursuant to an 
appropriate agreement between Contractor and the Subcontractor or Supplier which specifically 
binds the Subcontractor or Supplier to the applicable terms and conditions of the Contract 
Documents for the benefit of Owner and Engineer. Whenever any such agreement is with a 
Subcontractor or Supplier who is listed as a loss payee on the property insurance provided in 
Paragraph 5.06, the agreement between the Contractor and the Subcontractor or Supplier will 
contain provisions whereby the Subcontractor or Supplier waives all rights against Owner, 
Contractor, Engineer, and all other individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary 
Conditions to be listed as insureds or loss payees (and the officers, directors, members, partners, 
employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them) for all losses and 
damages caused by, arising out of, relating to, or resulting from any of the perils or causes of 
loss covered by such policies and any other property insurance applicable to the Work. If the 
insurers on any such policies require separate waiver forms to be signed by any Subcontractor or 
Supplier, Contractor will obtain the same. 

6.07 Patent Fees and Royalties 

A. Contractor shall pay all license fees and royalties and assume all costs incident to the use in the 
performance of the Work or the incorporation in the Work of any invention, design, process, 
product, or device which is the subject of patent rights or copyrights held by others. If a 
particular invention, design, process, product, or device is specified in the Contract Documents 
for use in the performance of the Work and if, to the actual knowledge of Owner or Engineer, its 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 99 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 27  of  61 
 

use is subject to patent rights or copyrights calling for the payment of any license fee or royalty 
to others, the existence of such rights shall be disclosed by Owner in the Contract Documents. 

B. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Owner shall indemnify and hold 
harmless Contractor, and its officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, 
consultants, and subcontractors from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages 
(including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other 
professionals, and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or 
relating to any infringement of patent rights or copyrights incident to the use in the performance 
of the Work or resulting from the incorporation in the Work of any invention, design, process, 
product, or device specified in the Contract Documents, but not identified as being subject to 
payment of any license fee or royalty to others required by patent rights or copyrights.   

C. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Contractor shall indemnify and hold 
harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, 
consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, 
and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, 
and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out 
of or relating to any infringement of patent rights or copyrights incident to the use in the 
performance of the Work or resulting from the incorporation in the Work of any invention, 
design, process, product, or device not specified in the Contract Documents. 

6.08 Permits 

A. Unless otherwise provided in the Supplementary Conditions, Contractor shall obtain and pay for 
all construction permits and licenses. Owner shall assist Contractor, when necessary, in 
obtaining such permits and licenses. Contractor shall pay all governmental charges and 
inspection fees necessary for the prosecution of the Work which are applicable at the time of 
opening of Bids, or, if there are no Bids, on the Effective Date of the Agreement. Owner shall 
pay all charges of utility owners for connections for providing permanent service to the Work. 

6.09 Laws and Regulations 

A. Contractor shall give all notices required by and shall comply with all Laws and Regulations 
applicable to the performance of the Work. Except where otherwise expressly required by 
applicable Laws and Regulations, neither Owner nor Engineer shall be responsible for 
monitoring Contractor’s compliance with any Laws or Regulations. 

B. If Contractor performs any Work knowing or having reason to know that it is contrary to Laws 
or Regulations, Contractor shall bear all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not 
limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all 
court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to such Work. 
However, it shall not be Contractor’s responsibility to make certain that the Specifications and 
Drawings are in accordance with Laws and Regulations, but this shall not relieve Contractor of 
Contractor’s obligations under Paragraph 3.03. 

C. Changes in Laws or Regulations not known at the time of opening of Bids (or, on the Effective 
Date of the Agreement if there were no Bids) having an effect on the cost or time of performance 
of the Work shall be the subject of an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times. If Owner 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 100 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 28  of  61 
 

and Contractor are unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any 
such adjustment, a Claim may be made therefore as provided in Paragraph 10.05. 

6.10 Taxes 

A. Contractor shall pay all sales, consumer, use, and other similar taxes required to be paid by 
Contractor in accordance with the Laws and Regulations of the place of the Project which are 
applicable during the performance of the Work. 

6.11 Use of Site and Other Areas 

A. Limitation on Use of Site and Other Areas: 

1. Contractor shall confine construction equipment, the storage of materials and equipment, and 
the operations of workers to the Site and other areas permitted by Laws and Regulations, and 
shall not unreasonably encumber the Site and other areas with construction equipment or 
other materials or equipment. Contractor shall assume full responsibility for any damage to 
any such land or area, or to the owner or occupant thereof, or of any adjacent land or areas 
resulting from the performance of the Work. 

2. Should any claim be made by any such owner or occupant because of the performance of the 
Work, Contractor shall promptly settle with such other party by negotiation or otherwise 
resolve the claim by arbitration or other dispute resolution proceeding or at law. 

3. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Contractor shall indemnify and 
hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, 
employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against 
all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of 
engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other 
dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to any claim or action, legal or equitable, 
brought by any such owner or occupant against Owner, Engineer, or any other party 
indemnified hereunder to the extent caused by or based upon Contractor’s performance of 
the Work. 

B. Removal of Debris During Performance of the Work:  During the progress of the Work 
Contractor shall keep the Site and other areas free from accumulations of waste materials, 
rubbish, and other debris. Removal and disposal of such waste materials, rubbish, and other 
debris shall conform to applicable Laws and Regulations. 

C. Cleaning:  Prior to Substantial Completion of the Work Contractor shall clean the Site and the 
Work and make it ready for utilization by Owner. At the completion of the Work Contractor 
shall remove from the Site all tools, appliances, construction equipment and machinery, and 
surplus materials and shall restore to original condition all property not designated for alteration 
by the Contract Documents. 

D. Loading Structures:  Contractor shall not load nor permit any part of any structure to be loaded 
in any manner that will endanger the structure, nor shall Contractor subject any part of the Work 
or adjacent property to stresses or pressures that will endanger it. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 101 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 29  of  61 
 

6.12 Record Documents 

A. Contractor shall maintain in a safe place at the Site one record copy of all Drawings, 
Specifications, Addenda, Change Orders, Work Change Directives, Field Orders, and written 
interpretations and clarifications in good order and annotated to show changes made during 
construction. These record documents together with all approved Samples and a counterpart of 
all approved Shop Drawings will be available to Engineer for reference. Upon completion of the 
Work, these record documents, Samples, and Shop Drawings will be delivered to Engineer for 
Owner. 

6.13 Safety and Protection 

A. Contractor shall be solely responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising all safety 
precautions and programs in connection with the Work. Such responsibility does not relieve 
Subcontractors of their responsibility for the safety of persons or property in the performance of 
their work, nor for compliance with applicable safety Laws and Regulations.  Contractor shall 
take all necessary precautions for the safety of, and shall provide the necessary protection to 
prevent damage, injury or loss to: 

1. all persons on the Site or who may be affected by the Work; 

2. all the Work and materials and equipment to be incorporated therein, whether in storage on 
or off the Site; and 

3. other property at the Site or adjacent thereto, including trees, shrubs, lawns, walks, 
pavements, roadways, structures, utilities, and Underground Facilities not designated for 
removal, relocation, or replacement in the course of construction. 

B. Contractor shall comply with all applicable Laws and Regulations relating to the safety of 
persons or property, or to the protection of persons or property from damage, injury, or loss; and 
shall erect and maintain all necessary safeguards for such safety and protection. Contractor shall 
notify owners of adjacent property and of Underground Facilities and other utility owners when 
prosecution of the Work may affect them, and shall cooperate with them in the protection, 
removal, relocation, and replacement of their property. 

C. Contractor shall comply with the applicable requirements of Owner’s safety programs, if any.  
The Supplementary Conditions identify any Owner’s safety programs that are applicable to the 
Work. 

D. Contractor shall inform Owner and Engineer of the specific requirements of Contractor’s safety 
program with which Owner’s and Engineer’s employees and representatives must comply while 
at the Site. 

E. All damage, injury, or loss to any property referred to in Paragraph 6.13.A.2 or 6.13.A.3 caused, 
directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, by Contractor, any Subcontractor, Supplier, or any 
other individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the 
Work, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, shall be remedied by Contractor 
(except damage or loss attributable to the fault of Drawings or Specifications or to the acts or 
omissions of Owner or Engineer or anyone employed by any of them, or anyone for whose acts 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 102 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 30  of  61 
 

any of them may be liable, and not attributable, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, to the 
fault or negligence of Contractor or any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity 
directly or indirectly employed by any of them). 

F. Contractor’s duties and responsibilities for safety and for protection of the Work shall continue 
until such time as all the Work is completed and Engineer has issued a notice to Owner and 
Contractor in accordance with Paragraph 14.07.B that the Work is acceptable (except as 
otherwise expressly provided in connection with Substantial Completion). 

6.14 Safety Representative 

A. Contractor shall designate a qualified and experienced safety representative at the Site whose 
duties and responsibilities shall be the prevention of accidents and the maintaining and 
supervising of safety precautions and programs. 

6.15 Hazard Communication Programs 

A. Contractor shall be responsible for coordinating any exchange of material safety data sheets or 
other hazard communication information required to be made available to or exchanged between 
or among employers at the Site in accordance with Laws or Regulations. 

6.16 Emergencies 

A. In emergencies affecting the safety or protection of persons or the Work or property at the Site or 
adjacent thereto, Contractor is obligated to act to prevent threatened damage, injury, or loss. 
Contractor shall give Engineer prompt written notice if Contractor believes that any significant 
changes in the Work or variations from the Contract Documents have been caused thereby or are 
required as a result thereof. If Engineer determines that a change in the Contract Documents is 
required because of the action taken by Contractor in response to such an emergency, a Work 
Change Directive or Change Order will be issued. 

6.17 Shop Drawings and Samples 

A. Contractor shall submit Shop Drawings and Samples to Engineer for review and approval in 
accordance with the accepted Schedule of Submittals (as required by Paragraph 2.07). Each 
submittal will be identified as Engineer may require. 

1. Shop Drawings: 

a. Submit number of copies specified in the General Requirements. 

b. Data shown on the Shop Drawings will be complete with respect to quantities, 
dimensions, specified performance and design criteria, materials, and similar data to 
show Engineer the services, materials, and equipment Contractor proposes to provide 
and to enable Engineer to review the information for the limited purposes required by 
Paragraph 6.17.D. 

2. Samples: 

a. Submit number of Samples specified in the Specifications. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 103 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 31  of  61 
 

b. Clearly identify each Sample as to material, Supplier, pertinent data such as catalog 
numbers, the use for which intended and other data as Engineer may require to enable 
Engineer to review the submittal for the limited purposes required by Paragraph 6.17.D. 

B. Where a Shop Drawing or Sample is required by the Contract Documents or the Schedule of 
Submittals, any related Work performed prior to Engineer’s review and approval of the pertinent 
submittal will be at the sole expense and responsibility of Contractor. 

C. Submittal Procedures: 

1. Before submitting each Shop Drawing or Sample, Contractor shall have: 

a. reviewed and coordinated each Shop Drawing or Sample with other Shop Drawings and 
Samples and with the requirements of the Work and the Contract Documents; 

b. determined and verified all field measurements, quantities, dimensions, specified 
performance and design criteria, installation requirements, materials, catalog numbers, 
and similar information with respect thereto; 

c. determined and verified the suitability of all materials offered with respect to the 
indicated application, fabrication, shipping, handling, storage, assembly, and installation 
pertaining to the performance of the Work; and 

d. determined and verified all information relative to Contractor’s responsibilities for 
means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction, and safety 
precautions and programs incident thereto. 

2. Each submittal shall bear a stamp or specific written certification that Contractor has 
satisfied Contractor’s obligations under the Contract Documents with respect to Contractor’s 
review and approval of that submittal. 

3. With each submittal, Contractor shall give Engineer specific written notice of any variations 
that the Shop Drawing or Sample may have from the requirements of the Contract 
Documents. This notice shall be both a written communication separate from the Shop 
Drawings or Sample submittal; and, in addition, by a specific notation made on each Shop 
Drawing or Sample submitted to Engineer for review and approval of each such variation. 

D. Engineer’s Review: 

1. Engineer will provide timely review of Shop Drawings and Samples in accordance with the 
Schedule of Submittals acceptable to Engineer. Engineer’s review and approval will be only 
to determine if the items covered by the submittals will, after installation or incorporation in 
the Work, conform to the information given in the Contract Documents and be compatible 
with the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole as indicated by the 
Contract Documents. 

2. Engineer’s review and approval will not extend to means, methods, techniques, sequences, 
or procedures of construction (except where a particular means, method, technique, 
sequence, or procedure of construction is specifically and expressly called for by the 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 104 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 32  of  61 
 

Contract Documents) or to safety precautions or programs incident thereto. The review and 
approval of a separate item as such will not indicate approval of the assembly in which the 
item functions. 

3. Engineer’s review and approval shall not relieve Contractor from responsibility for any 
variation from the requirements of the Contract Documents unless Contractor has complied 
with the requirements of Paragraph 6.17.C.3 and Engineer has given written approval of 
each such variation by specific written notation thereof incorporated in or accompanying the 
Shop Drawing or Sample. Engineer’s review and approval shall not relieve Contractor from 
responsibility for complying with the requirements of Paragraph 6.17.C.1. 

E. Resubmittal Procedures: 

1. Contractor shall make corrections required by Engineer and shall return the required number 
of corrected copies of Shop Drawings and submit, as required, new Samples for review and 
approval. Contractor shall direct specific attention in writing to revisions other than the 
corrections called for by Engineer on previous submittals. 

6.18 Continuing the Work 

A. Contractor shall carry on the Work and adhere to the Progress Schedule during all disputes or 
disagreements with Owner. No Work shall be delayed or postponed pending resolution of any 
disputes or disagreements, except as permitted by Paragraph 15.04 or as Owner and Contractor 
may otherwise agree in writing. 

6.19 Contractor’s General Warranty and Guarantee 

A. Contractor warrants and guarantees to Owner that all Work will be in accordance with the 
Contract Documents and will not be defective. Engineer and its officers, directors, members, 
partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors shall be entitled to rely on 
representation of Contractor’s warranty and guarantee. 

B. Contractor’s warranty and guarantee hereunder excludes defects or damage caused by: 

1. abuse, modification, or improper maintenance or operation by persons other than Contractor, 
Subcontractors, Suppliers, or any other individual or entity for whom Contractor is 
responsible; or  

2. normal wear and tear under normal usage. 

C. Contractor’s obligation to perform and complete the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents shall be absolute. None of the following will constitute an acceptance of Work that is 
not in accordance with the Contract Documents or a release of Contractor’s obligation to 
perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents: 

1. observations by Engineer; 

2. recommendation by Engineer or payment by Owner of any progress or final payment; 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 105 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 33  of  61 
 

3. the issuance of a certificate of Substantial Completion by Engineer or any payment related 
thereto by Owner;  

4. use or occupancy of the Work or any part thereof by Owner; 

5. any review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample submittal or the issuance of a notice 
of acceptability by Engineer; 

6. any inspection, test, or approval by others; or 

7. any correction of defective Work by Owner. 

6.20 Indemnification 

A. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Contractor shall indemnify and hold 
harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, 
consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, 
and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, 
and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out 
of or relating to the performance of the Work, provided that any such claim, cost, loss, or 
damage is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death, or to injury to or destruction 
of tangible property (other than the Work itself), including the loss of use resulting therefrom but 
only to the extent caused by any negligent act or omission of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any 
Supplier, or any individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform 
any of the Work or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable . 

B. In any and all claims against Owner or Engineer or any of their officers, directors, members, 
partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors by any employee (or the survivor or 
personal representative of such employee) of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, or 
any individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the 
Work, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, the indemnification obligation under 
Paragraph 6.20.A shall not be limited in any way by any limitation on the amount or type of 
damages, compensation, or benefits payable by or for Contractor or any such Subcontractor, 
Supplier, or other individual or entity under workers’ compensation acts, disability benefit acts, 
or other employee benefit acts. 

C. The indemnification obligations of Contractor under Paragraph 6.20.A shall not extend to the 
liability of Engineer and Engineer’s officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, 
consultants and subcontractors arising out of: 

1. the preparation or approval of, or the failure to prepare or approve maps, Drawings, opinions, 
reports, surveys, Change Orders, designs, or Specifications; or 

2. giving directions or instructions, or failing to give them, if that is the primary cause of the 
injury or damage. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 106 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 34  of  61 
 

6.21 Delegation of Professional Design Services 

A. Contractor will not be required to provide professional design services unless such services are 
specifically required by the Contract Documents for a portion of the Work or unless such 
services are required to carry out Contractor’s responsibilities for construction means, methods, 
techniques, sequences and procedures. Contractor shall not be required to provide professional 
services in violation of applicable law. 

B. If professional design services or certifications by a design professional related to systems, 
materials or equipment are specifically required of Contractor by the Contract Documents, 
Owner and Engineer will specify all performance and design criteria that such services must 
satisfy. Contractor shall cause such services or certifications to be provided by a properly 
licensed professional, whose signature and seal shall appear on all drawings, calculations, 
specifications, certifications, Shop Drawings and other submittals prepared by such professional. 
Shop Drawings and other submittals related to the Work designed or certified by such 
professional, if prepared by others, shall bear such professional’s written approval when 
submitted to Engineer. 

C. Owner and Engineer shall be entitled to rely upon the adequacy, accuracy and completeness of 
the services, certifications or approvals performed by such design professionals, provided Owner 
and Engineer have specified to Contractor all performance and design criteria that such services 
must satisfy. 

D. Pursuant to this Paragraph 6.21, Engineer’s review and approval of design calculations and 
design drawings will be only for the limited purpose of checking for conformance with 
performance and design criteria given and the design concept expressed in the Contract 
Documents. Engineer’s review and approval of Shop Drawings and other submittals (except 
design calculations and design drawings) will be only for the purpose stated in Paragraph 
6.17.D.1. 

E. Contractor shall not be responsible for the adequacy of the performance or design criteria 
required by the Contract Documents. 

ARTICLE 7 – OTHER WORK AT THE SITE 

7.01 Related Work at Site 

A. Owner may perform other work related to the Project at the Site with Owner’s employees, or 
through other direct contracts therefor, or have other work performed by utility owners. If such 
other work is not noted in the Contract Documents, then: 

1. written notice thereof will be given to Contractor prior to starting any such other work; and  

2. if Owner and Contractor are unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if 
any, of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times that should be allowed as a 
result of such other work, a Claim may be made therefor as provided in Paragraph 10.05. 

B. Contractor shall afford each other contractor who is a party to such a direct contract, each utility 
owner, and Owner, if Owner is performing other work with Owner’s employees, proper and safe 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 107 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 35  of  61 
 

access to the Site, provide a reasonable opportunity for the introduction and storage of materials 
and equipment and the execution of such other work, and properly coordinate the Work with 
theirs. Contractor shall do all cutting, fitting, and patching of the Work that may be required to 
properly connect or otherwise make its several parts come together and properly integrate with 
such other work. Contractor shall not endanger any work of others by cutting, excavating, or 
otherwise altering such work; provided, however, that Contractor may cut or alter others' work 
with the written consent of Engineer and the others whose work will be affected. The duties and 
responsibilities of Contractor under this Paragraph are for the benefit of such utility owners and 
other contractors to the extent that there are comparable provisions for the benefit of Contractor 
in said direct contracts between Owner and such utility owners and other contractors. 

C. If the proper execution or results of any part of Contractor’s Work depends upon work 
performed by others under this Article 7, Contractor shall inspect such other work and promptly 
report to Engineer in writing any delays, defects, or deficiencies in such other work that render it 
unavailable or unsuitable for the proper execution and results of Contractor’s Work. Contractor’s 
failure to so report will constitute an acceptance of such other work as fit and proper for 
integration with Contractor’s Work except for latent defects and deficiencies in such other work. 

7.02 Coordination 

A. If Owner intends to contract with others for the performance of other work on the Project at the 
Site, the following will be set forth in Supplementary Conditions: 

1. the individual or entity who will have authority and responsibility for coordination of the 
activities among the various contractors will be identified; 

2. the specific matters to be covered by such authority and responsibility will be itemized; and 

3. the extent of such authority and responsibilities will be provided. 

B. Unless otherwise provided in the Supplementary Conditions, Owner shall have sole authority 
and responsibility for such coordination. 

7.03 Legal Relationships 

A. Paragraphs 7.01.A and 7.02 are not applicable for utilities not under the control of Owner. 

B. Each other direct contract of Owner under Paragraph 7.01.A shall provide that the other 
contractor is liable to Owner and Contractor for the reasonable direct delay and disruption costs 
incurred by Contractor as a result of the other contractor’s wrongful actions or inactions. 

C. Contractor shall be liable to Owner and any other contractor under direct contract to Owner for 
the reasonable direct delay and disruption costs incurred by such other contractor as a result of 
Contractor’s wrongful action or inactions. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 108 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 36  of  61 
 

ARTICLE 8 – OWNER’S RESPONSIBILITIES 

8.01 Communications to Contractor 

A. Except as otherwise provided in these General Conditions, Owner shall issue all 
communications to Contractor through Engineer. 

8.02 Replacement of Engineer 

A. In case of termination of the employment of Engineer, Owner shall appoint an engineer to whom 
Contractor makes no reasonable objection, whose status under the Contract Documents shall be 
that of the former Engineer. 

8.03 Furnish Data 

A. Owner shall promptly furnish the data required of Owner under the Contract Documents. 

8.04 Pay When Due 

A. Owner shall make payments to Contractor when they are due as provided in Paragraphs 14.02.C 
and 14.07.C. 

8.05 Lands and Easements; Reports and Tests 

A. Owner’s duties with respect to providing lands and easements and providing engineering surveys 
to establish reference points are set forth in Paragraphs 4.01 and 4.05. Paragraph 4.02 refers to 
Owner’s identifying and making available to Contractor copies of reports of explorations and 
tests of subsurface conditions and drawings of physical conditions relating to existing surface or 
subsurface structures at the Site. 

8.06 Insurance 

A. Owner’s responsibilities, if any, with respect to purchasing and maintaining liability and 
property insurance are set forth in Article 5. 

8.07 Change Orders 

A. Owner is obligated to execute Change Orders as indicated in Paragraph 10.03. 

8.08 Inspections, Tests, and Approvals 

A. Owner’s responsibility with respect to certain inspections, tests, and approvals is set forth in 
Paragraph 13.03.B. 

8.09 Limitations on Owner’s Responsibilities 

A. The Owner shall not supervise, direct, or have control or authority over, nor be responsible for, 
Contractor’s means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety 
precautions and programs incident thereto, or for any failure of Contractor to comply with Laws 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 109 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 37  of  61 
 

and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. Owner will not be responsible for 
Contractor’s failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

8.10 Undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition 

A. Owner’s responsibility in respect to an undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition is set 
forth in Paragraph 4.06. 

8.11 Evidence of Financial Arrangements 

A. Upon request of Contractor, Owner shall furnish Contractor reasonable evidence that financial 
arrangements have been made to satisfy Owner’s obligations under the Contract Documents. 

8.12 Compliance with Safety Program 

A. While at the Site, Owner’s employees and representatives shall comply with the specific 
applicable requirements of Contractor’s safety programs of which Owner has been informed 
pursuant to Paragraph 6.13.D. 

ARTICLE 9 – ENGINEER’S STATUS DURING CONSTRUCTION 

9.01 Owner’s Representative 

A. Engineer will be Owner’s representative during the construction period. The duties and 
responsibilities and the limitations of authority of Engineer as Owner’s representative during 
construction are set forth in the Contract Documents. 

9.02 Visits to Site 

A. Engineer will make visits to the Site at intervals appropriate to the various stages of construction 
as Engineer deems necessary in order to observe as an experienced and qualified design 
professional the progress that has been made and the quality of the various aspects of 
Contractor’s executed Work. Based on information obtained during such visits and observations, 
Engineer, for the benefit of Owner, will determine, in general, if the Work is proceeding in 
accordance with the Contract Documents. Engineer will not be required to make exhaustive or 
continuous inspections on the Site to check the quality or quantity of the Work. Engineer’s 
efforts will be directed toward providing for Owner a greater degree of confidence that the 
completed Work will conform generally to the Contract Documents. On the basis of such visits 
and observations, Engineer will keep Owner informed of the progress of the Work and will 
endeavor to guard Owner against defective Work. 

B. Engineer’s visits and observations are subject to all the limitations on Engineer’s authority and 
responsibility set forth in Paragraph 9.09. Particularly, but without limitation, during or as a 
result of Engineer’s visits or observations of Contractor’s Work, Engineer will not supervise, 
direct, control, or have authority over or be responsible for Contractor’s means, methods, 
techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and programs 
incident thereto, or for any failure of Contractor to comply with Laws and Regulations 
applicable to the performance of the Work. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 110 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 38  of  61 
 

9.03 Project Representative 

A. If Owner and Engineer agree, Engineer will furnish a Resident Project Representative to assist 
Engineer in providing more extensive observation of the Work. The authority and 
responsibilities of any such Resident Project Representative and assistants will be as provided in 
the Supplementary Conditions, and limitations on the responsibilities thereof will be as provided 
in Paragraph 9.09. If Owner designates another representative or agent to represent Owner at the 
Site who is not Engineer’s consultant, agent or employee, the responsibilities and authority and 
limitations thereon of such other individual or entity will be as provided in the Supplementary 
Conditions. 

9.04 Authorized Variations in Work 

A. Engineer may authorize minor variations in the Work from the requirements of the Contract 
Documents which do not involve an adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times and 
are compatible with the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole as 
indicated by the Contract Documents. These may be accomplished by a Field Order and will be 
binding on Owner and also on Contractor, who shall perform the Work involved promptly. If 
Owner or Contractor believes that a Field Order justifies an adjustment in the Contract Price or 
Contract Times, or both, and the parties are unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount or 
extent, if any, of any such adjustment, a Claim may be made therefor as provided in 
Paragraph 10.05. 

9.05 Rejecting Defective Work 

A. Engineer will have authority to reject Work which Engineer believes to be defective, or that 
Engineer believes will not produce a completed Project that conforms to the Contract 
Documents or that will prejudice the integrity of the design concept of the completed Project as a 
functioning whole as indicated by the Contract Documents. Engineer will also have authority to 
require special inspection or testing of the Work as provided in Paragraph 13.04, whether or not 
the Work is fabricated, installed, or completed. 

9.06 Shop Drawings, Change Orders and Payments 

A. In connection with Engineer’s authority, and limitations thereof, as to Shop Drawings and 
Samples, see Paragraph 6.17. 

B. In connection with Engineer’s authority, and limitations thereof, as to design calculations and 
design drawings submitted in response to a delegation of professional design services, if any, see 
Paragraph 6.21. 

C. In connection with Engineer’s authority as to Change Orders, see Articles 10, 11, and 12. 

D. In connection with Engineer’s authority as to Applications for Payment, see Article 14. 

9.07 Determinations for Unit Price Work 

A. Engineer will determine the actual quantities and classifications of Unit Price Work performed 
by Contractor. Engineer will review with Contractor the Engineer’s preliminary determinations 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 111 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 39  of  61 
 

on such matters before rendering a written decision thereon (by recommendation of an 
Application for Payment or otherwise). Engineer’s written decision thereon will be final and 
binding (except as modified by Engineer to reflect changed factual conditions or more accurate 
data) upon Owner and Contractor, subject to the provisions of Paragraph 10.05. 

9.08 Decisions on Requirements of Contract Documents and Acceptability of Work 

A. Engineer will be the initial interpreter of the requirements of the Contract Documents and judge 
of the acceptability of the Work thereunder. All matters in question and other matters between 
Owner and Contractor arising prior to the date final payment is due relating to the acceptability 
of the Work, and the interpretation of the requirements of the Contract Documents pertaining to 
the performance of the Work, will be referred initially to Engineer in writing within 30 days of 
the event giving rise to the question.  

B. Engineer will, with reasonable promptness, render a written decision on the issue referred. If 
Owner or Contractor believes that any such decision entitles them to an adjustment in the 
Contract Price or Contract Times or both, a Claim may be made under Paragraph 10.05. The 
date of Engineer’s decision shall be the date of the event giving rise to the issues referenced for 
the purposes of Paragraph 10.05.B. 

C. Engineer’s written decision on the issue referred will be final and binding on Owner and 
Contractor, subject to the provisions of Paragraph 10.05. 

D. When functioning as interpreter and judge under this Paragraph 9.08, Engineer will not show 
partiality to Owner or Contractor and will not be liable in connection with any interpretation or 
decision rendered in good faith in such capacity. 

9.09 Limitations on Engineer’s Authority and Responsibilities 

A. Neither Engineer’s authority or responsibility under this Article 9 or under any other provision 
of the Contract Documents nor any decision made by Engineer in good faith either to exercise 
or not exercise such authority or responsibility or the undertaking, exercise, or performance of 
any authority or responsibility by Engineer shall create, impose, or give rise to any duty in 
contract, tort, or otherwise owed by Engineer to Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, 
any other individual or entity, or to any surety for or employee or agent of any of them. 

B. Engineer will not supervise, direct, control, or have authority over or be responsible for 
Contractor’s means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety 
precautions and programs incident thereto, or for any failure of Contractor to comply with Laws 
and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. Engineer will not be responsible for 
Contractor’s failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

C. Engineer will not be responsible for the acts or omissions of Contractor or of any Subcontractor, 
any Supplier, or of any other individual or entity performing any of the Work. 

D. Engineer’s review of the final Application for Payment and accompanying documentation and 
all maintenance and operating instructions, schedules, guarantees, bonds, certificates of 
inspection, tests and approvals, and other documentation required to be delivered by Paragraph 
14.07.A will only be to determine generally that their content complies with the requirements of, 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 112 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 40  of  61 
 

and in the case of certificates of inspections, tests, and approvals that the results certified indicate 
compliance with, the Contract Documents. 

E. The limitations upon authority and responsibility set forth in this Paragraph 9.09 shall also apply 
to the Resident Project Representative, if any, and assistants, if any. 

9.10 Compliance with Safety Program 

A. While at the Site, Engineer’s employees and representatives shall comply with the specific 
applicable requirements of Contractor’s safety programs of which Engineer has been informed 
pursuant to Paragraph 6.13.D.   

ARTICLE 10 – CHANGES IN THE WORK; CLAIMS 

10.01 Authorized Changes in the Work 

A. Without invalidating the Contract and without notice to any surety, Owner may, at any time or 
from time to time, order additions, deletions, or revisions in the Work by a Change Order, or a 
Work Change Directive. Upon receipt of any such document, Contractor shall promptly proceed 
with the Work involved which will be performed under the applicable conditions of the Contract 
Documents (except as otherwise specifically provided). 

B. If Owner and Contractor are unable to agree on entitlement to, or on the amount or extent, if any, 
of an adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, that should be allowed as a 
result of a Work Change Directive, a Claim may be made therefor as provided in Paragraph 
10.05. 

10.02 Unauthorized Changes in the Work 

A. Contractor shall not be entitled to an increase in the Contract Price or an extension of the 
Contract Times with respect to any work performed that is not required by the Contract 
Documents as amended, modified, or supplemented as provided in Paragraph 3.04, except in the 
case of an emergency as provided in Paragraph 6.16 or in the case of uncovering Work as 
provided in Paragraph 13.04.D. 

10.03 Execution of Change Orders 

A. Owner and Contractor shall execute appropriate Change Orders recommended by Engineer 
covering: 

1. changes in the Work which are:  (i) ordered by Owner pursuant to Paragraph 10.01.A, (ii) 
required because of acceptance of defective Work under Paragraph 13.08.A or Owner’s 
correction of defective Work under Paragraph 13.09, or (iii) agreed to by the parties; 

2. changes in the Contract Price or Contract Times which are agreed to by the parties, including 
any undisputed sum or amount of time for Work actually performed in accordance with a 
Work Change Directive; and 

3. changes in the Contract Price or Contract Times which embody the substance of any written 
decision rendered by Engineer pursuant to Paragraph 10.05; provided that, in lieu of 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 113 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 41  of  61 
 

executing any such Change Order, an appeal may be taken from any such decision in 
accordance with the provisions of the Contract Documents and applicable Laws and 
Regulations, but during any such appeal, Contractor shall carry on the Work and adhere to 
the Progress Schedule as provided in Paragraph 6.18.A. 

10.04 Notification to Surety 

A. If the provisions of any bond require notice to be given to a surety of any change affecting the 
general scope of the Work or the provisions of the Contract Documents (including, but not 
limited to, Contract Price or Contract Times), the giving of any such notice will be Contractor’s 
responsibility. The amount of each applicable bond will be adjusted to reflect the effect of any 
such change. 

10.05 Claims 

A. Engineer’s Decision Required:  All Claims, except those waived pursuant to Paragraph 14.09, 
shall be referred to the Engineer for decision. A decision by Engineer shall be required as a 
condition precedent to any exercise by Owner or Contractor of any rights or remedies either may 
otherwise have under the Contract Documents or by Laws and Regulations in respect of such 
Claims. 

B. Notice: Written notice stating the general nature of each Claim shall be delivered by the claimant 
to Engineer and the other party to the Contract promptly (but in no event later than 30 days) after 
the start of the event giving rise thereto. The responsibility to substantiate a Claim shall rest with 
the party making the Claim. Notice of the amount or extent of the Claim, with supporting data 
shall be delivered to the Engineer and the other party to the Contract within 60 days after the 
start of such event (unless Engineer allows additional time for claimant to submit additional or 
more accurate data in support of such Claim). A Claim for an adjustment in Contract Price shall 
be prepared in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 12.01.B. A Claim for an adjustment 
in Contract Times shall be prepared in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 12.02.B. 
Each Claim shall be accompanied by claimant’s written statement that the adjustment claimed is 
the entire adjustment to which the claimant believes it is entitled as a result of said event. The 
opposing party shall submit any response to Engineer and the claimant within 30 days after 
receipt of the claimant’s last submittal (unless Engineer allows additional time). 

C. Engineer’s Action:  Engineer will review each Claim and, within 30 days after receipt of the last 
submittal of the claimant or the last submittal of the opposing party, if any, take one of the 
following actions in writing: 

1. deny the Claim in whole or in part; 

2. approve the Claim; or 

3. notify the parties that the Engineer is unable to resolve the Claim if, in the Engineer’s sole 
discretion, it would be inappropriate for the Engineer to do so. For purposes of further 
resolution of the Claim, such notice shall be deemed a denial. 

D. In the event that Engineer does not take action on a Claim within said 30 days, the Claim shall 
be deemed denied. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 114 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 42  of  61 
 

E. Engineer’s written action under Paragraph 10.05.C or denial pursuant to Paragraphs 10.05.C.3 or 
10.05.D will be final and binding upon Owner and Contractor, unless Owner or Contractor 
invoke the dispute resolution procedure set forth in Article 16 within 30 days of such action or 
denial. 

F. No Claim for an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times will be valid if not submitted in 
accordance with this Paragraph 10.05. 

ARTICLE 11 – COST OF THE WORK; ALLOWANCES; UNIT PRICE WORK 

11.01 Cost of the Work 

A. Costs Included:  The term Cost of the Work means the sum of all costs, except those excluded in 
Paragraph 11.01.B, necessarily incurred and paid by Contractor in the proper performance of the 
Work. When the value of any Work covered by a Change Order or when a Claim for an 
adjustment in Contract Price is determined on the basis of Cost of the Work, the costs to be 
reimbursed to Contractor will be only those additional or incremental costs required because of 
the change in the Work or because of the event giving rise to the Claim. Except as otherwise 
may be agreed to in writing by Owner, such costs shall be in amounts no higher than those 
prevailing in the locality of the Project, shall not include any of the costs itemized in Paragraph 
11.01.B, and shall include only the following items: 

1. Payroll costs for employees in the direct employ of Contractor in the performance of the 
Work under schedules of job classifications agreed upon by Owner and Contractor. Such 
employees shall include, without limitation, superintendents, foremen, and other personnel 
employed full time on the Work. Payroll costs for employees not employed full time on the 
Work shall be apportioned on the basis of their time spent on the Work. Payroll costs shall 
include, but not be limited to, salaries and wages plus the cost of fringe benefits, which shall 
include social security contributions, unemployment, excise, and payroll taxes, workers’ 
compensation, health and retirement benefits, bonuses, sick leave, vacation and holiday pay 
applicable thereto. The expenses of performing Work outside of regular working hours, on 
Saturday, Sunday, or legal holidays, shall be included in the above to the extent authorized 
by Owner. 

2. Cost of all materials and equipment furnished and incorporated in the Work, including costs 
of transportation and storage thereof, and Suppliers’ field services required in connection 
therewith. All cash discounts shall accrue to Contractor unless Owner deposits funds with 
Contractor with which to make payments, in which case the cash discounts shall accrue to 
Owner. All trade discounts, rebates and refunds and returns from sale of surplus materials 
and equipment shall accrue to Owner, and Contractor shall make provisions so that they may 
be obtained. 

3. Payments made by Contractor to Subcontractors for Work performed by Subcontractors. If 
required by Owner, Contractor shall obtain competitive bids from subcontractors acceptable 
to Owner and Contractor and shall deliver such bids to Owner, who will then determine, with 
the advice of Engineer, which bids, if any, will be acceptable. If any subcontract provides 
that the Subcontractor is to be paid on the basis of Cost of the Work plus a fee, the 
Subcontractor’s Cost of the Work and fee shall be determined in the same manner as 
Contractor’s Cost of the Work and fee as provided in this Paragraph 11.01. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 115 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 43  of  61 
 

4. Costs of special consultants (including but not limited to engineers, architects, testing 
laboratories, surveyors, attorneys, and accountants) employed for services specifically 
related to the Work. 

5. Supplemental costs including the following: 

a. The proportion of necessary transportation, travel, and subsistence expenses of 
Contractor’s employees incurred in discharge of duties connected with the Work. 

b. Cost, including transportation and maintenance, of all materials, supplies, equipment, 
machinery, appliances, office, and temporary facilities at the Site, and hand tools not 
owned by the workers, which are consumed in the performance of the Work, and cost, 
less market value, of such items used but not consumed which remain the property of 
Contractor. 

c. Rentals of all construction equipment and machinery, and the parts thereof whether 
rented from Contractor or others in accordance with rental agreements approved by 
Owner with the advice of Engineer, and the costs of transportation, loading, unloading, 
assembly, dismantling, and removal thereof. All such costs shall be in accordance with 
the terms of said rental agreements. The rental of any such equipment, machinery, or 
parts shall cease when the use thereof is no longer necessary for the Work. 

d. Sales, consumer, use, and other similar taxes related to the Work, and for which 
Contractor is liable, as imposed by Laws and Regulations. 

e. Deposits lost for causes other than negligence of Contractor, any Subcontractor, or 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them 
may be liable, and royalty payments and fees for permits and licenses. 

f. Losses and damages (and related expenses) caused by damage to the Work, not 
compensated by insurance or otherwise, sustained by Contractor in connection with the 
performance of the Work (except losses and damages within the deductible amounts of 
property insurance established in accordance with Paragraph 5.06.D), provided such 
losses and damages have resulted from causes other than the negligence of Contractor, 
any Subcontractor, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or for 
whose acts any of them may be liable. Such losses shall include settlements made with 
the written consent and approval of Owner. No such losses, damages, and expenses shall 
be included in the Cost of the Work for the purpose of determining Contractor’s fee. 

g. The cost of utilities, fuel, and sanitary facilities at the Site. 

h. Minor expenses such as telegrams, long distance telephone calls, telephone service at the 
Site, express and courier services, and similar petty cash items in connection with the 
Work. 

i. The costs of premiums for all bonds and insurance Contractor is required by the Contract 
Documents to purchase and maintain. 

B. Costs Excluded: The term Cost of the Work shall not include any of the following items: 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 116 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 44  of  61 
 

1. Payroll costs and other compensation of Contractor’s officers, executives, principals (of 
partnerships and sole proprietorships), general managers, safety managers, engineers, 
architects, estimators, attorneys, auditors, accountants, purchasing and contracting agents, 
expediters, timekeepers, clerks, and other personnel employed by Contractor, whether at the 
Site or in Contractor’s principal or branch office for general administration of the Work and 
not specifically included in the agreed upon schedule of job classifications referred to in 
Paragraph 11.01.A.1 or specifically covered by Paragraph 11.01.A.4, all of which are to be 
considered administrative costs covered by the Contractor’s fee. 

2. Expenses of Contractor’s principal and branch offices other than Contractor’s office at the 
Site. 

3. Any part of Contractor’s capital expenses, including interest on Contractor’s capital 
employed for the Work and charges against Contractor for delinquent payments. 

4. Costs due to the negligence of Contractor, any Subcontractor, or anyone directly or indirectly 
employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be liable, including but not 
limited to, the correction of defective Work, disposal of materials or equipment wrongly 
supplied, and making good any damage to property. 

5. Other overhead or general expense costs of any kind and the costs of any item not 
specifically and expressly included in Paragraphs 11.01.A. 

C. Contractor’s Fee:  When all the Work is performed on the basis of cost-plus, Contractor’s fee 
shall be determined as set forth in the Agreement. When the value of any Work covered by a 
Change Order or when a Claim for an adjustment in Contract Price is determined on the basis of 
Cost of the Work, Contractor’s fee shall be determined as set forth in Paragraph 12.01.C. 

D. Documentation:  Whenever the Cost of the Work for any purpose is to be determined pursuant 
to Paragraphs 11.01.A and 11.01.B, Contractor will establish and maintain records thereof in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting practices and submit in a form acceptable to 
Engineer an itemized cost breakdown together with supporting data. 

11.02 Allowances 

A. It is understood that Contractor has included in the Contract Price all allowances so named in the 
Contract Documents and shall cause the Work so covered to be performed for such sums and by 
such persons or entities as may be acceptable to Owner and Engineer. 

B. Cash Allowances: 

1. Contractor agrees that: 

a. the cash allowances include the cost to Contractor (less any applicable trade discounts) of 
materials and equipment required by the allowances to be delivered at the Site, and all 
applicable taxes; and 

b. Contractor’s costs for unloading and handling on the Site, labor, installation, overhead, 
profit, and other expenses contemplated for the cash allowances have been included in 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 117 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 45  of  61 
 

the Contract Price and not in the allowances, and no demand for additional payment on 
account of any of the foregoing will be valid. 

C. Contingency Allowance: 

1. Contractor agrees that a contingency allowance, if any, is for the sole use of Owner to cover 
unanticipated costs. 

D. Prior to final payment, an appropriate Change Order will be issued as recommended by Engineer 
to reflect actual amounts due Contractor on account of Work covered by allowances, and the 
Contract Price shall be correspondingly adjusted. 

11.03 Unit Price Work 

A. Where the Contract Documents provide that all or part of the Work is to be Unit Price Work, 
initially the Contract Price will be deemed to include for all Unit Price Work an amount equal to 
the sum of the unit price for each separately identified item of Unit Price Work times the 
estimated quantity of each item as indicated in the Agreement. 

B. The estimated quantities of items of Unit Price Work are not guaranteed and are solely for the 
purpose of comparison of Bids and determining an initial Contract Price. Determinations of the 
actual quantities and classifications of Unit Price Work performed by Contractor will be made 
by Engineer subject to the provisions of Paragraph 9.07. 

C. Each unit price will be deemed to include an amount considered by Contractor to be adequate to 
cover Contractor’s overhead and profit for each separately identified item. 

D. Owner or Contractor may make a Claim for an adjustment in the Contract Price in accordance 
with Paragraph 10.05 if: 

1. the quantity of any item of Unit Price Work performed by Contractor differs materially and 
significantly from the estimated quantity of such item indicated in the Agreement; and  

2. there is no corresponding adjustment with respect to any other item of Work; and 

3. Contractor believes that Contractor is entitled to an increase in Contract Price as a result of 
having incurred additional expense or Owner believes that Owner is entitled to a decrease in 
Contract Price and the parties are unable to agree as to the amount of any such increase or 
decrease. 

ARTICLE 12 – CHANGE OF CONTRACT PRICE; CHANGE OF CONTRACT TIMES 

12.01 Change of Contract Price 

A. The Contract Price may only be changed by a Change Order. Any Claim for an adjustment in the 
Contract Price shall be based on written notice submitted by the party making the Claim to the 
Engineer and the other party to the Contract in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 
10.05. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 118 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 46  of  61 
 

B. The value of any Work covered by a Change Order or of any Claim for an adjustment in the 
Contract Price will be determined as follows: 

1. where the Work involved is covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents, by 
application of such unit prices to the quantities of the items involved (subject to the 
provisions of Paragraph 11.03); or 

2. where the Work involved is not covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents, 
by a mutually agreed lump sum (which may include an allowance for overhead and profit 
not necessarily in accordance with Paragraph 12.01.C.2); or 

3. where the Work involved is not covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents 
and agreement to a lump sum is not reached under Paragraph 12.01.B.2, on the basis of the 
Cost of the Work (determined as provided in Paragraph 11.01) plus a Contractor’s fee for 
overhead and profit (determined as provided in Paragraph 12.01.C). 

C. Contractor’s Fee:  The Contractor’s fee for overhead and profit shall be determined as follows: 

1. a mutually acceptable fixed fee; or  

2. if a fixed fee is not agreed upon, then a fee based on the following percentages of the various 
portions of the Cost of the Work: 

a. for costs incurred under Paragraphs 11.01.A.1 and 11.01.A.2, the Contractor’s fee shall 
be 15 percent; 

b. for costs incurred under Paragraph 11.01.A.3, the Contractor’s fee shall be five percent;  

c. where one or more tiers of subcontracts are on the basis of Cost of the Work plus a fee 
and no fixed fee is agreed upon, the intent of Paragraphs 12.01.C.2.a and 12.01.C.2.b is 
that the Subcontractor who actually performs the Work, at whatever tier, will be paid a 
fee of 15 percent of the costs incurred by such Subcontractor under Paragraphs 11.01.A.1 
and 11.01.A.2 and that any higher tier Subcontractor and Contractor will each be paid a 
fee of five percent of the amount paid to the next lower tier Subcontractor; 

d. no fee shall be payable on the basis of costs itemized under Paragraphs 11.01.A.4, 
11.01.A.5, and 11.01.B;  

e. the amount of credit to be allowed by Contractor to Owner for any change which results 
in a net decrease in cost will be the amount of the actual net decrease in cost plus a 
deduction in Contractor’s fee by an amount equal to five percent of such net decrease; 
and  

f. when both additions and credits are involved in any one change, the adjustment in 
Contractor’s fee shall be computed on the basis of the net change in accordance with 
Paragraphs 12.01.C.2.a through 12.01.C.2.e, inclusive. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 119 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 47  of  61 
 

12.02 Change of Contract Times 

A. The Contract Times may only be changed by a Change Order. Any Claim for an adjustment in 
the Contract Times shall be based on written notice submitted by the party making the Claim to 
the Engineer and the other party to the Contract in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 
10.05. 

B. Any adjustment of the Contract Times covered by a Change Order or any Claim for an 
adjustment in the Contract Times will be determined in accordance with the provisions of this 
Article 12. 

12.03 Delays 

A. Where Contractor is prevented from completing any part of the Work within the Contract Times 
due to delay beyond the control of Contractor, the Contract Times will be extended in an amount 
equal to the time lost due to such delay if a Claim is made therefor as provided in Paragraph 
12.02.A. Delays beyond the control of Contractor shall include, but not be limited to, acts or 
neglect by Owner, acts or neglect of utility owners or other contractors performing other work as 
contemplated by Article 7, fires, floods, epidemics, abnormal weather conditions, or acts of God. 

B. If Owner, Engineer, or other contractors or utility owners performing other work for Owner as 
contemplated by Article 7, or anyone for whom Owner is responsible, delays, disrupts, or 
interferes with the performance or progress of the Work, then Contractor shall be entitled to an 
equitable adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times, or both. Contractor’s 
entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned on such adjustment being 
essential to Contractor’s ability to complete the Work within the Contract Times. 

C. If Contractor is delayed in the performance or progress of the Work by fire, flood, epidemic, 
abnormal weather conditions, acts of God, acts or failures to act of utility owners not under the 
control of Owner, or other causes not the fault of and beyond control of Owner and Contractor, 
then Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in Contract Times, if such adjustment 
is essential to Contractor’s ability to complete the Work within the Contract Times. Such an 
adjustment shall be Contractor’s sole and exclusive remedy for the delays described in this 
Paragraph 12.03.C. 

D. Owner, Engineer, and their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, 
consultants, or subcontractors shall not be liable to Contractor for any claims, costs, losses, or 
damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and 
other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) sustained by 
Contractor on or in connection with any other project or anticipated project. 

E. Contractor shall not be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times for delays 
within the control of Contractor. Delays attributable to and within the control of a Subcontractor 
or Supplier shall be deemed to be delays within the control of Contractor. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 120 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 48  of  61 
 

ARTICLE 13 – TESTS AND INSPECTIONS; CORRECTION, REMOVAL OR ACCEPTANCE OF 
DEFECTIVE WORK 

13.01 Notice of Defects 

A. Prompt notice of all defective Work of which Owner or Engineer has actual knowledge will be 
given to Contractor. Defective Work may be rejected, corrected, or accepted as provided in this 
Article 13. 

13.02 Access to Work 

A. Owner, Engineer, their consultants and other representatives and personnel of Owner, 
independent testing laboratories, and governmental agencies with jurisdictional interests will 
have access to the Site and the Work at reasonable times for their observation, inspection, and 
testing. Contractor shall provide them proper and safe conditions for such access and advise 
them of Contractor’s safety procedures and programs so that they may comply therewith as 
applicable. 

13.03 Tests and Inspections 

A. Contractor shall give Engineer timely notice of readiness of the Work for all required 
inspections, tests, or approvals and shall cooperate with inspection and testing personnel to 
facilitate required inspections or tests. 

B. Owner shall employ and pay for the services of an independent testing laboratory to perform all 
inspections, tests, or approvals required by the Contract Documents except: 

1. for inspections, tests, or approvals covered by Paragraphs 13.03.C and 13.03.D below; 

2. that costs incurred in connection with tests or inspections conducted pursuant to Paragraph 
13.04.B shall be paid as provided in Paragraph 13.04.C; and 

3. as otherwise specifically provided in the Contract Documents. 

C. If Laws or Regulations of any public body having jurisdiction require any Work (or part thereof) 
specifically to be inspected, tested, or approved by an employee or other representative of such 
public body, Contractor shall assume full responsibility for arranging and obtaining such 
inspections, tests, or approvals, pay all costs in connection therewith, and furnish Engineer the 
required certificates of inspection or approval. 

D. Contractor shall be responsible for arranging and obtaining and shall pay all costs in connection 
with any inspections, tests, or approvals required for Owner’s and Engineer’s acceptance of 
materials or equipment to be incorporated in the Work; or acceptance of materials, mix designs, 
or equipment submitted for approval prior to Contractor’s purchase thereof for incorporation in 
the Work. Such inspections, tests, or approvals shall be performed by organizations acceptable to 
Owner and Engineer. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 121 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 49  of  61 
 

E. If any Work (or the work of others) that is to be inspected, tested, or approved is covered by 
Contractor without written concurrence of Engineer, Contractor shall, if requested by Engineer, 
uncover such Work for observation. 

F. Uncovering Work as provided in Paragraph 13.03.E shall be at Contractor’s expense unless 
Contractor has given Engineer timely notice of Contractor’s intention to cover the same and 
Engineer has not acted with reasonable promptness in response to such notice. 

13.04 Uncovering Work 

A. If any Work is covered contrary to the written request of Engineer, it must, if requested by 
Engineer, be uncovered for Engineer’s observation and replaced at Contractor’s expense. 

B. If Engineer considers it necessary or advisable that covered Work be observed by Engineer or 
inspected or tested by others, Contractor, at Engineer’s request, shall uncover, expose, or 
otherwise make available for observation, inspection, or testing as Engineer may require, that 
portion of the Work in question, furnishing all necessary labor, material, and equipment. 

C. If it is found that the uncovered Work is defective, Contractor shall pay all claims, costs, losses, 
and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, 
and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out 
of or relating to such uncovering, exposure, observation, inspection, and testing, and of 
satisfactory replacement or reconstruction (including but not limited to all costs of repair or 
replacement of work of others); and Owner shall be entitled to an appropriate decrease in the 
Contract Price. If the parties are unable to agree as to the amount thereof, Owner may make a 
Claim therefor as provided in Paragraph 10.05. 

D. If the uncovered Work is not found to be defective, Contractor shall be allowed an increase in 
the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Times, or both, directly attributable to such 
uncovering, exposure, observation, inspection, testing, replacement, and reconstruction. If the 
parties are unable to agree as to the amount or extent thereof, Contractor may make a Claim 
therefor as provided in Paragraph 10.05. 

13.05 Owner May Stop the Work 

A. If the Work is defective, or Contractor fails to supply sufficient skilled workers or suitable 
materials or equipment, or fails to perform the Work in such a way that the completed Work will 
conform to the Contract Documents, Owner may order Contractor to stop the Work, or any 
portion thereof, until the cause for such order has been eliminated; however, this right of Owner 
to stop the Work shall not give rise to any duty on the part of Owner to exercise this right for the 
benefit of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, any other individual or entity, or any 
surety for, or employee or agent of any of them. 

13.06 Correction or Removal of Defective Work 

A. Promptly after receipt of written notice, Contractor shall correct all defective Work, whether or 
not fabricated, installed, or completed, or, if the Work has been rejected by Engineer, remove it 
from the Project and replace it with Work that is not defective. Contractor shall pay all claims, 
costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 122 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 50  of  61 
 

architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute 
resolution costs) arising out of or relating to such correction or removal (including but not 
limited to all costs of repair or replacement of work of others). 

B. When correcting defective Work under the terms of this Paragraph 13.06 or Paragraph 13.07, 
Contractor shall take no action that would void or otherwise impair Owner’s special warranty 
and guarantee, if any, on said Work. 

13.07 Correction Period 

A. If within one year after the date of Substantial Completion (or such longer period of time as may 
be prescribed by the terms of any applicable special guarantee required by the Contract 
Documents) or by any specific provision of the Contract Documents, any Work is found to be 
defective, or if the repair of any damages to the land or areas made available for Contractor’s use 
by Owner or permitted by Laws and Regulations as contemplated in Paragraph 6.11.A is found 
to be defective, Contractor shall promptly, without cost to Owner and in accordance with 
Owner’s written instructions: 

1. repair such defective land or areas; or  

2. correct such defective Work; or 

3. if the defective Work has been rejected by Owner, remove it from the Project and replace it 
with Work that is not defective, and  

4. satisfactorily correct or repair or remove and replace any damage to other Work, to the work 
of others or other land or areas resulting therefrom. 

B. If Contractor does not promptly comply with the terms of Owner’s written instructions, or in an 
emergency where delay would cause serious risk of loss or damage, Owner may have the 
defective Work corrected or repaired or may have the rejected Work removed and replaced. All 
claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, 
architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute 
resolution costs) arising out of or relating to such correction or repair or such removal and 
replacement (including but not limited to all costs of repair or replacement of work of others) 
will be paid by Contractor. 

C. In special circumstances where a particular item of equipment is placed in continuous service 
before Substantial Completion of all the Work, the correction period for that item may start to 
run from an earlier date if so provided in the Specifications. 

D. Where defective Work (and damage to other Work resulting therefrom) has been corrected or 
removed and replaced under this Paragraph 13.07, the correction period hereunder with respect 
to such Work will be extended for an additional period of one year after such correction or 
removal and replacement has been satisfactorily completed. 

E. Contractor’s obligations under this Paragraph 13.07 are in addition to any other obligation or 
warranty. The provisions of this Paragraph 13.07 shall not be construed as a substitute for, or a 
waiver of, the provisions of any applicable statute of limitation or repose. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 123 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 51  of  61 
 

13.08 Acceptance of Defective Work 

A. If, instead of requiring correction or removal and replacement of defective Work, Owner (and, 
prior to Engineer’s recommendation of final payment, Engineer) prefers to accept it, Owner may 
do so. Contractor shall pay all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all 
fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or 
arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) attributable to Owner’s evaluation of and 
determination to accept such defective Work (such costs to be approved by Engineer as to 
reasonableness) and for the diminished value of the Work to the extent not otherwise paid by 
Contractor pursuant to this sentence. If any such acceptance occurs prior to Engineer’s 
recommendation of final payment, a Change Order will be issued incorporating the necessary 
revisions in the Contract Documents with respect to the Work, and Owner shall be entitled to an 
appropriate decrease in the Contract Price, reflecting the diminished value of Work so accepted. 
If the parties are unable to agree as to the amount thereof, Owner may make a Claim therefor as 
provided in Paragraph 10.05. If the acceptance occurs after such recommendation, an 
appropriate amount will be paid by Contractor to Owner. 

13.09 Owner May Correct Defective Work 

A. If Contractor fails within a reasonable time after written notice from Engineer to correct 
defective Work, or to remove and replace rejected Work as required by Engineer in accordance 
with Paragraph 13.06.A, or if Contractor fails to perform the Work in accordance with the 
Contract Documents, or if Contractor fails to comply with any other provision of the Contract 
Documents, Owner may, after seven days written notice to Contractor, correct, or remedy any 
such deficiency. 

B. In exercising the rights and remedies under this Paragraph 13.09, Owner shall proceed 
expeditiously. In connection with such corrective or remedial action, Owner may exclude 
Contractor from all or part of the Site, take possession of all or part of the Work and suspend 
Contractor’s services related thereto, take possession of Contractor’s tools, appliances, 
construction equipment and machinery at the Site, and incorporate in the Work all materials and 
equipment stored at the Site or for which Owner has paid Contractor but which are stored 
elsewhere. Contractor shall allow Owner, Owner’s representatives, agents and employees, 
Owner’s other contractors, and Engineer and Engineer’s consultants access to the Site to enable 
Owner to exercise the rights and remedies under this Paragraph. 

C. All claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of 
engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other 
dispute resolution costs) incurred or sustained by Owner in exercising the rights and remedies 
under this Paragraph 13.09 will be charged against Contractor, and a Change Order will be 
issued incorporating the necessary revisions in the Contract Documents with respect to the 
Work; and Owner shall be entitled to an appropriate decrease in the Contract Price. If the parties 
are unable to agree as to the amount of the adjustment, Owner may make a Claim therefor as 
provided in Paragraph 10.05. Such claims, costs, losses and damages will include but not be 
limited to all costs of repair, or replacement of work of others destroyed or damaged by 
correction, removal, or replacement of Contractor’s defective Work. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 124 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 52  of  61 
 

D. Contractor shall not be allowed an extension of the Contract Times because of any delay in the 
performance of the Work attributable to the exercise by Owner of Owner’s rights and remedies 
under this Paragraph 13.09. 

ARTICLE 14 – PAYMENTS TO CONTRACTOR AND COMPLETION 

14.01 Schedule of Values 

A. The Schedule of Values established as provided in Paragraph 2.07.A will serve as the basis for 
progress payments and will be incorporated into a form of Application for Payment acceptable to 
Engineer. Progress payments on account of Unit Price Work will be based on the number of 
units completed. 

14.02 Progress Payments 

A. Applications for Payments: 

1. At least 20 days before the date established in the Agreement for each progress payment (but 
not more often than once a month), Contractor shall submit to Engineer for review an 
Application for Payment filled out and signed by Contractor covering the Work completed 
as of the date of the Application and accompanied by such supporting documentation as is 
required by the Contract Documents. If payment is requested on the basis of materials and 
equipment not incorporated in the Work but delivered and suitably stored at the Site or at 
another location agreed to in writing, the Application for Payment shall also be accompanied 
by a bill of sale, invoice, or other documentation warranting that Owner has received the 
materials and equipment free and clear of all Liens and evidence that the materials and 
equipment are covered by appropriate property insurance or other arrangements to protect 
Owner’s interest therein, all of which must be satisfactory to Owner. 

2. Beginning with the second Application for Payment, each Application shall include an 
affidavit of Contractor stating that all previous progress payments received on account of the 
Work have been applied on account to discharge Contractor’s legitimate obligations 
associated with prior Applications for Payment. 

3. The amount of retainage with respect to progress payments will be as stipulated in the 
Agreement. 

B. Review of Applications: 

1. Engineer will, within 10 days after receipt of each Application for Payment, either indicate in 
writing a recommendation of payment and present the Application to Owner or return the 
Application to Contractor indicating in writing Engineer’s reasons for refusing to 
recommend payment. In the latter case, Contractor may make the necessary corrections and 
resubmit the Application. 

2. Engineer’s recommendation of any payment requested in an Application for Payment will 
constitute a representation by Engineer to Owner, based on Engineer’s observations of the 
executed Work as an experienced and qualified design professional, and on Engineer’s 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 125 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 53  of  61 
 

review of the Application for Payment and the accompanying data and schedules, that to the 
best of Engineer’s knowledge, information and belief: 

a. the Work has progressed to the point indicated; 

b. the quality of the Work is generally in accordance with the Contract Documents (subject 
to an evaluation of the Work as a functioning whole prior to or upon Substantial 
Completion, the results of any subsequent tests called for in the Contract Documents, a 
final determination of quantities and classifications for Unit Price Work under Paragraph 
9.07, and any other qualifications stated in the recommendation); and 

c. the conditions precedent to Contractor’s being entitled to such payment appear to have 
been fulfilled in so far as it is Engineer’s responsibility to observe the Work. 

3. By recommending any such payment Engineer will not thereby be deemed to have 
represented that: 

a. inspections made to check the quality or the quantity of the Work as it has been 
performed have been exhaustive, extended to every aspect of the Work in progress, or 
involved detailed inspections of the Work beyond the responsibilities specifically 
assigned to Engineer in the Contract Documents; or  

b. there may not be other matters or issues between the parties that might entitle Contractor 
to be paid additionally by Owner or entitle Owner to withhold payment to Contractor. 

4. Neither Engineer’s review of Contractor’s Work for the purposes of recommending 
payments nor Engineer’s recommendation of any payment, including final payment, will 
impose responsibility on Engineer: 

a. to supervise, direct, or control the Work, or 

b. for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the 
safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or 

c. for Contractor’s failure to comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to Contractor’s 
performance of the Work, or 

d. to make any examination to ascertain how or for what purposes Contractor has used the 
moneys paid on account of the Contract Price, or  

e. to determine that title to any of the Work, materials, or equipment has passed to Owner 
free and clear of any Liens. 

5. Engineer may refuse to recommend the whole or any part of any payment if, in Engineer’s 
opinion, it would be incorrect to make the representations to Owner stated in 
Paragraph 14.02.B.2. Engineer may also refuse to recommend any such payment or, because 
of subsequently discovered evidence or the results of subsequent inspections or tests, revise 
or revoke any such payment recommendation previously made, to such extent as may be 
necessary in Engineer’s opinion to protect Owner from loss because: 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 126 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 54  of  61 
 

a. the Work is defective, or completed Work has been damaged, requiring correction or 
replacement; 

b. the Contract Price has been reduced by Change Orders; 

c. Owner has been required to correct defective Work or complete Work in accordance 
with Paragraph 13.09; or 

d. Engineer has actual knowledge of the occurrence of any of the events enumerated in 
Paragraph 15.02.A. 

C. Payment Becomes Due: 

1. Ten days after presentation of the Application for Payment to Owner with Engineer’s 
recommendation, the amount recommended will (subject to the provisions of Paragraph 
14.02.D) become due, and when due will be paid by Owner to Contractor. 

D. Reduction in Payment: 

1. Owner may refuse to make payment of the full amount recommended by Engineer because: 

a. claims have been made against Owner on account of Contractor’s performance or 
furnishing of the Work; 

b. Liens have been filed in connection with the Work, except where Contractor has 
delivered a specific bond satisfactory to Owner to secure the satisfaction and discharge of 
such Liens; 

c. there are other items entitling Owner to a set-off against the amount recommended; or 

d. Owner has actual knowledge of the occurrence of any of the events enumerated in 
Paragraphs 14.02.B.5.a through 14.02.B.5.c or Paragraph 15.02.A. 

2. If Owner refuses to make payment of the full amount recommended by Engineer, Owner 
will give Contractor immediate written notice (with a copy to Engineer) stating the reasons 
for such action and promptly pay Contractor any amount remaining after deduction of the 
amount so withheld. Owner shall promptly pay Contractor the amount so withheld, or any 
adjustment thereto agreed to by Owner and Contractor, when Contractor remedies the 
reasons for such action. 

3. Upon a subsequent determination that Owner’s refusal of payment was not justified, the 
amount wrongfully withheld shall be treated as an amount due as determined by Paragraph 
14.02.C.1 and subject to interest as provided in the Agreement. 

14.03 Contractor’s Warranty of Title 

A. Contractor warrants and guarantees that title to all Work, materials, and equipment covered by 
any Application for Payment, whether incorporated in the Project or not, will pass to Owner no 
later than the time of payment free and clear of all Liens. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 127 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 55  of  61 
 

14.04 Substantial Completion 

A. When Contractor considers the entire Work ready for its intended use Contractor shall notify 
Owner and Engineer in writing that the entire Work is substantially complete (except for items 
specifically listed by Contractor as incomplete) and request that Engineer issue a certificate of 
Substantial Completion. 

B. Promptly after Contractor’s notification, Owner, Contractor, and Engineer shall make an 
inspection of the Work to determine the status of completion. If Engineer does not consider the 
Work substantially complete, Engineer will notify Contractor in writing giving the reasons 
therefor. 

C. If Engineer considers the Work substantially complete, Engineer will deliver to Owner a 
tentative certificate of Substantial Completion which shall fix the date of Substantial 
Completion. There shall be attached to the certificate a tentative list of items to be completed or 
corrected before final payment. Owner shall have seven days after receipt of the tentative 
certificate during which to make written objection to Engineer as to any provisions of the 
certificate or attached list. If, after considering such objections, Engineer concludes that the 
Work is not substantially complete, Engineer will, within 14 days after submission of the 
tentative certificate to Owner, notify Contractor in writing, stating the reasons therefor. If, after 
consideration of Owner’s objections, Engineer considers the Work substantially complete, 
Engineer will, within said 14 days, execute and deliver to Owner and Contractor a definitive 
certificate of Substantial Completion (with a revised tentative list of items to be completed or 
corrected) reflecting such changes from the tentative certificate as Engineer believes justified 
after consideration of any objections from Owner. 

D. At the time of delivery of the tentative certificate of Substantial Completion, Engineer will 
deliver to Owner and Contractor a written recommendation as to division of responsibilities 
pending final payment between Owner and Contractor with respect to security, operation, safety, 
and protection of the Work, maintenance, heat, utilities, insurance, and warranties and 
guarantees. Unless Owner and Contractor agree otherwise in writing and so inform Engineer in 
writing prior to Engineer’s issuing the definitive certificate of Substantial Completion, 
Engineer’s aforesaid recommendation will be binding on Owner and Contractor until final 
payment. 

E. Owner shall have the right to exclude Contractor from the Site after the date of Substantial 
Completion subject to allowing Contractor reasonable access to remove its property and 
complete or correct items on the tentative list. 

14.05 Partial Utilization 

A. Prior to Substantial Completion of all the Work, Owner may use or occupy any substantially 
completed part of the Work which has specifically been identified in the Contract Documents, or 
which Owner, Engineer, and Contractor agree constitutes a separately functioning and usable 
part of the Work that can be used by Owner for its intended purpose without significant 
interference with Contractor’s performance of the remainder of the Work, subject to the 
following conditions: 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 128 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 56  of  61 
 

1. Owner at any time may request Contractor in writing to permit Owner to use or occupy any 
such part of the Work which Owner believes to be ready for its intended use and 
substantially complete. If and when Contractor agrees that such part of the Work is 
substantially complete, Contractor, Owner, and Engineer will follow the procedures of 
Paragraph 14.04.A through D for that part of the Work. 

2. Contractor at any time may notify Owner and Engineer in writing that Contractor considers 
any such part of the Work ready for its intended use and substantially complete and request 
Engineer to issue a certificate of Substantial Completion for that part of the Work. 

3. Within a reasonable time after either such request, Owner, Contractor, and Engineer shall 
make an inspection of that part of the Work to determine its status of completion. If Engineer 
does not consider that part of the Work to be substantially complete, Engineer will notify 
Owner and Contractor in writing giving the reasons therefor. If Engineer considers that part 
of the Work to be substantially complete, the provisions of Paragraph 14.04 will apply with 
respect to certification of Substantial Completion of that part of the Work and the division of 
responsibility in respect thereof and access thereto. 

4. No use or occupancy or separate operation of part of the Work may occur prior to 
compliance with the requirements of Paragraph 5.10 regarding property insurance. 

14.06 Final Inspection 

A. Upon written notice from Contractor that the entire Work or an agreed portion thereof is 
complete, Engineer will promptly make a final inspection with Owner and Contractor and will 
notify Contractor in writing of all particulars in which this inspection reveals that the Work is 
incomplete or defective. Contractor shall immediately take such measures as are necessary to 
complete such Work or remedy such deficiencies. 

14.07 Final Payment 

A. Application for Payment: 

1. After Contractor has, in the opinion of Engineer, satisfactorily completed all corrections 
identified during the final inspection and has delivered, in accordance with the Contract 
Documents, all maintenance and operating instructions, schedules, guarantees, bonds, 
certificates or other evidence of insurance, certificates of inspection, marked-up record 
documents (as provided in Paragraph 6.12), and other documents, Contractor may make 
application for final payment following the procedure for progress payments. 

2. The final Application for Payment shall be accompanied (except as previously delivered) by: 

a. all documentation called for in the Contract Documents, including but not limited to the 
evidence of insurance required by Paragraph 5.04.B.6; 

b. consent of the surety, if any, to final payment;  

c. a list of all Claims against Owner that Contractor believes are unsettled; and  

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 129 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 57  of  61 
 

d. complete and legally effective releases or waivers (satisfactory to Owner) of all Lien 
rights arising out of or Liens filed in connection with the Work. 

3. In lieu of the releases or waivers of Liens specified in Paragraph 14.07.A.2 and as approved 
by Owner, Contractor may furnish receipts or releases in full and an affidavit of Contractor 
that:  (i) the releases and receipts include all labor, services, material, and equipment for 
which a Lien could be filed; and (ii) all payrolls, material and equipment bills, and other 
indebtedness connected with the Work for which Owner might in any way be responsible, or 
which might in any way result in liens or other burdens on Owner's property, have been paid 
or otherwise satisfied. If any Subcontractor or Supplier fails to furnish such a release or 
receipt in full, Contractor may furnish a bond or other collateral satisfactory to Owner to 
indemnify Owner against any Lien. 

B. Engineer’s Review of Application and Acceptance: 

1. If, on the basis of Engineer’s observation of the Work during construction and final 
inspection, and Engineer’s review of the final Application for Payment and accompanying 
documentation as required by the Contract Documents, Engineer is satisfied that the Work 
has been completed and Contractor’s other obligations under the Contract Documents have 
been fulfilled, Engineer will, within ten days after receipt of the final Application for 
Payment, indicate in writing Engineer’s recommendation of payment and present the 
Application for Payment to Owner for payment. At the same time Engineer will also give 
written notice to Owner and Contractor that the Work is acceptable subject to the provisions 
of Paragraph 14.09. Otherwise, Engineer will return the Application for Payment to 
Contractor, indicating in writing the reasons for refusing to recommend final payment, in 
which case Contractor shall make the necessary corrections and resubmit the Application for 
Payment. 

C. Payment Becomes Due: 

1. Thirty days after the presentation to Owner of the Application for Payment and 
accompanying documentation, the amount recommended by Engineer, less any sum Owner 
is entitled to set off against Engineer’s recommendation, including but not limited to 
liquidated damages, will become due and will be paid by Owner to Contractor. 

14.08 Final Completion Delayed 

A. If, through no fault of Contractor, final completion of the Work is significantly delayed, and if 
Engineer so confirms, Owner shall, upon receipt of Contractor’s final Application for Payment 
(for Work fully completed and accepted) and recommendation of Engineer, and without 
terminating the Contract, make payment of the balance due for that portion of the Work fully 
completed and accepted. If the remaining balance to be held by Owner for Work not fully 
completed or corrected is less than the retainage stipulated in the Agreement, and if bonds have 
been furnished as required in Paragraph 5.01, the written consent of the surety to the payment of 
the balance due for that portion of the Work fully completed and accepted shall be submitted by 
Contractor to Engineer with the Application for such payment. Such payment shall be made 
under the terms and conditions governing final payment, except that it shall not constitute a 
waiver of Claims. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 130 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 58  of  61 
 

14.09 Waiver of Claims 

A. The making and acceptance of final payment will constitute: 

1. a waiver of all Claims by Owner against Contractor, except Claims arising from unsettled 
Liens, from defective Work appearing after final inspection pursuant to Paragraph 14.06, 
from failure to comply with the Contract Documents or the terms of any special guarantees 
specified therein, or from Contractor’s continuing obligations under the Contract 
Documents; and 

2. a waiver of all Claims by Contractor against Owner other than those previously made in 
accordance with the requirements herein and expressly acknowledged by Owner in writing 
as still unsettled. 

ARTICLE 15 – SUSPENSION OF WORK AND TERMINATION 

15.01 Owner May Suspend Work 

A. At any time and without cause, Owner may suspend the Work or any portion thereof for a period 
of not more than 90 consecutive days by notice in writing to Contractor and Engineer which will 
fix the date on which Work will be resumed. Contractor shall resume the Work on the date so 
fixed. Contractor shall be granted an adjustment in the Contract Price or an extension of the 
Contract Times, or both, directly attributable to any such suspension if Contractor makes a 
Claim therefor as provided in Paragraph 10.05. 

15.02 Owner May Terminate for Cause 

A. The occurrence of any one or more of the following events will justify termination for cause: 

1. Contractor’s persistent failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents (including, but not limited to, failure to supply sufficient skilled workers or 
suitable materials or equipment or failure to adhere to the Progress Schedule established 
under Paragraph 2.07 as adjusted from time to time pursuant to Paragraph 6.04); 

2. Contractor’s disregard of Laws or Regulations of any public body having jurisdiction; 

3. Contractor’s repeated disregard of the authority of Engineer; or 

4. Contractor’s violation in any substantial way of any provisions of the Contract Documents. 

B. If one or more of the events identified in Paragraph 15.02.A occur, Owner may, after giving 
Contractor (and surety) seven days written notice of its intent to terminate the services of 
Contractor: 

1. exclude Contractor from the Site, and take possession of the Work and of all Contractor’s 
tools, appliances, construction equipment, and machinery at the Site, and use the same to the 
full extent they could be used by Contractor (without liability to Contractor for trespass or 
conversion);  

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 131 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 59  of  61 
 

2. incorporate in the Work all materials and equipment stored at the Site or for which Owner 
has paid Contractor but which are stored elsewhere; and  

3. complete the Work as Owner may deem expedient. 

C. If Owner proceeds as provided in Paragraph 15.02.B, Contractor shall not be entitled to receive 
any further payment until the Work is completed. If the unpaid balance of the Contract Price 
exceeds all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges 
of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other 
dispute resolution costs) sustained by Owner arising out of or relating to completing the Work, 
such excess will be paid to Contractor. If such claims, costs, losses, and damages exceed such 
unpaid balance, Contractor shall pay the difference to Owner. Such claims, costs, losses, and 
damages incurred by Owner will be reviewed by Engineer as to their reasonableness and, when 
so approved by Engineer, incorporated in a Change Order. When exercising any rights or 
remedies under this Paragraph, Owner shall not be required to obtain the lowest price for the 
Work performed. 

D. Notwithstanding Paragraphs 15.02.B and 15.02.C, Contractor’s services will not be terminated if 
Contractor begins within seven days of receipt of notice of intent to terminate to correct its 
failure to perform and proceeds diligently to cure such failure within no more than 30 days of 
receipt of said notice. 

E. Where Contractor’s services have been so terminated by Owner, the termination will not affect 
any rights or remedies of Owner against Contractor then existing or which may thereafter 
accrue. Any retention or payment of moneys due Contractor by Owner will not release 
Contractor from liability. 

F. If and to the extent that Contractor has provided a performance bond under the provisions of 
Paragraph 5.01.A, the termination procedures of that bond shall supersede the provisions of 
Paragraphs 15.02.B and 15.02.C. 

15.03 Owner May Terminate For Convenience 

A. Upon seven days written notice to Contractor and Engineer, Owner may, without cause and 
without prejudice to any other right or remedy of Owner, terminate the Contract. In such case, 
Contractor shall be paid for (without duplication of any items): 

1. completed and acceptable Work executed in accordance with the Contract Documents prior 
to the effective date of termination, including fair and reasonable sums for overhead and 
profit on such Work; 

2. expenses sustained prior to the effective date of termination in performing services and 
furnishing labor, materials, or equipment as required by the Contract Documents in 
connection with uncompleted Work, plus fair and reasonable sums for overhead and profit 
on such expenses; 

3. all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of 
engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 132 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 60  of  61 
 

dispute resolution costs) incurred in settlement of terminated contracts with Subcontractors, 
Suppliers, and others; and 

4. reasonable expenses directly attributable to termination. 

B. Contractor shall not be paid on account of loss of anticipated profits or revenue or other 
economic loss arising out of or resulting from such termination. 

15.04 Contractor May Stop Work or Terminate 

A. If, through no act or fault of Contractor, (i) the Work is suspended for more than 90 consecutive 
days by Owner or under an order of court or other public authority, or (ii) Engineer fails to act on 
any Application for Payment within 30 days after it is submitted, or (iii) Owner fails for 30 days 
to pay Contractor any sum finally determined to be due, then Contractor may, upon seven days 
written notice to Owner and Engineer, and provided Owner or Engineer do not remedy such 
suspension or failure within that time, terminate the Contract and recover from Owner payment 
on the same terms as provided in Paragraph 15.03. 

B. In lieu of terminating the Contract and without prejudice to any other right or remedy, if 
Engineer has failed to act on an Application for Payment within 30 days after it is submitted, or 
Owner has failed for 30 days to pay Contractor any sum finally determined to be due, Contractor 
may, seven days after written notice to Owner and Engineer, stop the Work until payment is 
made of all such amounts due Contractor, including interest thereon. The provisions of this 
Paragraph 15.04 are not intended to preclude Contractor from making a Claim under Paragraph 
10.05 for an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times or otherwise for expenses or 
damage directly attributable to Contractor’s stopping the Work as permitted by this Paragraph. 

ARTICLE 16 – DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

16.01 Methods and Procedures 

A. Either Owner or Contractor may request mediation of any Claim submitted to Engineer for a 
decision under Paragraph 10.05 before such decision becomes final and binding. The mediation 
will be governed by the Construction Industry Mediation Rules of the American Arbitration 
Association in effect as of the Effective Date of the Agreement. The request for mediation shall 
be submitted in writing to the American Arbitration Association and the other party to the 
Contract. Timely submission of the request shall stay the effect of Paragraph 10.05.E. 

B. Owner and Contractor shall participate in the mediation process in good faith. The process shall 
be concluded within 60 days of filing of the request. The date of termination of the mediation 
shall be determined by application of the mediation rules referenced above. 

C. If the Claim is not resolved by mediation, Engineer’s action under Paragraph 10.05.C or a denial 
pursuant to Paragraphs 10.05.C.3 or 10.05.D shall become final and binding 30 days after 
termination of the mediation unless, within that time period, Owner or Contractor: 

1. elects in writing to invoke any dispute resolution process provided for in the Supplementary 
Conditions; or 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 133 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 61  of  61 
 

2. agrees with the other party to submit the Claim to another dispute resolution process; or 

3. gives written notice to the other party of the intent to submit the Claim to a court of 
competent jurisdiction. 

ARTICLE 17 – MISCELLANEOUS 

17.01 Giving Notice 

A. Whenever any provision of the Contract Documents requires the giving of written notice, it will 
be deemed to have been validly given if: 

1. delivered in person to the individual or to a member of the firm or to an officer of the 
corporation for whom it is intended; or 

2. delivered at or sent by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, to the last business 
address known to the giver of the notice. 

17.02 Computation of Times 

A. When any period of time is referred to in the Contract Documents by days, it will be computed 
to exclude the first and include the last day of such period. If the last day of any such period falls 
on a Saturday or Sunday or on a day made a legal holiday by the law of the applicable 
jurisdiction, such day will be omitted from the computation. 

17.03 Cumulative Remedies 

A. The duties and obligations imposed by these General Conditions and the rights and remedies 
available hereunder to the parties hereto are in addition to, and are not to be construed in any 
way as a limitation of, any rights and remedies available to any or all of them which are 
otherwise imposed or available by Laws or Regulations, by special warranty or guarantee, or by 
other provisions of the Contract Documents. The provisions of this Paragraph will be as effective 
as if repeated specifically in the Contract Documents in connection with each particular duty, 
obligation, right, and remedy to which they apply. 

17.04 Survival of Obligations 

A. All representations, indemnifications, warranties, and guarantees made in, required by, or given 
in accordance with the Contract Documents, as well as all continuing obligations indicated in the 
Contract Documents, will survive final payment, completion, and acceptance of the Work or 
termination or completion of the Contract or termination of the services of Contractor. 

17.05 Controlling Law 

A. This Contract is to be governed by the law of the state in which the Project is located. 

17.06 Headings 

A. Article and paragraph headings are inserted for convenience only and do not constitute parts of 
these General Conditions.  

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 134 / 404



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Copyr

ENGIN

EJC
right © 2007 Natio

SUPPL

NEERS JOIN

AMERICAN

ASSOCIATE

AMER

PROFESSI

NATIONAL

CONST

CDC C-800 Suppl
onal Society of Pro

LEMENT

Pr

NT CONTR

Issued and P

 

N COUNCIL 
_______

ED GENERAL
_______

RICAN SOCIE
________

IONAL ENGIN
A Practi

L SOCIETY O

En

TRUCTION SP

ementary Conditi
ofessional Engine

TARY CO
 
 

repared by 
 

RACT DOC
 

and 
 

Published Jo
 

  
 

  
 
 

OF ENGINEE
_____________

 
L CONTRACT

_____________
 

ETY OF CIVIL
_____________

 
NEERS IN PR
ice Division of 

OF PROFESSI
 
 

ndorsed by 

PECIFICATIO
 
 

ions – Nebraska 
eers for EJCDC. A

ONDITIO

CUMENTS 

ointly by 

  

ERING COMP
____ 

TORS OF AM
____ 

L ENGINEER
____ 

RIVATE PRAC
f the 
IONAL ENGIN

ONS INSTITUT

All rights reserved

ONS  

COMMITT

 

PANIES 

MERICA 

RS 

CTICE 

NEERS 

TE 

d. 

TEE 

 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 135 / 404



EJCDC C-800 Supplementary Conditions – Nebraska 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers 
1420 King Street, Alexandria, VA 22314-2794 

(703) 684-2882 
www.nspe.org 

 
American Council of Engineering Companies 

1015 15th Street N.W., Washington, DC 20005 
(202) 347-7474 
www.acec.org 

 
American Society of Civil Engineers 

1801 Alexander Bell Drive, Reston, VA 20191-4400 
(800) 548-2723 
www.asce.org 

 
Associated General Contractors of America 

2300 Wilson Boulevard, Suite 400, Arlington, VA   22201-3308 
(703) 548-3118 
www.agc.org 

 
 
 

The copyright for this EJCDC document is owned jointly by the four 
EJCDC sponsoring organizations and held in trust for their benefit by NSPE. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 136 / 404



 

EJCDC C-800 Supplementary Conditions - Nebraska 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

Page 1 of 7 
 

Supplementary Conditions 

 

These Supplementary Conditions amend or supplement the Standard General Conditions of the 
Construction Contract (C-700, 2007 Edition) and other provisions of the Contract Documents as indicated 
below.  All provisions that are not so amended or supplemented remain in full force and effect. 

The terms used in these Supplementary Conditions will have the meanings indicated in the General  
Conditions.  Additional terms used in these Supplementary Conditions have the meanings stated below, 
which are applicable to both the singular and plural thereof. 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

                      Page 
SC-1.01.A.3  Application for Payment Form     2 
 
SC-1.01.A.9  Change Order Form       2 
 
SC-2.02  Copies of Drawings to be Furnished     2 
 
SC-2.03  Contract Times       2 
 
SC-4.02  Reports of subsurface Conditions     2 
 
SC-4.06  Hazardous Environmental Conditions     2 
 
SC-5.04  Limits of Liability       2 
 
SC-6.17  Submittals        4 
 
SC-9.03  Project Representative       4 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 137 / 404



 

EJCDC C-800 Supplementary Conditions - Nebraska 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

Page 2 of 7 
 

SC-1.01.A.3. Add the following language to the end of Paragraph 1.01.A.4: 
 

The Application for Payment form to be used on this Project is EJCDC No. C-620.   
 
SC-1.01.A.9. Add the following language to the end of Paragraph 1.01.A.10: 
 

The Change Order form to be used on this Project is EJCDC No. C-941.   
 
SC-2.02. Delete Paragraph 2.02.A in its entirety and insert the following in its place: 

A. Owner shall furnish to Contractor up to 4 printed or hard copies of the Drawings and Project 
Manual and one set in electronic format. Additional copies will be furnished upon request at the 
cost of reproduction. 

SC-2.03. Delete Paragraph 2.03.A in its entirety and insert the following in its place: 

A. The Contract Times will commence to run on the day indicated in the Notice to Proceed.  A Notice 
to Proceed may be given at any time within 30 days after the Effective Date of the Agreement. 

SC-4.02. Delete Paragraphs 4.02.A and 4.02.B in their entirety and insert the following: 

A. No reports of explorations or tests of subsurface conditions at or contiguous to the Site, or 
drawings of physical conditions relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at the Site, are 
known to Owner. 

B. Not Used 

SC-4.06. Delete Paragraphs 4.06.A and 4.06.B in their entirety and insert the following: 

A. No reports or drawings related to Hazardous Environmental Conditions at the Site are known to 
Owner. 

 
B. Not Used 

 

SC-5.04. Add the following new paragraph immediately after Paragraph 5.04.B: 

C. The limits of liability for the insurance required by Paragraph 5.04 of the General Conditions shall 
provide coverage for not less than the following amounts or greater where required by Laws and 
Regulations: 

1. Workers’ Compensation, and related coverages under Paragraphs 5.04.A.1 and A.2 of the 
General Conditions: 

a. State:    Statutory 

b. Applicable Federal 
(e.g., Longshoreman’s): Statutory 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 138 / 404



 

EJCDC C-800 Supplementary Conditions - Nebraska 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

Page 3 of 7 
 

c. Employer’s Liability:  $500,000 

2. Contractor’s General Liability under Paragraphs 5.04.A.3 through A.6 of the General 
Conditions which shall include completed operations and product liability coverages and 
eliminate the exclusion with respect to property under the care, custody and control of 
Contractor: 

a. General Aggregate $1,000,000 

b. Products - Completed 
Operations Aggregate $1,000,000 

c. Personal and Advertising 
Injury $1,000,000 

d. Each Occurrence 
(Bodily Injury and 
Property Damage) $1,000,000 

e. Property Damage liability insurance will provide 
Explosion, Collapse, and Under-ground coverages 
where applicable. 

f. Excess or Umbrella Liability 

1) General Aggregate $1,000,000 

2) Each Occurrence $1,000,000 

3. Automobile Liability under Paragraph 5.04.A.6 of the General Conditions: 

a. Bodily Injury: 
Each person  $1,000,000 
Each Accident $1,000,000 

b. Property Damage: 
Each Accident $1,000,000 

c. Combined Single Limit of $1,000,000 

4. The Contractual Liability coverage required by Paragraph 5.04.B.4 of the General Conditions 
shall provide coverage for not less than the following amounts: 

a. Bodily Injury: 
Each person  $1,000,000 
Each Accident $1,000,000 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 139 / 404



 

EJCDC C-800 Supplementary Conditions - Nebraska 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

Page 4 of 7 
 

b. Property Damage: 
Each Accident $1,000,000 
Annual Aggregate $1,000,000 

SC-6.17 Add the following new paragraphs immediately after Paragraph 6.17.E: 

2. Contractor shall furnish required submittals with sufficient information and accuracy in order 
to obtain required approval of an item with no more than three submittals. Engineer will record 
Engineer’s time for reviewing subsequent submittals of Shop Drawings, samples, or other 
items requiring approval and Contractor shall reimburse Owner for Engineer’s charges for such 
time. 

3. In the event that Contractor requests a change of a previously approved item, Contractor shall 
reimburse Owner for Engineer’s charges for its review time unless the need for such change is 
beyond the control of Contractor. 

 SC-9.03 Add the following new paragraphs immediately after Paragraph 9.03.A: 
 

B. The Resident Project Representative (RPR) will be Engineer's employee or agent at the Site, will 
act as directed by and under the supervision of Engineer, and will confer with Engineer regarding 
RPR's actions.  RPR's dealings in matters pertaining to the Work in general shall be with Engineer 
and Contractor. RPR's dealings with Subcontractors shall be through or with the full knowledge 
and approval of Contractor.  The RPR shall: 

 
1. Schedules:  Review the progress schedule, schedule of Shop Drawing and Sample submittals, 

and schedule of values prepared by Contractor and consult with Engineer concerning 
acceptability. 

 
2. Conferences and Meetings:  Attend meetings with Contractor, such as preconstruction 

conferences, progress meetings, job conferences and other project-related meetings, and 
prepare and circulate copies of minutes thereof. 

3. Liaison: 

a. Serve as Engineer’s liaison with Contractor, working principally through Contractor’s 
authorized representative, assist in providing information regarding the intent of the 
Contract Documents. 

b. Assist Engineer in serving as Owner’s liaison with Contractor when Contractor’s 
operations affect Owner’s on-Site operations. 

c. Assist in obtaining from Owner additional details or information, when required for 
proper execution of the Work. 

4. Interpretation of Contract Documents:  Report to Engineer when clarifications and 
interpretations of the Contract Documents are needed and transmit to Contractor 
clarifications and interpretations as issued by Engineer. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 140 / 404



 

EJCDC C-800 Supplementary Conditions - Nebraska 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

Page 5 of 7 
 

5. Shop Drawings and Samples: 

a. Record date of receipt of Samples and approved Shop Drawings. 

b. Receive Samples which are furnished at the Site by Contractor, and notify Engineer of 
availability of Samples for examination. 

6. Modifications:  Consider and evaluate Contractor’s suggestions for modifications in 
Drawings or Specifications and report such suggestions, together with RPR’s 
recommendations, to Engineer. Transmit to Contractor in writing decisions as issued by 
Engineer. 

7. Review of Work and Rejection of Defective Work: 

a. Conduct on-Site observations of Contractor’s work in progress to assist Engineer in 
determining if the Work is in general proceeding in accordance with the Contract 
Documents. 

b. Report to Engineer whenever RPR believes that any part of Contractor’s work in progress 
will not produce a completed Project that conforms generally to the Contract Documents 
or will imperil the integrity of the design concept of the completed Project as a 
functioning whole as indicated in the Contract Documents, or has been damaged, or does 
not meet the requirements of any inspection, test or approval required to be made; and 
advise Engineer of that part of work in progress that RPR believes should be corrected or 
rejected or should be uncovered for observation, or requires special testing, inspection or 
approval. 

8. Inspections, Tests, and System Startups: 

a. Verify that tests, equipment, and systems start-ups and operating and maintenance 
training are conducted in the presence of appropriate Owner’s personnel, and that 
Contractor maintains adequate records thereof. 

b. Observe, record, and report to Engineer appropriate details relative to the test procedures 
and systems start-ups. 

9. Records: 

a. Record names, addresses, fax numbers, e-mail addresses, web site locations, and 
telephone numbers of all Contractors, Subcontractors, and major Suppliers of materials 
and equipment. 

b. Maintain records for use in preparing Project documentation. 

10. Reports: 

a. Furnish to Engineer periodic reports as required of progress of the Work and of 
Contractor’s compliance with the progress schedule and schedule of Shop Drawing and 
Sample submittals. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 141 / 404



 

EJCDC C-800 Supplementary Conditions - Nebraska 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

Page 6 of 7 
 

b. Draft and recommend to the Engineer proposed Change Orders, Work Change 
Directives, and Field Orders. Obtain backup material from Contractor. 

c. Immediately notify Engineer of the occurrence of any Site accidents, emergencies, acts of 
God endangering the Work, damage to property by fire or other causes, or the discovery 
of any Hazardous Environmental Condition. 

11. Payment Requests:  Review Applications for Payment with Contractor for compliance with 
the established procedure for their submission and forward with recommendations to 
Engineer, noting particularly the relationship of the payment requested to the schedule of 
values, Work completed, and materials and equipment delivered at the Site but not 
incorporated in the Work. 

12. Certificates, Operation and Maintenance Manuals:  During the course of the Work, verify 
that materials and equipment certificates, operation and maintenance manuals and other data 
required by the Specifications to be assembled and furnished by Contractor are applicable to 
the items actually installed and in accordance with the Contract Documents, and have these 
documents delivered to Engineer for review and forwarding to Owner prior to payment for 
that part of the Work. 

13. Completion: 

a. Participate in a Substantial Completion inspection, assist in the determination of 
Substantial Completion and the preparation of lists of items to be completed or corrected. 

b. Participate in a final inspection in the company of Engineer, Owner, and Contractor and 
prepare a final list of items to be completed and deficiencies to be remedied. 

c. Observe whether all items on the final list have been completed or corrected and make 
recommendations to Engineer concerning acceptance and issuance of the Notice of 
Acceptability of the Work. 

C. The RPR shall not: 

1. Authorize any deviation from the Contract Documents or substitution of materials or 
equipment (including “or-equal” items). 

2. Exceed limitations of Engineer’s authority as set forth in the Contract Documents. 

3. Undertake any of the responsibilities of Contractor, Subcontractors, Suppliers, or 
Contractor’s superintendent. 

4. Advise on, issue directions relative to, or assume control over any aspect of the means, 
methods, techniques, sequences or procedures of Contractor’s work unless such advice or 
directions are specifically required by the Contract Documents. 

5. Advise on, issue directions regarding, or assume control over safety practices, precautions, 
and programs in connection with the activities or operations of Owner or Contractor. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 142 / 404



 

EJCDC C-800 Supplementary Conditions - Nebraska 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC. All rights reserved. 

Page 7 of 7 
 

6. Participate in specialized field or laboratory tests or inspections conducted off-site by others 
except as specifically authorized by Engineer. 

7. Accept Shop Drawing or Sample submittals from anyone other than Contractor. 

8. Authorize Owner to occupy the Project in whole or in part. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 143 / 404



EJCDC C-941 Change Order 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by the Construction Specifications Institute. 

Page 1 of 2 
 

Change Order 
No.       

Date of Issuance:  Effective Date:  
    

Project:  Owner:  Owner's Contract No.: 

Contract: Date of Contract: 

Contractor: Engineer's Project No.:  

The Contract Documents are modified as follows upon execution of this Change Order: 
Description: 
      
      

Attachments (list documents supporting change): 
      
      

CHANGE IN CONTRACT PRICE: CHANGE IN CONTRACT TIMES: 

Original Contract Price: Original Contract Times:  Working days  Calendar days
  Substantial completion (days or date):  
 $  Ready for final payment (days or date):  
  
[Increase] [Decrease] from previously 
approved Change Orders No.       to No. 

[Increase] [Decrease]  from previously approved Change Orders 
No.       to No.      : 

 Substantial completion (days): 
 $  Ready for final payment (days):  
  
Contract Price prior to this Change Order: Contract Times prior to this Change Order: 
  Substantial completion (days or date):  
 $  Ready for final payment (days or date):  
  
[Increase] [Decrease] of this Change Order: [Increase] [Decrease] of this Change Order: 
  Substantial completion (days or date):  
 $  Ready for final payment (days or date):  
  
Contract Price incorporating this Change 
O d

Contract Times with all approved Change Orders:
  Substantial completion (days or date):  
 $  Ready for final payment (days or date):  

RECOMMENDED:  ACCEPTED: ACCEPTED: 
By:    By:    By:   
        Engineer (Authorized Signature)       Owner (Authorized Signature)           Contractor (Authorized Signature) 

Date:    Date:    Date:   
Approved by Funding Agency (if applicable): 

____________________________________________________________

  

Date:   

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 144 / 404



EJCDC C-941 Change Order 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by the Construction Specifications Institute. 

Page 2 of 2 
 

 

Change Order 
Instructions 

A. GENERAL INFORMATION 

This document was developed to provide a uniform format for handling contract changes that affect 
Contract Price or Contract Times. Changes that have been initiated by a Work Change Directive must be 
incorporated into a subsequent Change Order if they affect Price or Times. 

Changes that affect Contract Price or Contract Times should be promptly covered by a Change Order. The 
practice of accumulating Change Orders to reduce the administrative burden may lead to unnecessary 
disputes. 

If Milestones have been listed in the Agreement, any effect of a Change Order thereon should be addressed. 

For supplemental instructions and minor changes not involving a change in the Contract Price or Contract 
Times, a Field Order should be used. 

B. COMPLETING THE CHANGE ORDER FORM 

Engineer normally initiates the form, including a description of the changes involved and attachments based 
upon documents and proposals submitted by Contractor, or requests from Owner, or both. 

Once Engineer has completed and signed the form, all copies should be sent to Owner or Contractor for 
approval, depending on whether the Change Order is a true order to the Contractor or the formalization of a 
negotiated agreement for a previously performed change. After approval by one contracting party, all copies 
should be sent to the other party for approval. Engineer should make distribution of executed copies after 
approval by both parties. 

If a change only applies to price or to times, cross out the part of the tabulation that does not apply. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 145 / 404



C-1000 Pay Items 
Page 1 of 3 

 

 

PAY ITEMS 
 
GENERAL 

 
The entire construction of the Project shall be computed by multiplying the actual 

quantities of the Pay Items measured during the progress of the work and its completion by the 
unit price pertaining thereto as bid by the Contractor to whom the award is made and as accepted 
by the Owner.  No payment will be made in addition to the amount allowed under the Pay Items 
for incidental work required to complete the work involved in the Project and to clean up the 
area in which the Contractor has worked.  

 
 All labor, tools, supplies and any and all other things required to do the construction 
work, involving, but not limited to the adjusting of water valves and curb stops, protection of 
water and gas mains, telephone and electric cables, storm, water and sanitary sewer, and moving 
on to and away from the job, and to complete the same in the manner acceptable to the Owner 
and the Engineer shall be included in said Pay Items which are defined as follows:  
 
1. Mobilization 
 

This pay item shall include all work incidental to the start-up and completion of this 
project.  

 
This work shall consist of preparatory work and operations, including, but not limited to, 

those necessary for the movement of personnel, equipment, supplies, and incidentals to the 
project site; and for all other work and operations which must be performed or costs incurred 
before beginning work at the project site.    

 
The Contractor must include all costs that he/she expects to incur for all movements of 

his/her equipment and personnel.  Additional payments will not be made should the Contractor 
elect to move his/her equipment and/or crew to another project site before the contracted work is 
complete or if the Contractor fails to adequately assess the actual cost of Mobilization for the 
contracted work.  
 

Payment for this item shall be based on the lump sum price bid and shall be for one 
mobilization for the entire project.  Payment for this item will be made by the following 
schedule:  
 
(1) First payment to equal contractor’s documented costs of obtaining contract bonds and 
insurance premiums up to a total amount of 25% of the total lump sum bid for mobilization 
($200.00 minimum).  
 
(2) A total of 50% of the lump sum bid for mobilization will be paid when the project is at 
least 5% complete based on total value of work completed.  

 
(3) The total lump sum bid for the mobilization will be paid when the project is at least 10% 
complete based on total value of work completed.  

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 146 / 404



C-1000 Pay Items 
Page 2 of 3 

 

 

  
 

2. Clearing & Grubbing 
 

This item shall be completed in accordance with Section 202 of the NDOR Standard 
Specifications for Highway Construction except no payment will be made for large tree removal.  
Any tree removal necessary for the construction of the project will be completed by the 
Contractor.  All trees that need to be removed may not be shown on the plans. 
 

Payment for this item shall be based on the lump sum price bid and shall include all 
clearing & grubbing for the entire project.   

 
3. Excavation (Established Quantity) 
 

This item shall include all work, material, equipment, labor, and all incidental work 
necessary to furnish and place the fill material or excavate existing material to the lines and 
grade shown on the plans and described in these specifications. 
 

Payment for this item will be based on the unit price bid per cubic yard of earthwork 
performed.  The total price of this item will be based on the established quantity shown on the 
plans.  Final cross sections will be made for as built records only to verify construction was done 
in conformance with the plans and specifications but not for the purpose of determining final 
quantities of earthwork.  Water for use in the earthwork and for dust control shall be furnished by 
the contractor and will be subsidiary to Earthwork.   

 
4. 30-Inch P.C. Concrete Curb & Gutter 
  

This item shall include all work, material, equipment, labor, grading, excavation, 
subgrade preparation, backfill and all other incidental work necessary to construct 30-Inch P.C. 
Concrete Curb and Gutter to the lines and  grade as shown on the plans, described in the 
specifications, or directed in the field by the Engineer.   
 
 Payment for this item shall be made at the unit price bid per linear foot of 30-inch P.C. 
Concrete Curb and Gutter constructed and ready for use.  

  
 
5. 10-Inch P.C. Concrete Pavement 

 
This item shall include all work, material, equipment, labor, grading and subgrade 

preparation necessary to construct the P.C. Concrete Pavement to the lines, grade, and thickness 
shown on the plans, described in the specifications, or directed in the field by the Engineer.  This 
item shall also include all expansion material, jointing, curing and protection of the finished 
work.   
 

Payment for this item shall be made at the unit price bid per square foot of the various 
thickness of pavement, constructed and ready for use.  

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 147 / 404



C-1000 Pay Items 
Page 3 of 3 

 

 

 
6. Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) 
 
This pay item shall include all work, material, equipment, labor and incidental work to furnish 
and install Fabric Silt Fence, concrete washout area(s), and temporary gravel construction 
entrance(s) at the locations as shown on the plans or directed in the field by the Engineer. This 
work shall conform to Section 809 in the NDOR Standard Specifications for Highway 
Construction except as amended in these specifications.  No payment will be made for cleaning 
the silt fence. 
 
Payment for this item shall be made on the lump sum price bid installed and ready for use. 
 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 148 / 404



C-1020 Construction Surveying 
Page 1 of 3 

CONSTRUCTION SURVEYING 
 

 
1. Owner and Contractor Responsibilities: 

 
Each project will have the construction staking and surveying done by either the 
Contractor or the Owner. When the pay item "Construction Staking and 
Surveying" is shown on the bid form under Article 5, then the Contractor shall 
accomplish the requirements in Paragraph 3 of this Section. When the Owner has 
the responsibility to accomplish the construction staking and surveying shown in 
Paragraph 2 of this Section, then the pay item "Construction Staking and 
Surveying" will not be shown in the bid form. 

 
2.  Owner provided construction stakes, lines, and grades shall be provided by the 

Engineer and shall include: 
 

a. The Engineer will furnish and set construction stakes or benchmarks 
establishing lines and grades and will furnish the Contractor with all 
necessary information relating to them. 
 

b. The Contractor shall be responsible for the preservation of all stakes and 
marks. The cost of replacing any stakes or marks destroyed or disturbed 
by the Contractor shall be charged against, and deducted from, the 
payment for the work at the current rate of the engineer for each hour of 
the Engineer’s survey time spent replacing the Contractor disturbed stakes 
and marks. 

 
c. The Owner will not be responsible for delays due to lack of stakes unless 

the Contractor, when moving onto the work, has given one week's notice 
that such stakes are needed. Thereafter, 48 hours notice is required. 

 
3.  Contractor provided construction stakes, lines, and grades: 
 

a. The plans and the bid proposal Schedule of Items will show the pay item 
"Construction Staking and Surveying" when the Contractor is responsible for 
survey staking requirements.  Electronic files from the Engineer, if available, 
will be provided to the Contractor for a fee established by the Engineer for 
each individual project. 
 

b. Contractor Construction Staking shall consist of: 
 
(1) Establishing or reestablishing the project centerline. 
 
(2) Referencing or re-referencing all necessary control points. 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 149 / 404



C-1020 Construction Surveying 
Page 2 of 3 

(3) Running a circuit of bench levels to check or reestablish plan 
benchmarks. 
 
(4) Setting other benchmarks as needed. 
 
(5) Staking right-of-way or restaking right-of-way where needed if it has 
been previously staked and performing all construction layout and 
reference staking necessary for the proper control and satisfactory 
completion of all structures, grading, paving, drainage, and all other 
appurtenances required for the completion of the construction work and 
acceptance of the project. 

 
c. Construction Requirements: 

 
(1) (i) The construction staking shall be done by personnel who are trained 

and experienced in construction layout and staking of the type and 
kind required in the contract. 
 
(ii) If the Contractor subcontracts the "Construction Staking and 
Surveying," the work shall be done under the direction of a registered 
Professional Engineer or registered Land Surveyor. 

 
(2) All stakes, references, lines, grades, and batter boards which may be 

required for the construction operations shall be furnished, set, and 
properly referenced by the Contractor.  The Contractor shall be solely 
and completely responsible for the accuracy of the line and grade of all 
features of the work. Any errors or apparent discrepancies found in 
previous surveys, plans, specifications, or special provisions shall be 
immediately called to the attention of the Engineer by the Contractor 
for correction or interpretation before proceeding with the work. 

 
(3) Survey notes shall be clear, orderly, neat, and consistent with standard 

engineering practices. The Contractor shall provide the survey notes to 
the owner prior to acceptance of the project.  The notes shall become 
the property of the Owner upon completion of the project. The survey 
notes shall be subject to inspection by the Owner or their 
representative at any time.  If reproducible, hand written survey notes 
are not available, an electronic file of the survey information 
consistent with the construction plan reference points shall be provided 
in an acceptable format to the Owner. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 150 / 404



C-1020 Construction Surveying 
Page 3 of 3 

(4) The Contractor shall be responsible for the placement and preservation 
of adequate ties and references to all control points, whether 
established by him/her or found on the project, necessary for the 
accurate reestablishment of all base lines or centerlines shown in the 
plans. All land ties (i.e., section corners, fractional section corners, 
etc.) that may be lost or destroyed during construction shall be 
carefully referenced and replaced by a licensed Nebraska Land 
Surveyor. A copy of the completed survey and references to the corner 
or accessory shall be filed with the State Surveyor and with the County 
Surveyor for the county or counties in which the survey corner exists 
within 30 days of the date the activity is completed. 

 
(5) The Contractor shall correct any deficient staking or construction work 

which resulted from inaccuracies in the staking operations or from the 
Contractor's failure to report inaccuracies in the plans or survey data 
furnished by the Engineer. 
 

(6) Following a written request by the Contractor, the Engineer may 
approve the start of construction staking operations before the tentative 
or anticipated beginning date. 

 
4.   Construction staking and surveying will be measured as a lump sum for all 

surveying and staking requirements.  Payment is full compensation for all work 
prescribed in Paragraph 3. 

 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 151 / 404



C-4000 Portland Cement Concrete Pavement 
Page 1 of 8 

  PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE PAVEMENT 
 
1. General 
 

This work shall consist of pavement composed of unreinforced Portland Cement 
Concrete (PCC) constructed on a prepared surface in accordance with these specifications 
and shall conform to the lines, grades, thickness, and typical cross sections shown on the 
plans. 
 
Except as modified herein and within the Special Provisions, the PCC shall be in 
accordance with the Section 601, 603, 1002, 1004, 1005, 1007, 1008, & 1033 of the 
Nebraska Department of Roads (NDOR) Standard Specifications.   If there is a 
conflict between this (the project) specification and the NDOR specification, the project 
specification shall govern. 

MODIFICATIONS to State PCC Specifications 
 

2. Definitions:  Wherever the words “Secretary”, “State” or “Department” are found they 
shall mean the Owner, or its designated representative. 

 
3. Material Characteristics 

 
PCC for this project shall be Class 47B-3,625.  
 
The 47B concrete used in concrete pavements shall be proportioned as follows: 
 

CLASS 47B CONCRETE PAVEMENT PROPORTIONS 

CEMENT 
TYPE 

POUNDS 
OF 

CEMENT 
PER CU. 

YD. 

POUNDS 
OF 

CLASS F 
FLY ASH

AIR 
CONTENT 
PERCENT  

POUNDS OF 
TOTAL 

AGGREGATE 
PER CU. YD.  

RATIO OF 
TOTAL 
AGG. 

PERCENT 

TYPE OF 
COARSE 
AGG.** 

MIN. MAX. MIN. MAX. 
IPF 564* 0* 5.0 7.5 2876 3130 30 ± 3  LIMESTONE

 
* No additional fly ash substitution is allowed. 
 
** Alternate aggregate from an approved source may be substituted for limestone. 
 
Water reducing admixtures shall be used in accordance with the manufacturer’s 
recommendations of dosage rates. 
 
For the purpose of this specification, Type IPF shall mean Type IP cement made with 25 
± 2 percent Class F fly ash.  All cements must conform to the requirements of Section 
1004 in the 2007 Standard Specifications and the Supplemental Specifications. 
 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 152 / 404



C-4000 Portland Cement Concrete Pavement 
Page 2 of 8 

The Contractor shall provide a mix design to the Engineer for approval at least 28 days 
prior to first placement of PCC.  PCC shall be designed to achieve a 28-day compressive 
strength of 3,625 psi. 

 
4. Subgrade Construction: 
 

Excavation, preparation of subgrade, and pay items shall conform with the applicable 
provisions of the Specifications given elsewhere. 
 

5. Aggregates 
 

a.  Aggregate Durability:  Aggregates that have a history of D-Cracking shall not be 
used.  Prior to approval of project mix design and production of PCC the Contractor shall 
submit written certification that aggregate does not have a history of D-cracking. 
 
Aggregate shall meet NDR section 1006 requirements.  Other sources of crushed stone 
aggregate shall be approved if the durability factor as determined by ASTM C666 is 
greater than or equal to 95.  The percentage of wear should be no more than 40 percent 
when tested in accordance with ASTM C 131 or ASTM C 535. 
 
b.  Alkali-Silica Reactivity:  Aggregates shall be tested for deleterious reactivity with 
alkali’s in the cement, which may cause excessive expansion of the concrete.  Acceptance 
of aggregates shall be based upon satisfactory evidence furnished by the Contractor that 
the aggregates, combined with other mixture constituents, do not produce excessive 
expansion in the concrete.   This evidence shall include service records of concrete of 
comparable properties under similar conditions or exposure and certified records of tests 
by a testing laboratory that meets the requirements of ASTM C 1077.  Tests shall be 
made in accordance with ASTM D-1260.   Test specimens shall be produced using all 
components (e.g. coarse aggregate, fine aggregate, cement, fly ash….)to be included in 
the produced concrete.   If the mean expansion of the test specimens, tested in accordance 
with ASTM C 1260, does not exceed 0.10 % at 16 days from casting the aggregates shall 
be accepted.  If the mean expansion at 16 days is greater than 0.10% but less than 0.15%, 
the aggregate may be accepted based upon satisfactory service records and acceptance of 
the aggregate by a State Highway Department specifically addressing Alkali-Silica 
Reactivity.  If the expansion is greater than 0.15%, the aggregate shall not be accepted for 
use. 
 
The Contractor may supply a test result that has been completed in the previous 12 
months from the aggregate pit being used for projects that require less than 500 cubic 
yards of concrete. 
 

6. Limitations on Mixing & Placing: In addition to requirements in state standard 
specification  

 
a.  Placing:  Backhoes and grading equipment shall not be utilized to distribute or 
manipulate PCC in front of paver. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 153 / 404



C-4000 Portland Cement Concrete Pavement 
Page 3 of 8 

 
7. Repair, Removal, Replacement of Slabs.  
 

a.  General.  New pavement slabs that are broken or contain cracks shall be removed and 
replaced or repaired, as specified hereinafter at no cost to the owner.  Spalls along joints 
shall be repaired as specified.  Removal of partial slabs is not permitted.  Removal and 
replacement shall be full depth, shall be full width of the slab, and the limit of removal 
shall be normal to the paving lane and to each original transverse joint.  The engineer will 
determine whether cracks extend full depth of the pavement and may require cores to be 
drilled on the crack to determine depth of cracking.  Such cores shall be 4-inch (100 mm) 
diameter, shall be drilled by the Contractor and shall be filled by the Contractor with a 
well consolidated concrete mixture bonded to the walls of the hole with epoxy resin, 
using approved procedures.  Drilling of cores and refilling holes shall be at no expense to 
the owner.  All epoxy resin used in this work shall conform to ASTM C 881, Type V. 

 
b.  Shrinkage Cracks.  Shrinkage cracks, which do not exceed 4 inches in depth, shall be 
cleaned and then pressure injected with epoxy resin, Type IV, Grade 1, using procedures 
as approved by engineer.  Care shall be taken to assure that the crack is not widened 
during epoxy resin injection.  All epoxy resin injection shall take place in the presence of 
the Engineer.  Shrinkage cracks, which exceed 4 inches in depth, shall be treated as full 
depth cracks in accordance with paragraphs c and d.  

  
c.  Slabs With Cracks through Interior Areas.  Interior area is defined as that area 
more than 12 inches (600 mm) from either adjacent original transverse joint.  The full 
slab shall be removed and replaced at no cost to the owner, when there are any full depth 
cracks, or cracks greater than 4” in depth, that extend into the interior area.  

 
d.  Cracks Close To and Parallel To Transverse Joints.  All cracks essentially parallel 
to original transverse joints, extending full depth of the slab, and lying wholly within 12 
inches either side of the joint shall be treated as specified hereinafter.  Any crack 
extending more than 12 inches (600 mm) from the transverse joint shall be treated as 
specified above in subparagraph "Slabs With Cracks Through Interior Area."   

 
(1) Full Depth Cracks Present, Original Joint Not Opened.  When the original 
uncracked transverse joint has not opened, the crack shall be sawed and sealed, 
and the original transverse joint filled with epoxy resin as specified below.  The 
crack shall be sawed with equipment specially designed to follow random cracks.  
The reservoir for joint sealant in the crack shall be formed by sawing to a depth of 
3/4 inch (19 mm), plus or minus 1/16 inch (1.6 mm), and to a width of 5/8 inch 
(16 mm), plus or minus 1/8 inch (3.2 mm).  Any equipment or procedure which 
causes raveling or spalling along the crack shall be modified or replaced to 
prevent such raveling or spalling.  The joint sealant shall be a liquid sealant as 
specified.  Installation of joint seal shall be as specified for sealing joints or as 
directed.  If the joint sealant reservoir has been sawed out, the reservoir and as 
much of the lower saw cut as possible shall be filled with epoxy resin, Type IV, 
Grade 2, thoroughly tooled into the void using approved procedures.  If only the 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 154 / 404



C-4000 Portland Cement Concrete Pavement 
Page 4 of 8 

original narrow saw cut has been made, it shall be cleaned and pressure injected 
with epoxy resin, Type IV, Grade 1, using approved procedures.  If filler type 
material has been used to form a weakened plane in the transverse joint, it shall be 
completely sawed out and the saw cut pressure injected with epoxy resin, Type 
IV, Grade 1, using approved procedures.  Where a parallel crack goes part way 
across paving lane and then intersects and follows the original transverse joint 
which is cracked only for the remained of the width, it shall be treated as specified 
above for a parallel crack, and the cracked original joint shall be prepared and 
sealed as originally designed.  

 
(2) Full Depth Cracks Present, Original Transverse Joint Also Cracked.  At a 
transverse joint, if there is any place in the lane width where a parallel crack and a 
cracked portion of the original joint overlap, the entire slab containing the crack 
shall be removed and replaced for the full lane width and length.  

 
e.  Removal and Replacement of Full Slabs.  Where it is necessary to remove full slabs, 
unless there are keys or dowels present, all edges of the slab shall be cut full depth with a 
concrete saw.  All saw cuts shall be perpendicular to the slab surface.  If keys, dowels, or 
tie bars are present along any edges, these edges shall be sawed full depth 24 inches (150 
mm) from the edge if only keys are present, or just beyond the end of the dowels or tie 
bars if they are present.  These joints shall then be carefully sawed on the joint line to 
within 1 inch (25 mm) of the depth of the dowel or key.   

 
 The main slab shall be further divided by sawing full depth, at appropriate locations, and 

each piece lifted out and removed.  Suitable equipment shall be used to provide a truly 
vertical lift, and approved safe lifting devices used for attachment to the slabs.  The 
narrow strips along keyed or doweled edges shall be carefully broken up and removed 
using light, hand-held jackhammers, 30 LB (14 kg) or less, or other approved similar 
equipment.  

 
 Care shall be taken to prevent damage to the dowels, tie bars, or keys or to concrete to 

remain in place.  The joint face below keys or dowels shall be suitably trimmed so that 
there is not abrupt offset in any direction greater than 1/2 inch (12 mm) and no gradual 
offset greater than 1 inch (25 mm) when tested in a horizontal direction with a 12-foot 
(3.6 m) straightedge.  

 
 No mechanical impact breakers, other than the above hand-held equipment shall be used 

for any removal of slabs.  If underbreak between 1-1/2 and 4 inches (37 and 100 mm) 
deep occurs at any point along any edge, the area shall be repaired as directed before 
replacing the removed slab. Procedures directed will be similar to those specified for 
surface spalls, modified as necessary.  

 
 If underbreak over 4 inches (100 mm) deep occurs, the entire slab containing the 

underbreak shall be removed and replaced.  Where there are no dowels, tie bars, or keys 
on an edge, or where they have been damaged, dowels of the size and spacing as 
specified for other joints in similar pavement shall be installed by epoxy grouting them 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 155 / 404



C-4000 Portland Cement Concrete Pavement 
Page 5 of 8 

into holes drilled into the existing concrete using procedures as specified.  Original 
damaged dowels or tie bars shall be cut off flush with the joint face.  Protruding portions 
of dowels shall be painted and lightly oiled.  All 4 edges of the new slab shall thus 
contain dowels or original keys or original tie bars.  

 
 Placement of concrete shall be as specified for original construction.  Prior to placement 

of new concrete, the underlying material (unless it is stabilized) shall be re-compacted 
and shaped as specified in the appropriate SECTION of these specifications.  The 
surfaces of all four joint faces shall be cleaned of all loose material and contaminants and 
coated with a double application of membrane forming curing compound as bond 
breaker.  Care shall be taken to prevent any curing compound from contacting dowels or 
tie bars.  The resulting joints around the new slab shall be prepared and sealed as 
specified for original construction.  

 
f.  Repairing Spalls Along Joints.  Where directed, spalls along joints of new slabs, and 
along parallel cracks used as replacement joints, shall be repaired by first making a 
vertical saw cut at least 1 inch (25 mm) outside the spalled area and to a depth of at least 
2 inches (50 mm).  Saw cuts shall be straight lines forming rectangular areas.  The 
concrete between the saw cut and the joint, or crack, shall be chipped out to remove all 
unsound concrete and at least 1/2 inch (12 mm) of visually sound concrete.  The cavity 
thus formed shall be thoroughly cleaned with high-pressure water jets supplemented with 
compressed air to remove all loose material.  Immediately before filling the cavity, a 
prime coat of epoxy resin, Type III, Grade I, shall be applied to the dry cleaned surface of 
all sides and bottom of the cavity, except any joint face.  The prime coat shall be applied 
in a thin coating and scrubbed into the surface with a stiff-bristle brush.  Pooling of epoxy 
resin shall be avoided.  The cavity shall be filled with low slump Portland cement 
concrete or mortar or with epoxy resin concrete or mortar.  Concrete shall be used for 
larger spalls, generally those more than 1/2 cu. ft. (0.014 m3) in size, and mortar SHALL 
BE USED FOR THE SMALLER ONES.  ANY SPALL LESS THAN 0.1 CU. FT. 
(O.OO3 m3) shall be repaired only with epoxy resin mortar or a Grade III epoxy resin.  
Portland cement concrete and mortar mixtures shall be proportioned as directed and shall 
be mixed, placed, consolidated, and cured as directed.  Epoxy resin mortars shall be made 
with Type III, Grade 1, epoxy resin ,using proportions and mixing and placing procedures 
as recommended by the manufacturer and approved by the Engineer.  The epoxy resin 
materials shall be placed in the cavity in layers not over 2 inches (50 mm) thick.  The 
time interval between placement of additional layers shall be such that the temperature of 
the epoxy resin material does not exceed 140oF (60oC) at any time during hardening.  
Mechanical vibrators and hand tampers shall be used to consolidate the concrete or 
mortar.  Any repair material on the surrounding surfaces of the existing concrete shall be 
removed before it hardens.  Where the spalled area abuts a joint, an insert or other bond-
breaking medium shall be used to prevent bond at the joint face.  A reservoir for the joint 
sealant shall be sawed to the dimensions required for other joints, or as required to be 
routed for cracks.  The reservoir shall be thoroughly cleaned and sealed with the sealer 
specified for the joints.  If any spall penetrates half the depth of the slab or more, the 
entire slab shall be removed and replaced as previously specified. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 156 / 404



C-4000 Portland Cement Concrete Pavement 
Page 6 of 8 

 When it is necessary to remove existing concrete pavement and leave adjacent concrete 
in place, the joint between the removal area and adjoining pavement to stay in place shall 
first be cut full depth with a standard diamond-type concrete saw.  Next, a full depth saw 
cut shall be made parallel to the joint at least 24 inches (600 mm) from the joint and at 
least 12 inches (300 mm) from the end of any dowels.  All pavement between this last 
saw cut and the joint line shall be carefully broken up and removed using hand-held 
jackhammers, 30 lb. (14 kg) or less, or the approved light-duty equipment which will not 
cause stress to propagate across the joint saw cut and cause distress in the pavement 
which is to remain in place.  The joint face shall be sawed or otherwise trimmed so that 
there is no abrupt offset in any direction greater than 1/2-inch (12 mm) and no gradual 
offset greater than 1 inch (25 mm) when tested in a horizontal direction with a 12 ft. (3.6 
m) straightedge. 

 
g.  Existing Pavement Edge Repair. 

 
 The edge of existing concrete pavement against which new pavement abuts shall be 

protected from damage at all times.  Areas that are damaged during construction shall be 
repaired at no cost to the Owner; repair of previously existing damage areas will be 
considered a subsidiary part of concrete pavement construction. 

 
 (1) Spall Repair.  Spalls shall be repaired where indicated and where directed.  

Repair materials and procedures shall be as previously specified in subparagraph 
"Repairing Spalls Along Joints." 

 
 (2) Under break Repair.  All under break shall be repaired.  First, all delaminated and 

loose material shall be carefully removed.  Next, the underlying material shall be 
re-compacted, without addition of any new material.  Finally, the void shall be 
completely filled with paving concrete, thoroughly consolidated.  Care shall be 
taken to produce an even joint face from top to bottom.  Prior to placing concrete, 
the underlying material shall be thoroughly moistened.  After placement, the 
exposed surface shall be heavily coated with curing compound.   

 
 (3) Underlying Material.  The underlying material adjacent to the edge of an 

under the existing pavement which is to remain in place shall be protected from 
damage or disturbance during removal operations and until placement of new 
concrete, and shall be shaped as shown on the drawings or as directed.  Sufficient 
material shall be kept in place outside the joint line to prevent disturbance (or 
sloughing) of material under the pavement that is to remain in place.  Any 
material under the portion of the concrete pavement to remain in place, which is 
disturbed or loses its compaction shall be carefully removed and replaced with 
concrete as specified in paragraph "Under break Repair."  The underlying 
material outside the joint line shall be thoroughly compacted and moist when new 
concrete is placed. 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 157 / 404



C-4000 Portland Cement Concrete Pavement 
Page 7 of 8 

8. Acceptance: A lot shall be defined as one days production not to exceed 200 cubic 
yards.   
 

a.  Compressive Strength.   
 
 (1) Sampling.  One sample shall be taken for each lot from the plastic concrete 

delivered to the job site.  Sampling locations shall be determined by the Engineer in 
accordance with random sampling procedures contained in ASTM D 3665.  The 
concrete shall be sampled in accordance with ASTM C 172.  Any pavement that does 
not meet the minimum strength specified in paragraph 3 shall be removed and 
replaced at the Contractor’s expense.  
 

 (2) Testing.  Three (3) specimens shall be made from each sample.  Specimens shall 
be made in accordance with ASTM C 31 and the compressive strength of each 
specimen shall be determined in accordance with ASTM C 39.   

 
 (3) Curing.  The Contractor shall provide adequate facilities for the initial curing of 

cylinders.  During the 24 hours after molding, the temperature immediately adjacent to 
the specimens must be maintained in the range of 60 to 80 degrees F (16 to 27 degrees 
C), and loss of moisture from the specimens must be prevented.  The specimens may be 
stored in tightly constructed wooden boxes, damp sand pits, temporary buildings at 
construction sites, under wet burlap in favorable weather or in heavyweight closed plastic 
bags, or use other suitable methods, provided the temperature and moisture loss 
requirements are met. 

 
b. Thickness:  One core shall be taken by the contractor for every 1000 square yards of 
pavement and fraction thereof.   Sampling locations shall be determined by the Engineer 
in accordance with random sampling procedures contained in ASTM D 3665.  Areas such 
as thickened edges with planned variable thickness shall be excluded from sample 
locations. 

 
Cores shall be neatly cut with a core drill.  The Contractor shall furnish all tools, labor, 
and materials for cutting samples and filling the cored hole.  Core holes shall be filled by 
the Contractor with a non-shrink grout approved by the Engineer within one day after 
sampling.   

 
The thickness of the cores shall be determined by the Engineer by the average caliper 
measurement method in accordance with ASTM C 174. 

  
When the measurement of any core is less than the plan thickness by more than 0.25 
inches, the actual thickness of the pavement in this area will be determined by taking 
exploratory cores.  Additional cores will be cut on either side of the original deficient 
core on a line parallel to the centerline of the pavement.  The first core will be taken at 25 
feet, and succeeding cores will be at 50 foot intervals until a thickness within the 0.25 
inch tolerance is found in both directions. 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 158 / 404



C-4000 Portland Cement Concrete Pavement 
Page 8 of 8 

Any pavement that does not meet the thickness specified within 0.25 inches shall be 
removed and replaced at the Contractor’s expense. 

 
c. Smoothness:  As soon as the concrete has hardened sufficiently, the pavement 
surface shall be tested with a 16-foot straightedge or other specified device.  Surface 
smoothness deviations shall not exceed 1/4 inch from a 16-foot straightedge placed in 
any direction, including placement along and spanning any pavement joint edge. 
 
Areas in a slab showing deviations of more than 1/4 inch but not exceeding 1/2 inch in 16 
feet shall be marked and immediately ground down with an approved grinding machine 
to an elevation that will fall within the tolerance of 1/4 inch or less.  Where the deviation 
exceeds 1/2 inch, the pavement shall be removed and replaced at the expense of the 
Contractor when so directed by the Engineer. 

 
 Payment for the smoothness test and corrective action shall be subsidiary. 
 
9. Method of Measurement 
 
 Concrete pavement shall be measured as outlined in the Pay Items included within these 
specifications. 
 
10. Basis of Payment 
  
 Payment will be based on the quantities measured in the field.  No pay factors will apply 
to this project. 
 
 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 159 / 404



C-4100 Portland Cement Concrete 
Page 1 of 1 

 PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE 
 

Portland cement concrete shall be as specified in Portland Cement Concrete Pavement 
section included in these specifications.   

 
The mix design shall provide for a yield of one cubic yard.  

 
All admixtures shall be approved by the Engineer.  

 
 All material tests shall be the responsibility of the City, unless otherwise specified or if 
the material test fails.  The contractor shall be responsible for the expense of retesting or 
additional material testing. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 160 / 404



C-4200 Preparation of Subgrade – Roadway 
Page 1 of 1

 

PREPARATION OF SUBGRADE-ROADWAY 
 

 The preparation of the subgrade shall comply with the “State of Nebraska, 
Department of Roads, 2007 Standard Specifications for Highway Construction, and All 
Supplements, Division 300 - Subgrade Preparation...” 

 
 All surfaces upon which paving and other surface improvements are to be placed shall be 
finish graded to the required subgrade elevations as determined by stakes set by the Engineer or to 
meet existing improvements of the same kind.  

 
      All hollow places or other imperfections or old trenches, shall be filled with earth and 
thoroughly compacted by tamping, rolling or flooding. All soft or spongy material shall be replaced 
with good earth. All suitable excavated material shall be used in filling surfaces to be improved to 
subgrade level and to fill back of curbs. Broken up concrete, pipe, all other excavated material not 
suitable for fills and all surplus excavated materials shall be hauled to a waste as hereinbefore 
provided.  

 
 The upper six inches of roadbed, which is to be under pavement or other structures shall be 
compacted to a density of 95% standard proctor density as determined by ASTM D-698.  

 
    In the preparation of the subgrade, no earth shall be removed below the base of the 
pavement. If excavation is inadvertently carried too low, the area shall be refilled with suitable 
materials and compacted to a density of 95% maximum standard proctor density as determined by 
ASTM Designation D-698, all at the Contractor's expense.  

 
      In all places where filling is required to bring the subgrade to the required elevation, it shall 
be done in layers not to exceed six inches in depth and compacted to a density specified above.  

 
      The preparation of subgrade shall include such scarifying, drying, reshaping and 
recompacting as is necessary to provide proper cross section and an adequate foundation for the 
subsequent construction of the pavement. The exact extent of the work that is required shall be 
determined by the Engineer and will be based on job conditions that exist at the time the 
construction work is performed, provided that, in any event the ground surface, after being perfectly 
dressed, shall be compacted to a density specified above. Allowance must be made by the 
Contractor in dressing down the surfaces for the compression of the roller. Particular emphasis shall 
be placed on securing a uniformly compacted road bed.  

 
      Special care shall be exercised in preparing the subgrade adjacent to curb, gutter and other 
concrete structures so as to secure good compaction, proper thickness of pavement and so as not to 
damage the concrete work. Hand tamping shall be employed as necessary.  

 
      The maintenance of the reconstructed roadbed after its completion shall be the responsibility 
of the Contractor.  

 
 Preparation of subgrade shall not be paid for directly, but shall be considered subsidiary to 
other items for which direct payment is made.  

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 161 / 404



C-4400 Portland Cement Concrete Curb & Gutter 
Page 1 of 3 

PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER 
 
1.  GENERAL 
 

Combined curbs and gutters shall be constructed where required at the locations and to 
the grades and cross sections on the drawings.   Curb and gutter shall not be cast monolithic with 
the pavement.  
 

At driveways the curb shall be "dropped" and the gutter carried to the back curb line with 
a rise from the gutter line to match the driveway or the expected grade of a future driveway, 
provided such rise shall be not less than 2 inches.  
 
      Adjacent areas shall be disturbed as little as possible and together with sidewalks, 
driveways, parking areas and all public and private property, shall be left clean and free from 
concrete materials and all other debris incidental to the construction.  
 
2. EXCAVATION 
 

The removal of existing curb, gutter and other obstructions where new curb and gutter is 
to be placed and the excavation for new curb and gutter shall be done in accordance with the 
lines and grades as set by the Engineer, and as shown on the Plans.  
 
3.  MATERIALS  
 
      Curb and gutter shall be built of unreinforced Portland Cement Concrete, in the 
proportions of materials and mixed, placed and cured in accordance with the specifications for 
"Portland Cement Concrete", and as provided hereinafter.  
 
4. FORMS  
 
      Rigid steel forms shall be used and shall be carefully set and securely held in place to the 
end that the finished curb and gutter shall be true to line and grade, shall drain toward the gutter 
outlets and be free from water pockets. Crooked curb forms will not be permitted. A sufficient 
supply of forms shall be provided so that the work may proceed continuously.  
 

Placement of portland cement concrete curb and gutter by the slip form method shall be 
allowed upon the approval of the slip form pavement machine by the Engineer.  Curb placement 
shall conform to the grade determined by the Engineer. Curb not conforming to grade line or 
cross-sections as designated in the drawings shall be removed and replaced by the Contractor.  
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 162 / 404



C-4400 Portland Cement Concrete Curb & Gutter 
Page 2 of 3 

5. DEPOSITING AND FORMING CONCRETE  
      

A.  Rough Shaping  
 
      The concrete shall be deposited in the forms, mechanically vibrated and then roughly 
shaped to the finish contour.  
 
      B.  Finish Shaping  
 
      The concrete shall be brought to the specified contour by means of a "mule". The mule 
shall be of steel, shaped to the face section of the curb and gutter and of sufficient strength to 
retain its shape under all working conditions. The "mule" shall rest on the forms and shall be 
drawn longitudinally along the curb and gutter.  
 
      When the concrete has attained its initial set, the curb and gutter shall be cut halfway 
through at intervals not to exceed 6 feet with a 1/8" steel plate which shall be immediately 
withdrawn after the cut is made. The joint thus formed shall be finished on both sides with an 
edging tool. The outside forms shall not be removed until the concrete has attained a minimum 
compressive strength of 1000 psi.  
 
     Before final set of concrete, gutters shall be tested with a 10-foot straight-edge to see if 
the finished gradient is uniform. Any depressions which will not drain shall be corrected.  
 
6. JOINTS 
 
      A joint of 2-inch mastic filler as defined under "Concrete Pavement" shall be placed at 
both ends of street, radii, at street ends of alley radii and at maximum intervals of 150 feet on 
blocks where there are no alley intersections.  
 
7. FINISHING 
 
      The exposed portion of curb and gutter shall be carefully finished to a fairly slick 
surface, free from pits, exposed aggregate, form marks, bubbles, sagging areas and particularly at 
joints, ridges due to excess materials. The face of the gutter and the back of the curb shall be free 
of honeycomb.  
 
      Extra care shall be taken in finishing so that the coarse aggregate is completely worked 
into the concrete, leaving a smooth surface, free of pits and projections.  
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 163 / 404



C-4400 Portland Cement Concrete Curb & Gutter 
Page 3 of 3 

8. CURING AND PROTECTION  
 
      The surface of the curb and gutter shall be sprayed with a translucent type of 
nonbituminous liquid concrete curing compound which dries leaving a white colored appearance 
to the concrete conforming to the requirements of ASTM C-309, Type 2. Particular care shall be 
used to secure an even, dense coating. If, in the opinion of the Engineer, the coating is not 
sufficient, a second coating may be required. Spraying shall be done as soon as the concrete is 
sufficiently hardened to prevent pitting.  
 
     The curb and gutter shall be closed to traffic for at least fourteen days and, in cool 
weather, for an additional time, to be determined by the Engineer, or until a compressive strength 
of 3500 psi, as determined by test cylinder specimens.  
  
      The Contractor shall erect and maintain suitable barriers to protect the curb and gutter 
from traffic and any part of the curb and gutter damaged from traffic or other causes, occurring 
prior to its official acceptance shall be repaired or replaced by the Contractor, at his expense, in a 
manner satisfactory to the Engineer.  
 
9. BACKFILL 
 

Upon removal of forms, the area at back of curbs shall be cleaned of all debris, excess 
concrete, etc., and filled level with top of curb and the park area with excavated earth free from 
lumps and all foreign materials. The surfaced area shall be smoothed and raked ready for seeding 
or sodding.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 164 / 404



C-6000 Excavation and Embankment 
Page 1 of 1

 

 EXCAVATION AND EMBANKMENT 
 

 GENERAL 
 
 The grading working shall comply with "STATE OF NEBRASKA, DEPARTMENT 
OF ROADS, 2007 STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR HIGHWAY CONSTRUCTION, 
AND ALL SUPPLEMENTS", SECTION 200 - EARTHWORK. 
 

 CLEARING AND GRUBBING 
 
 The clearing and grubbing shall comply with Section 201.  All tree removal will be 
paid for as clearing and grubbing.  
 

 EMBANKMENT  
 
 The embankment shall be placed with a minimum optimum density of 95%, as 
determined by ASTM D-698.  
 

 WATER 
 
 Water, for grading, shall be a subsidiary item to the construction and no payment 
shall be made for water applied.  
 

 MATERIAL 
 
 Embankment material, when provided by the contractor, shall be granular in nature 
and have sufficient binder material to provide a suitable subgrade for the roadway. No 
material shall be used without prior approval of the engineer.  
 

 PAYMENT 
 
 The Excavation or Embankment quantity shall be an established quantity, paid at the 
unit price, as indicated in the proposal and made part of the contract. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 165 / 404



 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 166 / 404



No. Description Unit Quantity
1 Mobilization LS 1 $ 15,000.00 $ 15,000.00
2 Clearing and Grubbing LS 1 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00
3 Excavation (Established Quantity) CY 3000 $ 5.00 $ 15,000.00
4 30‐Inch P.C. Concrete Curb & Gutter (Spill) LF 760 $ 14.00 $ 10,640.00
5 10‐Inch P.C. Concrete Pavement SF 61200 $ 6.00 $ 367,200.00
6 Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) LS 1 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00

Total

TOTAL COST =

Unit Cost Total

$427,840.00

$513,408.00

Construction Costs =
Engineering & Inspection =

$427,840.00
$85,568.00

WTP Compost Facility
City of Scottsbluff
Bid Date: 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 167 / 404



City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska
Monday, June 2, 2014

Regular Meeting

Item Consent3

Consider approval of plans and specifications for the Five Oaks 
Paving District 311 and authorize the city clerk to advertise for 
bids to be received by 11:00 a.m.,  June 27, 2014

Staff Contact: Annie Urdiales, Planning Administrator

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 168 / 404



Rev 3/1/99CClerk 

A g e n d a   S t a t e m e n t 
 

Item No.  
 

For meeting of: June 2, 2014 
 
 

AGENDA TITLE: Approve plans and specifications for Paving District # 311- Five Oaks Drive 
and authorize City Clerk to advertise for bids to be received until 11:00 A.M., June 27, 2014.  
 
SUBMITTED BY DEPARTMENT/ORGANIZATION: Development Services Department 
 
PRESENTATION BY: Rick Kuckkahn 
 
SUMMARY EXPLANATION: Plans and specifications have been submitted by Baker and 
Associates for Paving District Number 311- Five Oaks Drive beginning at the intersection of 36th 
Street and Five Oaks Drive and continuing north on Five Oaks Drive to 100’ past 38 th Street.  
The Paving district will also include extending Sagebrush Drive to Five Oaks Drive, as well as 
140’ to start the new street Pine Circle. 
 
BOARD/COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: N/A 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Approve plans and specifications and authorize City Clerk to 
advertise for bids to be received until 11:00 A.M., June 27, 2014.  
  

EXHIBITS  

Resolution  Ordinance       Contract     Minutes          Plan/Map X 
 
Other (specify)  Plans & Specifications 

 
NOTIFICATION LIST:  Yes    No    Further Instructions    

 
 
APPROVAL FOR SUBMITTAL:       

                                 City Manager 

  

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 169 / 404



Baker Associates, Inc.
Project Estimate Page 1 of 1 Date of Print:  5/28/2014

Client: C&T Holdings LLC
Project: 5 Oaks Street

Project #:
Date: 5/28/2014

Engineers - Architects - Surveyors
Since 1977

 
Preliminary Engineers

Opinion of Probable Costs
Item # Description Units Quantity Unit Item

Price Totals

Five Oaks Drive Street Paving & Storm Sewer

1 Mobilization EA 1 $10,000.00 $10,000
2 Grading CY 3,000 $4.00 $12,000
3 Sub-Grade Prep and Base Course SY 5,100 $4.00 $20,400
4 30" PCC Curb and Gutter LF 2,707 $15.00 $40,605
5 6" PCC Paving SY 4,345 $34.00 $147,730
6 20' rad. Curve Returns (8") EA 6 $4,200.00 $25,200
7 Storm Sewer Inlets EA 2 $1,400.00 $2,800
8 18" Storm Sewer Pipe LF 37 $40.00 $1,480

Subtotal $260,215
Contingency (10%) $26,022
Engineering $12,000
Total $298,237

Engineer’s opinions of probable Construction Cost are to be made on the basis of Engineer’s experience and qualifications and represent Engineer’s 
best judgment as an experienced and qualified professional generally familiar with the construction industry.  However, since Engineer has no control 
over the cost of labor, materials, equipment, or services furnished by others, or over contractors’ methods of determining prices, or over competitive 
bidding or market conditions, Engineer cannot and does not guarantee that proposals, bids, or actual Construction Cost will not vary from opinions of 
probable Construction Cost prepared by Engineer.  If Owner wishes greater assurance as to probable Construction Cost, Owner shall employ an 
independent cost estimator.

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 170 / 404



CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
 

FOR THE 
 

FIVE OAKS STREET 
IMPROVEMENTS 2014 

for the 
 

City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska 
  

CONTRACT #023-018-13 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Prepared by: 
 

 
 

120 East 16th Street, Suite A 
Scottsbluff, Nebraska  69361 

 
????, 2013 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 171 / 404



 I

 Street Improvement District No. 311 (Five Oaks Drive) 
 
 
 CONTRACT # 023-018-14 
 
 
 TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
Advertisement for Bids (not included at this time) ................................................ 00030-1 
Instructions for Bidders ............................................................................................................ 00100-1 
Subsurface Information ........................................................................................................... 00200-1 
Utility Companies ................................................................................................. 00205-1 
Easements ................................................................................................................................... 00210-1 
Bid (not included at this time) ............................................................................... 00300-1 
Bid Bond ............................................................................................................... C-430-1 
Notice of Award .................................................................................................... C-510-1 
Notice to Proceed ................................................................................................. C-550-1 
Performance Bond ............................................................................................... C-610-1 
Payment Bond ...................................................................................................... C-615-1 
General Conditions............................................................................................... C-700-1 
Supplementary Conditions ................................................................................... 00800-1 
 
DIVISION 1 - GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 
 
Schedule of Work ................................................................................................. 01000-1 
Owner Furnished Items ........................................................................................ 01000-1 
Measurement & Payment ..................................................................................... 01000-2 
Alternates ............................................................................................................. 01000-2 
Construction Coordination .................................................................................... 01000-3 
Construction Survey Work .................................................................................... 01000-3 
Regulatory Requirements ..................................................................................... 01000-4 
Asbestos Containing Materials ............................................................................. 01000-5 
Protection of Potable Water Supplies ................................................................... 01000-6 
Project Meetings .................................................................................................. 01000-6 
Submittals ............................................................................................................ 01000-6 
Contractor's Quality Control, Testing .................................................................... 01000-8 
Construction Observation & Staking Schedule ..................................................... 01000-9 
Protection of Work and Property .......................................................................... 01000-9 
Construction Cleaning ........................................................................................ 01000-10 
Traffic Control ..................................................................................................... 01000-11 
Warranties & Bonds ........................................................................................... 01000-11 
Maintenance ....................................................................................................... 01000-12 
 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 172 / 404



 II

DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
 
Surface Restoration .............................................................................................. 02212-1 
Excavation, Backfill and Compaction for Utilities .................................................. 02222-1 
Subgrade for C & G, Sidewalk and Streets .......................................................... 02230-1 
Base Course for C & G, Sidewalk and Streets ..................................................... 02233-1 
Portland Concrete Pavement, Non-Reinforced .................................................... 02514-1 
Combination Concrete C&G ................................................................................. 02525-1 
Crosspans ............................................................................................................ 02527-1 
Pipeline Materials - Polyethylene (Storm Sewer) ................................................. 02616-1 
Storm Drainage Inlets ........................................................................................... 02721-1 
Storm Sewer Pipeline Installation ......................................................................... 02723-1 
 
DIVISION 3 - CONCRETE 
 
Concrete Formwork .............................................................................................. 03100-1 
Structural Concrete .............................................................................................. 03310-1 
Concrete Mixing, Moving & Testing ...................................................................... 03311-1 
Concrete Mix Design ............................................................................................ 03313-1 
Concrete Curing ................................................................................................... 03370-1 
Manholes .............................................................................................................. 03480-1 
 
 
DRAWINGS 
 
All drawings included in the set titled “FIVE OAKS STREET IMPROVEMENTS 2014” 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 173 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.09 Instructions to Bidders Section 00100 - Page 1

 

DOCUMENT 00100 INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 
 
 
1. DEFINED TERMS. 
 

1.1 Terms used in these Instructions to Bidders which are defined in the 
Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract (EJCDC 
C-700, 2007 ed.) have the meanings assigned to them in the General 
Conditions. 

 
1.2 The term "Bidder" means one who submits a Bid directly to Owner, 

as distinct from a sub-bidder, who submits a bid to a Bidder. 
 

1.3 The term "Successful Bidder" means the lowest, qualified, 
responsible and responsive Bidder to whom Owner (on the basis of 
Owner's evaluation as hereinafter provided) makes an award. 

  
1.4 The term "Bidding Documents" includes the Advertisement or 

Invitation to Bid, Instructions to Bidders, the Bid Form, and the 
proposed Contract Documents (including all Addenda issued prior to 
receipt of Bids). 

 
 
2. COPIES OF BIDDING DOCUMENTS. 
 

2.1 Complete sets of the Bidding Documents in the number and for the 
deposit sum, if any, stated in the Advertisement for Bids may be 
obtained from Engineer.  The deposit will be refunded, if stated, to 
document holders of record who return the Bidding Documents in 
good condition within thirty days after opening of Bids. 

 
2.2 Complete sets of Bidding Documents must be used in preparing 

Bids; neither Owner nor Engineer assume any responsibility for 
errors or misinterpretations resulting from the use of incomplete sets 
of Bidding Documents.   

 
2.3 Owner and Engineer in making copies of Bidding Documents 

available on the above terms do so only for the purpose of obtaining 
Bids on the Work and do not confer a license or grant for any other 
use. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 174 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.09 Instructions to Bidders Section 00100 - Page 2

 

 
3. QUALIFICATIONS OF BIDDERS. 
 

To demonstrate qualifications to perform the Work, each Bidder must be 
prepared to submit, within five days of Owner's request, written evidence, 
such as financial data, previous experience, present commitments and other 
such data as may be called for below (or in the Supplementary Instructions).  
Each Bid must contain evidence of Bidder's qualification to do business in the 
state where the Project is located or covenant to obtain such qualification 
prior to award of the contract. 

 
 
4. EXAMINATION OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS AND SITE. 
 

4.1 It is the responsibility of each Bidder before submitting a Bid, to 
 

4.1.1  examine the Contract Documents thoroughly, 
 
4.1.2  visit the site to become familiar with local conditions that 

may affect cost, progress, performance or furnishing of the 
Work, 

 
4.1.3  consider federal, state and local Laws and Regulations that 

may affect cost, progress, performance or furnishing of the 
Work, 

 
4.1.4  study and carefully correlate Bidder's observations with the 

Contract Documents, and 
 
4.1.5  notify Engineer of all conflicts, errors or discrepancies in 

the Contract Documents. 
 

4.2 Reference is made to Document 00200 for identification of those 
reports of exploration and tests of subsurface conditions at the site 
which have been utilized by Engineer in preparation of the Contract 
Documents.  Bidder may rely upon the accuracy of the technical data 
contained in such reports but not upon non-technical data, 
interpretations or opinions contained therein or for the completeness 
thereof for the purpose of bidding or construction. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 175 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.09 Instructions to Bidders Section 00100 - Page 3

 

4.3 Information and data reflected in the Contract Documents with 
respect to Underground Facilities at or contiguous to the site is based 
upon information and data furnished to Owner and Engineer by 
owners of such Underground Facilities or others, and Owner and the 
Engineer do not assume responsibility for the accuracy or 
completeness thereof unless it is expressly provided otherwise in the 
Supplementary Conditions. 

 
4.4 Provisions concerning responsibilities for the adequacy of data 

furnished to prospective Bidders on subsurface conditions, 
Underground Facilities and other physical conditions, and possible 
changes in the Contract Documents due to differing conditions 
appear in Paragraphs 4.02, 4.03 and 4.04 of the General Conditions. 

 
4.5 Before submitting a Bid, each Bidder will, at Bidder's own expense, 

make or obtain any additional examinations, investigations, 
explorations, tests and studies and obtain any additional information 
and data which pertain to the physical conditions (surface, 
subsurface and Underground Facilities) at or contiguous to the site or 
otherwise which may affect cost, progress, performance or furnishing 
of the Work and which Bidder deems necessary to determine its Bid 
for performing and furnishing the Work in accordance with the time, 
price and other terms and conditions of the Contract Documents. 

 
4.6 On request in advance, Owner will provide each Bidder access to the 

site to conduct such explorations and tests as each Bidder deems 
necessary for submission of a Bid.  Bidder shall fill all holes, clean up 
and restore the site to its former condition upon completion of such 
explorations. 

 
4.7 The lands upon which the Work is to be performed, rights-of-way and 

easements for access thereto and other lands designated for use by 
Contractor in performing the Work are identified in the Contract 
Documents.  All additional lands and access thereto required for 
temporary construction facilities or storage of materials and 
equipment are to be provided by Contractor.  Easements for 
permanent structures or permanent changes in existing structures 
are to be obtained and paid for by Owner unless otherwise provided 
in the Contract Documents. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 176 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.09 Instructions to Bidders Section 00100 - Page 4

 

4.8 The submission of a Bid will constitute an incontrovertible 
representation by Bidder that Bidder has complied with every 
requirement of this Article, that without exception the Bid is premised 
upon performing and furnishing the Work required by the Contract 
Documents and such means, methods, techniques, sequences or 
procedures of construction as may be indicated in or required by the 
Contract Documents, and that the Contract Documents are sufficient 
in scope and detail to indicate and convey understanding of all terms 
and conditions for performance and furnishing of the Work. 

 
 
5. INTERPRETATIONS AND ADDENDA. 
 

5.1 All questions about the meaning or intent of the Contract Documents 
are to be directed to Engineer.  Interpretations or clarifications 
considered necessary by Engineer in response to such questions will 
be issued by Addenda mailed or delivered to all parties recorded by 
Engineer as having received the Bidding Documents.  Questions 
received less than three days prior to the date for opening of Bids 
may not be answered.  Only questions answered by formal written 
Addenda will be binding.  Oral and other interpretations or 
clarifications will be without legal effect. 

 
5.2 Addenda may also be issued to modify the Bidding Documents as 

deemed advisable by Owner or Engineer. 
 

 
6. BID SECURITY. 
 

6.1 Each Bid must be accompanied by Bid security made payable to 
Owner in an amount of five percent of the Bidder's maximum Bid 
price and in the form of a certified or bank check or a Bid Bond 
issued by a surety meeting the requirements of Paragraph 5.01 and 
5.02 of the General Conditions. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 177 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.09 Instructions to Bidders Section 00100 - Page 5

 

6.2 The Bid security of the Successful Bidder will be retained until such 
Bidder has executed the Agreement and furnished the required 
contract security, whereupon the Bid security will be returned.  If the 
Successful Bidder fails to execute and deliver the Agreement and 
furnish the required contract security within fifteen days after the 
Notice of Award, Owner may annul the Notice of Award and the Bid 
security of the Bidder will be forfeited.  The Bid security of other 
Bidders whom Owner believes to have a reasonable chance of 
receiving the award may be retained by Owner until the earlier of the 
seventh day after the Effective Date of the Agreement or the forty-
sixth day after the Bid opening, whereupon Bid security furnished by 
such Bidders will be returned.  Bid security with Bids which are not 
competitive will be returned within seven days after the Bid opening. 

 
 
7. CONTRACT TIME. 
 

The numbers of days within which, or the dates by which, the Work is to be 
substantially completed and also completed and ready for final payment (the 
Contract Time) are set forth in the Agreement. 

 
 
8. LIQUIDATED DAMAGES. 
 

Provisions for liquidated damages, if any, are set forth in the Agreement. 
 
 
9. SUBSTITUTE ITEMS. 
 

The Contract, if awarded, will be on the basis of materials and equipment 
described in the Drawings or specified in the Specifications without 
consideration of possible substitute items.  Whenever it is indicated in the 
Drawings or specified in the Specifications that a substitute item of material or 
equipment may be furnished or used by Contractor if acceptable to Engineer, 
application for such acceptance will not be considered by Engineer until after 
the Effective Date of the Agreement.   

 
 
10. SUBCONTRACTORS, SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS. 
 

No Contractor shall be required to employ any Subcontractor, Supplier, other 
person or organization against whom Contractor has reasonable objection. 

 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 178 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.09 Instructions to Bidders Section 00100 - Page 6

 

11. BID FORM. 
 

11.1 The Bid Form is included with the Bidding Documents; additional 
copies may be obtained from Engineer (or the issuing office). 

 
11.2 All blanks on the Bid Form must be completed in ink or by typewriter. 

 
11.3 Bids by corporations must be executed in the corporate name by the 

president or a vice-president (or other corporate officer accompanied 
by evidence of authority to sign) and the corporate seal must be 
affixed and attested by the secretary or an assistant secretary.  The 
corporate address and state of incorporation must be shown below 
the signature. 

 
11.4 Bids by partnerships must be executed in the partnership name and 

signed by a partner, whose title must appear under the signature and 
the official address of the partnership must be shown below the 
signature. 

 
11.5 All names must be typed or printed below the signature. 

 
11.6 The Bid shall contain an acknowledgment of receipt of all Addenda 

(the numbers of which must be filled in on the Bid Form). 
 

11.7 The address and telephone number for communications regarding 
the Bid must be shown. 

 
 
12. SUBMISSION OF BIDS. 
 

Bids shall be submitted at the time and place indicated in the Advertisement 
for Bids and shall be enclosed in an opaque sealed envelope, marked with 
the Project title (and, if applicable, the designated portion of the Project for 
which the Bid is submitted) and name and address of the Bidder and 
accompanied by the Bid security and other required documents.  If the Bid is 
sent through the mail or other delivery system the sealed envelope shall be 
enclosed in a separate envelope with the notation "BID ENCLOSED" on the 
face of it. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 179 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.09 Instructions to Bidders Section 00100 - Page 7

 

 
13. MODIFICATION AND WITHDRAWAL OF BIDS. 
 

13.1 Bids may be modified or withdrawn by an appropriate document duly 
executed (in the manner that a Bid must be executed) and delivered 
to the place where Bids are to be submitted at any time prior to the 
opening of Bids.   

 
13.2   If, within twenty-four hours after Bids are opened, any Bidder files a 

duly signed, written notice with Owner and promptly thereafter 
demonstrates to the reasonable satisfaction of Owner that there was 
a material and substantial mistake in the preparation of its Bid, that 
Bidder may withdraw its Bid and the Bid security will be returned.  
Thereafter, that Bidder will be disqualified from further bidding on the 
Work to be provided under the Contract Documents. 

 
 
14. OPENING OF BIDS. 
 

Bids will be opened and (unless obviously non-responsive) read aloud 
publicly.  An abstract of the amounts of the base Bids and major alternates (if 
any) will be made available to Bidders after the opening of Bids. 

 
 
15. BIDS TO REMAIN SUBJECT TO ACCEPTANCE. 
 

All bids remain subject to acceptance for forty-five days after the day of the 
Bid opening, but Owner may, in its sole discretion, release any Bid and return 
the Bid security prior to that date. 

 
 
16. AWARD OF CONTRACT. 

 
16.1 Owner reserves the right to reject any and all Bids, to waive any and 

all informalities not involving price, time or changes in the Work and 
to negotiate contract terms with the Successful Bidder, and the right 
to disregard all nonconforming, non-responsive, unbalanced or 
conditional Bids.  Also, Owner reserves the right to reject the Bid of 
any Bidder if Owner believes that it would not be in the best interest 
of the Project to make an award to that Bidder, whether because the 
bid is not responsive or the Bidder is unqualified or of doubtful 
financial ability or fails to meet any other pertinent standard or criteria 
established by Owner. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 180 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.09 Instructions to Bidders Section 00100 - Page 8

 

16.2 Discrepancies in the multiplication of units of Work and unit prices will 
be resolved in the favor of the unit prices.  Discrepancies between 
the indicated sum of any column of figures and the correct sum 
thereof will be resolved in favor of the correct sum.  Discrepancies 
between the written price and the figure price shall be resolved in 
favor of the written price. 

 
16.3 In evaluating Bids, Owner will consider the qualifications of the 

Bidders, whether or not the Bids comply with the prescribed 
requirements, and such alternates, unit prices and other data, as may 
be requested in the Bid Form or prior to the Notice of Award. 

 
16.4 Owner may consider the qualifications and experience of 

Subcontractors, Suppliers, and other persons and organizations 
proposed for those portions of the Work as to which the identity of 
Subcontractors, Suppliers, and other persons and organizations must 
be submitted as provided in the Supplementary Conditions.  Owner 
also may consider the operating costs, maintenance requirements, 
performance data and guarantees of major items of materials and 
equipment proposed for incorporation in the Work when such data is 
required to be submitted prior to the Notice of Award. 

 
16.5 Owner may conduct such investigations as Owner deems necessary 

to assist in the evaluation of any Bid and to establish the 
responsibility, qualifications and financial ability of Bidders, proposed 
Subcontractors, Suppliers and other persons and organizations to 
perform and furnish the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents to Owner's satisfaction within the prescribed time. 

 
16.6 If the contract is to be awarded, it will be awarded to the lowest 

Bidder whose evaluation by Owner indicates to Owner that the award 
will be in the best interests of the Project. 

 
16.7 If the contract is to be awarded, Owner will give the Successful 

Bidder a Notice of Award within forty-five days after the day of the Bid 
opening. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 181 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.09 Instructions to Bidders Section 00100 - Page 9

 

 
17. CONTRACT SECURITY. 
 

Article 5 of the General Conditions and the Supplementary Conditions set 
forth Owner's requirements as to insurance requirements and performance 
and payment Bonds.  When the Successful Bidder delivers the executed 
Agreement to Owner, it must be accompanied by the insurance certificate, 
performance and payment bonds. 

 
 
18. SIGNING OF AGREEMENT. 
 

When Owner gives a Notice of Award to the Successful Bidder, it will be 
accompanied by the required number of unsigned counterparts of the 
Agreement with all other written Contract Documents attached.  Within fifteen 
days thereafter Contractor shall sign and deliver the required number of 
counterparts of the Agreement and attached documents to Owner with the 
required Bonds.  Within ten days thereafter Owner shall deliver one fully 
signed counterpart to Contractor. 

 
 
19. RETAINAGE. 
 

Provisions concerning retainage and Contractor's rights to deposit securities 
in lieu of retainage are set forth in the Agreement. 

 
 
20. OUT-OF-STATE BIDDERS. 
 

It shall be the Bidder's responsibility to make himself aware of all applicable 
State laws and regulations governing out-of-state contractors. 

 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 182 / 404



 

 
Standard-Scottsbluff  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.09 Utility Companies Section 00205 - Page 1

 

DOCUMENT 00205 UTILITY COMPANIES 
 
 
PART 1  Water & Sewer 
 
  City of Scottsbluff 
  (308) 630-0926 
  (308) 630-6258 - water 
 
PART 2  Electrical 
 
  Nebraska Public Power District 
  515 1st Avenue 
  Scottsbluff, NE 
  (877) 275-6773 
 
PART 3  Telephone: 
 
  Century Link 
  Location of Buried Cable 
  (800) 788-3600 
 
  Allo Communications  
  (308) 633-5000 
 
PART 4  Cable TV: 
 
  Charter Digital Communications 
  Location of Buried Cable 
  (308) 635-3163 
 
PART 5  Natural Gas: 
 
  Source Gas 
  (800) 563-0012 
 
PART 6  Digger's Hotline of Nebraska: 
 
  (800) 331-5666 
 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 183 / 404



PENAL SUM FORM 
 

EJCDC C-430 Bid Bond (Penal Sum Form) 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee. 

Page 1 of 2 
 

BID BOND 
Any singular reference to Bidder, Surety, Owner or other party shall be considered plural where applicable. 

BIDDER (Name and Address): 
       
       
       
SURETY (Name and Address of Principal Place of Business): 
       
       
       
OWNER (Name and Address): 
       
       
       
BID 
 Bid Due Date:       
 Description (Project Name and Include Location): 
       
BOND 
 Bond Number:       
 Date (Not earlier than Bid due date):       
 Penal sum        $                                    
  (Words)  (Figures) 
 
Surety and Bidder, intending to be legally bound hereby, subject to the terms set forth below, do each cause this 
Bid Bond to be duly executed by an authorized officer, agent, or representative. 
 
BIDDER SURETY  
      (Seal)       (Seal) 
Bidder’s Name and Corporate Seal Surety’s Name and Corporate Seal 
 
By:        By:        
 Signature  Signature (Attach Power of Attorney) 
   
                
 Print Name  Print Name 
   
                
 Title  Title 
 
Attest:        Attest:        
 Signature  Signature 
   
                
 Title  Title 
Note: Above addresses are to be used for giving any required notice.  Provide execution by any additional 
parties, such as joint venturers, if necessary. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 184 / 404



PENAL SUM FORM 
 

EJCDC C-430 Bid Bond (Penal Sum Form) 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee. 

Page 2 of 2 
 

1. Bidder and Surety, jointly and severally, bind themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, successors, 
and assigns to pay to Owner upon default of Bidder the penal sum set forth on the face of this Bond.  Payment of 
the penal sum is the extent of Bidder’s and Surety’s liability.  Recovery of such penal sum under the terms of this 
Bond shall be Owner’s sole and exclusive remedy upon default of Bidder.  

2. Default of Bidder shall occur upon the failure of Bidder to deliver within the time required by the Bidding 
Documents (or any extension thereof agreed to in writing by Owner) the executed Agreement required by the 
Bidding Documents and any performance and payment bonds required by the Bidding Documents. 

3. This obligation shall be null and void if: 

3.1 Owner accepts Bidder’s Bid and Bidder delivers within the time required by the Bidding Documents (or 
any extension thereof agreed to in writing by Owner) the executed Agreement required by the Bidding 
Documents and any performance and payment bonds required by the Bidding Documents, or 

3.2 All Bids are rejected by Owner, or 

3.3 Owner fails to issue a Notice of Award to Bidder within the time specified in the Bidding Documents 
(or any extension thereof agreed to in writing by Bidder and, if applicable, consented to by Surety when 
required by Paragraph 5 hereof). 

4. Payment under this Bond will be due and payable upon default of Bidder and within 30 calendar days after 
receipt by Bidder and Surety of written notice of default from Owner, which notice will be given with reasonable 
promptness, identifying this Bond and the Project and including a statement of the amount due. 

5. Surety waives notice of any and all defenses based on or arising out of any time extension to issue Notice of 
Award agreed to in writing by Owner and Bidder, provided that the total time for issuing Notice of Award 
including extensions shall not in the aggregate exceed 120 days from Bid due date without Surety’s written 
consent. 

6. No suit or action shall be commenced under this Bond prior to 30 calendar days after the notice of default 
required in Paragraph 4 above is received by Bidder and Surety and in no case later than one year after Bid due 
date. 

7. Any suit or action under this Bond shall be commenced only in a court of competent jurisdiction located in 
the state in which the Project is located. 

8. Notices required hereunder shall be in writing and sent to Bidder and Surety at their respective addresses 
shown on the face of this Bond. Such notices may be sent by personal delivery, commercial courier, or by United 
States Registered or Certified Mail, return receipt requested, postage pre-paid, and shall be deemed to be effective 
upon receipt by the party concerned. 

9. Surety shall cause to be attached to this Bond a current and effective Power of Attorney evidencing the 
authority of the officer, agent, or representative who executed this Bond on behalf of Surety to execute, seal, and 
deliver such Bond and bind the Surety thereby. 

10. This Bond is intended to conform to all applicable statutory requirements. Any applicable requirement of any 
applicable statute that has been omitted from this Bond shall be deemed to be included herein as if set forth at 
length. If any provision of this Bond conflicts with any applicable statute, then the provision of said statute shall 
govern and the remainder of this Bond that is not in conflict therewith shall continue in full force and effect. 

11. The term “Bid” as used herein includes a Bid, offer, or proposal as applicable. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 185 / 404



EJCDC C-510 Notice of Award 

Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by the Construction Specifications Institute. 

Page 1 of 1 

 

Notice of Award 
 

 Date:  __________________ 

 

Project: 

Owner: Owner's Contract No.: 

Contract: Engineer's Project No.: 

Bidder: 

Bidder's Address:  

 

 

You are notified that your Bid dated       for the above Contract has been considered.  You are the Successful 

Bidder and are awarded a Contract for       

 

 [Indicate total Work, alternates, or sections of Work awarded.] 

 The Contract Price of your Contract is             Dollars ($     ). 

 Three copies of the proposed Contract Documents (except Drawings) accompany this Notice of Award. 

You must comply with the following conditions precedent within 15 days of the date you receive this 

Notice of Award. 

  1. Deliver to the Owner three (3) fully executed counterparts of the Contract Documents. 

  2. Deliver with the executed Contract Documents three (3) copies of the Performance Bond, Payment 

Bond and issue certificates of Insurance as specified in the Instructions to Bidders, General 

Conditions and Supplementary Conditions.   

Failure to comply with these conditions within the time specified will entitle Owner to consider you in default, 

annul this Notice of Award, and declare your Bid security forfeited.   

Within ten days after you comply with the above conditions, Owner will return to you one fully executed 

counterpart of the Contract Documents. 

    

  Owner 

  By:   

  Authorized Signature 

   Baker & Associates, Inc. - Engineer  

  Title 

 

 
 ACCEPTANCE OF NOTICE 
 
 Receipt of the above NOTICE OF AWARD is hereby acknowledged 

by               , 

this the __________________ day of ________________________ 20__. 

By         

Title         

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 186 / 404



EJCDC C-550 Notice to Proceed 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by the Construction Specifications Institute. 

Page 1 of 1 

 

Notice to Proceed 
 

Date:  _________________ 
 
Project: 

Owner: Owner's Contract No.: 

Contract: Engineer's Project No.: 

Contractor: 

Contractor's Address:  

 

 

 You are notified that the Contract Times under the above Contract will commence to run 
on     .  On or before that date, you are to start performing your obligations under the Contract 
Documents.  In accordance with Article 4 of the Agreement, the date of Substantial Completion 
is     , and the date of readiness for final payment is       [(or) the number of days to achieve 
Substantial Completion is      , and the number of days to achieve readiness for final payment is 
     ]. 
 
 Before you may start any Work at the Site, Paragraph 2.01.B of the General Conditions 
provides that you and Owner must each deliver to the other (with copies to Engineer and other 
identified additional insureds and loss payees) certificates of insurance which each is required to 
purchase and maintain in accordance with the Contract Documents. 
 
   

  Owner 

  Given by: 

  Authorized Signature  

   

  Title 

   

  Date 

 ACCEPTANCE OF NOTICE 
 
 Receipt of the above NOTICE TO PROCEED is hereby acknowledged 

by               , 

this the __________________ day of ________________________ 20__. 

By          Title         

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 187 / 404



 

EJCDC C-610 – Performance Bond 

Published December 2010 by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee. 

Page 1 of 3 

 

                         PERFORMANCE BOND 

CONTRACTOR (name and address): 

 

 

 

 

SURETY (name and address of principal place of business): 

 

 

 

OWNER (name and address): 

 

 

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT 

Effective Date of the Agreement: 

Amount: 

Description (name and location):  

BOND 

Bond Number: 

Date (not earlier than the Effective Date of the Agreement of the Construction Contract): 

Amount: 

Modifications to this Bond Form:            None               See Paragraph 16 

 

Surety and Contractor, intending to be legally bound hereby, subject to the terms set forth below, do each cause 

this Performance Bond to be duly executed by an authorized officer, agent, or representative. 

CONTRACTOR AS PRINCIPAL  SURETY 

  (seal)    (seal) 

Contractor’s Name and Corporate Seal  Surety’s Name and Corporate Seal 

 

By:     By:   

       Signature   Signature (attach power of attorney) 

 

        

Print Name    Print Name 

 

        

Title    Title 

 

Attest:    Attest:    

 Signature   Signature  

 

        

Title    Title 

 

Notes: (1) Provide supplemental execution by any additional parties, such as joint venturers. (2) Any singular reference to 

Contractor, Surety, Owner, or other party shall be considered plural where applicable. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 188 / 404



 

EJCDC C-610 – Performance Bond 

Published December 2010 by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee. 

Page 2 of 3 

1.  The Contractor and Surety, jointly and severally, bind 

themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and 

assigns to the Owner for the performance of the Construction Contract, 

which is incorporated herein by reference. 

2.  If the Contractor performs the Construction Contract, the Surety 

and the Contractor shall have no obligation under this Bond, except 

when applicable to participate in a conference as provided in 

Paragraph 3. 

3.  If there is no Owner Default under the Construction Contract, the 

Surety’s obligation under this Bond shall arise after: 

3.1  The Owner first provides notice to the Contractor and 

the Surety that the Owner is considering declaring a Contractor 

Default. Such notice shall indicate whether the Owner is 

requesting a conference among the Owner, Contractor, and Surety 

to discuss the Contractor’s performance.  If the Owner does not 

request a conference, the Surety may, within five (5) business 

days after receipt of the Owner’s notice, request such a 

conference.  If the Surety timely requests a conference, the Owner 

shall attend.  Unless the Owner agrees otherwise, any conference 

requested under this Paragraph 3.1 shall be held within ten (10) 

business days of the Surety’s receipt of the Owner’s notice.  If the 

Owner, the Contractor, and the Surety agree, the Contractor shall 

be allowed a reasonable time to perform the Construction 

Contract, but such an agreement shall not waive the Owner’s 

right, if any, subsequently to declare a Contractor Default;  

3.2  The Owner declares a Contractor Default, terminates 

the Construction Contract and notifies the Surety; and 

3.3  The Owner has agreed to pay the Balance of the 

Contract Price in accordance with the terms of the Construction 

Contract to the Surety or to a contractor selected to perform the 

Construction Contract. 

4.  Failure on the part of the Owner to comply with the notice 

requirement in Paragraph 3.1 shall not constitute a failure to comply 

with a condition precedent to the Surety’s obligations, or release the 

Surety from its obligations, except to the extent the Surety 

demonstrates actual prejudice. 

5.  When the Owner has satisfied the conditions of Paragraph 3, the 

Surety shall promptly and at the Surety’s expense take one of the 

following actions: 

5.1  Arrange for the Contractor, with the consent of the 

Owner, to perform and complete the Construction Contract; 

5.2  Undertake to perform and complete the Construction 

Contract itself, through its agents or independent contractors; 

5.3  Obtain bids or negotiated proposals from qualified 

contractors acceptable to the Owner for a contract for 

performance and completion of the Construction Contract, 

arrange for a contract to be prepared for execution by the Owner 

and a contractor selected with the Owners concurrence, to be 

secured with performance and payment bonds executed by a 

qualified surety equivalent to the bonds issued on the 

Construction Contract, and pay to the Owner the amount of 

damages as described in Paragraph 7 in excess of the Balance of 

the Contract Price incurred by the Owner as a result of the 

Contractor Default; or 

5.4  Waive its right to perform and complete, arrange for 

completion, or obtain a new contractor, and with reasonable 

promptness under the circumstances: 

5.4.1  After investigation, determine the amount for 

which it may be liable to the Owner and, as soon as 

practicable after the amount is determined, make payment to 

the Owner; or 

5.4.2  Deny liability in whole or in part and notify the 

Owner, citing the reasons for denial. 

6. If the Surety does not proceed as provided in Paragraph 5 with 

reasonable promptness, the Surety shall be deemed to be in default on 

this Bond seven days after receipt of an additional written notice from 

the Owner to the Surety demanding that the Surety perform its 

obligations under this Bond, and the Owner shall be entitled to enforce 

any remedy available to the Owner.  If the Surety proceeds as provided 

in Paragraph 5.4, and the Owner refuses the payment or the Surety has 

denied liability, in whole or in part, without further notice the Owner 

shall be entitled to enforce any remedy available to the Owner. 

7. If the Surety elects to act under Paragraph 5.1, 5.2, or 5.3, then 

the responsibilities of the Surety to the Owner shall not be greater than 

those of the Contractor under the Construction Contract, and the 

responsibilities of the Owner to the Surety shall not be greater than 

those of the Owner under the Construction Contract.  Subject to the 

commitment by the Owner to pay the Balance of the Contract Price, 

the Surety is obligated, without duplication for: 

7.1  the responsibilities of the Contractor for correction of 

defective work and completion of the Construction Contract; 

7.2  additional legal, design professional, and delay costs 

resulting from the Contractor’s Default, and resulting from the 

actions or failure to act of the Surety under Paragraph 5; and 

7.3 liquidated damages, or if no liquidated damages are 

specified in the Construction Contract, actual damages caused by 

delayed performance or non-performance of the Contractor. 

8. If the Surety elects to act under Paragraph 5.1, 5.3, or 5.4, the 

Surety’s liability is limited to the amount of this Bond. 

9. The Surety shall not be liable to the Owner or others for 

obligations of the Contractor that are unrelated to the Construction 

Contract, and the Balance of the Contract Price shall not be reduced or 

set off on account of any such unrelated obligations.  No right of 

action shall accrue on this Bond to any person or entity other than the 

Owner or its heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns. 

10. The Surety hereby waives notice of any change, including 

changes of time, to the Construction Contract or to related 

subcontracts, purchase orders, and other obligations.  

11. Any proceeding, legal or equitable, under this Bond may be 

instituted in any court of competent jurisdiction in the location in 

which the work or part of the work is located and shall be instituted 

within two years after a declaration of Contractor Default or within 

two years after the Contractor ceased working or within two years 

after the Surety refuses or fails to perform its obligations under this 

Bond, whichever occurs first.  If the provisions of this paragraph are 

void or prohibited by law, the minimum periods of limitations 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 189 / 404



 

EJCDC C-610 – Performance Bond 

Published December 2010 by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee. 

Page 3 of 3 

available to sureties as a defense in the jurisdiction of the suit shall be 

applicable. 

12. Notice to the Surety, the Owner, or the Contractor shall be mailed 

or delivered to the address shown on the page on which their signature 

appears. 

13. When this Bond has been furnished to comply with a statutory or 

other legal requirement in the location where the construction was to 

be performed, any provision in this Bond conflicting with said 

statutory or legal requirement shall be deemed deleted herefrom and 

provisions conforming to such statutory or other legal requirement 

shall be deemed incorporated herein.  When so furnished, the intent is 

that this Bond shall be construed as a statutory bond and not as a 

common law bond. 

14. Definitions 

14.1  Balance of the Contract Price: The total amount payable 

by the Owner to the Contractor under the Construction Contract 

after all proper adjustments have been made including allowance 

for the Contractor for any amounts received or to be received by 

the Owner in settlement of insurance or other claims for damages 

to which the Contractor is entitled, reduced by all valid and 

proper payments made to or on behalf of the Contractor under the 

Construction Contract. 

14.2  Construction Contract: The agreement between the 

Owner and Contractor identified on the cover page, including all 

Contract Documents and changes made to the agreement and the 

Contract Documents. 

14.3  Contractor Default: Failure of the Contractor, which has 

not been remedied or waived, to perform or otherwise to comply 

with a material term of the Construction Contract. 

14.4  Owner Default: Failure of the Owner, which has not 

been remedied or waived, to pay the Contractor as required under 

the Construction Contract or to perform and complete or comply 

with the other material terms of the Construction Contract. 

14.5  Contract Documents: All the documents that comprise 

the agreement between the Owner and Contractor. 

15. If this Bond is issued for an agreement between a contractor and 

subcontractor, the term Contractor in this Bond shall be deemed to be 

Subcontractor and the term Owner shall be deemed to be Contractor. 

16. Modifications to this Bond are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 190 / 404



EJCDC C-615, Payment Bond 

Published December 2010 by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee. 

Page 1 of 3 

 

                                 PAYMENT BOND 

CONTRACTOR (name and address):  

 

 

 

SURETY (name and address of principal place of business): 

 

 

 

OWNER (name and address): 

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT 

Effective Date of the Agreement: 

Amount: 

Description (name and location): 

 

BOND 

Bond Number: 

Date (not earlier than the Effective Date of the Agreement of the Construction Contract): 

Amount: 

Modifications to this Bond Form:            None              See Paragraph 18 

 
  

Surety and Contractor, intending to be legally bound hereby, subject to the terms set forth below, do each cause 

this Payment Bond to be duly executed by an authorized officer, agent, or representative. 

CONTRACTOR AS PRINCIPAL SURETY 

  (seal)    (seal) 

Contractor’s Name and Corporate Seal  Surety’s Name and Corporate Seal 

 

By:     By:                                                                

 Signature  Signature (attach power of attorney) 

 

      

Print Name   Print Name 

 

      

Title   Title 

 

Attest:     Attest:    

 Signature   Signature  

 

        

Title   Title 

 

Notes:  (1) Provide supplemental execution by any additional parties, such as joint venturers. (2) Any singular reference 

to Contractor, Surety, Owner, or other party shall be considered plural where applicable. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 191 / 404



EJCDC C-615, Payment Bond 

Published December 2010 by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee. 

Page 2 of 3 

 

1. The Contractor and Surety, jointly and severally, bind 

themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, 

successors, and assigns to the Owner to pay for labor, 

materials, and equipment furnished for use in the 

performance of the Construction Contract, which is 

incorporated herein by reference, subject to the following 

terms. 

2. If the Contractor promptly makes payment of all sums due 

to Claimants, and defends, indemnifies, and holds harmless 

the Owner from claims, demands, liens, or suits by any 

person or entity seeking payment for labor, materials, or 

equipment furnished for use in the performance of the 

Construction Contract, then the Surety and the Contractor 

shall have no obligation under this Bond. 

3.  If there is no Owner Default under the Construction 

Contract, the Surety’s obligation to the Owner under this 

Bond shall arise after the Owner has promptly notified the 

Contractor and the Surety (at the address described in 

Paragraph 13) of claims, demands, liens, or suits against the 

Owner or the Owner’s property by any person or entity 

seeking payment for labor, materials, or equipment 

furnished for use in the performance of the Construction 

Contract, and tendered defense of such claims, demands, 

liens, or suits to the Contractor and the Surety. 

4. When the Owner has satisfied the conditions in Paragraph 

3, the Surety shall promptly and at the Surety’s expense 

defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the Owner against a 

duly tendered claim, demand, lien, or suit. 

5. The Surety’s obligations to a Claimant under this Bond 

shall arise after the following: 

5.1  Claimants who do not have a direct contract with 

the Contractor, 

 

5.1.1 have furnished a written notice of non-

payment to the Contractor, stating with 

substantial accuracy the amount claimed 

and the name of the party to whom the 

materials were, or equipment was, 

furnished or supplied or for whom the 

labor was done or performed, within ninety 

(90) days after having last performed labor 

or last furnished materials or equipment 

included in the Claim; and 

 

5.1.2 have sent a Claim to the Surety (at the 

address described in Paragraph 13). 

5.2  Claimants who are employed by or have a direct 

contract with the Contractor have sent a Claim to 

the Surety (at the address described in Paragraph 

13). 

6. If a notice of non-payment required by Paragraph 5.1.1 is 

given by the Owner to the Contractor, that is sufficient to 

satisfy a Claimant’s obligation to furnish a written notice of 

non-payment under Paragraph 5.1.1. 

7. When a Claimant has satisfied the conditions of Paragraph 

5.1 or 5.2, whichever is applicable, the Surety shall 

promptly and at the Surety’s expense take the following 

actions: 

7.1 Send an answer to the Claimant, with a copy to the 

Owner, within sixty (60) days after receipt of the 

Claim, stating the amounts that are undisputed and 

the basis for challenging any amounts that are 

disputed; and 

7.2 Pay or arrange for payment of any undisputed 

amounts. 

7.3 The Surety’s failure to discharge its obligations 

under Paragraph 7.1 or 7.2 shall not be deemed to 

constitute a waiver of defenses the Surety or 

Contractor may have or acquire as to a Claim, 

except as to undisputed amounts for which the 

Surety and Claimant have reached agreement.  If, 

however, the Surety fails to discharge its 

obligations under Paragraph 7.1 or 7.2, the Surety 

shall indemnify the Claimant for the reasonable 

attorney’s fees the Claimant incurs thereafter to 

recover any sums found to be due and owing to the 

Claimant. 

8. The Surety’s total obligation shall not exceed the amount of 

this Bond, plus the amount of reasonable attorney’s fees 

provided under Paragraph 7.3, and the amount of this Bond 

shall be credited for any payments made in good faith by 

the Surety. 

9.  Amounts owed by the Owner to the Contractor under the 

Construction Contract shall be used for the performance of 

the Construction Contract and to satisfy claims, if any, 

under any construction performance bond.  By the 

Contractor furnishing and the Owner accepting this Bond, 

they agree that all funds earned by the Contractor in the 

performance of the Construction Contract are dedicated to 

satisfy obligations of the Contractor and Surety under this 

Bond, subject to the Owner’s priority to use the funds for 

the completion of the work. 

10. The Surety shall not be liable to the Owner, Claimants, or 

others for obligations of the Contractor that are unrelated to 

the Construction Contract.  The Owner shall not be liable 

for the payment of any costs or expenses of any Claimant 

under this Bond, and shall have under this Bond no 

obligation to make payments to or give notice on behalf of 

Claimants, or otherwise have any obligations to Claimants 

under this Bond. 

11. The Surety hereby waives notice of any change, including 

changes of time, to the Construction Contract or to related 

subcontracts, purchase orders, and other obligations. 

12. No suit or action shall be commenced by a Claimant under 

this Bond other than in a court of competent jurisdiction in 

the state in which the project that is the subject of the 

Construction Contract is located or after the expiration of 

one year from the date (1) on which the Claimant sent a 

Claim to the Surety pursuant to Paragraph 5.1.2 or 5.2, or 

(2) on which the last labor or service was performed by 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 192 / 404



EJCDC C-615, Payment Bond 

Published December 2010 by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee. 

Page 3 of 3 

anyone or the last materials or equipment were furnished 

by anyone under the Construction Contract, whichever of 

(1) or (2) first occurs.  If the provisions of this paragraph 

are void or prohibited by law, the minimum period of 

limitation available to sureties as a defense in the 

jurisdiction of the suit shall be applicable. 

13. Notice and Claims to the Surety, the Owner, or the 

Contractor shall be mailed or delivered to the address 

shown on the page on which their signature appears.  

Actual receipt of notice or Claims, however accomplished, 

shall be sufficient compliance as of the date received. 

14. When this Bond has been furnished to comply with a 

statutory or other legal requirement in the location where 

the construction was to be performed, any provision in this 

Bond conflicting with said statutory or legal requirement 

shall be deemed deleted herefrom and provisions 

conforming to such statutory or other legal requirement 

shall be deemed incorporated herein.  When so furnished, 

the intent is that this Bond shall be construed as a statutory 

bond and not as a common law bond. 

15. Upon requests by any person or entity appearing to be a 

potential beneficiary of this Bond, the Contractor and 

Owner shall promptly furnish a copy of this Bond or shall 

permit a copy to be made. 

16. Definitions 

16.1  Claim: A written statement by the Claimant 

including at a minimum: 

1.  The name of the Claimant; 

2.  The name of the person for whom the labor 

was done, or materials or equipment furnished;  

3. A copy of the agreement or purchase order 

pursuant to which labor, materials, or 

equipment was furnished for use in the 

performance of the Construction Contract; 

4.  A brief description of the labor, materials, or 

equipment furnished; 

5.  The date on which the Claimant last performed 

labor or last furnished materials or equipment 

for use in the performance of the Construction 

Contract; 

6. The total amount earned by the Claimant for 

labor, materials, or equipment furnished as of 

the date of the Claim; 

7. The total amount of previous payments 

received by the Claimant; and 

8. The total amount due and unpaid to the 

Claimant for labor, materials, or equipment 

furnished as of the date of the Claim. 

16.2  Claimant: An individual or entity having a direct 

contract with the Contractor or with a subcontractor 

of the Contractor to furnish labor, materials, or 

equipment for use in the performance of the 

Construction Contract. The term Claimant also 

includes any individual or entity that has rightfully 

asserted a claim under an applicable mechanic’s 

lien or similar statute against the real property upon 

which the Project is located. The intent of this Bond 

shall be to include without limitation in the terms of 

“labor, materials, or equipment” that part of the 

water, gas, power, light, heat, oil, gasoline, 

telephone service, or rental equipment used in the 

Construction Contract, architectural and 

engineering services required for performance of 

the work of the Contractor and the Contractor’s 

subcontractors, and all other items for which a 

mechanic’s lien may be asserted in the jurisdiction 

where the labor, materials, or equipment were 

furnished. 

16.3  Construction Contract: The agreement between 

the Owner and Contractor identified on the cover 

page, including all Contract Documents and all 

changes made to the agreement and the Contract 

Documents. 

16.4  Owner Default: Failure of the Owner, which has 

not been remedied or waived, to pay the Contractor 

as required under the Construction Contract or to 

perform and complete or comply with the other 

material terms of the Construction Contract. 

16.5  Contract Documents: All the documents that 

comprise the agreement between the Owner and 

Contractor. 

17.  If this Bond is issued for an agreement between a 

contractor and subcontractor, the term Contractor in this 

Bond shall be deemed to be Subcontractor and the term 

Owner shall be deemed to be Contractor. 

18. Modifications to this Bond are as follows: 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 193 / 404



EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

 

This document has important legal consequences; consultation with an attorney is encouraged with respect to its 
use or modification. This document should be adapted to the particular circumstances of the contemplated 
Project and the controlling Laws and Regulations. 

 
 

STANDARD GENERAL CONDITIONS 
OF THE CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT 

 
Prepared by 

 
ENGINEERS JOINT CONTRACT DOCUMENTS COMMITTEE 

 
and 

 
Issued and Published Jointly by 

 

       
 

   
 
 

AMERICAN COUNCIL OF ENGINEERING COMPANIES 
______________________ 

 
ASSOCIATED GENERAL CONTRACTORS OF AMERICA 

______________________ 
 

AMERICAN SOCIETY OF CIVIL ENGINEERS 
_______________________ 

 
PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERS IN PRIVATE PRACTICE 

A Practice Division of the 
NATIONAL SOCIETY OF PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERS 

 
 

Endorsed by 

 
CONSTRUCTION SPECIFICATIONS INSTITUTE 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 194 / 404



EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

 

These General Conditions have been prepared for use with the Suggested Forms of Agreement Between 
Owner and Contractor (EJCDC C-520 or C-525, 2007 Editions). Their provisions are interrelated and a 
change in one may necessitate a change in the other. Comments concerning their usage are contained in the 
Narrative Guide to the EJCDC Construction Documents (EJCDC C-001, 2007 Edition). For guidance in 
the preparation of Supplementary Conditions, see Guide to the Preparation of Supplementary Conditions 
(EJCDC C-800, 2007 Edition). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers 

1420 King Street, Alexandria, VA 22314-2794 
(703) 684-2882 
www.nspe.org 

 
American Council of Engineering Companies 

1015 15th Street N.W., Washington, DC 20005 
(202) 347-7474 
www.acec.org 

 
American Society of Civil Engineers 

1801 Alexander Bell Drive, Reston, VA 20191-4400 
(800) 548-2723 
www.asce.org 

 
Associated General Contractors of America 

 2300 Wilson Boulevard, Suite 400, Arlington, VA   22201-3308 
(703) 548-3118 
www.agc.org 

 
 
 

The copyright for this EJCDC document is owned jointly by the four 
EJCDC sponsoring organizations and held in trust for their benefit by NSPE. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 195 / 404

http://www.nspe.org/�
http://www.acec.org/�
http://www.asce.org/�
http://www.agc.org/�


 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page i 

 

STANDARD GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE 
CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

Article 1 – Definitions and Terminology .......................................................................................................... 1 
1.01 Defined Terms ............................................................................................................................... 1 
1.02 Terminology .................................................................................................................................. 5 

Article 2 – Preliminary Matters ......................................................................................................................... 6 
2.01 Delivery of Bonds and Evidence of Insurance ............................................................................. 6 
2.02 Copies of Documents .................................................................................................................... 6 
2.03 Commencement of Contract Times; Notice to Proceed ............................................................... 6 
2.04 Starting the Work .......................................................................................................................... 7 
2.05 Before Starting Construction ........................................................................................................ 7 
2.06 Preconstruction Conference; Designation of Authorized Representatives .................................. 7 
2.07 Initial Acceptance of Schedules .................................................................................................... 7 

Article 3 – Contract Documents:  Intent, Amending, Reuse ............................................................................ 8 
3.01 Intent .............................................................................................................................................. 8 
3.02 Reference Standards ...................................................................................................................... 8 
3.03 Reporting and Resolving Discrepancies ....................................................................................... 9 
3.04 Amending and Supplementing Contract Documents ................................................................... 9 
3.05 Reuse of Documents ................................................................................................................... 10 
3.06 Electronic Data ............................................................................................................................ 10 

Article 4 – Availability of Lands; Subsurface and Physical Conditions; Hazardous Environmental 
Conditions; Reference Points ........................................................................................................... 11 

4.01 Availability of Lands ................................................................................................................... 11 
4.02 Subsurface and Physical Conditions ........................................................................................... 11 
4.03 Differing Subsurface or Physical Conditions ............................................................................. 12 
4.04 Underground Facilities ................................................................................................................ 13 
4.05 Reference Points .......................................................................................................................... 14 
4.06 Hazardous Environmental Condition at Site .............................................................................. 14 

Article 5 – Bonds and Insurance ...................................................................................................................... 16 
5.01 Performance, Payment, and Other Bonds ................................................................................... 16 
5.02 Licensed Sureties and Insurers .................................................................................................... 16 
5.03 Certificates of Insurance ............................................................................................................. 17 
5.04 Contractor’s Insurance ................................................................................................................ 17 
5.05 Owner’s Liability Insurance ........................................................................................................ 19 
5.06 Property Insurance ....................................................................................................................... 19 
5.07 Waiver of Rights ......................................................................................................................... 20 
5.08 Receipt and Application of Insurance Proceeds ......................................................................... 21 
5.09 Acceptance of Bonds and Insurance; Option to Replace ........................................................... 21 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 196 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page ii 

 

5.10 Partial Utilization, Acknowledgment of Property Insurer .......................................................... 22 

Article 6 – Contractor’s Responsibilities ........................................................................................................ 22 
6.01 Supervision and Superintendence ............................................................................................... 22 
6.02 Labor; Working Hours ................................................................................................................ 22 
6.03 Services, Materials, and Equipment ........................................................................................... 22 
6.04 Progress Schedule ....................................................................................................................... 23 
6.05 Substitutes and “Or-Equals” ....................................................................................................... 23 
6.06 Concerning Subcontractors, Suppliers, and Others .................................................................... 25 
6.07 Patent Fees and Royalties ........................................................................................................... 27 
6.08 Permits ......................................................................................................................................... 27 
6.09 Laws and Regulations ................................................................................................................. 28 
6.10 Taxes ........................................................................................................................................... 28 
6.11 Use of Site and Other Areas ........................................................................................................ 28 
6.12 Record Documents ...................................................................................................................... 29 
6.13 Safety and Protection .................................................................................................................. 29 
6.14 Safety Representative .................................................................................................................. 30 
6.15 Hazard Communication Programs.............................................................................................. 30 
6.16 Emergencies ................................................................................................................................ 30 
6.17 Shop Drawings and Samples ...................................................................................................... 31 
6.18 Continuing the Work ................................................................................................................... 32 
6.19 Contractor’s General Warranty and Guarantee .......................................................................... 33 
6.20 Indemnification ........................................................................................................................... 33 
6.21 Delegation of Professional Design Services ............................................................................... 34 

Article 7 – Other Work at the Site ................................................................................................................... 35 
7.01 Related Work at Site ................................................................................................................... 35 
7.02 Coordination ................................................................................................................................ 35 
7.03 Legal Relationships ..................................................................................................................... 36 

Article 8 – Owner’s Responsibilities ............................................................................................................... 36 
8.01 Communications to Contractor ................................................................................................... 36 
8.02 Replacement of Engineer ............................................................................................................ 36 
8.03 Furnish Data ................................................................................................................................ 36 
8.04 Pay When Due ............................................................................................................................. 36 
8.05 Lands and Easements; Reports and Tests ................................................................................... 36 
8.06 Insurance...................................................................................................................................... 36 
8.07 Change Orders ............................................................................................................................. 37 
8.08 Inspections, Tests, and Approvals .............................................................................................. 37 
8.09 Limitations on Owner’s Responsibilities ................................................................................... 37 
8.10 Undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition .................................................................... 37 
8.11 Evidence of Financial Arrangements .......................................................................................... 37 
8.12 Compliance with Safety Program ............................................................................................... 37 

Article 9 – Engineer’s Status During Construction ......................................................................................... 37 
9.01 Owner’s Representative .............................................................................................................. 37 
9.02 Visits to Site ................................................................................................................................ 37 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 197 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page iii 

 

9.03 Project Representative ................................................................................................................. 38 
9.04 Authorized Variations in Work .................................................................................................. 38 
9.05 Rejecting Defective Work ........................................................................................................... 38 
9.06 Shop Drawings, Change Orders and Payments .......................................................................... 39 
9.07 Determinations for Unit Price Work .......................................................................................... 39 
9.08 Decisions on Requirements of Contract Documents and Acceptability of Work ..................... 39 
9.09 Limitations on Engineer’s Authority and Responsibilities ........................................................ 39 
9.10 Compliance with Safety Program ............................................................................................... 40 

Article 10 – Changes in the Work; Claims ..................................................................................................... 40 
10.01 Authorized Changes in the Work ............................................................................................... 40 
10.02 Unauthorized Changes in the Work ............................................................................................ 41 
10.03 Execution of Change Orders ....................................................................................................... 41 
10.04 Notification to Surety .................................................................................................................. 41 
10.05 Claims .......................................................................................................................................... 41 

Article 11 – Cost of the Work; Allowances; Unit Price Work ....................................................................... 42 
11.01 Cost of the Work ......................................................................................................................... 42 
11.02 Allowances .................................................................................................................................. 45 
11.03 Unit Price Work .......................................................................................................................... 45 

Article 12 – Change of Contract Price; Change of Contract Times ............................................................... 46 
12.01 Change of Contract Price ............................................................................................................ 46 
12.02 Change of Contract Times .......................................................................................................... 47 
12.03 Delays .......................................................................................................................................... 47 

Article 13 – Tests and Inspections; Correction, Removal or Acceptance of Defective Work ....................... 48 
13.01 Notice of Defects ......................................................................................................................... 48 
13.02 Access to Work ........................................................................................................................... 48 
13.03 Tests and Inspections .................................................................................................................. 49 
13.04 Uncovering Work ........................................................................................................................ 49 
13.05 Owner May Stop the Work ......................................................................................................... 50 
13.06 Correction or Removal of Defective Work ................................................................................ 50 
13.07 Correction Period ........................................................................................................................ 50 
13.08 Acceptance of Defective Work ................................................................................................... 51 
13.09 Owner May Correct Defective Work ......................................................................................... 52 

Article 14 – Payments to Contractor and Completion .................................................................................... 52 
14.01 Schedule of Values ...................................................................................................................... 52 
14.02 Progress Payments ...................................................................................................................... 52 
14.03 Contractor’s Warranty of Title .................................................................................................... 55 
14.04 Substantial Completion ............................................................................................................... 55 
14.05 Partial Utilization ........................................................................................................................ 56 
14.06 Final Inspection ........................................................................................................................... 57 
14.07 Final Payment .............................................................................................................................. 57 
14.08 Final Completion Delayed .......................................................................................................... 58 
14.09 Waiver of Claims ........................................................................................................................ 58 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 198 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page iv 

 

Article 15 – Suspension of Work and Termination ........................................................................................ 59 
15.01 Owner May Suspend Work ......................................................................................................... 59 
15.02 Owner May Terminate for Cause ............................................................................................... 59 
15.03 Owner May Terminate For Convenience ................................................................................... 60 
15.04 Contractor May Stop Work or Terminate................................................................................... 60 

Article 16 – Dispute Resolution ...................................................................................................................... 61 
16.01 Methods and Procedures ............................................................................................................. 61 

Article 17 – Miscellaneous .............................................................................................................................. 61 
17.01 Giving Notice .............................................................................................................................. 61 
17.02 Computation of Times ................................................................................................................ 62 
17.03 Cumulative Remedies ................................................................................................................. 62 
17.04 Survival of Obligations ............................................................................................................... 62 
17.05 Controlling Law .......................................................................................................................... 62 
17.06 Headings ...................................................................................................................................... 62 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 199 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 1  of  62 
 

ARTICLE 1 – DEFINITIONS AND TERMINOLOGY 

1.01 Defined Terms 

A. Wherever used in the Bidding Requirements or Contract Documents and printed with initial 
capital letters, the terms listed below will have the meanings indicated which are applicable to 
both the singular and plural thereof. In addition to terms specifically defined, terms with initial 
capital letters in the Contract Documents include references to identified articles and paragraphs, 
and the titles of other documents or forms. 

1. Addenda—Written or graphic instruments issued prior to the opening of Bids which clarify, 
correct, or change the Bidding Requirements or the proposed Contract Documents. 

2. Agreement—The written instrument which is evidence of the agreement between Owner and 
Contractor covering the Work. 

3. Application for Payment—The form acceptable to Engineer which is to be used by Contractor 
during the course of the Work in requesting progress or final payments and which is to be 
accompanied by such supporting documentation as is required by the Contract Documents. 

4. Asbestos—Any material that contains more than one percent asbestos and is friable or is 
releasing asbestos fibers into the air above current action levels established by the United 
States Occupational Safety and Health Administration. 

5. Bid—The offer or proposal of a Bidder submitted on the prescribed form setting forth the 
prices for the Work to be performed. 

6. Bidder—The individual or entity who submits a Bid directly to Owner. 

7. Bidding Documents—The Bidding Requirements and the proposed Contract Documents 
(including all Addenda). 

8. Bidding Requirements—The advertisement or invitation to bid, Instructions to Bidders, Bid 
security of acceptable form, if any, and the Bid Form with any supplements. 

9. Change Order—A document recommended by Engineer which is signed by Contractor and 
Owner and authorizes an addition, deletion, or revision in the Work or an adjustment in the 
Contract Price or the Contract Times, issued on or after the Effective Date of the Agreement. 

10. Claim—A demand or assertion by Owner or Contractor seeking an adjustment of Contract 
Price or Contract Times, or both, or other relief with respect to the terms of the Contract. A 
demand for money or services by a third party is not a Claim. 

11. Contract—The entire and integrated written agreement between the Owner and Contractor 
concerning the Work. The Contract supersedes prior negotiations, representations, or 
agreements, whether written or oral. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 200 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 2  of  62 
 

12. Contract Documents—Those items so designated in the Agreement. Only printed or hard 
copies of the items listed in the Agreement are Contract Documents. Approved Shop 
Drawings, other Contractor submittals, and the reports and drawings of subsurface and 
physical conditions are not Contract Documents. 

13. Contract Price—The moneys payable by Owner to Contractor for completion of the Work in 
accordance with the Contract Documents as stated in the Agreement (subject to the 
provisions of Paragraph 11.03 in the case of Unit Price Work). 

14. Contract Times—The number of days or the dates stated in the Agreement to:  (i) achieve 
Milestones, if any; (ii) achieve Substantial Completion; and (iii) complete the Work so that it 
is ready for final payment as evidenced by Engineer’s written recommendation of final 
payment. 

15. Contractor—The individual or entity with whom Owner has entered into the Agreement. 

16. Cost of the Work—See Paragraph 11.01 for definition. 

17. Drawings—That part of the Contract Documents prepared or approved by Engineer which 
graphically shows the scope, extent, and character of the Work to be performed by 
Contractor. Shop Drawings and other Contractor submittals are not Drawings as so defined. 

18. Effective Date of the Agreement—The date indicated in the Agreement on which it becomes 
effective, but if no such date is indicated, it means the date on which the Agreement is signed 
and delivered by the last of the two parties to sign and deliver. 

19. Engineer—The individual or entity named as such in the Agreement. 

20. Field Order—A written order issued by Engineer which requires minor changes in the Work 
but which does not involve a change in the Contract Price or the Contract Times. 

21. General Requirements—Sections of Division 1 of the Specifications. 

22. Hazardous Environmental Condition—The presence at the Site of Asbestos, PCBs, 
Petroleum, Hazardous Waste, or Radioactive Material in such quantities or circumstances 
that may present a substantial danger to persons or property exposed thereto. 

23. Hazardous Waste—The term Hazardous Waste shall have the meaning provided in Section 
1004 of the Solid Waste Disposal Act (42 USC Section 6903) as amended from time to time. 

24. Laws and Regulations; Laws or Regulations—Any and all applicable laws, rules, regulations, 
ordinances, codes, and orders of any and all governmental bodies, agencies, authorities, and 
courts having jurisdiction. 

25. Liens—Charges, security interests, or encumbrances upon Project funds, real property, or 
personal property. 

26. Milestone—A principal event specified in the Contract Documents relating to an intermediate 
completion date or time prior to Substantial Completion of all the Work. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 201 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 3  of  62 
 

27. Notice of Award—The written notice by Owner to the Successful Bidder stating that upon 
timely compliance by the Successful Bidder with the conditions precedent listed therein, 
Owner will sign and deliver the Agreement. 

28. Notice to Proceed—A written notice given by Owner to Contractor fixing the date on which 
the Contract Times will commence to run and on which Contractor shall start to perform the 
Work under the Contract Documents. 

29. Owner—The individual or entity with whom Contractor has entered into the Agreement and 
for whom the Work is to be performed. 

30. PCBs—Polychlorinated biphenyls. 

31. Petroleum—Petroleum, including crude oil or any fraction thereof which is liquid at standard 
conditions of temperature and pressure (60 degrees Fahrenheit and 14.7 pounds per square 
inch absolute), such as oil, petroleum, fuel oil, oil sludge, oil refuse, gasoline, kerosene, and 
oil mixed with other non-Hazardous Waste and crude oils. 

32. Progress Schedule—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Contractor, describing the 
sequence and duration of the activities comprising the Contractor’s plan to accomplish the 
Work within the Contract Times. 

33. Project—The total construction of which the Work to be performed under the Contract 
Documents may be the whole, or a part. 

34. Project Manual—The bound documentary information prepared for bidding and constructing 
the Work. A listing of the contents of the Project Manual, which may be bound in one or 
more volumes, is contained in the table(s) of contents. 

35. Radioactive Material—Source, special nuclear, or byproduct material as defined by the 
Atomic Energy Act of 1954 (42 USC Section 2011 et seq.) as amended from time to time. 

36. Resident Project Representative—The authorized representative of Engineer who may be 
assigned to the Site or any part thereof. 

37. Samples—Physical examples of materials, equipment, or workmanship that are representative 
of some portion of the Work and which establish the standards by which such portion of the 
Work will be judged. 

38. Schedule of Submittals—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Contractor, of required 
submittals and the time requirements to support scheduled performance of related 
construction activities. 

39. Schedule of Values—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Contractor, allocating portions 
of the Contract Price to various portions of the Work and used as the basis for reviewing 
Contractor’s Applications for Payment. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 202 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 4  of  62 
 

40. Shop Drawings—All drawings, diagrams, illustrations, schedules, and other data or 
information which are specifically prepared or assembled by or for Contractor and submitted 
by Contractor to illustrate some portion of the Work. 

41. Site—Lands or areas indicated in the Contract Documents as being furnished by Owner upon 
which the Work is to be performed, including rights-of-way and easements for access thereto, 
and such other lands furnished by Owner which are designated for the use of Contractor. 

42. Specifications—That part of the Contract Documents consisting of written requirements for 
materials, equipment, systems, standards and workmanship as applied to the Work, and 
certain administrative requirements and procedural matters applicable thereto. 

43. Subcontractor—An individual or entity having a direct contract with Contractor or with any 
other Subcontractor for the performance of a part of the Work at the Site. 

44. Substantial Completion—The time at which the Work (or a specified part thereof) has 
progressed to the point where, in the opinion of Engineer, the Work (or a specified part 
thereof) is sufficiently complete, in accordance with the Contract Documents, so that the 
Work (or a specified part thereof) can be utilized for the purposes for which it is intended. 
The terms “substantially complete” and “substantially completed” as applied to all or part of 
the Work refer to Substantial Completion thereof. 

45. Successful Bidder—The Bidder submitting a responsive Bid to whom Owner makes an 
award. 

46. Supplementary Conditions—That part of the Contract Documents which amends or 
supplements these General Conditions. 

47. Supplier—A manufacturer, fabricator, supplier, distributor, materialman, or vendor having a 
direct contract with Contractor or with any Subcontractor to furnish materials or equipment to 
be incorporated in the Work by Contractor or Subcontractor. 

48. Underground Facilities—All underground pipelines, conduits, ducts, cables, wires, 
manholes, vaults, tanks, tunnels, or other such facilities or attachments, and any encasements 
containing such facilities, including those that convey electricity, gases, steam, liquid 
petroleum products, telephone or other communications, cable television, water, wastewater, 
storm water, other liquids or chemicals, or traffic or other control systems. 

49. Unit Price Work—Work to be paid for on the basis of unit prices. 

50. Work—The entire construction or the various separately identifiable parts thereof required to 
be provided under the Contract Documents. Work includes and is the result of performing or 
providing all labor, services, and documentation necessary to produce such construction, and 
furnishing, installing, and incorporating all materials and equipment into such construction, 
all as required by the Contract Documents. 

51. Work Change Directive—A written statement to Contractor issued on or after the Effective 
Date of the Agreement and signed by Owner and recommended by Engineer ordering an 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 203 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 5  of  62 
 

addition, deletion, or revision in the Work, or responding to differing or unforeseen 
subsurface or physical conditions under which the Work is to be performed or to 
emergencies. A Work Change Directive will not change the Contract Price or the Contract 
Times but is evidence that the parties expect that the change ordered or documented by a 
Work Change Directive will be incorporated in a subsequently issued Change Order 
following negotiations by the parties as to its effect, if any, on the Contract Price or Contract 
Times. 

1.02 Terminology 

A. The words and terms discussed in Paragraph 1.02.B through F are not defined but, when used in 
the Bidding Requirements or Contract Documents, have the indicated meaning. 

B. Intent of Certain Terms or Adjectives: 

1. The Contract Documents include the terms “as allowed,” “as approved,” “as ordered,” “as 
directed” or terms of like effect or import to authorize an exercise of professional judgment 
by Engineer. In addition, the adjectives “reasonable,” “suitable,” “acceptable,” “proper,” 
“satisfactory,” or adjectives of like effect or import are used to describe an action or 
determination of Engineer as to the Work. It is intended that such exercise of professional 
judgment, action, or determination will be solely to evaluate, in general, the Work for 
compliance with the information in the Contract Documents and with the design concept of 
the  Project as a functioning whole as shown or indicated in the Contract Documents (unless 
there is a specific statement indicating otherwise). The use of any such term or adjective is 
not intended to and shall not be effective to assign to Engineer any duty or authority to 
supervise or direct the performance of the Work, or any duty or authority to undertake 
responsibility contrary to the provisions of Paragraph 9.09 or any other provision of the 
Contract Documents. 

C. Day: 

1. The word “day” means a calendar day of 24 hours measured from midnight to the next 
midnight. 

D. Defective: 

1. The word “defective,” when modifying the word “Work,” refers to Work that is 
unsatisfactory, faulty, or deficient in that it: 

a. does not conform to the Contract Documents; or 

b. does not meet the requirements of any applicable inspection, reference standard, test, or 
approval referred to in the Contract Documents; or  

c. has been damaged prior to Engineer’s recommendation of final payment (unless 
responsibility for the protection thereof has been assumed by Owner at Substantial 
Completion in accordance with Paragraph 14.04 or 14.05). 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 204 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 6  of  62 
 

E. Furnish, Install, Perform, Provide: 

1. The word “furnish,” when used in connection with services, materials, or equipment, shall 
mean to supply and deliver said services, materials, or equipment to the Site (or some other 
specified location) ready for use or installation and in usable or operable condition. 

2. The word “install,” when used in connection with services, materials, or equipment, shall 
mean to put into use or place in final position said services, materials, or equipment complete 
and ready for intended use. 

3. The words “perform” or “provide,” when used in connection with services, materials, or 
equipment, shall mean to furnish and install said services, materials, or equipment complete 
and ready for intended use. 

4. When “furnish,” “install,” “perform,” or “provide” is not used in connection with services, 
materials, or equipment in a context clearly requiring an obligation of Contractor, “provide” 
is implied. 

F. Unless stated otherwise in the Contract Documents, words or phrases that have a well-known 
technical or construction industry or trade meaning are used in the Contract Documents in 
accordance with such recognized meaning. 

ARTICLE 2 – PRELIMINARY MATTERS 

2.01 Delivery of Bonds and Evidence of Insurance 

A. When Contractor delivers the executed counterparts of the Agreement to Owner, Contractor shall 
also deliver to Owner such bonds as Contractor may be required to furnish. 

B. Evidence of Insurance:  Before any Work at the Site is started, Contractor and Owner shall each 
deliver to the other, with copies to each additional insured identified in the Supplementary 
Conditions, certificates of insurance (and other evidence of insurance which either of them or any 
additional insured may reasonably request) which Contractor and Owner respectively are 
required to purchase and maintain in accordance with Article 5. 

2.02 Copies of Documents 

A. Owner shall furnish to Contractor up to ten printed or hard copies of the Drawings and Project 
Manual. Additional copies will be furnished upon request at the cost of reproduction. 

2.03 Commencement of Contract Times; Notice to Proceed 

A. The Contract Times will commence to run on the thirtieth day after the Effective Date of the 
Agreement or, if a Notice to Proceed is given, on the day indicated in the Notice to Proceed. A 
Notice to Proceed may be given at any time within 30 days after the Effective Date of the 
Agreement. In no event will the Contract Times commence to run later than the sixtieth day after 
the day of Bid opening or the thirtieth day after the Effective Date of the Agreement, whichever 
date is earlier. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 205 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 7  of  62 
 

2.04 Starting the Work 

A. Contractor shall start to perform the Work on the date when the Contract Times commence to 
run. No Work shall be done at the Site prior to the date on which the Contract Times commence 
to run. 

2.05 Before Starting Construction 

A. Preliminary Schedules: Within 10 days after the Effective Date of the Agreement (unless 
otherwise specified in the General Requirements), Contractor shall submit to Engineer for timely 
review: 

1. a preliminary Progress Schedule indicating the times (numbers of days or dates) for starting 
and completing the various stages of the Work, including any Milestones specified in the 
Contract Documents; 

2. a preliminary Schedule of Submittals; and 

3. a preliminary Schedule of Values for all of the Work which includes quantities and prices of 
items which when added together equal the Contract Price and subdivides the Work into 
component parts in sufficient detail to serve as the basis for progress payments during 
performance of the Work. Such prices will include an appropriate amount of overhead and 
profit applicable to each item of Work. 

2.06 Preconstruction Conference; Designation of Authorized Representatives 

A. Before any Work at the Site is started, a conference attended by Owner, Contractor, Engineer, 
and others as appropriate will be held to establish a working understanding among the parties as 
to the Work and to discuss the schedules referred to in Paragraph 2.05.A, procedures for handling 
Shop Drawings and other submittals, processing Applications for Payment, and maintaining 
required records. 

B. At this conference Owner and Contractor each shall designate, in writing, a specific individual to 
act as its authorized representative with respect to the services and responsibilities under the 
Contract.  Such individuals shall have the authority to transmit instructions, receive information, 
render decisions relative to the Contract, and otherwise act on behalf of each respective party. 

2.07 Initial Acceptance of Schedules 

A. At least 10 days before submission of the first Application for Payment a conference attended by 
Contractor, Engineer, and others as appropriate will be held to review for acceptability to 
Engineer as provided below the schedules submitted in accordance with Paragraph 2.05.A. 
Contractor shall have an additional 10 days to make corrections and adjustments and to complete 
and resubmit the schedules. No progress payment shall be made to Contractor until acceptable 
schedules are submitted to Engineer. 

1. The Progress Schedule will be acceptable to Engineer if it provides an orderly progression of 
the Work to completion within the Contract Times. Such acceptance will not impose on 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 206 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 8  of  62 
 

Engineer responsibility for the Progress Schedule, for sequencing, scheduling, or progress of 
the Work, nor interfere with or relieve Contractor from Contractor’s full responsibility 
therefor. 

2. Contractor’s Schedule of Submittals will be acceptable to Engineer if it provides a workable 
arrangement for reviewing and processing the required submittals. 

3. Contractor’s Schedule of Values will be acceptable to Engineer as to form and substance if it 
provides a reasonable allocation of the Contract Price to component parts of the Work. 

ARTICLE 3 – CONTRACT DOCUMENTS:  INTENT, AMENDING, REUSE 

3.01 Intent 

A. The Contract Documents are complementary; what is required by one is as binding as if required 
by all. 

B. It is the intent of the Contract Documents to describe a functionally complete project (or part 
thereof) to be constructed in accordance with the Contract Documents. Any labor, 
documentation, services, materials, or equipment that reasonably may be inferred from the 
Contract Documents or from prevailing custom or trade usage as being required to produce the 
indicated result will be provided whether or not specifically called for, at no additional cost to 
Owner. 

C. Clarifications and interpretations of the Contract Documents shall be issued by Engineer as 
provided in Article 9. 

3.02 Reference Standards 

A. Standards, Specifications, Codes, Laws, and Regulations 

1. Reference to standards, specifications, manuals, or codes of any technical society, 
organization, or association, or to Laws or Regulations, whether such reference be specific or 
by implication, shall mean the standard, specification, manual, code, or Laws or Regulations 
in effect at the time of opening of Bids (or on the Effective Date of the Agreement if there 
were no Bids), except as may be otherwise specifically stated in the Contract Documents. 

2. No provision of any such standard, specification, manual, or code, or any instruction of a 
Supplier, shall be effective to change the duties or responsibilities of Owner, Contractor, or 
Engineer, or any of their subcontractors, consultants, agents, or employees, from those set 
forth in the Contract Documents. No such provision or instruction shall be effective to assign 
to Owner, Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, partners,  employees, agents, 
consultants, or subcontractors, any duty or authority to supervise or direct the performance of 
the Work or any duty or authority to undertake responsibility inconsistent with the provisions 
of the Contract Documents. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 207 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 9  of  62 
 

3.03 Reporting and Resolving Discrepancies 

A. Reporting Discrepancies: 

1. Contractor’s Review of Contract Documents Before Starting Work:  Before undertaking each 
part of the Work, Contractor shall carefully study and compare the Contract Documents and 
check and verify pertinent figures therein and all applicable field measurements. Contractor 
shall promptly report in writing to Engineer any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy 
which Contractor discovers, or has actual knowledge of, and shall obtain a written 
interpretation or clarification from Engineer before proceeding with any Work affected 
thereby. 

2. Contractor’s Review of Contract Documents During Performance of Work:  If, during the 
performance of the Work, Contractor discovers any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy 
within the Contract Documents, or between the Contract Documents and (a) any applicable 
Law or Regulation , (b) any standard, specification, manual, or code, or (c) any instruction of 
any Supplier, then Contractor shall promptly report it to Engineer in writing. Contractor shall 
not proceed with the Work affected thereby (except in an emergency as required by Paragraph 
6.16.A) until an amendment or supplement to the Contract Documents has been issued by 
one of the methods indicated in Paragraph 3.04. 

3. Contractor shall not be liable to Owner or Engineer for failure to report any conflict, error, 
ambiguity, or discrepancy in the Contract Documents unless Contractor had actual 
knowledge thereof. 

B. Resolving Discrepancies: 

1. Except as may be otherwise specifically stated in the Contract Documents, the provisions of 
the Contract Documents shall take precedence in resolving any conflict, error, ambiguity, or 
discrepancy between the provisions of the Contract Documents and: 

a. the provisions of any standard, specification, manual, or code, or the instruction of any 
Supplier (whether or not specifically incorporated by reference in the Contract 
Documents); or 

b. the provisions of any Laws or Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work 
(unless such an interpretation of the provisions of the Contract Documents would result in 
violation of such Law or Regulation). 

3.04 Amending and Supplementing Contract Documents 

A. The Contract Documents may be amended to provide for additions, deletions, and revisions in 
the Work or to modify the terms and conditions thereof by either a Change Order or a Work 
Change Directive. 

B. The requirements of the Contract Documents may be supplemented, and minor variations and 
deviations in the Work may be authorized, by one or more of the following ways: 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 208 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 10  of  62 
 

1. A Field Order;  

2. Engineer’s approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample (subject to the provisions of Paragraph 
6.17.D.3); or  

3. Engineer’s written interpretation or clarification. 

3.05 Reuse of Documents 

A. Contractor and any Subcontractor or Supplier shall not: 

1. have or acquire any title to or ownership rights in any of the Drawings, Specifications, or 
other documents (or copies of any thereof) prepared by or bearing the seal of Engineer or its 
consultants, including electronic media editions; or  

2. reuse any such Drawings, Specifications, other documents, or copies thereof on extensions of 
the Project or any other project without written consent of Owner and Engineer and specific 
written verification or adaptation by Engineer. 

B. The prohibitions of this Paragraph 3.05 will survive final payment, or termination of the 
Contract. Nothing herein shall preclude Contractor from retaining copies of the Contract 
Documents for record purposes. 

3.06 Electronic Data 

A. Unless otherwise stated in the Supplementary Conditions, the data furnished by Owner or 
Engineer to Contractor, or by Contractor to Owner or Engineer, that may be relied upon are 
limited to the printed copies (also known as hard copies). Files in electronic media format of text, 
data, graphics, or other types are furnished only for the convenience of the receiving party. Any 
conclusion or information obtained or derived from such electronic files will be at the user’s sole 
risk. If there is a discrepancy between the electronic files and the hard copies, the hard copies 
govern. 

B. Because data stored in electronic media format can deteriorate or be modified inadvertently or 
otherwise without authorization of the data’s creator, the party receiving electronic files agrees 
that it will perform acceptance tests or procedures within 60 days, after which the receiving party 
shall be deemed to have accepted the data thus transferred. Any errors detected within the 60-day 
acceptance period will be corrected by the transferring party. 

C. When transferring documents in electronic media format, the transferring party makes no 
representations as to long term compatibility, usability, or readability of documents resulting 
from the use of software application packages, operating systems, or computer hardware differing 
from those used by the data’s creator. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 209 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 11  of  62 
 

ARTICLE 4 – AVAILABILITY OF LANDS; SUBSURFACE AND PHYSICAL CONDITIONS; 
HAZARDOUS ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS; REFERENCE POINTS 

4.01 Availability of Lands 

A. Owner shall furnish the Site. Owner shall notify Contractor of any encumbrances or restrictions 
not of general application but specifically related to use of the Site with which Contractor must 
comply in performing the Work. Owner will obtain in a timely manner and pay for easements for 
permanent structures or permanent changes in existing facilities. If Contractor and Owner are 
unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any adjustment in the 
Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, as a result of any delay in Owner’s furnishing the Site 
or a part thereof, Contractor may make a Claim therefor as provided in Paragraph 10.05. 

B. Upon reasonable written request, Owner shall furnish Contractor with a current statement of 
record legal title and legal description of the lands upon which the Work is to be performed and 
Owner’s interest therein as necessary for giving notice of or filing a mechanic’s or construction 
lien against such lands in accordance with applicable Laws and Regulations. 

C. Contractor shall provide for all additional lands and access thereto that may be required for 
temporary construction facilities or storage of materials and equipment. 

4.02 Subsurface and Physical Conditions 

A. Reports and Drawings:  The Supplementary Conditions identify: 

1. those reports known to Owner of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or 
contiguous to the Site;  and 

2. those drawings known to Owner of physical conditions relating to existing surface or 
subsurface structures at the Site (except Underground Facilities). 

B. Limited Reliance by Contractor on Technical Data Authorized:  Contractor may rely upon the 
accuracy of the “technical data” contained in such reports and drawings, but such reports and 
drawings are not Contract Documents. Such “technical data” is identified in the Supplementary 
Conditions. Except for such reliance on such “technical data,” Contractor may not rely upon or 
make any claim against Owner or Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, partners, 
employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors with respect to: 

1. the completeness of such reports and drawings for Contractor’s purposes, including, but not 
limited to, any aspects of the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of 
construction to be employed by Contractor, and safety precautions and programs incident 
thereto; or 

2. other data, interpretations, opinions, and information contained in such reports or shown or 
indicated in such drawings; or 

3. any Contractor interpretation of or conclusion drawn from any “technical data” or any such 
other data, interpretations, opinions, or information. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 210 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 12  of  62 
 

4.03 Differing Subsurface or Physical Conditions 

A. Notice:  If Contractor believes that any subsurface or physical condition that is uncovered or 
revealed either: 

1. is of such a nature as to establish that any “technical data” on which Contractor is entitled to 
rely as provided in Paragraph 4.02 is materially inaccurate; or 

2. is of such a nature as to require a change in the Contract Documents; or 

3. differs materially from that shown or indicated in the Contract Documents; or  

4. is of an unusual nature, and differs materially from conditions ordinarily encountered and 
generally recognized as inherent in work of the character provided for in the Contract 
Documents; 

then Contractor shall, promptly after becoming aware thereof and before further disturbing the 
subsurface or physical conditions or performing any Work in connection therewith (except in an 
emergency as required by Paragraph 6.16.A), notify Owner and Engineer in writing about such 
condition. Contractor shall not further disturb such condition or perform any Work in connection 
therewith (except as aforesaid) until receipt of written order to do so. 

B. Engineer’s Review: After receipt of written notice as required by Paragraph 4.03.A, Engineer will 
promptly review the pertinent condition, determine the necessity of Owner’s obtaining additional 
exploration or tests with respect thereto, and advise Owner in writing (with a copy to Contractor) 
of Engineer’s findings and conclusions. 

C. Possible Price and Times Adjustments: 

1. The Contract Price or the Contract Times, or both, will be equitably adjusted to the extent 
that the existence of such differing subsurface or physical condition causes an increase or 
decrease in Contractor’s cost of, or time required for, performance of the Work; subject, 
however, to the following: 

a. such condition must meet any one or more of the categories described in Paragraph 
4.03.A; and 

b. with respect to Work that is paid for on a unit price basis, any adjustment in Contract 
Price will be subject to the provisions of Paragraphs 9.07 and 11.03. 

2. Contractor shall not be entitled to any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times if: 

a. Contractor knew of the existence of such conditions at the time Contractor made a final 
commitment to Owner with respect to Contract Price and Contract Times by the 
submission of a Bid or becoming bound under a negotiated contract; or 

b. the existence of such condition could reasonably have been discovered or revealed as a 
result of any examination, investigation, exploration, test, or study of the Site and 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 211 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 13  of  62 
 

contiguous areas required by the Bidding Requirements or Contract Documents to be 
conducted by or for Contractor prior to Contractor’s making such final commitment; or 

c. Contractor failed to give the written notice as required by Paragraph 4.03.A. 

3. If Owner and Contractor are unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if 
any, of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, a Claim may be 
made therefor as provided in Paragraph 10.05. However, neither Owner or Engineer, or any 
of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or 
subcontractors shall be liable to Contractor for any claims, costs, losses, or damages 
(including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other 
professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) sustained by 
Contractor on or in connection with any other project or anticipated project. 

4.04 Underground Facilities 

A. Shown or Indicated:  The information and data shown or indicated in the Contract Documents 
with respect to existing Underground Facilities at or contiguous to the Site is based on 
information and data furnished to Owner or Engineer by the owners of such Underground 
Facilities, including Owner, or by others. Unless it is otherwise expressly provided in the 
Supplementary Conditions: 

1. Owner and Engineer shall not be responsible for the accuracy or completeness of any such 
information or data provided by others; and 

2. the cost of all of the following will be included in the Contract Price, and Contractor shall 
have full responsibility for: 

a. reviewing and checking all such information and data; 

b. locating all Underground Facilities shown or indicated in the Contract Documents; 

c. coordination of the Work with the owners of such Underground Facilities, including 
Owner, during construction; and  

d. the safety and protection of all such Underground Facilities and repairing any damage 
thereto resulting from the Work. 

B. Not Shown or Indicated: 

1. If an Underground Facility is uncovered or revealed at or contiguous to the Site which was 
not shown or indicated, or not shown or indicated with reasonable accuracy in the Contract 
Documents, Contractor shall, promptly after becoming aware thereof and before further 
disturbing conditions affected thereby or performing any Work in connection therewith 
(except in an emergency as required by Paragraph 6.16.A), identify the owner of such 
Underground Facility and give written notice to that owner and to Owner and Engineer. 
Engineer will promptly review the Underground Facility and determine the extent, if any, to 
which a change is required in the Contract Documents to reflect and document the 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 212 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 14  of  62 
 

consequences of the existence or location of the Underground Facility. During such time, 
Contractor shall be responsible for the safety and protection of such Underground Facility. 

2. If Engineer concludes that a change in the Contract Documents is required, a Work Change 
Directive or a Change Order will be issued to reflect and document such consequences. An 
equitable adjustment shall be made in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, to the 
extent that they are attributable to the existence or location of any Underground Facility that 
was not shown or indicated or not shown or indicated with reasonable accuracy in the 
Contract Documents and that Contractor did not know of and could not reasonably have been 
expected to be aware of or to have anticipated. If Owner and Contractor are unable to agree 
on entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any such adjustment in Contract Price 
or Contract Times, Owner or Contractor may make a Claim therefor as provided in Paragraph 
10.05. 

4.05 Reference Points 

A. Owner shall provide engineering surveys to establish reference points for construction which in 
Engineer’s judgment are necessary to enable Contractor to proceed with the Work. Contractor 
shall be responsible for laying out the Work, shall protect and preserve the established reference 
points and property monuments, and shall make no changes or relocations without the prior 
written approval of Owner. Contractor shall report to Engineer whenever any reference point or 
property monument is lost or destroyed or requires relocation because of necessary changes in 
grades or locations, and shall be responsible for the accurate replacement or relocation of such 
reference points or property monuments by professionally qualified personnel. 

4.06 Hazardous Environmental Condition at Site 

A. Reports and Drawings:  The Supplementary Conditions identify those reports and drawings 
known to Owner relating to Hazardous Environmental Conditions that have been identified at the 
Site. 

B. Limited Reliance by Contractor on Technical Data Authorized:  Contractor may rely upon the 
accuracy of the “technical data” contained in such reports and drawings, but such reports and 
drawings are not Contract Documents. Such “technical data” is identified in the Supplementary 
Conditions. Except for such reliance on such “technical data,” Contractor may not rely upon or 
make any claim against Owner or Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, partners, 
employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors with respect to: 

1. the completeness of such reports and drawings for Contractor’s purposes, including, but not 
limited to, any aspects of the means, methods, techniques, sequences and procedures of 
construction to be employed by Contractor and safety precautions and programs incident 
thereto; or 

2. other data, interpretations, opinions and information contained in such reports or shown or 
indicated in such drawings; or 

3. any Contractor interpretation of or conclusion drawn from any “technical data” or any such 
other data, interpretations, opinions or information. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 213 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 15  of  62 
 

C. Contractor shall not be responsible for any Hazardous Environmental Condition uncovered or 
revealed at the Site which was not shown or indicated in Drawings or Specifications or identified 
in the Contract Documents to be within the scope of the Work. Contractor shall be responsible 
for a Hazardous Environmental Condition created with any materials brought to the Site by 
Contractor, Subcontractors, Suppliers, or anyone else for whom Contractor is responsible. 

D. If Contractor encounters a Hazardous Environmental Condition or if Contractor or anyone for 
whom Contractor is responsible creates a Hazardous Environmental Condition, Contractor shall 
immediately:  (i) secure or otherwise isolate such condition; (ii) stop all Work in connection with 
such condition and in any area affected thereby (except in an emergency as required by Paragraph 
6.16.A); and (iii) notify Owner and Engineer (and promptly thereafter confirm such notice in 
writing). Owner shall promptly consult with Engineer concerning the necessity for Owner to 
retain a qualified expert to evaluate such condition or take corrective action, if any.  Promptly 
after consulting with Engineer, Owner shall take such actions as are necessary to permit Owner to 
timely obtain required permits and provide Contractor the written notice required by Paragraph 
4.06.E. 

E. Contractor shall not be required to resume Work in connection with such condition or in any 
affected area until after Owner has obtained any required permits related thereto and delivered 
written notice to Contractor:  (i) specifying that such condition and any affected area is or has 
been rendered safe for the resumption of Work; or (ii) specifying any special conditions under 
which such Work may be resumed safely. If Owner and Contractor cannot agree as to entitlement 
to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times, or 
both, as a result of such Work stoppage or such special conditions under which Work is agreed to 
be resumed by Contractor, either party may make a Claim therefor as provided in Paragraph 
10.05. 

F. If after receipt of such written notice Contractor does not agree to resume such Work based on a 
reasonable belief it is unsafe, or does not agree to resume such Work under such special 
conditions, then Owner may order the portion of the Work that is in the area affected by such 
condition to be deleted from the Work. If Owner and Contractor cannot agree as to entitlement to 
or on the amount or extent, if any, of an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times as a 
result of deleting such portion of the Work, then either party may make a Claim therefor as 
provided in Paragraph 10.05. Owner may have such deleted portion of the Work performed by 
Owner’s own forces or others in accordance with Article 7. 

G. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Owner shall indemnify and hold 
harmless Contractor, Subcontractors, and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, 
partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them from and 
against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of 
engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other 
dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to a Hazardous Environmental Condition, 
provided that such Hazardous Environmental Condition:  (i) was not shown or indicated in the 
Drawings or Specifications or identified in the Contract Documents to be included within the 
scope of the Work, and (ii) was not created by Contractor or by anyone for whom Contractor is 
responsible. Nothing in this Paragraph 4.06.G shall obligate Owner to indemnify any individual 
or entity from and against the consequences of that individual’s or entity’s own negligence. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 214 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 16  of  62 
 

H. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Contractor shall indemnify and hold 
harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, 
consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, 
and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, 
and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of 
or relating to a Hazardous Environmental Condition created by Contractor or by anyone for 
whom Contractor is responsible. Nothing in this Paragraph 4.06.H shall obligate Contractor to 
indemnify any individual or entity from and against the consequences of that individual’s or 
entity’s own negligence. 

I. The provisions of Paragraphs 4.02, 4.03, and 4.04 do not apply to a Hazardous Environmental 
Condition uncovered or revealed at the Site. 

ARTICLE 5 – BONDS AND INSURANCE 

5.01 Performance, Payment, and Other Bonds 

A. Contractor shall furnish performance and payment bonds, each in an amount at least equal to the 
Contract Price as security for the faithful performance and payment of all of Contractor’s 
obligations under the Contract Documents. These bonds shall remain in effect until one year after 
the date when final payment becomes due or until completion of the correction period specified 
in Paragraph 13.07, whichever is later, except as provided otherwise by Laws or Regulations or 
by the Contract Documents. Contractor shall also furnish such other bonds as are required by the 
Contract Documents. 

B. All bonds shall be in the form prescribed by the Contract Documents except as provided 
otherwise by Laws or Regulations, and shall be executed by such sureties as are named in the list 
of “Companies Holding Certificates of Authority as Acceptable Sureties on Federal Bonds and as 
Acceptable Reinsuring Companies” as published in Circular 570 (amended) by the Financial 
Management Service, Surety Bond Branch, U.S. Department of the Treasury. All bonds signed 
by an agent or attorney-in-fact must be accompanied by a certified copy of that individual’s 
authority to bind the surety.  The evidence of authority shall show that it is effective on the date 
the agent or attorney-in-fact signed each bond. 

C. If the surety on any bond furnished by Contractor is declared bankrupt or becomes insolvent or its 
right to do business is terminated in any state where any part of the Project is located or it ceases 
to meet the requirements of Paragraph 5.01.B, Contractor shall promptly notify Owner and 
Engineer and shall, within 20 days after the event giving rise to such notification, provide another 
bond and surety, both of which shall comply with the requirements of Paragraphs 5.01.B and 
5.02. 

5.02 Licensed Sureties and Insurers 

A. All bonds and insurance required by the Contract Documents to be purchased and maintained by 
Owner or Contractor shall be obtained from surety or insurance companies that are duly licensed 
or authorized in the jurisdiction in which the Project is located to issue bonds or insurance 
policies for the limits and coverages so required. Such surety and insurance companies shall also 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 215 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 17  of  62 
 

meet such additional requirements and qualifications as may be provided in the Supplementary 
Conditions. 

5.03 Certificates of Insurance 

A. Contractor shall deliver to Owner, with copies to each additional insured and loss payee 
identified in the Supplementary Conditions, certificates of insurance (and other evidence of 
insurance requested by Owner or any other additional insured) which Contractor is required to 
purchase and maintain. 

B. Owner shall deliver to Contractor, with copies to each additional insured and loss payee 
identified in the Supplementary Conditions, certificates of insurance (and other evidence of 
insurance requested by Contractor or any other additional insured) which Owner is required to 
purchase and maintain. 

C. Failure of Owner to demand such certificates or other evidence of Contractor's full compliance 
with these insurance requirements or failure of Owner to identify a deficiency in compliance from 
the evidence provided shall not be construed as a waiver of Contractor’s obligation to maintain 
such insurance. 

D. Owner does not represent that insurance coverage and limits established in this Contract 
necessarily will be adequate to protect Contractor. 

E. The insurance and insurance limits required herein shall not be deemed as a limitation on 
Contractor’s liability under the indemnities granted to Owner in the Contract Documents. 

5.04 Contractor’s Insurance 

A. Contractor shall purchase and maintain such insurance as is appropriate for the Work being 
performed and as will provide protection from claims set forth below which may arise out of or 
result from Contractor’s performance of the Work and Contractor’s other obligations under the 
Contract Documents, whether it is to be performed by Contractor, any Subcontractor or Supplier, 
or by anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the Work, or by 
anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable: 

1. claims under workers’ compensation, disability benefits, and other similar employee benefit 
acts; 

2. claims for damages because of bodily injury, occupational sickness or disease, or death of 
Contractor’s employees; 

3. claims for damages because of bodily injury, sickness or disease, or death of any person other 
than Contractor’s employees; 

4. claims for damages insured by reasonably available personal injury liability coverage which 
are sustained: 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 216 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 18  of  62 
 

a. by any person as a result of an offense directly or indirectly related to the employment of 
such person by Contractor, or  

b. by any other person for any other reason; 

5. claims for damages, other than to the Work itself, because of injury to or destruction of 
tangible property wherever located, including loss of use resulting therefrom; and 

6. claims for damages because of bodily injury or death of any person or property damage 
arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use of any motor vehicle. 

B. The policies of insurance required by this Paragraph 5.04 shall: 

1. with respect to insurance required by Paragraphs 5.04.A.3 through 5.04.A.6 inclusive,  be 
written on an occurrence basis, include as additional insureds (subject to any customary 
exclusion regarding professional liability) Owner and Engineer, and any other individuals or 
entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions, all of whom shall be listed as additional 
insureds, and include coverage for the respective officers, directors, members, partners, 
employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of all such additional 
insureds, and the insurance afforded to these additional insureds shall provide primary 
coverage for all claims covered thereby; 

2. include at least the specific coverages and be written for not less than the limits of liability 
provided in the Supplementary Conditions or required by Laws or Regulations, whichever is 
greater; 

3. include contractual liability insurance covering Contractor’s indemnity obligations under 
Paragraphs 6.11 and 6.20; 

4. contain a provision or endorsement that the coverage afforded will not be canceled, materially 
changed or renewal refused until at least 30 days prior written notice has been given to Owner 
and Contractor and to each other additional insured identified in the Supplementary 
Conditions to whom a certificate of insurance has been issued (and the certificates of 
insurance furnished by the Contractor pursuant to Paragraph 5.03 will so provide); 

5. remain in effect at least until final payment and at all times thereafter when Contractor may 
be correcting, removing, or replacing defective Work in accordance with Paragraph 13.07; 
and 

6. include completed operations coverage:   

a. Such insurance shall remain in effect for two years after final payment. 

b. Contractor shall furnish Owner and each other additional insured identified in the 
Supplementary Conditions, to whom a certificate of insurance has been issued, evidence 
satisfactory to Owner and any such additional insured of continuation of such insurance at 
final payment and one year thereafter.   

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 217 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 19  of  62 
 

5.05 Owner’s Liability Insurance 

A. In addition to the insurance required to be provided by Contractor under Paragraph 5.04, Owner, 
at Owner’s option, may purchase and maintain at Owner’s expense Owner’s own liability 
insurance as will protect Owner against claims which may arise from operations under the 
Contract Documents. 

5.06 Property Insurance 

A. Unless otherwise provided in the Supplementary Conditions, Owner shall purchase and maintain 
property insurance upon the Work at the Site in the amount of the full replacement cost thereof 
(subject to such deductible amounts as may be provided in the Supplementary Conditions or 
required by Laws and Regulations). This insurance shall: 

1. include the interests of Owner, Contractor, Subcontractors, and Engineer, and any other 
individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions, and the officers, directors, 
members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of 
them, each of whom is deemed to have an insurable interest and shall be listed as a loss 
payee; 

2. be written on a Builder’s Risk “all-risk” policy form that shall at least include insurance for 
physical loss or damage to the Work, temporary buildings, falsework, and materials and 
equipment in transit, and shall insure against at least the following perils or causes of loss:  
fire, lightning, extended coverage, theft, vandalism and malicious mischief, earthquake, 
collapse, debris removal, demolition occasioned by enforcement of Laws and Regulations, 
water damage (other than that caused by flood), and such other perils or causes of loss as may 
be specifically required by the Supplementary Conditions. 

3. include expenses incurred in the repair or replacement of any insured property (including but 
not limited to fees and charges of engineers and architects); 

4. cover materials and equipment stored at the Site or at another location that was agreed to in 
writing by Owner prior to being incorporated in the Work, provided that such materials and 
equipment have been included in an Application for Payment recommended by Engineer; 

5. allow for partial utilization of the Work by Owner; 

6. include testing and startup; and 

7. be maintained in effect until final payment is made unless otherwise agreed to in writing by 
Owner, Contractor, and Engineer with 30 days written notice to each other loss payee to 
whom a certificate of insurance has been issued. 

B. Owner shall purchase and maintain such equipment breakdown insurance or additional property 
insurance as may be required by the Supplementary Conditions or Laws and Regulations which 
will include the interests of Owner, Contractor, Subcontractors, and Engineer, and any other 
individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions, and the officers, directors, 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 218 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 20  of  62 
 

members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them, 
each of whom is deemed to have an insurable interest and shall be listed as a loss payee.   

C. All the policies of insurance (and the certificates or other evidence thereof) required to be 
purchased and maintained in accordance with this Paragraph 5.06 will contain a provision or 
endorsement that the coverage afforded will not be canceled or materially changed or renewal 
refused until at least 30 days prior written notice has been given to Owner and Contractor and to 
each other loss payee to whom a certificate of insurance has been issued and will contain waiver 
provisions in accordance with Paragraph 5.07. 

D. Owner shall not be responsible for purchasing and maintaining any property insurance specified 
in this Paragraph 5.06 to protect the interests of Contractor, Subcontractors, or others in the Work 
to the extent of any deductible amounts that are identified in the Supplementary Conditions. The 
risk of loss within such identified deductible amount will be borne by Contractor, Subcontractors, 
or others suffering any such loss, and if any of them wishes property insurance coverage within 
the limits of such amounts, each may purchase and maintain it at the purchaser’s own expense. 

E. If Contractor requests in writing that other special insurance be included in the property insurance 
policies provided under this Paragraph 5.06, Owner shall, if possible, include such insurance, and 
the cost thereof will be charged to Contractor by appropriate Change Order. Prior to 
commencement of the Work at the Site, Owner shall in writing advise Contractor whether or not 
such other insurance has been procured by Owner. 

5.07 Waiver of Rights 

A. Owner and Contractor intend that all policies purchased in accordance with Paragraph 5.06 will 
protect Owner, Contractor, Subcontractors, and Engineer, and all other individuals or entities 
identified in the Supplementary Conditions as loss payees (and the officers, directors, members, 
partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them) in such 
policies and will provide primary coverage for all losses and damages caused by the perils or 
causes of loss covered thereby. All such policies shall contain provisions to the effect that in the 
event of payment of any loss or damage the insurers will have no rights of recovery against any of 
the insureds or loss payees thereunder. Owner and Contractor waive all rights against each other 
and their respective officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and 
subcontractors of each and any of them for all losses and damages caused by, arising out of or 
resulting from any of the perils or causes of loss covered by such policies and any other property 
insurance applicable to the Work; and, in addition, waive all such rights against Subcontractors 
and Engineer, and all other individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions as 
loss payees (and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and 
subcontractors of each and any of them) under such policies for losses and damages so caused. 
None of the above waivers shall extend to the rights that any party making such waiver may have 
to the proceeds of insurance held by Owner as trustee or otherwise payable under any policy so 
issued. 

B. Owner waives all rights against Contractor, Subcontractors, and Engineer, and the officers, 
directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any 
of them for: 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 219 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 21  of  62 
 

1. loss due to business interruption, loss of use, or other consequential loss extending beyond 
direct physical loss or damage to Owner’s property or the Work caused by, arising out of, or 
resulting from fire or other perils whether or not insured by Owner; and 

2. loss or damage to the completed Project or part thereof caused by, arising out of, or resulting 
from fire or other insured peril or cause of loss covered by any property insurance maintained 
on the completed Project or part thereof by Owner during partial utilization pursuant to 
Paragraph 14.05, after Substantial Completion pursuant to Paragraph 14.04, or after final 
payment pursuant to Paragraph 14.07. 

C. Any insurance policy maintained by Owner covering any loss, damage or consequential loss 
referred to in Paragraph 5.07.B shall contain provisions to the effect that in the event of payment 
of any such loss, damage, or consequential loss, the insurers will have no rights of recovery 
against Contractor, Subcontractors, or Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, 
employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them. 

5.08 Receipt and Application of Insurance Proceeds 

A. Any insured loss under the policies of insurance required by Paragraph 5.06 will be adjusted with 
Owner and made payable to Owner as fiduciary for the loss payees, as their interests may appear, 
subject to the requirements of any applicable mortgage clause and of Paragraph 5.08.B. Owner 
shall deposit in a separate account any money so received and shall distribute it in accordance 
with such agreement as the parties in interest may reach. If no other special agreement is reached, 
the damaged Work shall be repaired or replaced, the moneys so received applied on account 
thereof, and the Work and the cost thereof covered by an appropriate Change Order. 

B. Owner as fiduciary shall have power to adjust and settle any loss with the insurers unless one of 
the parties in interest shall object in writing within 15 days after the occurrence of loss to 
Owner’s exercise of this power. If such objection be made, Owner as fiduciary shall make 
settlement with the insurers in accordance with such agreement as the parties in interest may 
reach. If no such agreement among the parties in interest is reached, Owner as fiduciary shall 
adjust and settle the loss with the insurers and, if required in writing by any party in interest, 
Owner as fiduciary shall give bond for the proper performance of such duties. 

5.09 Acceptance of Bonds and Insurance; Option to Replace 

A. If either Owner or Contractor has any objection to the coverage afforded by or other provisions of 
the bonds or insurance required to be purchased and maintained by the other party in accordance 
with Article 5 on the basis of non-conformance with the Contract Documents, the objecting party 
shall so notify the other party in writing within 10 days after receipt of the certificates (or other 
evidence requested) required by Paragraph 2.01.B. Owner and Contractor shall each provide to 
the other such additional information in respect of insurance provided as the other may 
reasonably request. If either party does not purchase or maintain all of the bonds and insurance 
required of such party by the Contract Documents, such party shall notify the other party in 
writing of such failure to purchase prior to the start of the Work, or of such failure to maintain 
prior to any change in the required coverage. Without prejudice to any other right or remedy, the 
other party may elect to obtain equivalent bonds or insurance to protect such other party’s 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 220 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 22  of  62 
 

interests at the expense of the party who was required to provide such coverage, and a Change 
Order shall be issued to adjust the Contract Price accordingly. 

5.10 Partial Utilization, Acknowledgment of Property Insurer 

A. If Owner finds it necessary to occupy or use a portion or portions of the Work prior to Substantial 
Completion of all the Work as provided in Paragraph 14.05, no such use or occupancy shall 
commence before the insurers providing the property insurance pursuant to Paragraph 5.06 have 
acknowledged notice thereof and in writing effected any changes in coverage necessitated 
thereby. The insurers providing the property insurance shall consent by endorsement on the 
policy or policies, but the property insurance shall not be canceled or permitted to lapse on 
account of any such partial use or occupancy. 

ARTICLE 6 – CONTRACTOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES 

6.01 Supervision and Superintendence 

A. Contractor shall supervise, inspect, and direct the Work competently and efficiently, devoting 
such attention thereto and applying such skills and expertise as may be necessary to perform the 
Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. Contractor shall be solely responsible for the 
means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction. Contractor shall not be 
responsible for the negligence of Owner or Engineer in the design or specification of a specific 
means, method, technique, sequence, or procedure of construction which is shown or indicated in 
and expressly required by the Contract Documents. 

B. At all times during the progress of the Work, Contractor shall assign a competent resident 
superintendent who shall not be replaced without written notice to Owner and Engineer except 
under extraordinary circumstances.  

6.02 Labor; Working Hours 

A. Contractor shall provide competent, suitably qualified personnel to survey and lay out the Work 
and perform construction as required by the Contract Documents. Contractor shall at all times 
maintain good discipline and order at the Site. 

B. Except as otherwise required for the safety or protection of persons or the Work or property at the 
Site or adjacent thereto, and except as otherwise stated in the Contract Documents, all Work at 
the Site shall be performed during regular working hours. Contractor will not permit the 
performance of Work on a Saturday, Sunday, or any legal holiday without Owner’s written 
consent (which will not be unreasonably withheld) given after prior written notice to Engineer.   

6.03 Services, Materials, and Equipment 

A. Unless otherwise specified in the Contract Documents, Contractor shall provide and assume full 
responsibility for all services, materials, equipment, labor, transportation, construction equipment 
and machinery, tools, appliances, fuel, power, light, heat, telephone, water, sanitary facilities, 
temporary facilities, and all other facilities and incidentals necessary for the performance, testing, 
start-up, and completion of the Work. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 221 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 23  of  62 
 

B. All materials and equipment incorporated into the Work shall be as specified or, if not specified, 
shall be of good quality and new, except as otherwise provided in the Contract Documents. All 
special warranties and guarantees required by the Specifications shall expressly run to the benefit 
of Owner. If required by Engineer, Contractor shall furnish satisfactory evidence (including 
reports of required tests) as to the source, kind, and quality of materials and equipment. 

C. All materials and equipment shall be stored, applied, installed, connected, erected, protected, 
used, cleaned, and conditioned in accordance with instructions of the applicable Supplier, except 
as otherwise may be provided in the Contract Documents. 

6.04 Progress Schedule 

A. Contractor shall adhere to the Progress Schedule established in accordance with Paragraph 2.07 
as it may be adjusted from time to time as provided below. 

1. Contractor shall submit to Engineer for acceptance (to the extent indicated in Paragraph 2.07) 
proposed adjustments in the Progress Schedule that will not result in changing the Contract 
Times. Such adjustments will comply with any provisions of the General Requirements 
applicable thereto. 

2. Proposed adjustments in the Progress Schedule that will change the Contract Times shall be 
submitted in accordance with the requirements of Article 12. Adjustments in Contract Times 
may only be made by a Change Order. 

6.05 Substitutes and “Or-Equals” 

A. Whenever an item of material or equipment is specified or described in the Contract Documents 
by using the name of a proprietary item or the name of a particular Supplier, the specification or 
description is intended to establish the type, function, appearance, and quality required. Unless 
the specification or description contains or is followed by words reading that no like, equivalent, 
or “or-equal” item or no substitution is permitted, other items of material or equipment or 
material or equipment of other Suppliers may be submitted to Engineer for review under the 
circumstances described below. 

1. “Or-Equal” Items: If in Engineer’s sole discretion an item of material or equipment proposed 
by Contractor is functionally equal to that named and sufficiently similar so that no change in 
related Work will be required, it may be considered by Engineer as an “or-equal” item, in 
which case review and approval of the proposed item may, in Engineer’s sole discretion, be 
accomplished without compliance with some or all of the requirements for approval of 
proposed substitute items. For the purposes of this Paragraph 6.05.A.1, a proposed item of 
material or equipment will be considered functionally equal to an item so named if: 

a. in the exercise of reasonable judgment Engineer determines that: 

1) it is at least equal in materials of construction, quality, durability, appearance, 
strength, and design characteristics;  

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 222 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 24  of  62 
 

2) it will reliably perform at least equally well the function and achieve the results 
imposed by the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole; and  

3) it has a proven record of performance and availability of responsive service. 

b. Contractor certifies that, if approved and incorporated into the Work: 

1) there will be no increase in cost to the Owner or increase in Contract Times; and  

2) it will conform substantially to the detailed requirements of the item named in the 
Contract Documents. 

2. Substitute Items: 

a. If in Engineer’s sole discretion an item of material or equipment proposed by Contractor 
does not qualify as an “or-equal” item under Paragraph 6.05.A.1, it will be considered a 
proposed substitute item. 

b. Contractor shall submit sufficient information as provided below to allow Engineer to 
determine if the item of material or equipment proposed is essentially equivalent to that 
named and an acceptable substitute therefor. Requests for review of proposed substitute 
items of material or equipment will not be accepted by Engineer from anyone other than 
Contractor. 

c. The requirements for review by Engineer will be as set forth in Paragraph 6.05.A.2.d, as 
supplemented by the General Requirements, and as Engineer may decide is appropriate 
under the circumstances. 

d. Contractor shall make written application to Engineer for review of a proposed substitute 
item of material or equipment that Contractor seeks to furnish or use. The application: 

1) shall certify that the proposed substitute item will: 

a) perform adequately the functions and achieve the results called for by the general 
design,  

b) be similar in substance to that specified, and 

c) be suited to the same use as that specified;  

2) will state: 

a) the extent, if any, to which the use of the proposed substitute item will prejudice 
Contractor’s achievement of Substantial Completion on time, 

b) whether use of the proposed substitute item in the Work will require a change in 
any of the Contract Documents (or in the provisions of any other direct contract 
with Owner for other work on the Project) to adapt the design to the proposed 
substitute item, and 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 223 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 25  of  62 
 

c) whether incorporation or use of the proposed substitute item in connection with 
the Work is subject to payment of any license fee or royalty; 

3) will identify: 

a) all variations of the proposed substitute item from that specified, and  

b) available engineering, sales, maintenance, repair, and replacement services; and 

4) shall contain an itemized estimate of all costs or credits that will result directly or 
indirectly from use of such substitute item, including costs of redesign and claims of 
other contractors affected by any resulting change. 

B. Substitute Construction Methods or Procedures:  If a specific means, method, technique, 
sequence, or procedure of construction is expressly required by the Contract Documents, 
Contractor may furnish or utilize a substitute means, method, technique, sequence, or procedure 
of construction approved by Engineer. Contractor shall submit sufficient information to allow 
Engineer, in Engineer’s sole discretion, to determine that the substitute proposed is equivalent to 
that expressly called for by the Contract Documents. The requirements for review by Engineer 
will be similar to those provided in Paragraph 6.05.A.2. 

C. Engineer’s Evaluation:  Engineer will be allowed a reasonable time within which to evaluate 
each proposal or submittal made pursuant to Paragraphs 6.05.A and 6.05.B. Engineer may require 
Contractor to furnish additional data about the proposed substitute item. Engineer will be the sole 
judge of acceptability. No “or equal” or substitute will be ordered, installed or utilized until 
Engineer’s review is complete, which will be evidenced by a Change Order in the case of a 
substitute and an approved Shop Drawing for an “or equal.” Engineer will advise Contractor in 
writing of any negative determination. 

D. Special Guarantee:  Owner may require Contractor to furnish at Contractor’s expense a special 
performance guarantee or other surety with respect to any substitute. 

E. Engineer’s Cost Reimbursement:  Engineer will record Engineer’s costs in evaluating a substitute 
proposed or submitted by Contractor pursuant to Paragraphs 6.05.A.2 and 6.05.B. Whether or not 
Engineer approves a substitute so proposed or submitted by Contractor, Contractor shall 
reimburse Owner for the reasonable charges of Engineer for evaluating each such proposed 
substitute. Contractor shall also reimburse Owner for the reasonable charges of Engineer for 
making changes in the Contract Documents (or in the provisions of any other direct contract with 
Owner) resulting from the acceptance of each proposed substitute. 

F. Contractor’s Expense:  Contractor shall provide all data in support of any proposed substitute or 
“or-equal” at Contractor’s expense. 

6.06 Concerning Subcontractors, Suppliers, and Others 

A. Contractor shall not employ any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity (including 
those acceptable to Owner as indicated in Paragraph 6.06.B), whether initially or as a 
replacement, against whom Owner may have reasonable objection. Contractor shall not be 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 224 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 26  of  62 
 

required to employ any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity to furnish or 
perform any of the Work against whom Contractor has reasonable objection. 

B. If the Supplementary Conditions require the identity of certain Subcontractors, Suppliers, or other 
individuals or entities to be submitted to Owner in advance for acceptance by Owner by a 
specified date prior to the Effective Date of the Agreement, and if Contractor has submitted a list 
thereof in accordance with the Supplementary Conditions, Owner’s acceptance (either in writing 
or by failing to make written objection thereto by the date indicated for acceptance or objection in 
the Bidding Documents or the Contract Documents) of any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other 
individual or entity so identified may be revoked on the basis of reasonable objection after due 
investigation. Contractor shall submit an acceptable replacement for the rejected Subcontractor, 
Supplier, or other individual or entity, and the Contract Price will be adjusted by the difference in 
the cost occasioned by such replacement, and an appropriate Change Order will be issued. No 
acceptance by Owner of any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity, whether 
initially or as a replacement, shall constitute a waiver of any right of Owner or Engineer to reject 
defective Work. 

C. Contractor shall be fully responsible to Owner and Engineer for all acts and omissions of the 
Subcontractors, Suppliers, and other individuals or entities performing or furnishing any of the 
Work just as Contractor is responsible for Contractor’s own acts and omissions. Nothing in the 
Contract Documents: 

1. shall create for the benefit of any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity 
any contractual relationship between Owner or Engineer and any such Subcontractor, 
Supplier or other individual or entity; nor 

2. shall create any obligation on the part of Owner or Engineer to pay or to see to the payment of 
any moneys due any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity except as may 
otherwise be required by Laws and Regulations. 

D. Contractor shall be solely responsible for scheduling and coordinating the Work of 
Subcontractors, Suppliers, and other individuals or entities performing or furnishing any of the 
Work under a direct or indirect contract with Contractor. 

E. Contractor shall require all Subcontractors, Suppliers, and such other individuals or entities 
performing or furnishing any of the Work to communicate with Engineer through Contractor. 

F. The divisions and sections of the Specifications and the identifications of any Drawings shall not 
control Contractor in dividing the Work among Subcontractors or Suppliers or delineating the 
Work to be performed by any specific trade. 

G. All Work performed for Contractor by a Subcontractor or Supplier will be pursuant to an 
appropriate agreement between Contractor and the Subcontractor or Supplier which specifically 
binds the Subcontractor or Supplier to the applicable terms and conditions of the Contract 
Documents for the benefit of Owner and Engineer. Whenever any such agreement is with a 
Subcontractor or Supplier who is listed as a loss payee on the property insurance provided in 
Paragraph 5.06, the agreement between the Contractor and the Subcontractor or Supplier will 
contain provisions whereby the Subcontractor or Supplier waives all rights against Owner, 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 225 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 27  of  62 
 

Contractor, Engineer, and all other individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary 
Conditions to be listed as insureds or loss payees (and the officers, directors, members, partners, 
employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them) for all losses and 
damages caused by, arising out of, relating to, or resulting from any of the perils or causes of loss 
covered by such policies and any other property insurance applicable to the Work. If the insurers 
on any such policies require separate waiver forms to be signed by any Subcontractor or Supplier, 
Contractor will obtain the same. 

6.07 Patent Fees and Royalties 

A. Contractor shall pay all license fees and royalties and assume all costs incident to the use in the 
performance of the Work or the incorporation in the Work of any invention, design, process, 
product, or device which is the subject of patent rights or copyrights held by others. If a particular 
invention, design, process, product, or device is specified in the Contract Documents for use in 
the performance of the Work and if, to the actual knowledge of Owner or Engineer, its use is 
subject to patent rights or copyrights calling for the payment of any license fee or royalty to 
others, the existence of such rights shall be disclosed by Owner in the Contract Documents. 

B. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Owner shall indemnify and hold 
harmless Contractor, and its officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, 
consultants, and subcontractors from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including 
but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals, 
and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to any 
infringement of patent rights or copyrights incident to the use in the performance of the Work or 
resulting from the incorporation in the Work of any invention, design, process, product, or device 
specified in the Contract Documents, but not identified as being subject to payment of any license 
fee or royalty to others required by patent rights or copyrights.   

C. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Contractor shall indemnify and hold 
harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, 
consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, 
and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, 
and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of 
or relating to any infringement of patent rights or copyrights incident to the use in the 
performance of the Work or resulting from the incorporation in the Work of any invention, 
design, process, product, or device not specified in the Contract Documents. 

6.08 Permits 

A. Unless otherwise provided in the Supplementary Conditions, Contractor shall obtain and pay for 
all construction permits and licenses. Owner shall assist Contractor, when necessary, in obtaining 
such permits and licenses. Contractor shall pay all governmental charges and inspection fees 
necessary for the prosecution of the Work which are applicable at the time of opening of Bids, or, 
if there are no Bids, on the Effective Date of the Agreement. Owner shall pay all charges of utility 
owners for connections for providing permanent service to the Work. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 226 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 28  of  62 
 

6.09 Laws and Regulations 

A. Contractor shall give all notices required by and shall comply with all Laws and Regulations 
applicable to the performance of the Work. Except where otherwise expressly required by 
applicable Laws and Regulations, neither Owner nor Engineer shall be responsible for 
monitoring Contractor’s compliance with any Laws or Regulations. 

B. If Contractor performs any Work knowing or having reason to know that it is contrary to Laws or 
Regulations, Contractor shall bear all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not 
limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all 
court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to such Work. 
However, it shall not be Contractor’s responsibility to make certain that the Specifications and 
Drawings are in accordance with Laws and Regulations, but this shall not relieve Contractor of 
Contractor’s obligations under Paragraph 3.03. 

C. Changes in Laws or Regulations not known at the time of opening of Bids (or, on the Effective 
Date of the Agreement if there were no Bids) having an effect on the cost or time of performance 
of the Work shall be the subject of an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times. If Owner 
and Contractor are unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any 
such adjustment, a Claim may be made therefor as provided in Paragraph 10.05. 

6.10 Taxes 

A. Contractor shall pay all sales, consumer, use, and other similar taxes required to be paid by 
Contractor in accordance with the Laws and Regulations of the place of the Project which are 
applicable during the performance of the Work. 

6.11 Use of Site and Other Areas 

A. Limitation on Use of Site and Other Areas: 

1. Contractor shall confine construction equipment, the storage of materials and equipment, and 
the operations of workers to the Site and other areas permitted by Laws and Regulations, and 
shall not unreasonably encumber the Site and other areas with construction equipment or 
other materials or equipment. Contractor shall assume full responsibility for any damage to 
any such land or area, or to the owner or occupant thereof, or of any adjacent land or areas 
resulting from the performance of the Work. 

2. Should any claim be made by any such owner or occupant because of the performance of the 
Work, Contractor shall promptly settle with such other party by negotiation or otherwise 
resolve the claim by arbitration or other dispute resolution proceeding or at law. 

3. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Contractor shall indemnify and hold 
harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, 
agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, 
costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, 
architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute 
resolution costs) arising out of or relating to any claim or action, legal or equitable, brought 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 227 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 29  of  62 
 

by any such owner or occupant against Owner, Engineer, or any other party indemnified 
hereunder to the extent caused by or based upon Contractor’s performance of the Work. 

B. Removal of Debris During Performance of the Work:  During the progress of the Work 
Contractor shall keep the Site and other areas free from accumulations of waste materials, 
rubbish, and other debris. Removal and disposal of such waste materials, rubbish, and other 
debris shall conform to applicable Laws and Regulations. 

C. Cleaning:  Prior to Substantial Completion of the Work Contractor shall clean the Site and the 
Work and make it ready for utilization by Owner. At the completion of the Work Contractor shall 
remove from the Site all tools, appliances, construction equipment and machinery, and surplus 
materials and shall restore to original condition all property not designated for alteration by the 
Contract Documents. 

D. Loading Structures:  Contractor shall not load nor permit any part of any structure to be loaded in 
any manner that will endanger the structure, nor shall Contractor subject any part of the Work or 
adjacent property to stresses or pressures that will endanger it. 

6.12 Record Documents 

A. Contractor shall maintain in a safe place at the Site one record copy of all Drawings, 
Specifications, Addenda, Change Orders, Work Change Directives, Field Orders, and written 
interpretations and clarifications in good order and annotated to show changes made during 
construction. These record documents together with all approved Samples and a counterpart of 
all approved Shop Drawings will be available to Engineer for reference. Upon completion of the 
Work, these record documents, Samples, and Shop Drawings will be delivered to Engineer for 
Owner. 

6.13 Safety and Protection 

A. Contractor shall be solely responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising all safety 
precautions and programs in connection with the Work. Such responsibility does not relieve 
Subcontractors of their responsibility for the safety of persons or property in the performance of 
their work, nor for compliance with applicable safety Laws and Regulations.  Contractor shall 
take all necessary precautions for the safety of, and shall provide the necessary protection to 
prevent damage, injury or loss to: 

1. all persons on the Site or who may be affected by the Work; 

2. all the Work and materials and equipment to be incorporated therein, whether in storage on or 
off the Site; and 

3. other property at the Site or adjacent thereto, including trees, shrubs, lawns, walks, 
pavements, roadways, structures, utilities, and Underground Facilities not designated for 
removal, relocation, or replacement in the course of construction. 

B. Contractor shall comply with all applicable Laws and Regulations relating to the safety of 
persons or property, or to the protection of persons or property from damage, injury, or loss; and 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 228 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 30  of  62 
 

shall erect and maintain all necessary safeguards for such safety and protection. Contractor shall 
notify owners of adjacent property and of Underground Facilities and other utility owners when 
prosecution of the Work may affect them, and shall cooperate with them in the protection, 
removal, relocation, and replacement of their property. 

C. Contractor shall comply with the applicable requirements of Owner’s safety programs, if any.  
The Supplementary Conditions identify any Owner’s safety programs that are applicable to the 
Work. 

D. Contractor shall inform Owner and Engineer of the specific requirements of Contractor’s safety 
program with which Owner’s and Engineer’s employees and representatives must comply while 
at the Site. 

E. All damage, injury, or loss to any property referred to in Paragraph 6.13.A.2 or 6.13.A.3 caused, 
directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, by Contractor, any Subcontractor, Supplier, or any other 
individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the Work, or 
anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, shall be remedied by Contractor (except 
damage or loss attributable to the fault of Drawings or Specifications or to the acts or omissions 
of Owner or Engineer or anyone employed by any of them, or anyone for whose acts any of them 
may be liable, and not attributable, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, to the fault or 
negligence of Contractor or any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity directly or 
indirectly employed by any of them). 

F. Contractor’s duties and responsibilities for safety and for protection of the Work shall continue 
until such time as all the Work is completed and Engineer has issued a notice to Owner and 
Contractor in accordance with Paragraph 14.07.B that the Work is acceptable (except as 
otherwise expressly provided in connection with Substantial Completion). 

6.14 Safety Representative 

A. Contractor shall designate a qualified and experienced safety representative at the Site whose 
duties and responsibilities shall be the prevention of accidents and the maintaining and 
supervising of safety precautions and programs. 

6.15 Hazard Communication Programs 

A. Contractor shall be responsible for coordinating any exchange of material safety data sheets or 
other hazard communication information required to be made available to or exchanged between 
or among employers at the Site in accordance with Laws or Regulations. 

6.16 Emergencies 

A. In emergencies affecting the safety or protection of persons or the Work or property at the Site or 
adjacent thereto, Contractor is obligated to act to prevent threatened damage, injury, or loss. 
Contractor shall give Engineer prompt written notice if Contractor believes that any significant 
changes in the Work or variations from the Contract Documents have been caused thereby or are 
required as a result thereof. If Engineer determines that a change in the Contract Documents is 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 229 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 31  of  62 
 

required because of the action taken by Contractor in response to such an emergency, a Work 
Change Directive or Change Order will be issued. 

6.17 Shop Drawings and Samples 

A. Contractor shall submit Shop Drawings and Samples to Engineer for review and approval in 
accordance with the accepted Schedule of Submittals (as required by Paragraph 2.07). Each 
submittal will be identified as Engineer may require. 

1. Shop Drawings: 

a. Submit number of copies specified in the General Requirements. 

b. Data shown on the Shop Drawings will be complete with respect to quantities, 
dimensions, specified performance and design criteria, materials, and similar data to show 
Engineer the services, materials, and equipment Contractor proposes to provide and to 
enable Engineer to review the information for the limited purposes required by Paragraph 
6.17.D. 

2. Samples: 

a. Submit number of Samples specified in the Specifications. 

b. Clearly identify each Sample as to material, Supplier, pertinent data such as catalog 
numbers, the use for which intended and other data as Engineer may require to enable 
Engineer to review the submittal for the limited purposes required by Paragraph 6.17.D. 

B. Where a Shop Drawing or Sample is required by the Contract Documents or the Schedule of 
Submittals, any related Work performed prior to Engineer’s review and approval of the pertinent 
submittal will be at the sole expense and responsibility of Contractor. 

C. Submittal Procedures: 

1. Before submitting each Shop Drawing or Sample, Contractor shall have: 

a. reviewed and coordinated each Shop Drawing or Sample with other Shop Drawings and 
Samples and with the requirements of the Work and the Contract Documents; 

b. determined and verified all field measurements, quantities, dimensions, specified 
performance and design criteria, installation requirements, materials, catalog numbers, 
and similar information with respect thereto; 

c. determined and verified the suitability of all materials offered with respect to the 
indicated application, fabrication, shipping, handling, storage, assembly, and installation 
pertaining to the performance of the Work; and 

d. determined and verified all information relative to Contractor’s responsibilities for 
means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction, and safety 
precautions and programs incident thereto. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 230 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 32  of  62 
 

2. Each submittal shall bear a stamp or specific written certification that Contractor has satisfied 
Contractor’s obligations under the Contract Documents with respect to Contractor’s review 
and approval of that submittal. 

3. With each submittal, Contractor shall give Engineer specific written notice of any variations 
that the Shop Drawing or Sample may have from the requirements of the Contract 
Documents. This notice shall be both a written communication separate from the Shop 
Drawings or Sample submittal; and, in addition, by a specific notation made on each Shop 
Drawing or Sample submitted to Engineer for review and approval of each such variation. 

D. Engineer’s Review: 

1. Engineer will provide timely review of Shop Drawings and Samples in accordance with the 
Schedule of Submittals acceptable to Engineer. Engineer’s review and approval will be only 
to determine if the items covered by the submittals will, after installation or incorporation in 
the Work, conform to the information given in the Contract Documents and be compatible 
with the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole as indicated by the 
Contract Documents. 

2. Engineer’s review and approval will not extend to means, methods, techniques, sequences, or 
procedures of construction (except where a particular means, method, technique, sequence, or 
procedure of construction is specifically and expressly called for by the Contract Documents) 
or to safety precautions or programs incident thereto. The review and approval of a separate 
item as such will not indicate approval of the assembly in which the item functions. 

3. Engineer’s review and approval shall not relieve Contractor from responsibility for any 
variation from the requirements of the Contract Documents unless Contractor has complied 
with the requirements of Paragraph 6.17.C.3 and Engineer has given written approval of each 
such variation by specific written notation thereof incorporated in or accompanying the Shop 
Drawing or Sample. Engineer’s review and approval shall not relieve Contractor from 
responsibility for complying with the requirements of Paragraph 6.17.C.1. 

E. Resubmittal Procedures: 

1. Contractor shall make corrections required by Engineer and shall return the required number 
of corrected copies of Shop Drawings and submit, as required, new Samples for review and 
approval. Contractor shall direct specific attention in writing to revisions other than the 
corrections called for by Engineer on previous submittals. 

6.18 Continuing the Work 

A. Contractor shall carry on the Work and adhere to the Progress Schedule during all disputes or 
disagreements with Owner. No Work shall be delayed or postponed pending resolution of any 
disputes or disagreements, except as permitted by Paragraph 15.04 or as Owner and Contractor 
may otherwise agree in writing. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 231 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 33  of  62 
 

6.19 Contractor’s General Warranty and Guarantee 

A. Contractor warrants and guarantees to Owner that all Work will be in accordance with the 
Contract Documents and will not be defective. Engineer and its officers, directors, members, 
partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors shall be entitled to rely on 
representation of Contractor’s warranty and guarantee. 

B. Contractor’s warranty and guarantee hereunder excludes defects or damage caused by: 

1. abuse, modification, or improper maintenance or operation by persons other than Contractor, 
Subcontractors, Suppliers, or any other individual or entity for whom Contractor is 
responsible; or  

2. normal wear and tear under normal usage. 

C. Contractor’s obligation to perform and complete the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents shall be absolute. None of the following will constitute an acceptance of Work that is 
not in accordance with the Contract Documents or a release of Contractor’s obligation to perform 
the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents: 

1. observations by Engineer; 

2. recommendation by Engineer or payment by Owner of any progress or final payment; 

3. the issuance of a certificate of Substantial Completion by Engineer or any payment related 
thereto by Owner;  

4. use or occupancy of the Work or any part thereof by Owner; 

5. any review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample submittal or the issuance of a notice 
of acceptability by Engineer; 

6. any inspection, test, or approval by others; or 

7. any correction of defective Work by Owner. 

6.20 Indemnification 

A. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Contractor shall indemnify and hold 
harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, 
consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, 
and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, 
and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of 
or relating to the performance of the Work, provided that any such claim, cost, loss, or damage is 
attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death, or to injury to or destruction of tangible 
property (other than the Work itself), including the loss of use resulting therefrom but only to the 
extent caused by any negligent act or omission of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, or 
any individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the 
Work or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable . 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 232 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 34  of  62 
 

B. In any and all claims against Owner or Engineer or any of their officers, directors, members, 
partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors by any employee (or the survivor or 
personal representative of such employee) of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, or any 
individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the Work, or 
anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, the indemnification obligation under Paragraph 
6.20.A shall not be limited in any way by any limitation on the amount or type of damages, 
compensation, or benefits payable by or for Contractor or any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or 
other individual or entity under workers’ compensation acts, disability benefit acts, or other 
employee benefit acts. 

C. The indemnification obligations of Contractor under Paragraph 6.20.A shall not extend to the 
liability of Engineer and Engineer’s officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, 
consultants and subcontractors arising out of: 

1. the preparation or approval of, or the failure to prepare or approve maps, Drawings, opinions, 
reports, surveys, Change Orders, designs, or Specifications; or 

2. giving directions or instructions, or failing to give them, if that is the primary cause of the 
injury or damage. 

6.21 Delegation of Professional Design Services 

A. Contractor will not be required to provide professional design services unless such services are 
specifically required by the Contract Documents for a portion of the Work or unless such services 
are required to carry out Contractor’s responsibilities for construction means, methods, 
techniques, sequences and procedures. Contractor shall not be required to provide professional 
services in violation of applicable law. 

B. If professional design services or certifications by a design professional related to systems, 
materials or equipment are specifically required of Contractor by the Contract Documents, Owner 
and Engineer will specify all performance and design criteria that such services must satisfy. 
Contractor shall cause such services or certifications to be provided by a properly licensed 
professional, whose signature and seal shall appear on all drawings, calculations, specifications, 
certifications, Shop Drawings and other submittals prepared by such professional. Shop 
Drawings and other submittals related to the Work designed or certified by such professional, if 
prepared by others, shall bear such professional’s written approval when submitted to Engineer. 

C. Owner and Engineer shall be entitled to rely upon the adequacy, accuracy and completeness of 
the services, certifications or approvals performed by such design professionals, provided Owner 
and Engineer have specified to Contractor all performance and design criteria that such services 
must satisfy. 

D. Pursuant to this Paragraph 6.21, Engineer’s review and approval of design calculations and 
design drawings will be only for the limited purpose of checking for conformance with 
performance and design criteria given and the design concept expressed in the Contract 
Documents. Engineer’s review and approval of Shop Drawings and other submittals (except 
design calculations and design drawings) will be only for the purpose stated in Paragraph 
6.17.D.1. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 233 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 35  of  62 
 

E. Contractor shall not be responsible for the adequacy of the performance or design criteria 
required by the Contract Documents. 

ARTICLE 7 – OTHER WORK AT THE SITE 

7.01 Related Work at Site 

A. Owner may perform other work related to the Project at the Site with Owner’s employees, or 
through other direct contracts therefor, or have other work performed by utility owners. If such 
other work is not noted in the Contract Documents, then: 

1. written notice thereof will be given to Contractor prior to starting any such other work; and  

2. if Owner and Contractor are unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if 
any, of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times that should be allowed as a 
result of such other work, a Claim may be made therefor as provided in Paragraph 10.05. 

B. Contractor shall afford each other contractor who is a party to such a direct contract, each utility 
owner, and Owner, if Owner is performing other work with Owner’s employees, proper and safe 
access to the Site, provide a reasonable opportunity for the introduction and storage of materials 
and equipment and the execution of such other work, and properly coordinate the Work with 
theirs. Contractor shall do all cutting, fitting, and patching of the Work that may be required to 
properly connect or otherwise make its several parts come together and properly integrate with 
such other work. Contractor shall not endanger any work of others by cutting, excavating, or 
otherwise altering such work; provided, however, that Contractor may cut or alter others' work 
with the written consent of Engineer and the others whose work will be affected. The duties and 
responsibilities of Contractor under this Paragraph are for the benefit of such utility owners and 
other contractors to the extent that there are comparable provisions for the benefit of Contractor 
in said direct contracts between Owner and such utility owners and other contractors. 

C. If the proper execution or results of any part of Contractor’s Work depends upon work performed 
by others under this Article 7, Contractor shall inspect such other work and promptly report to 
Engineer in writing any delays, defects, or deficiencies in such other work that render it 
unavailable or unsuitable for the proper execution and results of Contractor’s Work. Contractor’s 
failure to so report will constitute an acceptance of such other work as fit and proper for 
integration with Contractor’s Work except for latent defects and deficiencies in such other work. 

7.02 Coordination 

A. If Owner intends to contract with others for the performance of other work on the Project at the 
Site, the following will be set forth in Supplementary Conditions: 

1. the individual or entity who will have authority and responsibility for coordination of the 
activities among the various contractors will be identified; 

2. the specific matters to be covered by such authority and responsibility will be itemized; and 

3. the extent of such authority and responsibilities will be provided. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 234 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 36  of  62 
 

B. Unless otherwise provided in the Supplementary Conditions, Owner shall have sole authority and 
responsibility for such coordination. 

7.03 Legal Relationships 

A. Paragraphs 7.01.A and 7.02 are not applicable for utilities not under the control of Owner. 

B. Each other direct contract of Owner under Paragraph 7.01.A shall provide that the other 
contractor is liable to Owner and Contractor for the reasonable direct delay and disruption costs 
incurred by Contractor as a result of the other contractor’s wrongful actions or inactions. 

C. Contractor shall be liable to Owner and any other contractor under direct contract to Owner for 
the reasonable direct delay and disruption costs incurred by such other contractor as a result of 
Contractor’s wrongful action or inactions. 

ARTICLE 8 – OWNER’S RESPONSIBILITIES 

8.01 Communications to Contractor 

A. Except as otherwise provided in these General Conditions, Owner shall issue all communications 
to Contractor through Engineer. 

8.02 Replacement of Engineer 

A. In case of termination of the employment of Engineer, Owner shall appoint an engineer to whom 
Contractor makes no reasonable objection, whose status under the Contract Documents shall be 
that of the former Engineer. 

8.03 Furnish Data 

A. Owner shall promptly furnish the data required of Owner under the Contract Documents. 

8.04 Pay When Due 

A. Owner shall make payments to Contractor when they are due as provided in Paragraphs 14.02.C 
and 14.07.C. 

8.05 Lands and Easements; Reports and Tests 

A. Owner’s duties with respect to providing lands and easements and providing engineering surveys 
to establish reference points are set forth in Paragraphs 4.01 and 4.05. Paragraph 4.02 refers to 
Owner’s identifying and making available to Contractor copies of reports of explorations and 
tests of subsurface conditions and drawings of physical conditions relating to existing surface or 
subsurface structures at the Site. 

8.06 Insurance 

A. Owner’s responsibilities, if any, with respect to purchasing and maintaining liability and property 
insurance are set forth in Article 5. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 235 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 37  of  62 
 

8.07 Change Orders 

A. Owner is obligated to execute Change Orders as indicated in Paragraph 10.03. 

8.08 Inspections, Tests, and Approvals 

A. Owner’s responsibility with respect to certain inspections, tests, and approvals is set forth in 
Paragraph 13.03.B. 

8.09 Limitations on Owner’s Responsibilities 

A. The Owner shall not supervise, direct, or have control or authority over, nor be responsible for, 
Contractor’s means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety 
precautions and programs incident thereto, or for any failure of Contractor to comply with Laws 
and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. Owner will not be responsible for 
Contractor’s failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

8.10 Undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition 

A. Owner’s responsibility in respect to an undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition is set 
forth in Paragraph 4.06. 

8.11 Evidence of Financial Arrangements 

A. Upon request of Contractor, Owner shall furnish Contractor reasonable evidence that financial 
arrangements have been made to satisfy Owner’s obligations under the Contract Documents. 

8.12 Compliance with Safety Program 

A. While at the Site, Owner’s employees and representatives shall comply with the specific 
applicable requirements of Contractor’s safety programs of which Owner has been informed 
pursuant to Paragraph 6.13.D. 

ARTICLE 9 – ENGINEER’S STATUS DURING CONSTRUCTION 

9.01 Owner’s Representative 

A. Engineer will be Owner’s representative during the construction period. The duties and 
responsibilities and the limitations of authority of Engineer as Owner’s representative during 
construction are set forth in the Contract Documents. 

9.02 Visits to Site 

A. Engineer will make visits to the Site at intervals appropriate to the various stages of construction 
as Engineer deems necessary in order to observe as an experienced and qualified design 
professional the progress that has been made and the quality of the various aspects of 
Contractor’s executed Work. Based on information obtained during such visits and observations, 
Engineer, for the benefit of Owner, will determine, in general, if the Work is proceeding in 
accordance with the Contract Documents. Engineer will not be required to make exhaustive or 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 236 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 38  of  62 
 

continuous inspections on the Site to check the quality or quantity of the Work. Engineer’s efforts 
will be directed toward providing for Owner a greater degree of confidence that the completed 
Work will conform generally to the Contract Documents. On the basis of such visits and 
observations, Engineer will keep Owner informed of the progress of the Work and will endeavor 
to guard Owner against defective Work. 

B. Engineer’s visits and observations are subject to all the limitations on Engineer’s authority and 
responsibility set forth in Paragraph 9.09. Particularly, but without limitation, during or as a result 
of Engineer’s visits or observations of Contractor’s Work, Engineer will not supervise, direct, 
control, or have authority over or be responsible for Contractor’s means, methods, techniques, 
sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, 
or for any failure of Contractor to comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to the 
performance of the Work. 

9.03 Project Representative 

A. If Owner and Engineer agree, Engineer will furnish a Resident Project Representative to assist 
Engineer in providing more extensive observation of the Work. The authority and responsibilities 
of any such Resident Project Representative and assistants will be as provided in the 
Supplementary Conditions, and limitations on the responsibilities thereof will be as provided in 
Paragraph 9.09. If Owner designates another representative or agent to represent Owner at the 
Site who is not Engineer’s consultant, agent or employee, the responsibilities and authority and 
limitations thereon of such other individual or entity will be as provided in the Supplementary 
Conditions. 

9.04 Authorized Variations in Work 

A. Engineer may authorize minor variations in the Work from the requirements of the Contract 
Documents which do not involve an adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times and 
are compatible with the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole as 
indicated by the Contract Documents. These may be accomplished by a Field Order and will be 
binding on Owner and also on Contractor, who shall perform the Work involved promptly. If 
Owner or Contractor believes that a Field Order justifies an adjustment in the Contract Price or 
Contract Times, or both, and the parties are unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount or 
extent, if any, of any such adjustment, a Claim may be made therefor as provided in 
Paragraph 10.05. 

9.05 Rejecting Defective Work 

A. Engineer will have authority to reject Work which Engineer believes to be defective, or that 
Engineer believes will not produce a completed Project that conforms to the Contract Documents 
or that will prejudice the integrity of the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning 
whole as indicated by the Contract Documents. Engineer will also have authority to require 
special inspection or testing of the Work as provided in Paragraph 13.04, whether or not the 
Work is fabricated, installed, or completed. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 237 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 39  of  62 
 

9.06 Shop Drawings, Change Orders and Payments 

A. In connection with Engineer’s authority, and limitations thereof, as to Shop Drawings and 
Samples, see Paragraph 6.17. 

B. In connection with Engineer’s authority, and limitations thereof, as to design calculations and 
design drawings submitted in response to a delegation of professional design services, if any, see 
Paragraph 6.21. 

C. In connection with Engineer’s authority as to Change Orders, see Articles 10, 11, and 12. 

D. In connection with Engineer’s authority as to Applications for Payment, see Article 14. 

9.07 Determinations for Unit Price Work 

A. Engineer will determine the actual quantities and classifications of Unit Price Work performed by 
Contractor. Engineer will review with Contractor the Engineer’s preliminary determinations on 
such matters before rendering a written decision thereon (by recommendation of an Application 
for Payment or otherwise). Engineer’s written decision thereon will be final and binding (except 
as modified by Engineer to reflect changed factual conditions or more accurate data) upon Owner 
and Contractor, subject to the provisions of Paragraph 10.05. 

9.08 Decisions on Requirements of Contract Documents and Acceptability of Work 

A. Engineer will be the initial interpreter of the requirements of the Contract Documents and judge 
of the acceptability of the Work thereunder. All matters in question and other matters between 
Owner and Contractor arising prior to the date final payment is due relating to the acceptability of 
the Work, and the interpretation of the requirements of the Contract Documents pertaining to the 
performance of the Work, will be referred initially to Engineer in writing within 30 days of the 
event giving rise to the question.  

B. Engineer will, with reasonable promptness, render a written decision on the issue referred. If 
Owner or Contractor believes that any such decision entitles them to an adjustment in the 
Contract Price or Contract Times or both, a Claim may be made under Paragraph 10.05. The date 
of Engineer’s decision shall be the date of the event giving rise to the issues referenced for the 
purposes of Paragraph 10.05.B. 

C. Engineer’s written decision on the issue referred will be final and binding on Owner and 
Contractor, subject to the provisions of Paragraph 10.05. 

D. When functioning as interpreter and judge under this Paragraph 9.08, Engineer will not show 
partiality to Owner or Contractor and will not be liable in connection with any interpretation or 
decision rendered in good faith in such capacity. 

9.09 Limitations on Engineer’s Authority and Responsibilities 

A. Neither Engineer’s authority or responsibility under this Article 9 or under any other provision of 
the Contract Documents nor any decision made by Engineer in good faith either to exercise or not 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 238 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 40  of  62 
 

exercise such authority or responsibility or the undertaking, exercise, or performance of any 
authority or responsibility by Engineer shall create, impose, or give rise to any duty in contract, 
tort, or otherwise owed by Engineer to Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, any other 
individual or entity, or to any surety for or employee or agent of any of them. 

B. Engineer will not supervise, direct, control, or have authority over or be responsible for 
Contractor’s means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety 
precautions and programs incident thereto, or for any failure of Contractor to comply with Laws 
and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. Engineer will not be responsible for 
Contractor’s failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

C. Engineer will not be responsible for the acts or omissions of Contractor or of any Subcontractor, 
any Supplier, or of any other individual or entity performing any of the Work. 

D. Engineer’s review of the final Application for Payment and accompanying documentation and all 
maintenance and operating instructions, schedules, guarantees, bonds, certificates of inspection, 
tests and approvals, and other documentation required to be delivered by Paragraph 14.07.A will 
only be to determine generally that their content complies with the requirements of, and in the 
case of certificates of inspections, tests, and approvals that the results certified indicate 
compliance with, the Contract Documents. 

E. The limitations upon authority and responsibility set forth in this Paragraph 9.09 shall also apply 
to the Resident Project Representative, if any, and assistants, if any. 

9.10 Compliance with Safety Program 

A. While at the Site, Engineer’s employees and representatives shall comply with the specific 
applicable requirements of Contractor’s safety programs of which Engineer has been informed 
pursuant to Paragraph 6.13.D.   

ARTICLE 10 – CHANGES IN THE WORK; CLAIMS 

10.01 Authorized Changes in the Work 

A. Without invalidating the Contract and without notice to any surety, Owner may, at any time or 
from time to time, order additions, deletions, or revisions in the Work by a Change Order, or a 
Work Change Directive. Upon receipt of any such document, Contractor shall promptly proceed 
with the Work involved which will be performed under the applicable conditions of the Contract 
Documents (except as otherwise specifically provided). 

B. If Owner and Contractor are unable to agree on entitlement to, or on the amount or extent, if any, 
of an adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, that should be allowed as a 
result of a Work Change Directive, a Claim may be made therefor as provided in Paragraph 
10.05. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 239 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 41  of  62 
 

10.02 Unauthorized Changes in the Work 

A. Contractor shall not be entitled to an increase in the Contract Price or an extension of the 
Contract Times with respect to any work performed that is not required by the Contract 
Documents as amended, modified, or supplemented as provided in Paragraph 3.04, except in the 
case of an emergency as provided in Paragraph 6.16 or in the case of uncovering Work as 
provided in Paragraph 13.04.D. 

10.03 Execution of Change Orders 

A. Owner and Contractor shall execute appropriate Change Orders recommended by Engineer 
covering: 

1. changes in the Work which are:  (i) ordered by Owner pursuant to Paragraph 10.01.A, (ii) 
required because of acceptance of defective Work under Paragraph 13.08.A or Owner’s 
correction of defective Work under Paragraph 13.09, or (iii) agreed to by the parties; 

2. changes in the Contract Price or Contract Times which are agreed to by the parties, including 
any undisputed sum or amount of time for Work actually performed in accordance with a 
Work Change Directive; and 

3. changes in the Contract Price or Contract Times which embody the substance of any written 
decision rendered by Engineer pursuant to Paragraph 10.05; provided that, in lieu of 
executing any such Change Order, an appeal may be taken from any such decision in 
accordance with the provisions of the Contract Documents and applicable Laws and 
Regulations, but during any such appeal, Contractor shall carry on the Work and adhere to the 
Progress Schedule as provided in Paragraph 6.18.A. 

10.04 Notification to Surety 

A. If the provisions of any bond require notice to be given to a surety of any change affecting the 
general scope of the Work or the provisions of the Contract Documents (including, but not 
limited to, Contract Price or Contract Times), the giving of any such notice will be Contractor’s 
responsibility. The amount of each applicable bond will be adjusted to reflect the effect of any 
such change. 

10.05 Claims 

A. Engineer’s Decision Required:  All Claims, except those waived pursuant to Paragraph 14.09, 
shall be referred to the Engineer for decision. A decision by Engineer shall be required as a 
condition precedent to any exercise by Owner or Contractor of any rights or remedies either may 
otherwise have under the Contract Documents or by Laws and Regulations in respect of such 
Claims. 

B. Notice: Written notice stating the general nature of each Claim shall be delivered by the claimant 
to Engineer and the other party to the Contract promptly (but in no event later than 30 days) after 
the start of the event giving rise thereto. The responsibility to substantiate a Claim shall rest with 
the party making the Claim. Notice of the amount or extent of the Claim, with supporting data 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 240 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 42  of  62 
 

shall be delivered to the Engineer and the other party to the Contract within 60 days after the start 
of such event (unless Engineer allows additional time for claimant to submit additional or more 
accurate data in support of such Claim). A Claim for an adjustment in Contract Price shall be 
prepared in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 12.01.B. A Claim for an adjustment in 
Contract Times shall be prepared in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 12.02.B. Each 
Claim shall be accompanied by claimant’s written statement that the adjustment claimed is the 
entire adjustment to which the claimant believes it is entitled as a result of said event. The 
opposing party shall submit any response to Engineer and the claimant within 30 days after 
receipt of the claimant’s last submittal (unless Engineer allows additional time). 

C. Engineer’s Action:  Engineer will review each Claim and, within 30 days after receipt of the last 
submittal of the claimant or the last submittal of the opposing party, if any, take one of the 
following actions in writing: 

1. deny the Claim in whole or in part; 

2. approve the Claim; or 

3. notify the parties that the Engineer is unable to resolve the Claim if, in the Engineer’s sole 
discretion, it would be inappropriate for the Engineer to do so. For purposes of further 
resolution of the Claim, such notice shall be deemed a denial. 

D. In the event that Engineer does not take action on a Claim within said 30 days, the Claim shall be 
deemed denied. 

E. Engineer’s written action under Paragraph 10.05.C or denial pursuant to Paragraphs 10.05.C.3 or 
10.05.D will be final and binding upon Owner and Contractor, unless Owner or Contractor 
invoke the dispute resolution procedure set forth in Article 16 within 30 days of such action or 
denial. 

F. No Claim for an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times will be valid if not submitted in 
accordance with this Paragraph 10.05. 

ARTICLE 11 – COST OF THE WORK; ALLOWANCES; UNIT PRICE WORK 

11.01 Cost of the Work 

A. Costs Included:  The term Cost of the Work means the sum of all costs, except those excluded in 
Paragraph 11.01.B, necessarily incurred and paid by Contractor in the proper performance of the 
Work. When the value of any Work covered by a Change Order or when a Claim for an 
adjustment in Contract Price is determined on the basis of Cost of the Work, the costs to be 
reimbursed to Contractor will be only those additional or incremental costs required because of 
the change in the Work or because of the event giving rise to the Claim. Except as otherwise may 
be agreed to in writing by Owner, such costs shall be in amounts no higher than those prevailing 
in the locality of the Project, shall not include any of the costs itemized in Paragraph 11.01.B, and 
shall include only the following items: 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 241 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 43  of  62 
 

1. Payroll costs for employees in the direct employ of Contractor in the performance of the 
Work under schedules of job classifications agreed upon by Owner and Contractor. Such 
employees shall include, without limitation, superintendents, foremen, and other personnel 
employed full time on the Work. Payroll costs for employees not employed full time on the 
Work shall be apportioned on the basis of their time spent on the Work. Payroll costs shall 
include, but not be limited to, salaries and wages plus the cost of fringe benefits, which shall 
include social security contributions, unemployment, excise, and payroll taxes, workers’ 
compensation, health and retirement benefits, bonuses, sick leave, vacation and holiday pay 
applicable thereto. The expenses of performing Work outside of regular working hours, on 
Saturday, Sunday, or legal holidays, shall be included in the above to the extent authorized by 
Owner. 

2. Cost of all materials and equipment furnished and incorporated in the Work, including costs 
of transportation and storage thereof, and Suppliers’ field services required in connection 
therewith. All cash discounts shall accrue to Contractor unless Owner deposits funds with 
Contractor with which to make payments, in which case the cash discounts shall accrue to 
Owner. All trade discounts, rebates and refunds and returns from sale of surplus materials and 
equipment shall accrue to Owner, and Contractor shall make provisions so that they may be 
obtained. 

3. Payments made by Contractor to Subcontractors for Work performed by Subcontractors. If 
required by Owner, Contractor shall obtain competitive bids from subcontractors acceptable 
to Owner and Contractor and shall deliver such bids to Owner, who will then determine, with 
the advice of Engineer, which bids, if any, will be acceptable. If any subcontract provides that 
the Subcontractor is to be paid on the basis of Cost of the Work plus a fee, the 
Subcontractor’s Cost of the Work and fee shall be determined in the same manner as 
Contractor’s Cost of the Work and fee as provided in this Paragraph 11.01. 

4. Costs of special consultants (including but not limited to engineers, architects, testing 
laboratories, surveyors, attorneys, and accountants) employed for services specifically related 
to the Work. 

5. Supplemental costs including the following: 

a. The proportion of necessary transportation, travel, and subsistence expenses of 
Contractor’s employees incurred in discharge of duties connected with the Work. 

b. Cost, including transportation and maintenance, of all materials, supplies, equipment, 
machinery, appliances, office, and temporary facilities at the Site, and hand tools not 
owned by the workers, which are consumed in the performance of the Work, and cost, 
less market value, of such items used but not consumed which remain the property of 
Contractor. 

c. Rentals of all construction equipment and machinery, and the parts thereof whether rented 
from Contractor or others in accordance with rental agreements approved by Owner with 
the advice of Engineer, and the costs of transportation, loading, unloading, assembly, 
dismantling, and removal thereof. All such costs shall be in accordance with the terms of 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 242 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 44  of  62 
 

said rental agreements. The rental of any such equipment, machinery, or parts shall cease 
when the use thereof is no longer necessary for the Work. 

d. Sales, consumer, use, and other similar taxes related to the Work, and for which 
Contractor is liable, as imposed by Laws and Regulations. 

e. Deposits lost for causes other than negligence of Contractor, any Subcontractor, or 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may 
be liable, and royalty payments and fees for permits and licenses. 

f. Losses and damages (and related expenses) caused by damage to the Work, not 
compensated by insurance or otherwise, sustained by Contractor in connection with the 
performance of the Work (except losses and damages within the deductible amounts of 
property insurance established in accordance with Paragraph 5.06.D), provided such 
losses and damages have resulted from causes other than the negligence of Contractor, 
any Subcontractor, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose 
acts any of them may be liable. Such losses shall include settlements made with the 
written consent and approval of Owner. No such losses, damages, and expenses shall be 
included in the Cost of the Work for the purpose of determining Contractor’s fee. 

g. The cost of utilities, fuel, and sanitary facilities at the Site. 

h. Minor expenses such as telegrams, long distance telephone calls, telephone service at the 
Site, express and courier services, and similar petty cash items in connection with the 
Work. 

i. The costs of premiums for all bonds and insurance Contractor is required by the Contract 
Documents to purchase and maintain. 

B. Costs Excluded: The term Cost of the Work shall not include any of the following items: 

1. Payroll costs and other compensation of Contractor’s officers, executives, principals (of 
partnerships and sole proprietorships), general managers, safety managers, engineers, 
architects, estimators, attorneys, auditors, accountants, purchasing and contracting agents, 
expediters, timekeepers, clerks, and other personnel employed by Contractor, whether at the 
Site or in Contractor’s principal or branch office for general administration of the Work and 
not specifically included in the agreed upon schedule of job classifications referred to in 
Paragraph 11.01.A.1 or specifically covered by Paragraph 11.01.A.4, all of which are to be 
considered administrative costs covered by the Contractor’s fee. 

2. Expenses of Contractor’s principal and branch offices other than Contractor’s office at the 
Site. 

3. Any part of Contractor’s capital expenses, including interest on Contractor’s capital 
employed for the Work and charges against Contractor for delinquent payments. 

4. Costs due to the negligence of Contractor, any Subcontractor, or anyone directly or indirectly 
employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be liable, including but not 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 243 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 45  of  62 
 

limited to, the correction of defective Work, disposal of materials or equipment wrongly 
supplied, and making good any damage to property. 

5. Other overhead or general expense costs of any kind and the costs of any item not specifically 
and expressly included in Paragraphs 11.01.A. 

C. Contractor’s Fee:  When all the Work is performed on the basis of cost-plus, Contractor’s fee 
shall be determined as set forth in the Agreement. When the value of any Work covered by a 
Change Order or when a Claim for an adjustment in Contract Price is determined on the basis of 
Cost of the Work, Contractor’s fee shall be determined as set forth in Paragraph 12.01.C. 

D. Documentation:  Whenever the Cost of the Work for any purpose is to be determined pursuant to 
Paragraphs 11.01.A and 11.01.B, Contractor will establish and maintain records thereof in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting practices and submit in a form acceptable to 
Engineer an itemized cost breakdown together with supporting data. 

11.02 Allowances 

A. It is understood that Contractor has included in the Contract Price all allowances so named in the 
Contract Documents and shall cause the Work so covered to be performed for such sums and by 
such persons or entities as may be acceptable to Owner and Engineer. 

B. Cash Allowances: 

1. Contractor agrees that: 

a. the cash allowances include the cost to Contractor (less any applicable trade discounts) of 
materials and equipment required by the allowances to be delivered at the Site, and all 
applicable taxes; and 

b. Contractor’s costs for unloading and handling on the Site, labor, installation, overhead, 
profit, and other expenses contemplated for the cash allowances have been included in the 
Contract Price and not in the allowances, and no demand for additional payment on 
account of any of the foregoing will be valid. 

C. Contingency Allowance: 

1. Contractor agrees that a contingency allowance, if any, is for the sole use of Owner to cover 
unanticipated costs. 

D. Prior to final payment, an appropriate Change Order will be issued as recommended by Engineer 
to reflect actual amounts due Contractor on account of Work covered by allowances, and the 
Contract Price shall be correspondingly adjusted. 

11.03 Unit Price Work 

A. Where the Contract Documents provide that all or part of the Work is to be Unit Price Work, 
initially the Contract Price will be deemed to include for all Unit Price Work an amount equal to 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 244 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 46  of  62 
 

the sum of the unit price for each separately identified item of Unit Price Work times the 
estimated quantity of each item as indicated in the Agreement. 

B. The estimated quantities of items of Unit Price Work are not guaranteed and are solely for the 
purpose of comparison of Bids and determining an initial Contract Price. Determinations of the 
actual quantities and classifications of Unit Price Work performed by Contractor will be made by 
Engineer subject to the provisions of Paragraph 9.07. 

C. Each unit price will be deemed to include an amount considered by Contractor to be adequate to 
cover Contractor’s overhead and profit for each separately identified item. 

D. Owner or Contractor may make a Claim for an adjustment in the Contract Price in accordance 
with Paragraph 10.05 if: 

1. the quantity of any item of Unit Price Work performed by Contractor differs materially and 
significantly from the estimated quantity of such item indicated in the Agreement; and  

2. there is no corresponding adjustment with respect to any other item of Work; and 

3. Contractor believes that Contractor is entitled to an increase in Contract Price as a result of 
having incurred additional expense or Owner believes that Owner is entitled to a decrease in 
Contract Price and the parties are unable to agree as to the amount of any such increase or 
decrease. 

ARTICLE 12 – CHANGE OF CONTRACT PRICE; CHANGE OF CONTRACT TIMES 

12.01 Change of Contract Price 

A. The Contract Price may only be changed by a Change Order. Any Claim for an adjustment in the 
Contract Price shall be based on written notice submitted by the party making the Claim to the 
Engineer and the other party to the Contract in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 
10.05. 

B. The value of any Work covered by a Change Order or of any Claim for an adjustment in the 
Contract Price will be determined as follows: 

1. where the Work involved is covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents, by 
application of such unit prices to the quantities of the items involved (subject to the 
provisions of Paragraph 11.03); or 

2. where the Work involved is not covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents, 
by a mutually agreed lump sum (which may include an allowance for overhead and profit not 
necessarily in accordance with Paragraph 12.01.C.2); or 

3. where the Work involved is not covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents 
and agreement to a lump sum is not reached under Paragraph 12.01.B.2, on the basis of the 
Cost of the Work (determined as provided in Paragraph 11.01) plus a Contractor’s fee for 
overhead and profit (determined as provided in Paragraph 12.01.C). 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 245 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 47  of  62 
 

C. Contractor’s Fee:  The Contractor’s fee for overhead and profit shall be determined as follows: 

1. a mutually acceptable fixed fee; or  

2. if a fixed fee is not agreed upon, then a fee based on the following percentages of the various 
portions of the Cost of the Work: 

a. for costs incurred under Paragraphs 11.01.A.1 and 11.01.A.2, the Contractor’s fee shall 
be 15 percent; 

b. for costs incurred under Paragraph 11.01.A.3, the Contractor’s fee shall be five percent;  

c. where one or more tiers of subcontracts are on the basis of Cost of the Work plus a fee 
and no fixed fee is agreed upon, the intent of Paragraphs 12.01.C.2.a and 12.01.C.2.b is 
that the Subcontractor who actually performs the Work, at whatever tier, will be paid a 
fee of 15 percent of the costs incurred by such Subcontractor under Paragraphs 11.01.A.1 
and 11.01.A.2 and that any higher tier Subcontractor and Contractor will each be paid a 
fee of five percent of the amount paid to the next lower tier Subcontractor; 

d. no fee shall be payable on the basis of costs itemized under Paragraphs 11.01.A.4, 
11.01.A.5, and 11.01.B;  

e. the amount of credit to be allowed by Contractor to Owner for any change which results 
in a net decrease in cost will be the amount of the actual net decrease in cost plus a 
deduction in Contractor’s fee by an amount equal to five percent of such net decrease; 
and  

f. when both additions and credits are involved in any one change, the adjustment in 
Contractor’s fee shall be computed on the basis of the net change in accordance with 
Paragraphs 12.01.C.2.a through 12.01.C.2.e, inclusive. 

12.02 Change of Contract Times 

A. The Contract Times may only be changed by a Change Order. Any Claim for an adjustment in 
the Contract Times shall be based on written notice submitted by the party making the Claim to 
the Engineer and the other party to the Contract in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 
10.05. 

B. Any adjustment of the Contract Times covered by a Change Order or any Claim for an 
adjustment in the Contract Times will be determined in accordance with the provisions of this 
Article 12. 

12.03 Delays 

A. Where Contractor is prevented from completing any part of the Work within the Contract Times 
due to delay beyond the control of Contractor, the Contract Times will be extended in an amount 
equal to the time lost due to such delay if a Claim is made therefor as provided in Paragraph 
12.02.A. Delays beyond the control of Contractor shall include, but not be limited to, acts or 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 246 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 48  of  62 
 

neglect by Owner, acts or neglect of utility owners or other contractors performing other work as 
contemplated by Article 7, fires, floods, epidemics, abnormal weather conditions, or acts of God. 

B. If Owner, Engineer, or other contractors or utility owners performing other work for Owner as 
contemplated by Article 7, or anyone for whom Owner is responsible, delays, disrupts, or 
interferes with the performance or progress of the Work, then Contractor shall be entitled to an 
equitable adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times, or both. Contractor’s 
entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned on such adjustment being 
essential to Contractor’s ability to complete the Work within the Contract Times. 

C. If Contractor is delayed in the performance or progress of the Work by fire, flood, epidemic, 
abnormal weather conditions, acts of God, acts or failures to act of utility owners not under the 
control of Owner, or other causes not the fault of and beyond control of Owner and Contractor, 
then Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in Contract Times, if such adjustment 
is essential to Contractor’s ability to complete the Work within the Contract Times. Such an 
adjustment shall be Contractor’s sole and exclusive remedy for the delays described in this 
Paragraph 12.03.C. 

D. Owner, Engineer, and their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, 
or subcontractors shall not be liable to Contractor for any claims, costs, losses, or damages 
(including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other 
professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) sustained by Contractor 
on or in connection with any other project or anticipated project. 

E. Contractor shall not be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times for delays 
within the control of Contractor. Delays attributable to and within the control of a Subcontractor 
or Supplier shall be deemed to be delays within the control of Contractor. 

ARTICLE 13 – TESTS AND INSPECTIONS; CORRECTION, REMOVAL OR ACCEPTANCE OF 
DEFECTIVE WORK 

13.01 Notice of Defects 

A. Prompt notice of all defective Work of which Owner or Engineer has actual knowledge will be 
given to Contractor. Defective Work may be rejected, corrected, or accepted as provided in this 
Article 13. 

13.02 Access to Work 

A. Owner, Engineer, their consultants and other representatives and personnel of Owner, 
independent testing laboratories, and governmental agencies with jurisdictional interests will 
have access to the Site and the Work at reasonable times for their observation, inspection, and 
testing. Contractor shall provide them proper and safe conditions for such access and advise them 
of Contractor’s safety procedures and programs so that they may comply therewith as applicable. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 247 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 49  of  62 
 

13.03 Tests and Inspections 

A. Contractor shall give Engineer timely notice of readiness of the Work for all required inspections, 
tests, or approvals and shall cooperate with inspection and testing personnel to facilitate required 
inspections or tests. 

B. Owner shall employ and pay for the services of an independent testing laboratory to perform all 
inspections, tests, or approvals required by the Contract Documents except: 

1. for inspections, tests, or approvals covered by Paragraphs 13.03.C and 13.03.D below; 

2. that costs incurred in connection with tests or inspections conducted pursuant to Paragraph 
13.04.B shall be paid as provided in Paragraph 13.04.C; and 

3. as otherwise specifically provided in the Contract Documents. 

C. If Laws or Regulations of any public body having jurisdiction require any Work (or part thereof) 
specifically to be inspected, tested, or approved by an employee or other representative of such 
public body, Contractor shall assume full responsibility for arranging and obtaining such 
inspections, tests, or approvals, pay all costs in connection therewith, and furnish Engineer the 
required certificates of inspection or approval. 

D. Contractor shall be responsible for arranging and obtaining and shall pay all costs in connection 
with any inspections, tests, or approvals required for Owner’s and Engineer’s acceptance of 
materials or equipment to be incorporated in the Work; or acceptance of materials, mix designs, 
or equipment submitted for approval prior to Contractor’s purchase thereof for incorporation in 
the Work. Such inspections, tests, or approvals shall be performed by organizations acceptable to 
Owner and Engineer. 

E. If any Work (or the work of others) that is to be inspected, tested, or approved is covered by 
Contractor without written concurrence of Engineer, Contractor shall, if requested by Engineer, 
uncover such Work for observation. 

F. Uncovering Work as provided in Paragraph 13.03.E shall be at Contractor’s expense unless 
Contractor has given Engineer timely notice of Contractor’s intention to cover the same and 
Engineer has not acted with reasonable promptness in response to such notice. 

13.04 Uncovering Work 

A. If any Work is covered contrary to the written request of Engineer, it must, if requested by 
Engineer, be uncovered for Engineer’s observation and replaced at Contractor’s expense. 

B. If Engineer considers it necessary or advisable that covered Work be observed by Engineer or 
inspected or tested by others, Contractor, at Engineer’s request, shall uncover, expose, or 
otherwise make available for observation, inspection, or testing as Engineer may require, that 
portion of the Work in question, furnishing all necessary labor, material, and equipment. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 248 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 50  of  62 
 

C. If it is found that the uncovered Work is defective, Contractor shall pay all claims, costs, losses, 
and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, 
and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of 
or relating to such uncovering, exposure, observation, inspection, and testing, and of satisfactory 
replacement or reconstruction (including but not limited to all costs of repair or replacement of 
work of others); and Owner shall be entitled to an appropriate decrease in the Contract Price. If 
the parties are unable to agree as to the amount thereof, Owner may make a Claim therefor as 
provided in Paragraph 10.05. 

D. If the uncovered Work is not found to be defective, Contractor shall be allowed an increase in the 
Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Times, or both, directly attributable to such 
uncovering, exposure, observation, inspection, testing, replacement, and reconstruction. If the 
parties are unable to agree as to the amount or extent thereof, Contractor may make a Claim 
therefor as provided in Paragraph 10.05. 

13.05 Owner May Stop the Work 

A. If the Work is defective, or Contractor fails to supply sufficient skilled workers or suitable 
materials or equipment, or fails to perform the Work in such a way that the completed Work will 
conform to the Contract Documents, Owner may order Contractor to stop the Work, or any 
portion thereof, until the cause for such order has been eliminated; however, this right of Owner 
to stop the Work shall not give rise to any duty on the part of Owner to exercise this right for the 
benefit of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, any other individual or entity, or any 
surety for, or employee or agent of any of them. 

13.06 Correction or Removal of Defective Work 

A. Promptly after receipt of written notice, Contractor shall correct all defective Work, whether or 
not fabricated, installed, or completed, or, if the Work has been rejected by Engineer, remove it 
from the Project and replace it with Work that is not defective. Contractor shall pay all claims, 
costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, 
architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute 
resolution costs) arising out of or relating to such correction or removal (including but not limited 
to all costs of repair or replacement of work of others). 

B. When correcting defective Work under the terms of this Paragraph 13.06 or Paragraph 13.07, 
Contractor shall take no action that would void or otherwise impair Owner’s special warranty and 
guarantee, if any, on said Work. 

13.07 Correction Period 

A. If within one year after the date of Substantial Completion (or such longer period of time as may 
be prescribed by the terms of any applicable special guarantee required by the Contract 
Documents) or by any specific provision of the Contract Documents, any Work is found to be 
defective, or if the repair of any damages to the land or areas made available for Contractor’s use 
by Owner or permitted by Laws and Regulations as contemplated in Paragraph 6.11.A is found to 
be defective, Contractor shall promptly, without cost to Owner and in accordance with Owner’s 
written instructions: 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 249 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 51  of  62 
 

1. repair such defective land or areas; or  

2. correct such defective Work; or 

3. if the defective Work has been rejected by Owner, remove it from the Project and replace it 
with Work that is not defective, and  

4. satisfactorily correct or repair or remove and replace any damage to other Work, to the work 
of others or other land or areas resulting therefrom. 

B. If Contractor does not promptly comply with the terms of Owner’s written instructions, or in an 
emergency where delay would cause serious risk of loss or damage, Owner may have the 
defective Work corrected or repaired or may have the rejected Work removed and replaced. All 
claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, 
architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute 
resolution costs) arising out of or relating to such correction or repair or such removal and 
replacement (including but not limited to all costs of repair or replacement of work of others) will 
be paid by Contractor. 

C. In special circumstances where a particular item of equipment is placed in continuous service 
before Substantial Completion of all the Work, the correction period for that item may start to run 
from an earlier date if so provided in the Specifications. 

D. Where defective Work (and damage to other Work resulting therefrom) has been corrected or 
removed and replaced under this Paragraph 13.07, the correction period hereunder with respect to 
such Work will be extended for an additional period of one year after such correction or removal 
and replacement has been satisfactorily completed. 

E. Contractor’s obligations under this Paragraph 13.07 are in addition to any other obligation or 
warranty. The provisions of this Paragraph 13.07 shall not be construed as a substitute for, or a 
waiver of, the provisions of any applicable statute of limitation or repose. 

13.08 Acceptance of Defective Work 

A. If, instead of requiring correction or removal and replacement of defective Work, Owner (and, 
prior to Engineer’s recommendation of final payment, Engineer) prefers to accept it, Owner may 
do so. Contractor shall pay all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all 
fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or 
arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) attributable to Owner’s evaluation of and 
determination to accept such defective Work (such costs to be approved by Engineer as to 
reasonableness) and for the diminished value of the Work to the extent not otherwise paid by 
Contractor pursuant to this sentence. If any such acceptance occurs prior to Engineer’s 
recommendation of final payment, a Change Order will be issued incorporating the necessary 
revisions in the Contract Documents with respect to the Work, and Owner shall be entitled to an 
appropriate decrease in the Contract Price, reflecting the diminished value of Work so accepted. 
If the parties are unable to agree as to the amount thereof, Owner may make a Claim therefor as 
provided in Paragraph 10.05. If the acceptance occurs after such recommendation, an appropriate 
amount will be paid by Contractor to Owner. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 250 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 52  of  62 
 

13.09 Owner May Correct Defective Work 

A. If Contractor fails within a reasonable time after written notice from Engineer to correct defective 
Work, or to remove and replace rejected Work as required by Engineer in accordance with 
Paragraph 13.06.A, or if Contractor fails to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents, or if Contractor fails to comply with any other provision of the Contract Documents, 
Owner may, after seven days written notice to Contractor, correct, or remedy any such deficiency. 

B. In exercising the rights and remedies under this Paragraph 13.09, Owner shall proceed 
expeditiously. In connection with such corrective or remedial action, Owner may exclude 
Contractor from all or part of the Site, take possession of all or part of the Work and suspend 
Contractor’s services related thereto, take possession of Contractor’s tools, appliances, 
construction equipment and machinery at the Site, and incorporate in the Work all materials and 
equipment stored at the Site or for which Owner has paid Contractor but which are stored 
elsewhere. Contractor shall allow Owner, Owner’s representatives, agents and employees, 
Owner’s other contractors, and Engineer and Engineer’s consultants access to the Site to enable 
Owner to exercise the rights and remedies under this Paragraph. 

C. All claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of 
engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other 
dispute resolution costs) incurred or sustained by Owner in exercising the rights and remedies 
under this Paragraph 13.09 will be charged against Contractor, and a Change Order will be issued 
incorporating the necessary revisions in the Contract Documents with respect to the Work; and 
Owner shall be entitled to an appropriate decrease in the Contract Price. If the parties are unable 
to agree as to the amount of the adjustment, Owner may make a Claim therefor as provided in 
Paragraph 10.05. Such claims, costs, losses and damages will include but not be limited to all 
costs of repair, or replacement of work of others destroyed or damaged by correction, removal, or 
replacement of Contractor’s defective Work. 

D. Contractor shall not be allowed an extension of the Contract Times because of any delay in the 
performance of the Work attributable to the exercise by Owner of Owner’s rights and remedies 
under this Paragraph 13.09. 

ARTICLE 14 – PAYMENTS TO CONTRACTOR AND COMPLETION 

14.01 Schedule of Values 

A. The Schedule of Values established as provided in Paragraph 2.07.A will serve as the basis for 
progress payments and will be incorporated into a form of Application for Payment acceptable to 
Engineer. Progress payments on account of Unit Price Work will be based on the number of units 
completed. 

14.02 Progress Payments 

A. Applications for Payments: 

1. At least 20 days before the date established in the Agreement for each progress payment (but 
not more often than once a month), Contractor shall submit to Engineer for review an 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 251 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 53  of  62 
 

Application for Payment filled out and signed by Contractor covering the Work completed as 
of the date of the Application and accompanied by such supporting documentation as is 
required by the Contract Documents. If payment is requested on the basis of materials and 
equipment not incorporated in the Work but delivered and suitably stored at the Site or at 
another location agreed to in writing, the Application for Payment shall also be accompanied 
by a bill of sale, invoice, or other documentation warranting that Owner has received the 
materials and equipment free and clear of all Liens and evidence that the materials and 
equipment are covered by appropriate property insurance or other arrangements to protect 
Owner’s interest therein, all of which must be satisfactory to Owner. 

2. Beginning with the second Application for Payment, each Application shall include an 
affidavit of Contractor stating that all previous progress payments received on account of the 
Work have been applied on account to discharge Contractor’s legitimate obligations 
associated with prior Applications for Payment. 

3. The amount of retainage with respect to progress payments will be as stipulated in the 
Agreement. 

B. Review of Applications: 

1. Engineer will, within 10 days after receipt of each Application for Payment, either indicate in 
writing a recommendation of payment and present the Application to Owner or return the 
Application to Contractor indicating in writing Engineer’s reasons for refusing to recommend 
payment. In the latter case, Contractor may make the necessary corrections and resubmit the 
Application. 

2. Engineer’s recommendation of any payment requested in an Application for Payment will 
constitute a representation by Engineer to Owner, based on Engineer’s observations of the 
executed Work as an experienced and qualified design professional, and on Engineer’s 
review of the Application for Payment and the accompanying data and schedules, that to the 
best of Engineer’s knowledge, information and belief: 

a. the Work has progressed to the point indicated; 

b. the quality of the Work is generally in accordance with the Contract Documents (subject 
to an evaluation of the Work as a functioning whole prior to or upon Substantial 
Completion, the results of any subsequent tests called for in the Contract Documents, a 
final determination of quantities and classifications for Unit Price Work under Paragraph 
9.07, and any other qualifications stated in the recommendation); and 

c. the conditions precedent to Contractor’s being entitled to such payment appear to have 
been fulfilled in so far as it is Engineer’s responsibility to observe the Work. 

3. By recommending any such payment Engineer will not thereby be deemed to have 
represented that: 

a. inspections made to check the quality or the quantity of the Work as it has been 
performed have been exhaustive, extended to every aspect of the Work in progress, or 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 252 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 54  of  62 
 

involved detailed inspections of the Work beyond the responsibilities specifically 
assigned to Engineer in the Contract Documents; or  

b. there may not be other matters or issues between the parties that might entitle Contractor 
to be paid additionally by Owner or entitle Owner to withhold payment to Contractor. 

4. Neither Engineer’s review of Contractor’s Work for the purposes of recommending payments 
nor Engineer’s recommendation of any payment, including final payment, will impose 
responsibility on Engineer: 

a. to supervise, direct, or control the Work, or 

b. for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the 
safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or 

c. for Contractor’s failure to comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to Contractor’s 
performance of the Work, or 

d. to make any examination to ascertain how or for what purposes Contractor has used the 
moneys paid on account of the Contract Price, or  

e. to determine that title to any of the Work, materials, or equipment has passed to Owner 
free and clear of any Liens. 

5. Engineer may refuse to recommend the whole or any part of any payment if, in Engineer’s 
opinion, it would be incorrect to make the representations to Owner stated in 
Paragraph 14.02.B.2. Engineer may also refuse to recommend any such payment or, because 
of subsequently discovered evidence or the results of subsequent inspections or tests, revise 
or revoke any such payment recommendation previously made, to such extent as may be 
necessary in Engineer’s opinion to protect Owner from loss because: 

a. the Work is defective, or completed Work has been damaged, requiring correction or 
replacement; 

b. the Contract Price has been reduced by Change Orders; 

c. Owner has been required to correct defective Work or complete Work in accordance with 
Paragraph 13.09; or 

d. Engineer has actual knowledge of the occurrence of any of the events enumerated in 
Paragraph 15.02.A. 

C. Payment Becomes Due: 

1. Ten days after presentation of the Application for Payment to Owner with Engineer’s 
recommendation, the amount recommended will (subject to the provisions of Paragraph 
14.02.D) become due, and when due will be paid by Owner to Contractor. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 253 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 55  of  62 
 

D. Reduction in Payment: 

1. Owner may refuse to make payment of the full amount recommended by Engineer because: 

a. claims have been made against Owner on account of Contractor’s performance or 
furnishing of the Work; 

b. Liens have been filed in connection with the Work, except where Contractor has 
delivered a specific bond satisfactory to Owner to secure the satisfaction and discharge of 
such Liens; 

c. there are other items entitling Owner to a set-off against the amount recommended; or 

d. Owner has actual knowledge of the occurrence of any of the events enumerated in 
Paragraphs 14.02.B.5.a through 14.02.B.5.c or Paragraph 15.02.A. 

2. If Owner refuses to make payment of the full amount recommended by Engineer, Owner will 
give Contractor immediate written notice (with a copy to Engineer) stating the reasons for 
such action and promptly pay Contractor any amount remaining after deduction of the 
amount so withheld. Owner shall promptly pay Contractor the amount so withheld, or any 
adjustment thereto agreed to by Owner and Contractor, when Contractor remedies the reasons 
for such action. 

3. Upon a subsequent determination that Owner’s refusal of payment was not justified, the 
amount wrongfully withheld shall be treated as an amount due as determined by Paragraph 
14.02.C.1 and subject to interest as provided in the Agreement. 

14.03 Contractor’s Warranty of Title 

A. Contractor warrants and guarantees that title to all Work, materials, and equipment covered by 
any Application for Payment, whether incorporated in the Project or not, will pass to Owner no 
later than the time of payment free and clear of all Liens. 

14.04 Substantial Completion 

A. When Contractor considers the entire Work ready for its intended use Contractor shall notify 
Owner and Engineer in writing that the entire Work is substantially complete (except for items 
specifically listed by Contractor as incomplete) and request that Engineer issue a certificate of 
Substantial Completion. 

B. Promptly after Contractor’s notification, Owner, Contractor, and Engineer shall make an 
inspection of the Work to determine the status of completion. If Engineer does not consider the 
Work substantially complete, Engineer will notify Contractor in writing giving the reasons 
therefor. 

C. If Engineer considers the Work substantially complete, Engineer will deliver to Owner a tentative 
certificate of Substantial Completion which shall fix the date of Substantial Completion. There 
shall be attached to the certificate a tentative list of items to be completed or corrected before 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 254 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 56  of  62 
 

final payment. Owner shall have seven days after receipt of the tentative certificate during which 
to make written objection to Engineer as to any provisions of the certificate or attached list. If, 
after considering such objections, Engineer concludes that the Work is not substantially 
complete, Engineer will, within 14 days after submission of the tentative certificate to Owner, 
notify Contractor in writing, stating the reasons therefor. If, after consideration of Owner’s 
objections, Engineer considers the Work substantially complete, Engineer will, within said 14 
days, execute and deliver to Owner and Contractor a definitive certificate of Substantial 
Completion (with a revised tentative list of items to be completed or corrected) reflecting such 
changes from the tentative certificate as Engineer believes justified after consideration of any 
objections from Owner. 

D. At the time of delivery of the tentative certificate of Substantial Completion, Engineer will 
deliver to Owner and Contractor a written recommendation as to division of responsibilities 
pending final payment between Owner and Contractor with respect to security, operation, safety, 
and protection of the Work, maintenance, heat, utilities, insurance, and warranties and 
guarantees. Unless Owner and Contractor agree otherwise in writing and so inform Engineer in 
writing prior to Engineer’s issuing the definitive certificate of Substantial Completion, Engineer’s 
aforesaid recommendation will be binding on Owner and Contractor until final payment. 

E. Owner shall have the right to exclude Contractor from the Site after the date of Substantial 
Completion subject to allowing Contractor reasonable access to remove its property and 
complete or correct items on the tentative list. 

14.05 Partial Utilization 

A. Prior to Substantial Completion of all the Work, Owner may use or occupy any substantially 
completed part of the Work which has specifically been identified in the Contract Documents, or 
which Owner, Engineer, and Contractor agree constitutes a separately functioning and usable part 
of the Work that can be used by Owner for its intended purpose without significant interference 
with Contractor’s performance of the remainder of the Work, subject to the following conditions: 

1. Owner at any time may request Contractor in writing to permit Owner to use or occupy any 
such part of the Work which Owner believes to be ready for its intended use and substantially 
complete. If and when Contractor agrees that such part of the Work is substantially complete, 
Contractor, Owner, and Engineer will follow the procedures of Paragraph 14.04.A through D 
for that part of the Work. 

2. Contractor at any time may notify Owner and Engineer in writing that Contractor considers 
any such part of the Work ready for its intended use and substantially complete and request 
Engineer to issue a certificate of Substantial Completion for that part of the Work. 

3. Within a reasonable time after either such request, Owner, Contractor, and Engineer shall 
make an inspection of that part of the Work to determine its status of completion. If Engineer 
does not consider that part of the Work to be substantially complete, Engineer will notify 
Owner and Contractor in writing giving the reasons therefor. If Engineer considers that part 
of the Work to be substantially complete, the provisions of Paragraph 14.04 will apply with 
respect to certification of Substantial Completion of that part of the Work and the division of 
responsibility in respect thereof and access thereto. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 255 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 57  of  62 
 

4. No use or occupancy or separate operation of part of the Work may occur prior to compliance 
with the requirements of Paragraph 5.10 regarding property insurance. 

14.06 Final Inspection 

A. Upon written notice from Contractor that the entire Work or an agreed portion thereof is 
complete, Engineer will promptly make a final inspection with Owner and Contractor and will 
notify Contractor in writing of all particulars in which this inspection reveals that the Work is 
incomplete or defective. Contractor shall immediately take such measures as are necessary to 
complete such Work or remedy such deficiencies. 

14.07 Final Payment 

A. Application for Payment: 

1. After Contractor has, in the opinion of Engineer, satisfactorily completed all corrections 
identified during the final inspection and has delivered, in accordance with the Contract 
Documents, all maintenance and operating instructions, schedules, guarantees, bonds, 
certificates or other evidence of insurance, certificates of inspection, marked-up record 
documents (as provided in Paragraph 6.12), and other documents, Contractor may make 
application for final payment following the procedure for progress payments. 

2. The final Application for Payment shall be accompanied (except as previously delivered) by: 

a. all documentation called for in the Contract Documents, including but not limited to the 
evidence of insurance required by Paragraph 5.04.B.6; 

b. consent of the surety, if any, to final payment;  

c. a list of all Claims against Owner that Contractor believes are unsettled; and  

d. complete and legally effective releases or waivers (satisfactory to Owner) of all Lien 
rights arising out of or Liens filed in connection with the Work. 

3. In lieu of the releases or waivers of Liens specified in Paragraph 14.07.A.2 and as approved 
by Owner, Contractor may furnish receipts or releases in full and an affidavit of Contractor 
that:  (i) the releases and receipts include all labor, services, material, and equipment for 
which a Lien could be filed; and (ii) all payrolls, material and equipment bills, and other 
indebtedness connected with the Work for which Owner might in any way be responsible, or 
which might in any way result in liens or other burdens on Owner's property, have been paid 
or otherwise satisfied. If any Subcontractor or Supplier fails to furnish such a release or 
receipt in full, Contractor may furnish a bond or other collateral satisfactory to Owner to 
indemnify Owner against any Lien. 

B. Engineer’s Review of Application and Acceptance: 

1. If, on the basis of Engineer’s observation of the Work during construction and final 
inspection, and Engineer’s review of the final Application for Payment and accompanying 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 256 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 58  of  62 
 

documentation as required by the Contract Documents, Engineer is satisfied that the Work 
has been completed and Contractor’s other obligations under the Contract Documents have 
been fulfilled, Engineer will, within ten days after receipt of the final Application for 
Payment, indicate in writing Engineer’s recommendation of payment and present the 
Application for Payment to Owner for payment. At the same time Engineer will also give 
written notice to Owner and Contractor that the Work is acceptable subject to the provisions 
of Paragraph 14.09. Otherwise, Engineer will return the Application for Payment to 
Contractor, indicating in writing the reasons for refusing to recommend final payment, in 
which case Contractor shall make the necessary corrections and resubmit the Application for 
Payment. 

C. Payment Becomes Due: 

1. Thirty days after the presentation to Owner of the Application for Payment and 
accompanying documentation, the amount recommended by Engineer, less any sum Owner is 
entitled to set off against Engineer’s recommendation, including but not limited to liquidated 
damages, will become due and will be paid by Owner to Contractor. 

14.08 Final Completion Delayed 

A. If, through no fault of Contractor, final completion of the Work is significantly delayed, and if 
Engineer so confirms, Owner shall, upon receipt of Contractor’s final Application for Payment 
(for Work fully completed and accepted) and recommendation of Engineer, and without 
terminating the Contract, make payment of the balance due for that portion of the Work fully 
completed and accepted. If the remaining balance to be held by Owner for Work not fully 
completed or corrected is less than the retainage stipulated in the Agreement, and if bonds have 
been furnished as required in Paragraph 5.01, the written consent of the surety to the payment of 
the balance due for that portion of the Work fully completed and accepted shall be submitted by 
Contractor to Engineer with the Application for such payment. Such payment shall be made 
under the terms and conditions governing final payment, except that it shall not constitute a 
waiver of Claims. 

14.09 Waiver of Claims 

A. The making and acceptance of final payment will constitute: 

1. a waiver of all Claims by Owner against Contractor, except Claims arising from unsettled 
Liens, from defective Work appearing after final inspection pursuant to Paragraph 14.06, 
from failure to comply with the Contract Documents or the terms of any special guarantees 
specified therein, or from Contractor’s continuing obligations under the Contract Documents; 
and 

2. a waiver of all Claims by Contractor against Owner other than those previously made in 
accordance with the requirements herein and expressly acknowledged by Owner in writing as 
still unsettled. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 257 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 59  of  62 
 

ARTICLE 15 – SUSPENSION OF WORK AND TERMINATION 

15.01 Owner May Suspend Work 

A. At any time and without cause, Owner may suspend the Work or any portion thereof for a period 
of not more than 90 consecutive days by notice in writing to Contractor and Engineer which will 
fix the date on which Work will be resumed. Contractor shall resume the Work on the date so 
fixed. Contractor shall be granted an adjustment in the Contract Price or an extension of the 
Contract Times, or both, directly attributable to any such suspension if Contractor makes a Claim 
therefor as provided in Paragraph 10.05. 

15.02 Owner May Terminate for Cause 

A. The occurrence of any one or more of the following events will justify termination for cause: 

1. Contractor’s persistent failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents (including, but not limited to, failure to supply sufficient skilled workers or 
suitable materials or equipment or failure to adhere to the Progress Schedule established 
under Paragraph 2.07 as adjusted from time to time pursuant to Paragraph 6.04); 

2. Contractor’s disregard of Laws or Regulations of any public body having jurisdiction; 

3. Contractor’s repeated disregard of the authority of Engineer; or 

4. Contractor’s violation in any substantial way of any provisions of the Contract Documents. 

B. If one or more of the events identified in Paragraph 15.02.A occur, Owner may, after giving 
Contractor (and surety) seven days written notice of its intent to terminate the services of 
Contractor: 

1. exclude Contractor from the Site, and take possession of the Work and of all Contractor’s 
tools, appliances, construction equipment, and machinery at the Site, and use the same to the 
full extent they could be used by Contractor (without liability to Contractor for trespass or 
conversion);  

2. incorporate in the Work all materials and equipment stored at the Site or for which Owner 
has paid Contractor but which are stored elsewhere; and  

3. complete the Work as Owner may deem expedient. 

C. If Owner proceeds as provided in Paragraph 15.02.B, Contractor shall not be entitled to receive 
any further payment until the Work is completed. If the unpaid balance of the Contract Price 
exceeds all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of 
engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other 
dispute resolution costs) sustained by Owner arising out of or relating to completing the Work, 
such excess will be paid to Contractor. If such claims, costs, losses, and damages exceed such 
unpaid balance, Contractor shall pay the difference to Owner. Such claims, costs, losses, and 
damages incurred by Owner will be reviewed by Engineer as to their reasonableness and, when 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 258 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 60  of  62 
 

so approved by Engineer, incorporated in a Change Order. When exercising any rights or 
remedies under this Paragraph, Owner shall not be required to obtain the lowest price for the 
Work performed. 

D. Notwithstanding Paragraphs 15.02.B and 15.02.C, Contractor’s services will not be terminated if 
Contractor begins within seven days of receipt of notice of intent to terminate to correct its failure 
to perform and proceeds diligently to cure such failure within no more than 30 days of receipt of 
said notice. 

E. Where Contractor’s services have been so terminated by Owner, the termination will not affect 
any rights or remedies of Owner against Contractor then existing or which may thereafter accrue. 
Any retention or payment of moneys due Contractor by Owner will not release Contractor from 
liability. 

F. If and to the extent that Contractor has provided a performance bond under the provisions of 
Paragraph 5.01.A, the termination procedures of that bond shall supersede the provisions of 
Paragraphs 15.02.B and 15.02.C. 

15.03 Owner May Terminate For Convenience 

A. Upon seven days written notice to Contractor and Engineer, Owner may, without cause and 
without prejudice to any other right or remedy of Owner, terminate the Contract. In such case, 
Contractor shall be paid for (without duplication of any items): 

1. completed and acceptable Work executed in accordance with the Contract Documents prior 
to the effective date of termination, including fair and reasonable sums for overhead and 
profit on such Work; 

2. expenses sustained prior to the effective date of termination in performing services and 
furnishing labor, materials, or equipment as required by the Contract Documents in 
connection with uncompleted Work, plus fair and reasonable sums for overhead and profit on 
such expenses; 

3. all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of 
engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other 
dispute resolution costs) incurred in settlement of terminated contracts with Subcontractors, 
Suppliers, and others; and 

4. reasonable expenses directly attributable to termination. 

B. Contractor shall not be paid on account of loss of anticipated profits or revenue or other 
economic loss arising out of or resulting from such termination. 

15.04 Contractor May Stop Work or Terminate 

A. If, through no act or fault of Contractor, (i) the Work is suspended for more than 90 consecutive 
days by Owner or under an order of court or other public authority, or (ii) Engineer fails to act on 
any Application for Payment within 30 days after it is submitted, or (iii) Owner fails for 30 days 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 259 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 61  of  62 
 

to pay Contractor any sum finally determined to be due, then Contractor may, upon seven days 
written notice to Owner and Engineer, and provided Owner or Engineer do not remedy such 
suspension or failure within that time, terminate the Contract and recover from Owner payment 
on the same terms as provided in Paragraph 15.03. 

B. In lieu of terminating the Contract and without prejudice to any other right or remedy, if Engineer 
has failed to act on an Application for Payment within 30 days after it is submitted, or Owner has 
failed for 30 days to pay Contractor any sum finally determined to be due, Contractor may, seven 
days after written notice to Owner and Engineer, stop the Work until payment is made of all such 
amounts due Contractor, including interest thereon. The provisions of this Paragraph 15.04 are 
not intended to preclude Contractor from making a Claim under Paragraph 10.05 for an 
adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times or otherwise for expenses or damage directly 
attributable to Contractor’s stopping the Work as permitted by this Paragraph. 

ARTICLE 16 – DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

16.01 Methods and Procedures 

A. Either Owner or Contractor may request mediation of any Claim submitted to Engineer for a 
decision under Paragraph 10.05 before such decision becomes final and binding. The mediation 
will be governed by the Construction Industry Mediation Rules of the American Arbitration 
Association in effect as of the Effective Date of the Agreement. The request for mediation shall 
be submitted in writing to the American Arbitration Association and the other party to the 
Contract. Timely submission of the request shall stay the effect of Paragraph 10.05.E. 

B. Owner and Contractor shall participate in the mediation process in good faith. The process shall 
be concluded within 60 days of filing of the request. The date of termination of the mediation 
shall be determined by application of the mediation rules referenced above. 

C. If the Claim is not resolved by mediation, Engineer’s action under Paragraph 10.05.C or a denial 
pursuant to Paragraphs 10.05.C.3 or 10.05.D shall become final and binding 30 days after 
termination of the mediation unless, within that time period, Owner or Contractor: 

1. elects in writing to invoke any dispute resolution process provided for in the Supplementary 
Conditions; or 

2. agrees with the other party to submit the Claim to another dispute resolution process; or 

3. gives written notice to the other party of the intent to submit the Claim to a court of 
competent jurisdiction. 

ARTICLE 17 – MISCELLANEOUS 

17.01 Giving Notice 

A. Whenever any provision of the Contract Documents requires the giving of written notice, it will 
be deemed to have been validly given if: 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 260 / 404



 

EJCDC C-700 Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract 
Copyright © 2007 National Society of Professional Engineers for EJCDC.  All rights reserved. 

Page 62  of  62 
 

1. delivered in person to the individual or to a member of the firm or to an officer of the 
corporation for whom it is intended; or 

2. delivered at or sent by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, to the last business 
address known to the giver of the notice. 

17.02 Computation of Times 

A. When any period of time is referred to in the Contract Documents by days, it will be computed to 
exclude the first and include the last day of such period. If the last day of any such period falls on 
a Saturday or Sunday or on a day made a legal holiday by the law of the applicable jurisdiction, 
such day will be omitted from the computation. 

17.03 Cumulative Remedies 

A. The duties and obligations imposed by these General Conditions and the rights and remedies 
available hereunder to the parties hereto are in addition to, and are not to be construed in any way 
as a limitation of, any rights and remedies available to any or all of them which are otherwise 
imposed or available by Laws or Regulations, by special warranty or guarantee, or by other 
provisions of the Contract Documents. The provisions of this Paragraph will be as effective as if 
repeated specifically in the Contract Documents in connection with each particular duty, 
obligation, right, and remedy to which they apply. 

17.04 Survival of Obligations 

A. All representations, indemnifications, warranties, and guarantees made in, required by, or given 
in accordance with the Contract Documents, as well as all continuing obligations indicated in the 
Contract Documents, will survive final payment, completion, and acceptance of the Work or 
termination or completion of the Contract or termination of the services of Contractor. 

17.05 Controlling Law 

A. This Contract is to be governed by the law of the state in which the Project is located. 

17.06 Headings 

A. Article and paragraph headings are inserted for convenience only and do not constitute parts of 
these General Conditions.  

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 261 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.12 Supplemental Conditions 

City of Scottsbluff 
Document 00800 - Page 1

 

 SECTION 00810 MODIFICATIONS TO GENERAL CONDITIONS 
 
 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

The General Conditions (Document 00700) are hereby amended, voided 
and/or otherwise modified by the following conditions: 

 
PART 2 COPIES OF DOCUMENTS (REFERENCE ARTICLE 2, PARAGRAPH 2.02: 
 

The Owner shall not provide any additional copies of the documents.  A set of 
electronic files in Adobe® Portable Document File (pdf) format will be issued 
to the Contractor by the Engineer.  The Engineer can provide hard copies 
upon request at the cost of reproduction. 

 
PART 3 ELECTRONIC DATA (REFERENCE ARTICLE 3, PARAGRAPH 3.06): 

 
Add the following paragraph: 
 
Baker & Associates, Inc. considers that plans and specifications are approved 
documents only if: 1) they are paper copies with original signatures and 
professional certification visibly present on the copies or 2) electronic files in 
Adobe® Portable Document File (pdf) format issued directly by Baker & 
Associates, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as electronically transmitted data).  
Information supplied via methods other than those noted above are not to be 
considered approved documents.  The receiver of electronically transmitted 
documents is responsible for verifying the information is approved 
documents.  This electronic information is copyrighted and may not be 
transferred to any other party. 

 
PART 4 SUBSURFACE and PHYSICAL CONDITIONS (REFERENCE ARTICLE 4): 
 

Any information pertaining to the availability of geotechnical data, soils 
reports, boring logs or groundwater information will be included as Document 
00200 - SUBSURFACE INFORMATION. 

 
PART 5 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS (REFERENCE ARTICLE 5): 
 

The following requirements shall supplement the requirements of Article 5.  
None of the requirements of Article 5 shall be voided or changed by 
requirement under this Part. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 262 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.12 Supplemental Conditions 

City of Scottsbluff 
Document 00800 - Page 2

 

The Contractor shall procure and maintain at his own expense, during the 
Contract time, liability insurance as follows: 

 
Contractor's General Public Liability and Property Damage Insurance 
including vehicle coverage issued to the Contractor and protecting him 
from all claims for personal injury, including death, and all claims for 
destruction of or damage to property, arising out of or in connection 
with any operations under the Contract Documents, whether such 
operations be by himself or by a Subcontractor under him, or anyone 
directly or indirectly employed by the Contractor or by a Subcontractor 
under him. 

 
Insurance shall be written with a limit of liability of not less than $1,000,000 for 
all damages arising out of bodily injury, including death, at any time resulting 
therefrom, sustained to any one person in any one accident; and a limit of 
liability of not less than $2,000,000 aggregate for any such damages 
sustained by two or more persons in any one accident.  Insurance shall be 
written with a limit of liability of not less than $500,000 for all property damage 
sustained by any one person in any one accident; and a limit of liability of not 
less than $500,000 aggregate for any such damage sustained by two or more 
persons in any one accident. 

 
Both the Owner and Engineer shall hold the Certificate of Insurance. 

  
PART 6 SALES AND USE TAX  (REFERENCE ARTICLE 6, PARAGRAPH 6.10): 
 

Add the following paragraph: 
 

The Owner will issue the Contractor the appropriate tax exemption 
certificates/appointments, if applicable, and in accordance with local 
and state laws.  Final approval and determination of exempt status lies 
with the State Department of Revenue.  Prior to final payment, the 
Contractor will furnish the Owner an itemized listing of exempt material 
and a certification of approval issued by the State Department of 
Revenue. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 263 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.12 Supplemental Conditions 

City of Scottsbluff 
Document 00800 - Page 3

 

PART 7 REVIEW OF APPLICATIONS FOR PROGRESS PAYMENT  (REFERENCE 
ARTICLE 14, PARAGRAPH 2, Part C.1): 

 
Delete Paragraph 14.02.C.1 in its entirety and replace with the following 
paragraph: 

 
Thirty days after the presentation of the Application for Payment with 
ENGINEER's recommendation, the amount recommended will (subject 
to the provisions of paragraph 14.02.D) become due and when due will 
be paid by OWNER to CONTRACTOR. 

 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 
 

SECTION 00820 STATE REQUIREMENTS 
 
PART 1 NEW EMPLOYEE WORK ELIGIBILITY STATUS: 
 

The Contractor is required and hereby agrees to use a federal immigration 
verification system to determine the work eligibility status of new employees 
physically performing services within the State of Nebraska. A federal 
immigration verification system means the electronic verification of the work 
authorization program authorized by the Illegal Immigration Reform and 
Immigrant Responsibility Act of 1996, 8 U.S.C. 1324a, known as the E-Verify 
Program, or an equivalent federal program designated by the United States 
Department of Homeland Security or other federal agency authorized to verify 
the work eligibility status of a newly hired employee. 
 
1.1 PROPRIETORSHIPS: 

 
If the Contractor is an individual or sole proprietorship, the following 
applies: 
A. The Contractor must complete the United States Citizenship 

Attestation Form, available on the Department of Administrative 
Services website at www.das.state.ne.us. 

  
B.  If the Contractor indicates on such attestation form that he or she 

is a qualified alien, the Contractor agrees to provide the US 
Citizenship and Immigration Services documentation required to 
verify the Contractor’s lawful presence in the United States using 
the Systematic Alien Verification for Entitlements (SAVE) Program. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 264 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.12 Supplemental Conditions 

City of Scottsbluff 
Document 00800 - Page 4

 

The Contractor understands and agrees that lawful presence in the United 
States is required and the Contractor may be disqualified or the contract 
terminated if such lawful presence cannot be verified as required by Neb. 
Rev. Stat. §4-108.  

 
PART 2 ONE-CALL NOTIFICATION ACT: 

 
The Contractor shall meet all the requirements of the Nebraska One-Call 
Notification Act (State of Nebraska Title 155, Chapter 2). 

 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

 
 

SECTION 00822 FEDERAL REQUIREMENTS 
 

The following Federal Requirements are hereby made a part of these 
documents and are attached following this Section. 
 
A.  Wage Determination 

  
The Contractor and his Sub-Contractors shall be required to pay their 
employees minimum wages in accordance with the Wage Determina-
tion, _____________________________________. 

  
B. Required Contract Provisions Federal-Aid Construction contracts, 

pages 1-20. 
 

C.  Disadvantaged Business Enterprise 
 

No Disadvantaged Business Enterprise goals are required for this 
project. 

 
D.  Notice of Requirement for Affirmative Action to Ensure Equal 

Employment Opportunity - Executive Order 11246, pg 1-3. 
 

E.  Interim Guidance for Minority Business Enterprise and Women's 
Business Enterprise Requirement of 40 CFR 33.240, pg SGC-29 to 
SGC-37. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 265 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.12 Supplemental Conditions 

City of Scottsbluff 
Document 00800 - Page 5

 

 F.  Federal Sub-agreement and Miscellaneous Clauses, pg 1-4 and pg 
12934-12938. 

 
 
 

END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 
 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 266 / 404



 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.14 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 1

                          

SECTION 01010 SCHEDULE OF WORK 
 
PART 1  SCHEDULE: 
 

If a special sequencing of the work is critical to the project, place the 
schedule here.  If there are no special requirements this section should 
be deleted. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************ 
 
 

SECTION 01015 OWNER FURNISHED ITEMS: 
 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

The Owner will furnish no labor, no equipment, and no materials to the 
Contractor, except as listed following.  It is the intention of this Contract to 
require the Contractor to furnish all labor, materials and equipment necessary 
to complete the construction of the work as outlined in the Specifications and 
as shown on the Drawings and Detail Drawings. 

 
PART 2  WATER: 
 

All water required for flushing, testing and disinfection of water mains installed 
or storage tanks recoated under this contract (as applicable), shall be 
furnished to the Contractor without charge so long as such water is used 
without obvious waste.  The Contractor shall make all provisions necessary to 
obtain the water from the designated place and to convey it to the place of 
use without waste.  Water required for cleaning or compaction activities shall 
be furnished by the Contractor. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************ 
 
 
 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 267 / 404



 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.14 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 2

                          

SECTION 01025 MEASUREMENT AND PAYMENT: 
 
PART 1 Unit Prices:  
 

It is to be understood that the quantities of each item of work set forth in the 
Bid are approximate only and will be revised depending on field conditions 
encountered.  The Owner has the right to revise quantities in its best interest 
without affecting any of the unit prices set forth above.  In all cases, the stated 
unit prices Bid shall be used in determining the final value of the completed 
work. 
 

PART 2  Application for Payment: 
 
Attached to the end of Section 01000 is a copy of Form 01025-A, the 
Application for Payment that will be used for this project.  The Contractor shall 
submit the application for payment on this form, or in similar form, if approved 
in writing, by the Engineer.  This form is available on electronic media. 
 

PART 3  Change Order Procedures: 
 
The Contractor shall request in writing all change order items prior to 
proceeding with any such work.  The request shall include detailed unit and/or 
lump sums prices and justification for the proposed work.  Should the Owner 
or Engineer request a modification to the project which requires a change 
order, the Contractor shall submit a written cost of the modifications to the 
Engineer prior to beginning the modification.  The final documentation for a 
change order will be submitted on Form 01025-B as attached to Section 
01000. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************* 
 
 

SECTION 01030 ALTERNATE CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES: 
 
PART 1 The following construction activities are either additions to the Contract, for 

which the Owner is unsure of the certainty of their being included in the 
proposed construction; or are alternate methods of construction which may 
replace a specified construction activity. 

 
PART 2  List each alternate with a brief description 
 

END OF SECTION 
************************* 

 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 268 / 404



 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.14 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 3

                          

SECTION 01040 CONSTRUCTION COORDINATION: 
 

The Contractor shall be responsible for coordinating all phases of his/her 
operations with the Engineer and Owner.  Advance notice of not less than 48 
hours will be given to the Engineer prior to any operations.  

 
END OF SECTION 

************************ 
 

SECTION 01050 CONSTRUCTION SURVEY WORK: 
 
PART 1  Construction Staking: 
 

The Engineer will provide control points and project benchmark(s) for the 
project.  A minimum of two control points will be provided with a project 
benchmark, plus an additional point and benchmark for each additional 10 
acres of site. It shall be the Contractor's responsibility to maintain all stakes 
and reference elevations and replacement of stakes shall be at the 
Contractor's expense.  The Engineer will not provide any “bluetop” staking for 
the project and additional staking required beyond the scope provided below 
will be the Contractor’s cost, reimbursed to the Engineer.   The Engineer will 
provide the following staking for the project with reasonable offsets as 
requested by the Contractor: 
 
1.1 Street Construction:  Back of curb at 50-foot intervals, radius points, 

driveways, alleys, and grade changes. 
 

1.2 Pathway/Sidewalk Construction:  Centerline of pavement at 50-foot 
intervals, radius points, and driveways. 

 
1.3 Fencing:  All corners, gates and at 200-foot intervals. 

 
1.4 Water Line Construction:  Centerline of pipeline at 100-foot intervals, 

bends, fittings, fire hydrants, and proposed service lines. 
 

1.5 Sanitary Sewer Construction:  Centerline of pipeline at 100-foot 
intervals, manholes, cleanouts, and proposed service lines. 

 
1.6 Stormwater Construction:  Centerline of pipeline at 100-foot intervals, 

manholes, inlets, headwalls, and flared end sections. 
 

1.7 Site Grading: Rough stakes at 200-foot grid and/or major features, final 
grading at 100-foot grid and/or major features. 
 

1.8 Building:  Exterior corners will be set for new buildings.  No additional 
stakes will be provided for building additions. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 269 / 404



 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.14 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 4

                          

 
PART 2 Staking Review: 

 
The Contractor is responsible for checking stakes for accuracy and verifying 
grades of pipe, pavement, grading, and building dimensions independently 
from staking. The Contractor shall make no claim against the Owner or 
Engineer regarding the alleged inaccuracy of construction stakes set by the 
Engineer unless all survey stakes set by the Engineer are maintained intact 
and can be verified as to their origin.  If staking is not intact or cannot be 
verified as to the origin, any and all remedial work to correct improper 
construction shall be done at the sole expense of the Contractor. 

 
PART 3 Notification: 
 

The Contractor shall notify the Engineer at least three (3) working days in 
advance of his intention to construct any specific portion of the work, to allow 
the Engineer time to stake that portion of work. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************ 
 
 

SECTION 01060 REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS: 
 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

It shall be the Contractor's responsibility to familiarize himself/herself with the 
regulatory requirements with regard to the location of the project and the type 
of work to be performed under the Contract. 

 
PART 2  SAFETY: 
 

All regulations pertaining to safety, to include Occupational Safety & Health 
Association (OSHA) Standards, shall be strictly adhered to by the Contractor.  
Particular care shall be exercised in connection with the operation of vehicles 
and other equipment on the site.  Safety barriers and equipment shall be 
provided by the Contractor as required. 

 
PART 3  PERMITS: 
 

It shall be the Contractor's responsibility to obtain all necessary permits as 
required by State and Local codes to perform the work required as part of this 
Contract. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 270 / 404



 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.14 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 5

                          

 
PART 4  SWPPP: 
 

The Contractor shall prepare a Stormwater Pollution Prevent Plan as required 
by State and Local agencies.  The Engineer will provide Site Plan and Detail 
Drawings based on the layout and materials the Contractor would like to 
submit to the reviewing agency.  The Contractor shall maintain the SWPPP 
until all permit requirements are satisfied, including maintenance of all erosion 
features until final acceptance by the review agency. 
 

PART 5  BUILDING CODES: 
 

The following Standard Codes of construction practices are hereby made a 
portion of these Specifications and shall govern all applicable construction 
activities carried out under this Contract. 

 
4.1 National Electrical Code (NEC) 

 
4.2  Building Code, Plumbing Code, Energy Conservation Code and 

Mechanical Code as adopted by the Owner or controlling agency.   
This shall include any specific regulations or standards adopted by the 
Owner/agency that identify construction practices.  If the Owner or 
agency has not adopted such codes, the International Codes shall 
govern. 

 
4.3  The Americans with Disabilities Act of 2010 (ADA) and Nebraska 

Accessibility Guidelines (NAG). 
  

END OF SECTION 
************************* 

 
 

SECTION 01120 ASBESTOS CONTAINING MATERIALS: 
 
PART 1  During construction or remodeling activities involving existing buildings, there 

exists the possibility that Asbestos Containing Materials (ACM) may be 
encountered.  The Building Owner may not be aware of the location of all 
ACM within the building.  It shall be the Contractor's responsibility to request 
information from the building owner as to the known locations of ACM and to 
familiarize himself with those known locations. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 271 / 404



 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.14 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 6

                          

 
PART 2  If during any construction activity, any suspected ACM is encountered by the 

Contractor, he shall stop all construction activities immediately.  The 
Contractor shall notify the Owner immediately of the suspected ACM to allow 
evaluation of the suspected material and the appropriate course of action.  If 
the material is found to be ACM and abatement/cleanup procedures are 
required, the Contract time shall be extended by formal change order to cover 
the delays encountered by the abatement/cleanup activities. 

 
PART 3  If the Contractor has negligently disturbed an area known to contain ACM, the 

Contractor shall be held solely responsible for the resulting cleanup 
operations and elimination of the hazard. 

 
PART 4  No materials supplied under this contract shall contain asbestos in any form. 
 

END OF SECTION 
************************* 

 
 

SECTION 01130  PROTECTION OF POTABLE WATER SUPPLIES (ORGANIC 
CHEMICALS) 

 
PART 1  To prevent contamination of the potable water supplies the Contractor shall 

not use any solvents, petroleum derived products, caustic or poisonous 
substances during construction activities involving, potable water pipelines, 
well and well test hole drilling, water tanks and or any part of a municipal 
water system that comes into contact with potable water supplies. 

 
PART 2  Special care shall be exercised during refueling and or lubrication activities to 

prevent spillage of petroleum products that may come in contact with potable 
water supplies. 

 
PART 3  No substances found on The Environmental Protection Agency List of 

Monitored Substances or having an Environmental Protection Agency 
Maximum Contaminant Level (MCL) shall be allowed on the job site. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************* 
 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 272 / 404



 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.14 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 7

                          

SECTION 01170 SPECIAL CONSTRUCTION PROVISIONS: 
 

The following modifications, additions and special provisions are hereby 
made a part of these Specifications and shall take precedence over any 
conflicting requirements. 

 
 HISTORICAL AND ARCHEOLOGICAL  
 

If during the course of construction, evidence of deposits of historical or 
archeological interest is found, the Contractor shall cease operations affecting 
the find and shall notify the Federal Funding Agency, and the Nebraska State 
Historic Preservation Office, (402) 471-4775.  No further disturbance of the 
deposits shall ensue until the Contractor has been notified, in writing, by the 
Owner that he may proceed.  The Owner will issue a notice to proceed only 
after the state officials have surveyed the find and made a determination to 
the Federal Funding Agency and the State Historic Preservation Office.  
Compensation to the Contractor, if any, for lost time or changes in 
construction to avoid the find, shall be determined in accordance with 
changed conditions or change order provisions of the Specifications. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************ 
 

SECTION 01200 SPECIAL PROJECT MEETINGS: 
 

The Contractor shall be required to attend a Pre-Construction meeting with 
the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), Owner and Engineer prior to the 
start of construction.  The meeting will be held at the Owner's business 
offices. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************ 
 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 273 / 404



 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.14 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 8

                          

SECTION 01340 SHOP DRAWINGS, PRODUCT DATA AND SUBMITTALS: 
 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

The Contractor shall provide the Engineer with catalog material, capacities, 
performance curves, dimensions, weights or any other information which may 
be necessary in order that the conformity with the Specifications may be 
reviewed for each proposed piece of equipment.  The Contractor shall furnish 
five (5) copies of submittals and/or shop drawings.  All such material shall be 
furnished to the Engineer within thirty (30) days after the date of the "Notice to 
Proceed".  No material or equipment shall be installed without an approved 
shop drawing/submittal. 

 
PART 2 SHOP DRAWING REVIEW: 
 

2.1 The ENGINEER will review CONTRACTOR's shop drawings and 
related submittals (as indicated below) with respect to the ability of the 
detailed work, when complete, to be a properly functioning integral 
element of the overall system designed by the ENGINEER. 

 
2.2 Before submitting a shop drawing or any related material to the 

ENGINEER, the CONTRACTOR shall:   
  

A. Review each such submission for conformance with the means, 
methods, techniques, sequences, and operations of 
construction, and safety precautions and programs incidental 
thereto, all of which are the sole responsibility of 
CONTRACTOR; and 

  
B. Approve each submittal before delivering it to the ENGINEER, 

providing a stamp on each such submission indicating the 
CONTRACTOR’S review and approval of the submittal. 

  
2.3 The CONTRACTOR shall certify the shop drawing have been reviewed 

by and approved with respect to the means, methods, techniques, 
sequences, and procedures of construction, and safety precautions 
and programs incidental thereto by utilizing (and signing) the submittal 
transmittal form (Form 01340A) following this Division. 

 
2.4 The ENGINEER shall assume that no shop drawing or related 

submittal comprises a variation to the specified material or equipment 
unless CONTRACTOR advises the ENGINEER otherwise, via a 
written instrument, which is acknowledged by the ENGINEER in 
writing. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 274 / 404



 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.14 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 9

                          

2.5 The shop drawings to be submitted for a particular construction activity 
are identified in the SECTION describing the construction activity.  
Shop drawings to be submitted, in addition to those listed elsewhere in 
the Contract Documents, are identified following.   

 
 
   Item:  ____________________________ 
     ____________________________ 
     ____________________________ 
 
 

2.6 In the event that the ENGINEER will require more than ten (10) 
working days to perform the review, the ENGINEER shall so notify 
CONTRACTOR.  The ENGINEER shall return shop drawings with 
comments provided that each submission has been called for and is 
stamped by CONTRACTOR as indicated above.  The ENGINEER 
shall return, without comment, material not called for or which has not 
been approved by CONTRACTOR. 

 
PART 3   OPERATION MANUALS: 
 

Upon completion of the Contract, and prior to final payment, the Contractor 
shall furnish the Owner, two copies of the manufacturer's operation and 
maintenance manuals and parts lists for each piece of equipment furnished.  
Product data sheets shall be supplied for those materials and equipment that 
are not provided with a manufacturer's operation and maintenance manual. 

 
PART 4 ELECTRICAL CERTIFICATION: 
 

Prior to final acceptance and payment for the project, the Contractor shall 
provide written certification that the project has been inspected by the 
electrical inspector having jurisdiction over the electrical portion of the project 
and that any items of non-compliance have been corrected. 

 
PART 5  RESPONSIBILITY: 
 

The Contractor shall not be relieved of his/her responsibility to supply 
equipment meeting all requirements of the Specifications by any reviews of 
submittals or shop drawings by the Engineer. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************ 
 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 275 / 404



 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.14 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 10

                          

SECTION 01440  CONTRACTOR'S QUALITY CONTROL: 
 
PART 1  GENERAL:  
 

The work performed under these specifications shall be executed in the best 
and most workmanlike manner by qualified, careful and competent personnel 
of the respective trades in strict accordance with these specifications, 
applicable drawings, appropriate codes and the best current construction 
practices. 

 
PART 2  QUALITY CONTROL: 
 

The Engineer may elect to have a commercial testing laboratory conduct 
testing at random locations or areas where work or materials are of 
questionable qualities in his opinion.  In the event such tests indicate the 
quality of materials or work is at or above the minimum Contract 
specifications, the Owner will make payment for the tests.  The cost of the 
test results that indicate qualities of work or materials below the minimum 
Contract specifications will be charged to the Contractor's account. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************ 
 
 

SECTION 01441  CONSTRUCTION OBSERVATION & STAKING SCHEDULE 
 

Contractor requests for material testing, construction observations or staking 
at times other than normal working hours 7:00 a.m. - 6:00 p.m. weekdays, 
shall be at the discretion of the Engineer.  In any event, the contractor's 
account will be charged one-half times the Engineer's rate being charged the 
Owner for all hours worked; except on legal holidays (Federal and/or Owner) 
which will be charged at the Engineer's full rate. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************* 
 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 276 / 404



 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.14 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 11

                          

SECTION 01540 PROTECTION OF WORK AND PROPERTY: 
 

The Contractor shall be responsible to check and determine that all 
necessary precautions have been taken to protect all property, both public 
and private, in all areas where this Contract is being accomplished.  Damage 
caused from failure by the Contractor to exercise care in the performance of 
work shall be immediately replaced or restored to the satisfaction of the 
Engineer without additional cost to the Owner. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************ 
 
 

SECTION 01560 CONSTRUCTION CLEANING: 
 
PART 1  DAILY CLEANUP: 
 

1.1  The areas where work is in progress shall be kept as neat and clean 
as is consistent with the work in progress.  Materials, wrappings, 
containers which might be scattered by wind or become a hazard to 
pedestrians shall be placed in appropriate containers, disposed of or 
otherwise cared for. 

 
1.2  All debris shall be removed from the job site each day.  All scrap and 

debris shall be disposed of, off of the Owner's property, at no additional 
cost to the Owner. 

 
PART 2  FINISH GRADING: 
 

2.1  The Contractor shall grade the trench line and all surrounding areas, 
where the grade has been disturbed during construction, to a smooth 
grade to affect a neat and workmanlike appearance. 

 
2.2  Any adjacent areas which are damaged by the Contractor, due to 

demolition or removals, shall be repaired to the satisfaction of the 
Engineer or be replaced. 

 
PART 3  FINAL CLEANUP: 
 

3.1  Upon completion of the project, the Contractor shall remove all rubbish 
and accumulated materials and scrap from the premises leaving the 
job site in a clean, acceptable condition. 

 
3.2  All salvageable items shall remain the property of the Owner and shall 

be disposed of as directed by the Owner's representative.   
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 277 / 404



 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.14 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 12

                          

3.3  Excess excavated materials and construction debris, if any, shall be 
hauled away to a location selected by the Contractor, off the Owner's 
property, easements, and rights-of-way. 

 
3.4  It is intended that the Contractor leave the work area in a similar and 

equal condition as existed prior to commencement of construction. 
 

3.5  Every effort shall be made to protect and preserve the environment.  
Erosion shall be controlled and kept to a minimum.  No discharge of 
fuels or waste liquids which would be harmful to the environment shall 
be allowed. 

 
PART 4  Reference Section 02212, SURFACE RESTORATION 
 

END OF SECTION 
************************ 

 
 

SECTION 01570 TRAFFIC CONTROL: 
 

The Contractor shall be required to furnish, install and maintain traffic control 
devices in accordance with the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices 
(MUTCD), Federal Highway Administration, U.S. Department of 
Transportation.  Traffic control devices shall be used when the Work is in 
street right of way. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************ 
 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 278 / 404



 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.14 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 13

                          

SECTION 01580 PROJECT IDENTIFICATION AND SIGNS: 
 
  PROJECT SIGN: 
 

The Contractor shall construct the following project sign to be located at the 
construction site: 

 
 CONTRACTOR - 
 ENGINEER -    BAKER & ASSOCIATES 
 PROJECT COST - 
 FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE -  D.E.D 
 

Lettering shall be a minimum two (2) inches high on a 4' x 6' board. 
 

END OF SECTION 
************************ 

 
 

SECTION 01660 STARTING OF SYSTEMS: 
 
PART 1  It shall be the Contractor's responsibility to provide system start up services to 

insure that all equipment is properly installed and operating as intended. 
 
PART 2  Reference Division 11, Section 11000, GENERAL EQUIPMENT 

REQUIREMENTS 
 

END OF SECTION 
************************ 

 
 

SECTION 01740 WARRANTIES AND BONDS: 
 
PART 1  PERFORMANCE BOND:  
 

The Contractor shall be required to maintain the Performance Bond during 
the life of the Contract and for a period of one year after the date of final 
acceptance of all work performed under the Contract. 

 
PART 2  PAYMENT BOND:  
 

The Contractor shall be required to maintain the Payment Bond during the life 
of the Contract and for a period of one year after the date of final acceptance 
of all work performed under the Contract. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 279 / 404



 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.14 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 14

                          

 
PART 3  EQUIPMENT GUARANTEE: 
 

All equipment and installation shall be guaranteed by the Contractor for one 
year after the date of substantial completion of the entire Contract.  The 
Contractor shall immediately repair or replace any defects within the 
guarantee period due to faulty equipment, material, installation or 
workmanship at his own expense. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************* 
 
 

SECTION 01800 MAINTENANCE OF BACKFILL: 
 

All backfill shall be maintained in a satisfactory condition, and all places 
where settlement is evident shall be filled by the Contractor and maintained 
during the life of the Contract and for a period of one year after the date of 
final acceptance of all work performed under the Contract.  When the 
Contractor is notified by the Engineer or Owner that any backfill is hazardous, 
the Contractor shall correct or make repairs of such hazardous conditions at 
once.  Any utilities and pavements damaged by any such settlement shall be 
the responsibility of the Contractor.  The Contractor shall be responsible for 
all claims for damages filed with the court, actions brought against the Owner 
for, and on account of, such damage. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************  

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 280 / 404



                         

A
pp

lic
at

io
n 

fo
r 

P
ay

m
en

t 
N

o.
1

F
or

 W
or

k 
ac

co
m

pl
is

he
d 

th
ro

ug
h 

th
e 

da
te

 o
f:

E
n

g
in

e
e

rs
 -

 A
rc

h
it

e
c

ts
 -

 S
u

rv
e

yo
rs

O
w

ne
r:

O
W

N
E

R
 N

A
M

E
C

on
tr

ac
to

r:
C

O
N

T
R

A
C

T
O

R
 N

A
M

E
Si

nc
e 

19
77

A
D

D
R

E
S

S
A

D
D

R
E

S
S

C
IT

Y
, 

S
TA

TE
  

ZI
P

C
IT

Y
, 

S
TA

TE
  

ZI
P

P
ro

je
ct

:
P

R
O

JE
C

T 
N

U
M

B
E

R
P

H
O

N
E

P
H

O
N

E

P
R

O
JE

C
T 

TI
TL

E
F

A
X

F
A

X

Ite
m

S
ch

ed
ul

ed
 V

al
ue

W
or

k 
C

om
pl

et
ed

M
at

er
ia

ls
To

ta
l C

om
pl

et
ed

%

N
o.

D
es

cr
ip

tio
n 

of
 W

or
k

U
ni

t 
P

ric
e

Q
ua

nt
ity

A
m

ou
nt

Q
ua

nt
ity

R
et

ai
na

ge
 *

S
to

re
d 

**
P

lu
s 

S
to

re
d

 C
om

pl
et

ed

--
--

-

--
--

-

--
--

-

--
--

-

--
--

-

--
--

-

--
--

-

--
--

-

--
--

-

--
--

-

--
--

-

--
--

-

--
--

-

--
--

-

--
--

-

--
--

-

--
--

-

C
O

N
TR

A
C

TO
R

'S
 C

er
tif

ic
at

io
n:

 

Th
e 

un
de

rs
ig

ne
d 

C
O

N
TR

A
C

TO
R

 c
er

tif
ie

s 
th

at
: 

 (
I) 

 a
ll 

pr
ev

io
us

 p
ro

gr
es

s 
pa

ym
en

ts
 r

ec
ei

ve
d 

fro
m

 O
W

N
E

R
 o

n
To

ta
l C

on
tr

ac
t 

A
m

ou
nt

:

ac
co

un
t 

of
 W

or
k 

do
ne

 u
nd

er
 t

he
 C

on
tr

ac
t 

re
fe

rr
ed

 t
o 

ab
ov

e 
ha

ve
 b

ee
n 

ap
pl

ie
d 

to
 d

is
ch

ar
ge

 in
 fu

ll 
al

l 

ob
lig

at
io

ns
 o

f C
O

N
TR

A
C

TO
R

 in
cu

rr
ed

 in
 c

on
ne

ct
io

n 
w

ith
 W

or
k 

co
ve

re
d 

by
 a

ll 
pr

io
r 

A
pp

lic
at

io
ns

 fo
r 

P
ay

m
en

t,
 

in
cl

us
iv

e;
  

(2
) 

tit
le

 t
o 

al
l W

or
k,

 m
at

er
ia

ls
 a

nd
 e

qu
ip

m
en

t 
in

co
rp

or
at

ed
 in

 s
ai

d 
W

or
k 

or
 o

th
er

w
is

e 
lis

te
d 

in
 

To
ta

l v
al

ue
 o

f w
or

k 
&

 m
at

er
ia

ls
 c

om
pl

et
ed

:

or
 c

ov
er

ed
 b

y 
th

is
 A

pp
lic

at
io

n 
fo

r 
P

ay
m

en
t 

w
ill

 p
as

s 
to

 O
W

N
E

R
 a

t 
tim

e 
of

 p
ay

m
en

t 
fre

e 
an

d 
cl

ea
r 

of
 a

ll 

lie
ns

, 
cl

ai
m

s,
 s

ec
ur

ity
 in

te
re

st
 a

nd
 e

nc
um

br
an

ce
s 

(e
xc

ep
t 

su
ch

 a
s 

ar
e 

co
ve

re
d 

by
 B

on
d 

ac
ce

pt
ab

le
 t

o 
Le

ss
 a

m
ou

nt
 p

ai
d,

 p
re

vi
ou

s 
es

tim
at

es
:

O
W

N
E

R
 in

de
m

ni
fy

in
g 

O
W

N
E

R
 a

ga
in

st
 a

ny
 s

uc
h 

lie
n,

 c
la

im
, 

se
cu

rit
y 

in
te

re
st

 o
r 

en
cu

m
br

an
ce

);
 a

nd
  

(3
) 

 a
ll 

W
or

k 
co

ve
re

d 
by

 t
hi

s 
A

pp
lic

at
io

n 
fo

r 
P

ay
m

en
t 

is
 in

 a
cc

or
da

nc
e 

w
ith

 t
he

 C
on

tr
ac

t 
D

oc
um

en
ts

 a
nd

 n
ot

Le
ss

 r
et

ai
na

ge
:

10
%

de
fe

ct
iv

e 
as

 t
ha

t 
te

rm
 is

 d
ef

in
ed

 in
 t

he
 C

on
tr

ac
t 

D
oc

um
en

ts
.

C
on

tr
ac

to
r:

D
at

ed
:

TO
TA

L 
A

M
O

U
N

T 
D

U
E

 T
H

IS
 A

P
P

LI
C

A
TI

O
N

:

A
ut

ho
riz

ed
 S

ig
na

tu
re

P
ay

m
en

t 
of

 t
he

 a
bo

ve
 A

M
O

U
N

T 
D

U
E

 T
H

IS
 A

P
P

LI
C

A
TI

O
N

 is
 r

ec
om

m
en

de
d.

B
ak

er
 &

 A
ss

oc
ia

te
s:

D
at

ed
:

A
ut

ho
riz

ed
 S

ig
na

tu
re

* 
 -

 R
et

ai
na

ge
 b

as
ed

 o
n 

pe
rc

en
t 

of
 c

om
pl

et
io

n 
of

 t
he

 in
di

vi
du

al
 it

em

**
 -

 M
at

er
ia

ls
 o

n 
si

te
, 

no
t 

in
st

al
le

d 
(In

vo
ic

es
 r

eq
ui

re
d)

B
ak

er
 &

 A
ss

oc
ia

te
s,

 In
c.

  
  

  
 E

ng
in

ee
rs

 *
 A

rc
hi

te
ct

s 
* 

S
ur

ve
yo

rs
  

  
  

 1
20

 E
as

t 
16

th
 S

tr
ee

t,
 S

ui
te

 A
, 

S
co

tt
sb

lu
ff,

 N
eb

ra
sk

a 
 6

93
61

 

F
O

R
M

 0
10

25
-A

 
F

O
R

M
 0

10
25

-A
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 281 / 404



                         

CHANGE ORDER NO. 1
DATE:

Engineers - Architects - Surveyors PROJECT: PROJECT NUMBER
Since 1977 PROJECT TITLE

OWNER: OWNER NAME CONTRACTOR: OWNER NAME
120 East 16th Street ADDRESS ADDRESS
Scottsbluff, Nebraska  69361 CITY, STATE  ZIP CITY, STATE  ZIP
(308) 632-3123 PHONE PHONE
Fax:  632-7253 FAX FAX

ITEM NO. DESCRIPTION / JUSTIFICATION: AMOUNT

1.)

2.)

3.)

4.)

5.)

6.)

7.)

8.)

REVISION IN CONTRACT AMOUNT:

CURRENT CONTRACT PRICE + (-) PREVIOUS CHANGE ORDERS

AMOUNT THIS CHANGE ORDER

REVISED CONTRACT AMOUNT

REVISED CONTRACT TIME + (-) BY CALENDAR DAYS

 SUBMITTED BY CONTRACTOR DATE:

 ACCEPTED BY B & A DATE:

 APPROVED BY OWNER DATE:

Baker & Associates, Inc.       Engineers * Architects * Surveyors       120 East 16th Street, Suite A, Scottsbluff, Nebraska  69361

FORM 01025-B 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 282 / 404



                         

FORM 01340-C 

SHOP DRAWING/SUBMITTAL TRANSMITTAL

CONTRACT:
Engineers - Architects - Surveyors PROJECT NO.

Since 1977

SUBMITTAL NO.
SECTION:
# COPIES:

OWNER: CONTRACTOR:

FAX

FOR COMPLETION BY THE CONTRACTOR: FOR COMPLETION BY THE CONSULTANT:

DESCRIPTION MANUFACTURER NOTES

DATE RECEIVED:

APP - APPROVED
REJ - REJECTED
SUB - SUBMIT SPECIFIED ITEM
FAC - FURNISH AS CORRECTED
REV - REVISE AND RESUBMIT
INR - ITEM NOT REVIEWED

SUBMITTED BY: REVIEWED BY:

DATE Baker & Associates, Inc. DATECONTRACTOR NAME

OWNER NAME
ADDRESS
CITY, STATE  ZIP
PHONE

ACTION

This review was performed only for general conformance with the design concept of the project and general compliance with the 
information given in the Contract Documents.  Modifications or comments made on the shop drawings during this review do not 
relieve contractor from compliance with the requirements of the plans and specifications.  Approval of a specific item does not 
include approval of the assembly of which the item is a component.  Contractor is responsible for dimensions to be confirmed 
and correlated at the job site; information that pertains solely to the fabrication processes or to the means, methods, techniques, 
sequences, and procedures of construction; coordination of the work of all trades; and for performing all work in a safe and 
satisfactory manner.

Telephone - (308)632-3123                Facsimile - (308)632-7253
Baker & Associates Inc., 120 East 16th Avenue, Ste A, Scottsbluff, NE  69361

CONTRACTOR NAME
ADDRESS
CITY, STATE  ZIP
PHONE
FAX

PROJECT TITLE
PROJECT NUMBER

I, the undersigned Contractor, have reviewed and 
approved this shop drawing with respect to the means, 
methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of 
construction, and safety precautions and programs 
incidental thereto.  I also warrant that this shop 
drawing/submittal complies with contract documents 
and comprises no variations thereto.

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 283 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.10 Surface Restoration Section 02212 - Page 1 
  

SECTION 02212 SURFACE RESTORATION 
 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

1.1 The Contractor shall return all areas disturbed during construction to a 
condition equal to, or better than, that which existed prior to 
construction, regardless of whether or not such disturbed areas are 
within or outside of easements or right-of-ways. 

 
1.2 This shall include, but not be limited to the following: 

 
A. Replacement of pavement and sidewalk areas, 

 
B. Replacement of grass sod in lawn areas, 

 
C. Repair of sprinkler systems where disturbed or damaged by 

construction activities, 
 

D. Repair of underground utilities disturbed or damaged by 
construction activities, 

 
E. Repair and/or replacement of fences cut or removed as required 

by construction activities, 
 

F. Restoration of ditches, channels, or swales to their original 
invert elevations and cross sections, 

 
G. Reseeding and/or resodding of all vegetated areas disturbed by 

construction activities, and 
 

H. Other work required to restore such areas to their former 
condition. 

 
PART 2 STRUCTURES: 
 

2.1 The site areas for structures shall be graded as indicated on the 
Drawings, or as directed by the Engineer.  The final grading shall 
provide a neat appearance and shall facilitate positive drainage to 
natural water courses and allow for positive drainage away from 
structures. 

 
2.2 After finish grading is accepted by the Engineer, the Contractor shall 

then install the appropriate ground cover as specified or as indicated 
on the drawings. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 284 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.10 Surface Restoration Section 02212 - Page 2 
  

 
PART 3 UTILITIES: 

    
3.1 Areas to Receive Paving: 

 
A. Paving, curb and gutter, sidewalks or other improvements 

destroyed, removed, or damaged during construction shall be 
replaced with the same type, of equal or better quality, 
consistent with the undisturbed portions of the improvements 
existing prior to the trench excavation, except as described 
following. 

 
B. Edges of existing pavement, sidewalk or curb and gutter shall 

be saw cut, or otherwise prepared, to provide a smooth uniform 
edge. 

 
C. Upon completion and testing of backfilling by the Engineer, a 

6-inch base course shall be added.  Base course compaction 
shall be 95% maximum dry density (ASTM D698).  

   
D. The paving shall be replaced to the same depth as the 

undisturbed paving (or the following minimum depths), using 
hot-mix asphaltic cement or concrete as indicated on the 
Drawings. 

 
1. All hot-mix asphaltic cement pavement used in 

restoration work shall be a minimum 6-inches thick, full 
depth asphalt.   Preparation for the asphaltic cement 
paving shall include prime and tack coats.  After placing 
the material, the pavement shall be compacted with a 
smooth roller.  All proposed methods shall be as 
specified herein, and/or reviewed by the Engineer. 

 
2. Concrete thickness shall be a minimum 6-inch for areas 

to receive traffic and 5-inch for all other concrete paving 
unless otherwise shown on the Drawings.  All proposed 
methods shall be as specified herein, and/or reviewed by 
the Engineer. 

 
E. All concrete used in the restoration work shall conform to the 

requirements of Division 3, "Concrete".  Joints of concrete shall 
match/duplicate the existing joint pattern. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 285 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.10 Surface Restoration Section 02212 - Page 3 
  

    
3.2 Areas to Receive Gravel Surfacing: 

 
A. Gravel surfacing shall be replaced to the same depth as that 

existing prior to excavation, or as a minimum, gravel shall be 2-
inches thick.  No gravel surfacing shall be replaced prior to the 
acceptance of the backfill by the Engineer. 

 
B. The gravel surfacing shall conform to the following gradation 

requirements. 
 
   Sieve Designation  % Passing  Tolerance 
 
    1-inch    100   0 
    #4    78   ±17 
    #10    16   -16,+14 
    #200    3   ±3 
 

3.3 Areas with Topsoil and/or Vegetation Cover: 
 

A. When excavation is through lawns, fields, pasture land, or any 
other areas having a vegetation cover, or any areas where there 
is naturally existing topsoil, the Contractor shall strip and 
stockpile separately all topsoil. 

 
B. This material shall then be replaced on top of the final backfill, 

after installation of the pipeline.  When excavated material must 
be stored on lawns or other grassed areas, burlap or other 
suitable coverings shall be used to protect such areas. 

 
C. When so indicated on the Drawings, or elsewhere in these 

Specifications, special seeding or the installation of grass sod 
shall be required in areas where grass has been disturbed or 
removed during construction. 

 
PART 4 PAYMENT OF RESTORATION ACTIVITIES: 
 

4.1 General: 
 

Restoration activities shall be considered incidental to the contract 
unless a specific item in Document 00300 "BID" addresses payment of 
the restoration activity.  Where separate payment is allowed, the 
following methods of payment shall apply. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 286 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.10 Surface Restoration Section 02212 - Page 4 
  

4.2 Asphaltic Cement Pavement and Concrete Pavement: 
 

Payment for the replacement of asphaltic cement pavement and 
concrete pavement shall be per lineal foot as measured along the 
pipeline for utility construction and per square yard for other 
construction.  Payment will be under the Bid Item "Pavement Removal 
and Replacement". 

 
4.3 Concrete Sidewalk: 

 
Payment for the replacement of concrete sidewalks shall be per square 
foot, as measured in place.  Payment will be under the Bid Item 
"Replacement of Concrete Sidewalk". 

 
4.4 Concrete Curb and Gutter: 

 
Payment for the replacement of concrete curb and gutter shall be per 
lineal foot as measured along the gutter line.  Payment will be under 
the Bid Item "Replacement of Concrete Curb and Gutter". 

 
4.5 Miscellaneous Pavement Replacement: 

 
A. Payment for the replacement of miscellaneous paving shall be 

per square yard, as measured in place.  Payment will be under 
the Bid Item "Miscellaneous Pavement Removal and 
Replacement: 

 
B. Payment for miscellaneous pavement replacement will require 

written authorization prior to removal of existing paving. 
 

4.6 Areas to Receive Gravel Surfacing: 
 

Payment for the replacement of gravel surfacing shall be per lineal foot 
as measured along the pipeline for utility construction and per square 
yard for other construction.  Payment will be under the Bid Item 
"Replacement of Gravel Surfacing". 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 287 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.10 Surface Restoration Section 02212 - Page 5 
  

4.7 Areas with Topsoil and/or Vegetation Cover: 
 

Payment for the replacement of topsoil and/or vegetation cover shall 
be per lineal foot as measured along the pipeline for utility construction 
and per square yard for other construction.  Payment will be under the 
Bid Item "Reseeding" or "Re-Sodding", as applicable. 

 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 288 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
▪Ver.09 Excavation, Compaction & 

Backfill for Utilities 
Section 02222 - Page 1 

 

SECTION 02222 EXCAVATION, BACKFILL AND COMPACTION FOR UTILITIES 
 
 
PART 1 SCOPE OF WORK: 
 

It is the intent of this section for the Contractor to provide all labor, materials, 
equipment, and transportation necessary for the excavation and backfill of all 
pipeline trenches and appurtenances.   

 
PART 2 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS: 
 

2.1 Unless shown otherwise on the Drawings, or described in the 
Specifications, all excavation shall be made by open cut.  The 
Engineer may authorize tunneling beneath driveways, crosswalks, 
curbing, walkways, and buried utility installation, but any such tunnels 
shall not exceed eight feet in length. 

 
2.2 Not more than 100 feet of trench shall be opened in advance of pipe 

laying or more than 200 feet of trench left open behind pipe laying, 
unless permitted by the Engineer or as necessary for the convenience 
and safety of the public. 

 
PART 3 PROTECTION OF EXISTING FACILITIES: 
 

3.1 General: 
 

All existing utilities and facilities, including but not limited to power, gas, 
telephone, cable television, sewers, water mains, cables, culverts, 
conduits, ditches, embankments, structures and trees within the 
construction area, shall be supported and protected from injury by the 
Contractor during construction and until completion of the work, unless 
removal is authorized by the Engineer or the Drawings or 
Specifications. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 289 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
▪Ver.09 Excavation, Compaction & 

Backfill for Utilities 
Section 02222 - Page 2 

 

 
3.2 Underground Facilities: 

 
A. A reasonable effort has been made by the Engineer to indicate 

the type, size, location and number of known underground 
facilities on the Drawings, however, no guarantee is made as to 
the true type, size, location, or number of such facilities.  It shall 
be the Contractor's responsibility to verify utilities along the 
route of the work.  The omission from, or the inclusion of, utility 
locations on the Drawings is not to be considered as the non-
existence of, or an absolute location of, existing underground 
utilities. 
 
It is the Contractor’s responsibility to contact local utility 
companies or call the local “digger’s hotline” or similar service to 
have buried utilities located prior to construction. 

 
B. The Contractor shall locate and expose any buried facilities 

ahead of the normal trenching operation, including confirming 
size and location of piping to be connected to, so that necessary 
changes in pipeline location, alignment, or depth, for the 
pipeline under construction, or the possible relocation of existing 
buried facilities may be accomplished well in advance of the 
trenching operation.  No additional payment will be allowed for 
exposing and locating buried facilities ahead of the normal 
trenching operation. 

 
C. The Contractor shall notify the Engineer of the existing utilities 

(as confirmed above), whether above-ground or underground 
prior to proceeding with trench excavation whenever such 
trenching operations are within 10 feet of the possible location 
of any existing utility.  Should any such utility be damaged in the 
trenching operations, the Contractor shall immediately notify the 
Owner of such utility, and unless authorized in writing by the 
Utility, the Contractor shall not attempt to make repairs. 

 
D. Any written authorization given to the Contractor by the utility for 

making repairs, shall be so worded as to save harmless the 
Owner and Engineer of any responsibility relative to the 
adequacy of the repairs. 

 
 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 290 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
▪Ver.09 Excavation, Compaction & 

Backfill for Utilities 
Section 02222 - Page 3 

 

 
E. If it is determined during construction that it will be necessary to 

relocate any above or below ground utility, including drainage 
structures, the Contractor shall notify the Engineer of such 
utility, well in advance, so that changes and/or relocation can be 
made without delaying the work. 

 

PART 4 TRENCH WIDTH: 
 

4.1 The minimum clear trench width as measured at the top of the pipe 
barrel shall be no less than the outside diameter, plus 16-inches.  For 
all pipe diameters, the maximum clear trench measured at a point of 
12-inches above the top of the pipe barrel shall be not greater than the 
trench width shown in the following table: 

 
  MAXIMUM TRENCH WIDTH TABLE 
 
  Pipe  Pipe   Pipe   Pipe 
  Diameter Trench  Diameter Trench 
  Inches  Inches   Inches  Inches 
 
  4  24   20  44 
  6  30   24  48 
  8  32   30  54 
  10  34   36  60 
  12  36   42  66 
  14  38   48  72 
  16  40   54  78 
  18  42 
 
 

4.2 The excavation in streets with permanent paving, such as asphalt or 
concrete must be confined to a minimum width.  The pavement shall 
be cut with a vertical face 6-inches beyond the top of each trench wall 
and on a straight line. 

 
4.3 If the above stated maximum trench widths are exceeded, either 

through accident or otherwise, and if the Engineer determines that 
resultant backfill conditions will exceed or approach the design loading 
of the pipe, the Contractor will be required to make such corrective 
measures as cradling the pipe in concrete, using a pipe of a stronger 
class, if such be available, or provide special bedding material as 
determined necessary by the Engineer. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 291 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
▪Ver.09 Excavation, Compaction & 

Backfill for Utilities 
Section 02222 - Page 4 

 

 
4.4 The cost of remedial measures because of exceeding the maximum 

allowable trench width shall be entirely at the Contractor's expense. 
 

4.5 The Contractor may slope or bench the trench side walls as he/she 
deems necessary in accordance with good safety practices.  The 
sloping or benching shall terminate not less than one foot above the 
top of the pipe barrel, and from that point down the trench wall shall be 
vertical. 

 
4.6 All of the trenching operation and the spoil bank shall remain confined 

to the Owner's permanent and temporary construction easements, or 
right-of-way. 

 
4.7 A clear area shall be maintained back from the top edge of the 

excavation to prevent overloading and sliding or caving of the trench 
walls.  All excavated material shall be maintained in such a manner as 
to minimize inconvenience to the public and adjoining property owners.  
All public streets shall be kept open, unless written authorization is 
received from the Engineer for closure.  At street crossings, driveways 
or other places of access, the Engineer may authorize or require that 
trenches be bridged in a safe manner to permit access to fire hydrants 
and public or private properties. 

 
PART 5 TRENCH PREPARATION: 
 

5.1 The trench shall be excavated to permit the pipe to be laid to the 
alignment and depth as specified and shown on the Drawings.  The 
trench wall shall be braced so that the workers may work safely and 
efficiently.  Trench excavation and preparation shall also conform to 
any details or special requirements shown on the Drawings. 

 
5.2 Trenches shall have extra width, when required, to permit the placing 

of timber supports, sheeting, and bracing, and the handling of special 
units if necessary.  Bell holes shall be provided in the bottom of the 
trench at each joint to permit proper joining of the pipe. 

 
5.3 After excavation, the trench bottom shall be uniformly graded and 

hand-shaped so that the pipe barrel (and not the pipe joint) will have 
uniform and continuous bearing on firm, undisturbed trench bottom, or 
thoroughly compacted granular material, throughout the length of the 
pipe barrel. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 292 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
▪Ver.09 Excavation, Compaction & 

Backfill for Utilities 
Section 02222 - Page 5 

 

5.4 Final grading of trench bottom shall permit the pipe spigot end to be 
centered in the preceding laid pipe joint, without lifting the pipe above 
the final grade, and without exceeding permissible joint deflections.  If 
it is necessary to raise the pipe subgrade, special compacted fill, 
approved by the Engineer, shall be used. 

 
PART 6 BEDDING AND BACKFILLING: 
 

For the purpose of this Section, "Pipe Bedding" shall refer to material below 
the pipe invert.  "Pipe Backfill" shall consist of all material above the bedding 
to a height of 12-inches above the pipe.  "Trench Backfill" shall consist of all 
material above the "Pipe Backfill." 

 
6.1 Bedding: 

 
A. Special bedding shall be required where unstable foundation is 

encountered, as determined in the field by the Engineer.  
Special bedding shall also be required when trench excavation 
is in rock or sandstone.  

 
B. When an unstable trench bottom is encountered, the Contractor 

shall over-excavate a minimum of 6-inches and replace such 
over-excavated material with ¾-inch "minus" crushed stone. 

 
C. When the trench bottom is rock, sandstone or hardpan, the 

Contractor shall over-excavate and/or remove sufficient material 
to provide a minimum of 4-inches of embedment cushion on 
each side of and below the pipe and appurtenances.  The 
embedment cushion shall be granular material with no particles 
larger than ¾-inch. 

 
D. No additional payment for "pipe bedding" shall be allowed, 

unless an item is listed specifically in the Bid for "pipe bedding," 
and its use is specifically authorized by the Engineer.  Payment, 
if allowed, shall be based upon the volume of material placed as 
measured along the length of the pipeline being installed, by the 
depth of the material as authorized by the Engineer and by the 
width of the trench as shown in the "Maximum Trench Width 
Table" in Part 4 of this Section. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 293 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
▪Ver.09 Excavation, Compaction & 

Backfill for Utilities 
Section 02222 - Page 6 

 

6.2 Pipe Backfill: 
 

A. For backfilling around the pipe; suitable materials, taken from 
the excavated trench and containing no stones larger than as 
listed following shall be used: 

 
       Maximum Size of Stones  
   Type of Pipe Installed in Backfill around Pipe  
  
    Ductile-Iron   2-inches 
    Concrete   1-inch 
    P.V.C.    ¾-inch 
    

B. Special care shall be taken to compact the "pipe backfill" under 
the pipe "haunches"; between the springline (pipe centerline) 
and the pipe barrel where it comes in contact with the trench 
bottom.  The first lift shall not be above the pipe spring line. 

 
C. Compaction bars or other pneumatic or mechanical units shall 

be used, which can thoroughly compact the material to 95% 
maximum dry density (Standard Proctor), or greater.  Non-
cohesive soils not applicable to Standard Proctor Density testing 
shall be compacted to 70% density as determined by ASTM 
4253 & 4354. 

 
D. If sufficient suitable backfill material (for placement within 12-

inches of the pipe barrel) is not available from the excavated 
material, the Contractor shall segregate or screen out large 
stones, debris and other unsuitable material from the "pipe 
backfill" before placing and compacting; or the Contractor shall 
provide acceptable material from other excavations or locations 
of the work under this contract.  No extra payment shall be 
made for this moving and handling of the "pipe backfill" material. 

 
E. If sufficient quantities of suitable material for "pipe backfill" are 

not reasonably available, as described in the preceding 
paragraph, the Contractor shall notify the Engineer.  The 
Engineer will then locate a source of suitable "pipe backfill" 
material. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 294 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
▪Ver.09 Excavation, Compaction & 

Backfill for Utilities 
Section 02222 - Page 7 

 

F. No additional payment for "pipe backfill" material shall be 
allowed, unless an item is listed specifically in the Bid for "pipe 
backfill," and its use is specifically authorized by the Engineer.  
Payment, if allowed, shall be based upon the volume of material 
placed as measured along the length of the pipeline being 
installed, by the depth of the material as authorized by the 
Engineer and by the width of trench as shown in the "Maximum 
Trench Width Table" in Part 4 of this Section. 

 

6.3 Trench Backfilling: 
 

A. General: 
 

1. Special care shall be taken when compacting over the 
pipe.  Any damage to or movement of the pipe, as a 
result of the backfilling and compaction operations, shall 
be the responsibility of the Contractor.  The backfilling 
and compaction shall proceed in maximum lifts of a depth 
to insure the specified degree of compaction based on 
the type of soil and the type of compaction equipment 
being used. 

 
2. "Trench backfill" necessary to bring the trench to final 

grade shall be considered incidental to construction. 
 

3. No payment for additional "trench backfill" material shall 
be allowed unless specific circumstances do not allow 
the use of the existing soils as "trench backfill."  The use 
and payment of additional "trench backfill" shall be 
specifically authorized by the Engineer. 

 
4. Payment, if allowed, shall be based upon the volume of 

material placed as measured along the length of the 
pipeline being installed, by the depth of the material as 
authorized by the Engineer and by the width of trench as 
shown in the "Maximum Trench Width Table" in Part 4 of 
this Section. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 295 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
▪Ver.09 Excavation, Compaction & 

Backfill for Utilities 
Section 02222 - Page 8 

 

B. Backfilling in Locations Receiving Paving Or Designated As 
Traffic Areas: 

 
The maximum lift for locations receiving paving or designated as 
traffic areas shall not exceed six inches.  Regardless of the 
method, all compaction shall be 95% of the maximum dry 
density (Standard Proctor), in accordance with ASTM 
Specification Designation D698.  Non-cohesive soils not 
applicable to Standard Proctor Density testing shall be 
compacted to 70% relative density as determined by ASTM 
4253 & 4354. 
 

C. Backfilling in Locations Not Receiving Paving Or Designated As 
Traffic Areas: 

 
1. Unless shown otherwise on the Drawings, or described in 

the Special Construction Provisions, all backfill shall be 
carefully deposited into the trench on a slope angle equal 
to the repose of the material in maximum one foot lifts, 
and allowed to flow progressively forward in such a 
manner as to avoid impact on the pipe.  The backfill shall 
be compacted in maximum one foot lifts. 

 
2. Regardless of the method of compacting, all compaction 

under this classification of "Backfilling in Locations Not 
Receiving Paving Or Designated As Traffic Areas" shall 
be 85% of the maximum laboratory dry density (Standard 
Proctor), in accordance with ASTM Specification 
Designation D698.  Non-cohesive soils not applicable to 
Standard Proctor Density testing shall be compacted to 
60% relative density as determined by ASTM 4253 & 
4354. 

 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 
 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 296 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
▪Ver.09 Subgrade Preparation Section 02230 - Page 1 
  

SECTION 02230    SUBGRADE PREPARATION FOR CURB, GUTTER, SIDEWALK AND 
STREET CONSTRUCTION 

 
 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

The work to be performed in accordance with the requirement of this Section 
consists of furnishing all material, equipment, supplies and accessories 
required, and of performing all labor required for subgrade for curb, gutter, 
sidewalk and street construction. 

 
PART 2 DESCRIPTION: 
 

The work of subgrade construction shall include adjusting grade lines to meet 
intersections, pavements, bridge ends, as required; railroad crossings or any 
other physical features; disposing of surplus excavated material, and such 
scarifying, drying, reshaping and compacting as is necessary to conform to 
the Plans and Specification requirements. 

 
PART 3 CONSTRUCTION METHODS: 
 

3.1 Areas to receive embankment and the top of cut areas shall first be 
stripped of all vegetation, organic material, all other materials that are 
unsuitable for use in embankment, and disposed of by the Contractor at 
his expense.  Embankments shall be constructed in accordance with the 
Nebraska Department of Roads Standard Specification 205 for Class "II" 
Embankments or Wyoming Highway Department Specification Section 
203 "Excavation and Embankment." 

 
3.2 Within the limits of the embankment and cut area, and all other areas to 

receive asphalt or concrete pavement, curb and gutter, the subgrade 
shall be scarified to a depth of six (6) inches and the moisture content 
increased or reduced as necessary to bring the moisture to optimum.  
This scarified layer shall then be compacted.  The remainder of the 
embankment volume shall then be constructed of suitable material at 
optimum moisture content and compacted in lifts not to exceed six (6) 
inches to the relative compaction specified.  No direct payment will be 
made for water applied. 

 
3.3 Fill material and the top six (6) inches in cut areas under paved areas 

shall be compacted to 95% Proctor Density at optimum moisture.  
Compacted subgrade ready to receive base material shall conform to 
the lines, grades and cross-section called for on the drawings.  Sub-
grade is to be established by survey. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 297 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
▪Ver.09 Subgrade Preparation Section 02230 - Page 2 
  

3.4 No curb, gutter, sidewalk, cross pan, base course or asphaltic concrete 
is to be placed on unstable, soft, spongy or frozen subgrade.  Unstable, 
soft or yielding subgrade shall be scarified, aerated, moisture-adjusted 
and relayed to the compaction specified; or, if such relaying, moisture 
adjustment and compaction does not result in a stabilized subgrade, or if 
the depth of unstable material exceeds the specified 6-inch depth for 
normal subgrade preparation, then the subgrade material shall be 
excavated, removed and replaced with base course material as 
necessary to stabilize the subgrade, or as directed by the Engineer. 

 
3.5 No additional payment shall be made for re-working of the subgrade to a 

depth of 6 inches, as specified herein, to obtain the proper compaction. 
 
3.6 Additional payment for over-excavation of unstable subgrade, replacing 

with base course material, including compaction of base course material 
and other requirements stated in this Section, shall be made in 
accordance with the unit prices listed in the Bid.  The unit price for this 
work shall also include the cost of removing and disposing of the 
unstable material. 

 
PART 4 EQUIPMENT: 
 

4.1 Compacting equipment and methods, which will consistently produce 
the compaction specified throughout the depth of the lifts, shall be used.  
Compacting equipment which will produce a smooth, glossy surface or 
produces detrimental laminations within the compacted lifts will not be 
permitted.  

 
 

END OF SECTION 
************************* 

 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 298 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
▪Ver.09 Base Course Section 02233 - Page 1 
 

SECTION 02233 BASE COURSE FOR CURB, GUTTER, SIDEWALK AND STREET 
CONSTRUCTION 

 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

This Section shall govern all labor, material, equipment and services necessary 
for the construction of base courses composed of granular materials constructed 
on a prepared subgrade or underlying course, as specified on the Plans, or as 
directed in the field by the Engineer. 

 
PART 2 MATERIAL:   
 

2.1 The base material shall consist of hard durable particles or fragments of 
granular aggregates.  This material will be mixed or blended with fine 
sand, clay, stone dust, or other similar binding or filler materials produced 
from approved sources.  This mixture must be uniform and shall comply 
with the requirements of this Section as to gradation, soil constants, and 
shall be capable of being compacted into a dense and stable base.  The 
material shall be free from vegetable matter, lumps, or excessive amounts 
of clay, and other objectionable or foreign substances.  Pit-run material 
may be used, provided the material meets the requirements specified. 

 
 TABLE 2.1 - GRADATION REQUIREMENTS 
  _________________________________________________ 
  Sieve Designation     Percentage by 
  (Square Openings)     Weight Passing 
  As Per AASHTO T11 and T27   Sieves 
  _________________________________________________ 
  3-inch  ...................................... 100 
  No. 10  ...................................... 20 - 100 
  No. 40 . ..................................... 5 - 60 
  No. 200 ...................................... 0 - 15  
  _________________________________________________ 
 

2.2 The portion of the material passing the No. 40 sieve shall have a liquid 
limit of not more than 25 and a plasticity index of not more than 6 when 
tested in accordance with AASHTO T 89 and T 90.  The maximum 
amount of material finer than 0.02 mm. in diameter shall be less than 
3%. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 299 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
▪Ver.09 Base Course Section 02233 - Page 2 
 

 
PART 3 EQUIPMENT: 
 

It shall be the Contractor's responsibility to provide adequate equipment to 
perform the necessary work described in this Section. 

 
PART 4 PREPARATION OF MATERIALS:  
 

4.1 When the entire base material is secured in a uniform and satisfactory 
condition and contains approximately the required moisture, such 
approved material may be moved directly to the spreading equipment 
for placing.  The material may be obtained from gravel pits, stockpiles, 
or may be produced from a crushing and screening plant with the 
proper blending.  The materials from these sources shall meet the 
requirements for gradation, quality, and consistency.  

 
4.2 It is the intent of this Section to secure materials that will not require 

further mixing.  The moisture content of the material shall be 
approximately that required to obtain maximum density.  Any minor 
deficiency or excess of moisture may be corrected by surface 
sprinkling or by aeration.  In such instances, some mixing or 
manipulation may be required, immediately preceding the rolling, to 
obtain the required moisture content.  The final operation shall be 
blading or dragging, if necessary, to obtain a smooth uniform surface, 
true to line and grade. 

 
4.3 When materials from several sources are to be blended and mixed, the 

material shall be processed in a central or travel mixing plant.  The 
base material together with any blended material, shall be thoroughly 
mixed with the required amount of water.  After the mixing is complete, 
the material shall be transported to and spread on the underlying 
course without undue loss of the moisture content. 

 
PART 5 PLACING OF MATERIAL: 
 

5.1 The base course shall be constructed in layers.  Any layer shall not be 
less than 2 inches nor more than 8 inches of compacted thickness.  
The material, as spread, shall be of uniform gradation with no pockets 
of fine or coarse materials.  The base, unless otherwise permitted by 
the Engineer, shall not be spread more than 2,000 square yards in 
advance of the rolling.  Any necessary sprinkling shall be kept within 
this limit.  No material shall be placed in snow or on a soft, muddy, or 
frozen course. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 300 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
▪Ver.09 Base Course Section 02233 - Page 3 
 

 
5.2  During the placing and spreading, sufficient caution shall be exercised 

to prevent the incorporation of subgrade, shoulder or foreign material 
in the base course mixture. 

 
PART 6 FINISHING AND COMPACTING: 
 

6.1 After spreading or mixing, the base material shall be thoroughly 
compacted by rolling and sprinkling, when necessary.  Sufficient rollers 
shall be furnished to adequately handle the rate of placing and 
spreading of the base course. 

 
6.2 Rolling shall progress gradually from the sides to the center of the lane 

under construction, or from one side toward previously placed material, 
by lapping uniformly each preceding track by at least 12 inches.  The 
rolling shall continue until the material is thoroughly set and stable, and 
the base material has been compacted to not less than 98% of 
maximum density at optimum moisture.  Blading and rolling shall be 
done alternately, as required or directed, to obtain a smooth, even, and 
uniformly compacted base. 

 
6.3 The course shall not be rolled when the underlying course is soft or 

yielding or when the rolling causes undulation in the base.  When the 
rolling develops irregularities that exceed ½ inch when tested with a 
16-foot straightedge, the irregular surface shall be loosened and then 
refilled with the same kind of material as that used in constructing the 
course and again rolled as required above.  Unstable subgrade 
material that is encountered shall be over-excavated and the over-
excavation filled with the base course material and compacted, as 
directed by the Engineer. 

 
6.4 Along places inaccessible to rollers, the base material shall be tamped 

thoroughly with mechanical or hand tampers. 
 

6.5 Sprinkling during rolling, if necessary, shall be in the amount and by 
the equipment approved by the Engineer.  Water shall not be added in 
such a manner or quantity that free water will reach the underlying 
layer and cause it to become soft. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 301 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
▪Ver.09 Base Course Section 02233 - Page 4 
 

PART 7 PROTECTION: 
 

Work on base course shall not be conducted during freezing temperature nor 
when the subgrade is wet.  When the base material contains frozen material 
or when the underlying course is frozen, the construction shall be stopped. 

 
 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 302 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.10 PCC Pavement Section 02514 - Page 1 
 

  

SECTION 02514 PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE PAVEMENT 
 
 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

The work to be performed in accordance with the requirements of this Section 
consists of furnishing all materials, equipment, supplies, and accessories 
required, and of performing all operations needed in connection with the 
construction of Concrete Pavement under this contract.  

 
PART 2 MATERIAL: 
 

Concrete for construction of pavement shall be as specified in Division 3 
"Concrete".  Concrete thickness shall be as indicated on the Drawings or as 
called for in the Bid/Proposal. 

 
PART 3  EQUIPMENT: 
 

All equipment, tools and machinery shall be adequate for the purpose for 
which it is to be used and in accordance with Nebraska Department of Roads 
Standard 601.02. 

 
PART 4 FORMS: 
 

4.1 General: 
 

A. Forms for concrete shall be used for all vertical surfaces, mortar 
type, true to required lines and grades, and of sufficient strength 
to maintain shape during the placing of the concrete and the 
finishing process without springing or settling. 

 
B. Forms may be of metal or seasoned shiplap lumber of a depth 

equivalent to the thickness of the work prescribed.  Timber 
forms shall be two-inch (2"-nominal) surfaced plank; metal forms 
shall be approved section and shall have a flat surface on the 
top of not less than one and three-quarter inches (1 3/4"). 

 
C. Forms shall be thoroughly cleaned of all dirt, mortar and foreign 

matter before being used.  Forms shall be oiled prior to using. 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 303 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.10 PCC Pavement Section 02514 - Page 2 
 

  

D. Unit lengths of forms shall be joined in advance of the point of 
placing concrete.  Flexible, curved, or wood forms of the proper 
radii shall be used for curbs having a radius of less than two 
hundred (200') feet. 

 
E. Forms shall be equipped with not less than three (3) staking 

points per each ten feet (10') of length with means for securely 
locking the form to each stake.  Flange braces and staking 
pockets shall extend outward on the base not less than two-
thirds (2/3) of the height of the form. 

 
F. Forms that are bent, twisted, warped, broken, or forms that have 

battered or splintered top faces shall be removed from the job.  
Repaired forms shall not be used until they have been inspected 
and approved by the Engineer.  The top face of a form shall not 
vary from a true plane by more than one-eighth inch (1/8") in ten 
feet (10') and the upstanding face shall not vary from a true 
plane by more than one-fourth inch (1/4") in ten feet (10'). 

 
G. The building of pedestals of earth or other materials upon which 

to rest the forms in order to bring them to the grade will not be 
permitted.  Sufficient forms shall be provided so that they may 
remain in place 12 hours or more after the concrete has been 
placed before it is necessary to move and reuse them. 

 
H. The alignment and grade of forms shall be checked and 

approved immediately before placing the concrete. 
 

4.2 Removal of Forms: 
 

Forms shall be removed within twenty-four (24) hours after the 
placement of concrete.  After the forms have been removed, no 
honeycomb or minor defects will be acceptable and any concrete 
found to have such defects will be rejected by the Engineer, unless 
acceptable repairs are made. 

 
PART 5 CONCRETE PLACEMENT: 
 

Concrete shall be placed in accordance with Nebraska Department of Roads 
Standard. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 304 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.10 PCC Pavement Section 02514 - Page 3 
 

  

PART 6  JOINTS: 
 

6.1 Joints shall be in accordance with the detailed Drawings, in 
accordance with the typical concrete pavement joint detail drawing. 

 
A.  Construction Joints 
 
B.  Expansion Joints 

 
C.  Contraction Joints 
 
D.  Longitudinal Joints 

 
Note: Saw cutting is to be completed within 12 hours after concrete 
has been placed.  

  
6.2 Joint spacing shall be based on the following: 

 
A.  Minimum 10’ 
 
B.  Standard:  Spacing (in feet) = 2 X thickness of pavement (in 

inches) 
 
C.  Maximum:  Spacing (in feet) = 2.25 X thickness of pavement (in 

inches) never to exceed 16.5’ 
 

D.  Length: Width shall not exceed 1:1.5 
 

E.  Expansion Joints shall placed at each end of radius at 
intersections and at a maximum of 150’. 

 
6.3  Joint sealing filler shall be hot-poured "Hi-Spec” Hot-Applied Polymeric 

Sealant, as manufactured by W.R. Meadows, meeting the 
requirements of ASTM D 3405.  Sealing shall be in accordance with 
Nebraska Department of Roads Standard 603.03, Item 8. 

 
PART 7 FINISHING: 
 

Finishing concrete shall generally be in accordance with Nebraska 
Department of Roads Standard 603.03, Item 6. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 305 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.10 PCC Pavement Section 02514 - Page 4 
 

  

 
PART 8 SURFACE TESTS: 
 

8.1 The finished surface of the pavement shall be within the tolerance of 
the following surface trueness test: 

 
A. The pavement shall be tested for trueness in each wheel lane at 

the expiration of the required curing or protection period. 
 

B. The surface shall be tested by means of a 10-foot straightedge 
or other device for measuring deviations from a plane, placed 
parallel to the centerline of the pavement, parallel to the grade 
line and touching the surface. 

 
C. Surface variations of the pavement measured from the base of 

the straightedge to the surface of the pavement shall not exceed 
1/8-inch.  Surface variations which exceed 1/4-inch up to and 
including 1/2-inch in 10 feet may be removed by an approved 
grinding tool or a device consisting of multiple saws; or be left 
as is and the contract payment reduced 15% per each 
pavement section containing such variation. 

 
8.2 Areas which vary from the true surface by more than 1/2-inch shall be 

removed and replaced with pavement of the required quality and 
smoothness at the entire expense of the Contractor.  When it is 
necessary to remove the pavement to eliminate surface variations, the 
sections removed shall be full lane width or the total width between 
longitudinal joints of the pavement, and shall be not less than ten (10) 
feet in length. 

 
PART 9 CURING AND PROTECTION: 
 

The concrete shall be protected and cured as outlined in Section 03370 
"Concrete Curing". 

 
PART 10 INTEGRAL CURB: 
 

10.1 Integral curb, when specified, shall be constructed on the edge of the 
concrete slab in accordance with the drawings and typical cross 
sections.  This curb shall be placed simultaneously with the concrete 
pavement. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 306 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.10 PCC Pavement Section 02514 - Page 5 
 

  

 
10.2 The concrete for integral curb shall be of the same mixture design as 

used in the concrete slab.  All contraction or expansion joints in the 
pavement shall be continuous through the integral curb. 

 
10.3 Direct payment will not be made for the integral curb but shall be 

considered as subsidiary work pertaining to concrete pavement, unless 
otherwise provided for in the Bid/Proposal. 

 
PART 11 PAVEMENT THICKNESS: 
 

It is the intent that the pavement shall be constructed to the minimum 
thickness as shown on the drawings. 

 
11.1 The thickness of the pavement shall be determined by average caliper 

measurement of cores. 
 
11.2 For the purpose of establishing an adjusted unit price for pavement, 

units shall be considered for each 1,000 square yards of pavement.  
One core shall be taken at random by the Engineer in each unit.  When 
the measurement of the core from a unit is not deficient more than 0.1 
inch from the specified thickness, full payment will be made.  If core is 
deficient in thickness by more than 0.10 inch but not more 1.0 inch 
from the specified thickness, two additional cores shall be taken from 
the area represented and the average of the three cores determined.  
If the average measurement of these three cores is not deficient more 
than 0.1 inch from the specified thickness, full payment will be made.  
If the thickness of the three cores is deficient more than 0.1 inch but 
not more than 1.0 inch from the specified thickness, an adjusted unit 
price, as provided, will be paid for the area represented by these cores. 

 
11.3 In calculating the average thickness of the pavement, measurements 

which are in excess of the specified thickness by more than 0.2 inch 
shall be considered as the specified thickness plus 0.2 inch, and 
measurements which are less than the specified thickness by more 
than 1.0 inch shall not be included in the average. 

 
11.4 When the measurement of any core is less than the specified 

thickness by more than 1.0 inch, the actual thickness of the pavement 
in this area shall be determined by taking additional cores at not less 
than 10-foot intervals parallel to the centerline in each direction from 
the affected location, until in each direction a core is found which is not 
deficient by more than 1.0 inch.   

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 307 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.10 PCC Pavement Section 02514 - Page 6 
 

  

 
Areas found deficient in thickness by more than 1.0 inch shall be 
evaluated by the Engineer and, if in his judgment, the deficient areas 
warrant removal, they shall be removed and replaced with concrete of 
the thickness shown on the drawings.  Exploratory cores for deficient 
thickness will not be used in averages for adjusted unit price. 

 
11.5 No additional payment shall be made for any pavement which has an 

average thickness in excess of that shown on the drawings. 
 
 CONCRETE PAVEMENT DEFICIENCY 
 
        Proportional Part 
 Deficiency in Thickness    of Contract Price 
 Determined by Cores (Inches)   Allowed (Percent) 
 
  0.00 to 0.10      100 
  0.11 to 0.25      85 
  0.26 to 0.50      75 
  0.51 to 0.75      60 
   0.76 to 1.00      50 
 

11.6 When the thickness of pavement is deficient by more than 1 inch and 
in the judgment of the Engineer, the area of such deficiency should not 
be removed and replaced, there shall be no payment for the area 
retained. 

 
PART 12 PREPARATION OF SUB-GRADE: 
 

See Section 02230 "Subgrade Preparation for Curb, Gutter, Sidewalk, and 
Street Construction". 

 
PART 13 MEASUREMENT: 
 

The quantity to be paid for shall be the actual superficial exposed surface 
area, complete in place and accepted and adjusted for any deficiencies in 
thickness.        

 
  

 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 308 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
▪Ver.09 Combination Concrete Curb 

& Gutter 
Section 02525 - Page 1 

  

SECTION 02525 COMBINATION CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER 
 
 
PART 1 SCOPE OF WORK: 
 

This Section shall govern all labor, material, equipment, and services 
necessary for construction of concrete combination curbs and gutters to be 
constructed within street rights-of-way. 

 
PART 2 GENERAL: 
 

The curb and gutter profile shall be as indicated on the Detailed Drawings. 
 
PART 3 MATERIAL: 
 

Concrete for construction of combination curb and gutter shall be specified in 
Division 3 "Concrete". 

 
PART 4 EXPANSION JOINT MATERIALS: 
 

Expansion joints shall be constructed with preformed expansion joint filler, 
conforming to ASTM D 994, D 1751 and D 1752 and placed at curb returns 
(3/4" thick) and between attached sidewalks (1/2" thick).  Expansion joint filler 
shall be installed around or between any fixed structure (i.e. manholes, utility 
poles, buildings, etc.) and shall extend the full depth of the concrete.  
Expansion joints shall be installed at other locations as directed by the 
Engineer.  Expansion joints shall extend to the full depth of the curb section.  
Joints shall be edged to form a minimum radius of 1/4 inch. The Contractor 
shall provide to the Engineer a detail of all joints prior to placement of 
concrete. 

 
PART 5 JOINT SEALING MATERIAL: 
 

Joint sealing filler shall be hot-poured "Hi-Spec” Hot-Applied Polymeric 
Sealant, as manufactured by W.R. Meadows, meeting the requirements of 
ASTM D 3405. 

 
PART 6 CONTRACTION JOINTS: 
 

6.1 Contraction joints shall be installed at a maximum of every 6 feet and 
shall extend into the concrete for at least 1/3 of the depth and shall be 
approximately 1/8-inch wide.   

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 309 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
▪Ver.09 Combination Concrete Curb 

& Gutter 
Section 02525 - Page 2 

  

6.2 Curb returns shall be divided into sections as indicated on the attached 
Detail Drawings and at other locations as directed by the Engineer.  
The jointing or other acceptable means shall form a minimum radius of 
1/4 inch. 

 
PART 7 FORMS: 
 

7.1 General: 
 

A. Forms for concrete shall be used for all vertical surfaces, mortar 
type, true to required lines and grades, and of sufficient strength 
to maintain shape during the placing of the concrete and the 
mechanical finishing without springing or settling. 

 
B. Forms may be of metal or seasoned shiplap lumber of a depth 

equivalent to the thickness of the work prescribed.  Timber 
forms shall be two-inch (2" nominal) surfaced plank; metal forms 
shall be approved section and shall have a flat surface on the 
top of not less than one and three-quarter inches (1 3/4"). 

 
C. Forms shall be thoroughly cleaned of all dirt, mortar and foreign 

matter before being used.  Forms shall be oiled prior to using. 
 

D. Unit lengths of forms shall be joined in advance of the point of 
placing concrete.  Flexible, curved, or wood forms of the proper 
radii shall be used for curbs having a radius of less than two 
hundred (200') feet. 

 
E. Forms shall be equipped with not less than three (3) staking 

points per each ten feet (10') of length with means for securely 
locking the form to each stake.  Flange braces and staking 
pockets shall extend outward on the base not less than two-
thirds (2/3) of the height of the form. 

 
F. Forms that are bent, twisted, warped, broken, or forms that have 

battered or splintered top faces shall be removed from the job.  
Repaired forms shall not be used until they have been inspected 
and approved by the Engineer.  The top face of a form shall not 
vary from a true plane by more than one-eighth inch (1/8") in ten 
feet (10') and the upstanding face shall not vary from a true 
plane by more than one-fourth inch (1/4") in ten feet (10'). 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 310 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
▪Ver.09 Combination Concrete Curb 

& Gutter 
Section 02525 - Page 3 

  

G. The building of pedestals of earth or other materials upon which 
to rest the forms in order to bring them to the grade will not be 
permitted.  Sufficient forms shall be provided so that they may 
remain in place 12 hours or more after the concrete has been 
placed before it is necessary to move and reuse them. 

 
H. The alignment and grade of forms shall be checked and 

approved immediately before placing the concrete. 
 

7.2 Removal of Forms: 
 

Forms shall be removed within twenty-four (24) hours after the 
placement of concrete.  After the forms have been removed, no 
honeycomb or minor defects will be acceptable and any concrete 
found to have such defects will be rejected by the Engineer, unless 
acceptable repairs are made. 

 
PART 8 PREPARATION OF SUBGRADE: 
 

Reference Section 02230 "Subgrade for Curb, Gutter, Sidewalk and Street 
Construction". 

 
PART 9 PLACEMENT AND FINISH: 
 

9.1 The concrete shall be placed in forms and consolidated by vibration or 
hand tamping so that there will be no air spaces in the mass.  The 
combination curb and gutter shall be brought to proper surface by 
running a straightedge over the steel templates with a sawing motion 
so as to fill all holes and depressions.  Immediately after using the 
straightedge, the surface shall be floated with a wood float to draw the 
mortar to the surface and edged with an approved edger. 

 
9.2 Just before the concrete takes its initial set, the surface shall be 

brushed with a soft bristle brush so as to remove all trowel marks and 
leave a uniform appearance.  Brushing shall be at right angles to the 
curb line.  No more concrete shall be poured in one day than can be 
finished before dark the same day.  No concrete that has begun to set 
shall be deposited in the forms. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 311 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
▪Ver.09 Combination Concrete Curb 

& Gutter 
Section 02525 - Page 4 

  

9.3 No concrete shall be placed if there is not enough to completely fill one 
complete 6 -foot curb and gutter section.  No concrete shall be 
deposited adjacent to concrete that has already taken its initial set (90 
minutes or older), unless the specified construction or expansion joint 
is provided. 

 
9.4 Curb placed by mechanical curb and gutter machines shall be troweled 

with a steel trowel to a smooth, uniform surface.  Just prior to the initial 
set of the concrete, the surface shall be brushed with a soft brush so 
as to remove all trowel marks and to leave a uniform appearance. 

 
PART 10 FINISHED WORK: 
 

The work shall be performed in a manner which results in a curb and gutter 
constructed to specified line and grade and uniform in appearance and 
structurally sound.  Curbs found with unsightly bulges, ridges, low spots in the 
gutter or other defects shall be removed and replaced at the Contractor's 
expense, if the Engineer considers them to be irreparable.  When checked 
with a ten (10) foot straightedge, grade shall not deviate more than 1/8 inch 
and alignment shall not vary more than 1/4 inch.  Areas which vary from the 
true plane by more than 1/2 inch shall be removed and replaced at the entire 
expense of the Contractor. 

 
PART 11 CURING AND PROTECTION: 
 

The concrete shall be protected and cured as specified in Division 3 
"Concrete". 

 
PART 12 BACKFILLING: 
 

Backfilling adjacent to curb & gutter and placement of asphaltic or concrete 
paving shall be accomplished no sooner than 7 days after construction of the 
combination concrete curb & gutter. 

 
PART 13 MEASUREMENT: 
 

Curb and gutter will be measured in lineal feet.   
 

 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 312 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Crosspans Section 02527 - Page 1 
 

SECTION 02527 CROSSPANS 
 
 
PART 1 SCOPE OF WORK: 
 

The work to be performed in accordance with the requirements of this Section 
consists of furnishing all materials, equipment, supplies, and accessories 
required, and of performing all operations needed in connection with the 
construction of Concrete Crosspans under this contract. 

 
PART 2 MATERIALS: 
 

Concrete used for construction of crosspans shall conform to Division 3 
"Concrete". 

 
PART 3 DIMENSIONS: 
 

Crosspan basins shall be eight (8) feet wide with a minimum thickness of six 
(6) inches. The crosspan shall be sloped from each longitudinal edge toward 
the middle at a maximum slope of ¼-inch per foot. 

 
PART 4 REINFORCEMENT: 
 

Reinforcement for crosspans shall be steel mesh; 6 x 6 -W2.9 x W2.9 (steel 
area 0.06 sq.in. longitudinal and transverse) and shall be located two (2) 
inches above the bottom of the crosspan. 

 
PART 5 JOINTS:   
 

5.1 Expansion joints shall be ½ inch premolded and placed completely 
through the section at 50 foot intervals and at curb returns.  ½ inch 
smooth steel dowels with sleeves or caps at 2 foot centers shall be 
placed at each expansion joint. 

 
5.2 Contraction joints shall be placed to match transverse concrete street 

joints, or at a maximum spacing of 15 feet if not otherwise indicated on 
the drawings. 

 
PART 6 JOINT SEALING MATERIAL: 
 

Joint sealing filler shall be hot-poured "Seal-Tight Hi-Spec Polymeric Joint 
Sealing Compound", as manufactured by W.R. Meadows, meeting the 
requirements of ASTM D 3405. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 313 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Crosspans Section 02527 - Page 2 
 

 
PART 7 PLACEMENT AND FINISH: 
 

The concrete shall be placed in the forms and thoroughly vibrated, spaded or 
tamped so that there will be no air spaces in the mass.  Crosspans shall be 
brought to proper surface by wood floating to fill all holes and depressions.  
Just before the concrete takes its initial set, the surface shall be brushed with 
a soft bristle brush to remove all trowel marks and to leave a uniform 
appearance.  Brushing shall be parallel to the centerline of the crosspan. 

 
PART 8 CURING AND PROTECTION: 
 

The concrete shall be protected and cured as specified in Division 3 
"Concrete". 

 
PART 9 MEASUREMENT: 
 

The quantity to be paid for shall be the actual superficial exposed surface 
area, complete in place and accepted. 

 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 314 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.14 Polyethylene Storm Sewer 

Pipe 
Section 02616 - Page 1

 

SECTION 02616 PIPELINE MATERIALS - CORRUGATED POLYETHYLENE PIPE 
 
 
PART 1 SCOPE OF WORK: 
 

This Section covers corrugated polyethylene pipe.  It is the intention of this 
Specification for the Contractor to furnish all equipment and labor to perform 
the construction activities described following: 

 
PART 2 MATERIALS: 
 

2.1 The 4 to 60-inch pipe shall have a smooth interior and annular exterior 
corrugations shall meet the requirements of ASTM F2648 and shall be 
watertight according to the requirements of ASTM D3212. 
 

2.2 Material for pipe production shall be an engineered compound of virgin 
and recycled high-density polyethylene conforming with the minimum 
requirements of cell classification, as defined and described in the 
latest version of ASTM D3350, except that carbon black content should 
not exceed 4%. 

 
2.3 Pipe shall be joined using a bell & spigot joint meeting ASTM F2648.  

The joint shall be soil-tight and gaskets shall be made of polyisoprene 
meeting the requirements of ASTM F477. Gaskets shall be installed by 
the pipe manufacturer and covered with a removable, protective wrap 
to ensure the gasket is free from debris.  

 
2.4 Fittings shall conform to ASTM F 2306. Bell and spigot connections 

shall utilize a spun-on or welded bell and valley or saddle gasket 
meeting the watertight joint performance requirements of ASTM F 
2306. Fittings shall be furnished according to the size and gauge 
designated on the plans or in the Special Construction Provisions. 

 
2.5 Virgin material for the corrugated polyethylene pipe shall be high-

density polyethylene conforming with the minimum requirements as 
defined in ASTM D3350. 

 
2.6 The pipe shall be similar and equal to ADS N-12 WT IB pipe. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 315 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.14 Polyethylene Storm Sewer 

Pipe 
Section 02616 - Page 2

 

 
PART 3 INSTALLATION: 
 

Installation shall be in accordance with: Section 02723 – Storm Sewer 
Pipeline Installation; manufacturer’s published installation guidelines; and 
ASTM D2321. 
 

 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 316 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.12 Storm Drainage Inlets 

(Concrete) 
Section 02721 - Page 1 

 

SECTION 02721   STORM DRAINAGE INLETS (CONCRETE)  
 
 
PART 1 SCOPE OF WORK: 
 

This Section shall govern the construction of storm drainage inlets.  Inlets 
shall be located as shown on the Drawings, or as directed in the field by the 
Engineer.  Detailed requirements for the construction and installation of inlets 
are shown on the Drawings, on the detail drawings and as specified following.  
Submittals shall be required for a grates and frames specified herein. 

 
PART 2 INLET CONSTRUCTION:   
 

2.1 The contractor may elect to construct inlets in accordance with one of 
the following methods. 

 
A. Monolith pre-cast inlet. 

 
B. Pre-cast base with poured-in-place or solid block walls. 

 
C. Poured-in-place base with poured-in-place or solid block walls. 

 
2.2 Inlets shall be constructed of pipe or concrete with smoothed to 

rounded even surfaces from invert to pipe spring line, thoroughly 
cleaned and free from any accumulation of silt, debris, or foreign 
matter at the time of final inspection. 

 
2.3 Pre-cast bases shall be 4-inches thick, reinforced with W2.9 x W2.9 

6x6 wire mesh.  Poured-in-place bases shall be 4-inches thick with a 
thickened edge of 5-6 inches.  Poured-in-place bases may be formed 
with 2x6 exterior forms and poured directly on the soil. 

 
2.4 Solid block shall be laid in a full bed of mortar.  Block and/or pre-cast 

sections shall be laid in a full bed of mortar in order to accurately install 
castings to grade. 

 
PART 3 MATERIALS: 
 

3.1 Concrete: 
 

All concrete shall meet the requirements of Division 3, "Concrete".  
Inlet brick shall be solid, and shall conform to the requirements of 
ASTM. 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 317 / 404



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.12 Storm Drainage Inlets 

(Concrete) 
Section 02721 - Page 2 

 

 
 

3.2 Concrete Mortar: 
 

Mortar shall be composed of one (1) part type II cement to two (2) 
parts sand, thoroughly mixed dry and then having only that amount of 
water added and mixed to form a paste of workable consistency.  
Mortar shall be freshly made and used within 2 1/2 hours of initial 
mixing:  no mortar or grout will be used after it has begun to set. 

 
3.3 Inlet Grate and Frame: 

 
Inlet grates and frames shall be grey cast iron conforming to ASTM 
Designation A-48, free from cracks, holes, swells, cold joints, and 
having a smooth workmanlike finish.  Frames shall be set in a full bed 
of mortar. Grates and frames shall be manufactured by Deeter 
Foundry or Neenah Foundry and shall be as indicated on detail 
drawings 

. 
 
 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 318 / 404



 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.14 Sewer Pipe Installation Section 02732 - Page 1 
 
 

SECTION 02732 SEWER PIPELINE INSTALLATION 
 
 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

The work to be performed in accordance with the requirements of this Section 
consists of furnishing all material, equipment, supplies, and accessories 
required, and of performing all labor required for installation of sewer 
pipelines under this Contract. 

 
PART 2 HANDLING OF MATERIAL:  

 
2.1 Hoists or skidways shall be used for loading and unloading pipe, 

fittings, manhole rings, manhole frames and covers and all other 
accessories so as to prevent damage of these items.  Under no 
circumstances shall any material be dropped.  Material skidded or 
rolled from a vehicle shall not be rolled against pipe or fittings already 
on the ground. 

 
2.2 Pipe and fittings shall be handled so that the coating and lining will not 

be damaged.  If, however, any part of the coating or lining is damaged, 
repair or replacement shall be by the Contractor at his expense in a 
manner satisfactory to the Engineer. 
 

2.3 In distributing the material at the site of the work, each piece shall be 
unloaded opposite or near the place where it is to be laid in the trench. 

 
PART 3 INSTALLATION OF SEWER PIPE: 
 

3.1 PVC sewer pipe shall be installed in accordance with manufacturer's 
pipe installation guide, and/or in conformance with ANSI/ASTM D2321 
"Underground Installation of Flexible Thermoplastic Sewer Pipe". 
 

3.2 Pipe laying shall proceed with the bell end facing in the direction of 
laying, which shall proceed upgrade. 
 

3.3 Pipe joints shall not be deflected. 
 

3.4 Each joint bell and spigot shall be thoroughly cleaned and the spigot 
end lubricated using the manufacturer-supplied lubricant. 
 

3.5 All pipe and fittings shall be carefully examined for cracks and other 
defects when suspended above the trench, immediately before 
installation. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 319 / 404



 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.14 Sewer Pipe Installation Section 02732 - Page 2 
 
 

 
3.6 Every precaution shall be taken to prevent foreign material from 

entering the pipe while it is being placed in the line.  As each length of 
pipe is placed in the trench, the spigot end shall be centered in the bell 
and the pipe forced home and brought to correct line and grade. 
 

3.7 Under no condition shall pipe fittings be dropped into the trench. 
 

3.8 At times when pipe laying is not in progress, the open ends of pipe 
shall be closed by watertight plug. 
 

3.9 The cutting of pipe for inserting valves, fittings, or closure pieces shall 
be done in a neat and workmanlike manner without damage to the 
pipe or linings, and so as to leave a smooth end at right angles to the 
axis of the pipe. 

 
3.10 Jointing of Push-On Joints: 

 
A. The inside of the bell and the outside of the spigot end shall be 

thoroughly cleaned as described above.  The circular rubber 
gasket shall be flexed inward and inserted in the gasket recess 
of the bell socket pointing inside the pipe so it will spring into its 
proper place inside the pipe bell.  A thin film of gasket lubricant 
shall be applied to the inside surface of the gasket over its 
entire exposed surface.  The spigot end of the pipe socket shall 
then be wiped clean and entered into the socket to contact the 
gasket, with care used to keep the joint from contacting the 
ground. 

 
The pipe shall then be forced all the way into the bell by crow-
bar, or by jack and choker slings without damaging the pipe. 

 
B. Pipe that is not furnished with a depth mark shall be so marked 

before assembly.  Field-cut pipe lengths shall be filed or ground 
to form a spigot end such as manufactured. 

 
PART 4 PIPE CONNECTIONS BETWEEN DIFFERENT PIPELINE MATERIALS: 
 

The joint between pipe of varying materials, or special installations not able to 
provide bell and spigot ends, shall be accomplished using BAND-SEAL or 
CALDER couplings with stainless steel clamps, or approved equal as 
indicated on Detail Drawing No. 02732-1.  

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 320 / 404



 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.14 Sewer Pipe Installation Section 02732 - Page 3 
 
 

PART 5 SERVICE CONNECTIONS: 
 

The connection between newly constructed sewer mains and service 
connections shall be made using a wye fitting.  Service wye saddles will not 
be accepted on new installations.  Reference Detail Drawings. 

 
PART 6 CLEANOUTS: 
 

The installation of cleanouts shall be as indicated on Detail Drawings. 
 
PART 7 EXISTING MANHOLES AND NEW SEWER PIPELINES: 
 

An expansive grout shall be used to make a watertight seal between an 
existing manhole wall and any new pipe that is installed.  An expansive grout 
shall also be used for smoothing enlarged or irregular bottomed channels in 
existing manholes.  Metallic grouts will not be acceptable.  Grouting shall be 
installed in strict accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations. 

 
PART 8 FLUSHING AND TESTING SEWER PIPELINES: 
 

8.1 Pipeline Flushing: 
 

The pipeline shall be flushed in accordance with good practice, as the 
work progresses, to insure that all foreign materials are removed from 
the pipeline interior. 

 
8.2 Deflection Test: 

 
A. The Engineer will inspect the sewer pipeline for any 

displacement of the pipeline after the trench backfill has been in 
place for at least 30 days.  A rigid ball or mandrel, with a 
diameter equal to 95% of the inside diameter of the pipe, shall 
be passed through the pipe.   

 
Pipe Size (Nominal)  Rigid Ball/Mandrel Diameter 
         Inches           Inches   

 
  6      5.62 
  8      7.52 
10      9.41 
12      11.19 
18      16.75 

     21      19.74 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 321 / 404



 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.14 Sewer Pipe Installation Section 02732 - Page 4 
 
 

B. Failure of the ball or mandrel to successfully pass through the 
pipe shall constitute failure of the deflection test.  Any sections 
of the pipe found to be deformed shall be replaced at no cost to 
the OWNER.  No mechanical pulling devices may be used in 
the test.  

 
8.3 Leakage: 

 
A. The Contractor shall conduct tests for water-tightness in the 

presence of the Engineer.  Leakage of the sewer pipe and 
connections shall not exceed 100 gallons per inch of pipe 
diameter per mile for a 24 hour test period: 

 
    Pipe Size,   Allowable Exfiltration/Infiltration   

         Inches     in gal/ft. of Sewer/24 Hours      
 

  6     0.11 
  8     0.15 
10     0.19 
12     0.23 
15     0.28 
18     0.34 
21     0.40 

     24     0.45 
 

B. The Engineer may reduce the test time to 4 hours with 
adjustments made to the above figures.      
 

C. Pipelines that fail to meet the leakage test requirements shall be 
repaired and re-tested by the Contractor until satisfactory 
tightness is obtained. 
 

D. Infiltration testing will only be allowed if the groundwater table is 
one foot or more above the top of the sewer pipeline;  
otherwise, exfiltration tests shall be used. 
 

E. The head for exfiltration tests shall be at least two feet above 
the top of the pipe at its highest point in the test section;  
however, total head on any test section shall not exceed 10 
feet. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 322 / 404



 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.14 Sewer Pipe Installation Section 02732 - Page 5 
 
 

8.4 Alignment Test: 
 

Straight alignment shall be checked by using either a lamp or laser 
beam between all manholes.  This test may be performed at any time 
following final backfill. 

 
PART 9 ALTERNATE LOW PRESSURE AIR TEST FOR EXFILTRATION:   
 

9.1 At the Contractor's option, the sanitary sewer lines may be tested by 
the low pressure air method.  All testing shall be done in accordance 
with ASTM F-1417. 

 
9.2 Preparation of the Sewer Line:   

 
A. Flush and clean the sewer line prior to testing and plug all pipe 

outlets to resist the test pressure. 
 

B. Determine the test duration for the section being tested from the 
air test table (Table 02732-1) listed following.  The pressure 
holding time shall be based on an average holding pressure of 
3 psig (21 kPa) or a drop from 3.5 psig (24 kPa) to 2.5 psig (17 
kPa). 
 

C. Add air until the internal air pressure of the sewer line is raised 
to approximately 4.0 psig (28 kPa).  After an internal pressure of 
approximately 4.0 psig is obtained, allow time for the air 
pressure to stabilize. 
 

D. When the pressure has stabilized and is at or above the starting 
test pressure of 3.5 psig (24kPa), commence the test.  Before 
starting the test, the pressure may be allowed to drop to 3.5 
psig.  Record the drop in pressure for the test period.  A 
pressure drop of more than 1.0 psig (7kPa) during the test 
period shall constitute a failure.  The test may be discontinued 
when the prescribed test time has been completed even if the 
1.0 psig pressure drop has not occurred. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 323 / 404



 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.14 Sewer Pipe Installation Section 02732 - Page 6 
 
 

TABLE 02732-1 
 

AIR TEST TABLE 
 

(Based on Equations from ASTM F 1417) 
 

Specification time (min:sec) required for 
pressure drop from 3 1/2 to 2 1/2 psig 

 
   
   Pipe Diameter - Inches 
L.F. 
Pipe 4 6 8 10 12 15 18 21 24 
 
25 3:46 5:40 7:34 9:26 11:20 14:10 17:00 19:50 22:40 
50 3:46 5:40 7:34 9:26 11:20 14:10 17:00 19:50 22:40 
75 3:46 5:40 7:34 9:26 11:20 14:10 17:00 19:50 22:40 
100 3:46 5:40 7:34 9:26 11:20 14:10 17:00 19:50 22:47 
125 3:46 5:40 7:34 9:26 11:20 14:10 17:00 21:49 28:29 
150 3:46 5:40 7:34 9:26 11:20 14:10 19:13 26:10 34:11 
175 3:46 5:40 7:34 9:26 11:20 15:35 22:26 30:32 39:53 
200 3:46 5:40 7:34 9:26 11:24 17:48 25:38 34:54 45:34 
225 3:46 5:40 7:34 9:26 12:49 20:02 28:50 39:15 51:16 
250 3:46 5:40 7:34 9:53 12:15 22:16 32:03 43:37 56:58 
275 3:46 5:40 7:34 10:53 15:40 24:29 35:15 47:59 62:40 
300 3:46 5:40 7:36 11:52 17:05 26:42 38:27 52:21 68:22 
325 3:46 5:40 8:14 12:52 18:30 28:56 41:40 56:43 74:04 
350 3:46 5:40 8:52 13:51 19:56 31:09 44:52 61:04 79:46 
375 3:46 5:40 9:30 14:50 21:22 33:23 48:05 65:26 85:27 
400 3:46 5:42 10:08 15:49 22:47 35:36 51:16 69:48 91:10 

 
 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************* 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 324 / 404



 

Standard                      Baker & Associates, Inc 
▪Ver.09     Concrete Formwork                          Section 03100 - Page 1 
 

SECTION 03100 CONCRETE FORMWORK: 
 
PART 1 INSTALLATION OF FORMS: 
 

Forms shall be free of surface defects and shall conform to the lines, grades 
and shapes as shown on the Drawings.  The forms shall be joined together 
sufficiently tight to prevent leakage and so that they maintain the intended 
shape.  Snap ties shall be used.  Holes resulting from snapping ties shall be 
grouted for a flush, smooth concrete surface.  Plywood or steel, oiled with a 
nonstaining oil shall be used for exposed concrete. 

 
PART 2 REMOVAL OF FORMS: 
 

The forms shall not be removed until the concrete has developed sufficient 
strength to safely support its weight and the load thereon.  The Contractor 
shall be responsible for the determination of sufficient strength for form 
removal.  Any concrete damaged by premature form removal shall be 
replaced by the Contractor without additional cost to the Owner. 

 
 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 325 / 404



 

 

Standard                      Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.13A    Structural Concrete                            Section 03310 - Page 1 
 

SECTION 03310 STRUCTURAL CONCRETE 
 
 
PART 1 MATERIALS: 
 

1.1 Cement: 
 

All cement used under this Contract shall be Type 1PF, 1PN, I/II, 
Portland cement. 
 
Mixes with Type 1PF and 1PN are pre-blended or interground with 
Class F fly ash or Class N Pozzolan by the cement mill producer at a 
rate of 25%±2%, no additional Class F fly ash or Class N Pozzolan is 
added at the batch plant. Lithium Nitrate may be used in place of Class 
F fly ash or Class N Pozzolan. 
 
Type 1PF or 1PN shall be a Type 1P made exclusively with Class “F” 
fly ash or Class N as the pozzolan. Type 1P cement shall conform to 
the requirements as prescribed in ASTM C 595 and the following 
requirements:  
 

a. The fly ash or pozzolan content shall be 25±2 percent of the 
cementitious materials by weight.  

 
b. The material shall be Class F fly ash or Class N pozzolan. 

  
c. Additional fly ash substitution shall not be allowed with Type 

1P cement containing Class F fly ash or Class N pozzolan. 
 

1.2 Aggregates: 
 

The quality of Concrete aggregates shall be in accordance with ASTM 
C33.  The grading of Concrete aggregates shall be in accordance with 
Section 03313, Part 3, Item 2.2. 

 
1.3 Water: 

 
Water used in mixing of concrete shall be clean water, free from oil, 
acids, alkali or organic material. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 326 / 404



 

 

Standard                      Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.13A    Structural Concrete                            Section 03310 - Page 2 
 

 
PART 2 STORAGE OF MATERIALS: 
  

2.1 Cement: 
 

Storage of cement shall be such that deterioration and contamination 
will be avoided.  Caked, partially set, contaminated or damaged 
cement shall be rejected. 

 
2.2 Aggregates: 

 
Gradation and cleanliness of the aggregates shall be preserved 
through proper storage. 

 
PART 3 QUALITY: 
 

3.1 Compressive Strength: 
 

All concrete shall develop the minimum compressive strengths at 28 
days as indicated in Section 03313. 

 
3.2 Concrete Admixtures: 

 
A. Calcium Chloride: 

 
Due to its effect on shrinkage and its susceptibility to sulfate 
attack, calcium chloride shall not be used without written 
permission from the Engineer. 

 
3.3 Slump: 

 
Concrete slump shall be as required in Section 03313 (Concrete Mix 
Design). 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 327 / 404



 

 

Standard                      Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.13A    Structural Concrete                            Section 03310 - Page 3 
 

 
3.4 Batching: 

 
Batching shall be conducted so that the weight of each material 
required is within a tolerance of 1% for cement and 2% for aggregates.  
Water may be measured either by volume or by weight.  The accuracy 
of measuring the water shall be within 1% of required amounts.   
 
Detailed batch tickets shall be submitted with each truck giving an 
itemized listing of the actual mix proportions for that truck.   

 
3.5 Time of Haul: 

 
Concrete transported in truck mixers or truck agitators shall be 
delivered to the work site and completely discharged within a period of 
ninety (90) minutes after the cement comes in contact with the mixing 
water or with the combined aggregates when the combined aggregates 
contain free moisture in excess of 2% by weight. 

 
3.6 Production and Delivery: 

 
A. The production and delivery of ready-mixed concrete shall be 

such that placing and finishing shall be continuous insofar as 
the operations require. 

 
B. When an increase in the water-cement ratio is required, the 

concrete frame shall be rotated at a rate of 20 RPM for not less 
than three (3) minutes after the water has been added. 

 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 328 / 404



 

 

Standard                      Baker & Associates, Inc 
▪Ver.09       Concrete Mixing, Moving & Testing                    Section 03311 - Page 1 
 

SECTION 03311 CONCRETE MIXING, MOVING AND TESTING 
 
PART 1 MIXING OF CONCRETE: 
 

1.1 All mixing equipment shall be clean before mixing concrete and each 
batch shall be completely discharged before the mixer is re-charged.  
The concrete shall be mixed until the materials are uniformly 
distributed throughout. 

 
1.2 Ready-mixed concrete shall conform to ASTM Specifications for mixing 

and delivering ready-mixed concrete (C 94). 
 
PART 2 PLACING OF CONCRETE: 
 

2.1 Each section to be poured shall be concreted as one continuous 
operation.  The concreting shall be carried out at a rate which keeps 
the concrete plastic.  Concrete that is partially hardened or that 
contains foreign material shall not be used.  Surfaces upon which 
concrete is to be placed shall be moistened prior to placing concrete. 

 
2.2 All concrete shall be consolidated by vibration, spading or rodding to 

eliminate air or stone pockets which may cause honey-combing or 
planes of weakness. 

 
2.3 Construction, contraction and expansion joints shall be in accordance 

with the Specifications, as shown on the Drawings or as directed by 
the Engineer.  If joints are required, but not specified or shown on the 
Drawings, the joints shall be located as to least impair the strength of 
the structure. 

 
PART 3 CONCRETE TESTING: 
 

3.1 The Engineer may secure concrete for compression tests at any time 
during the progress of work.  The test specimens shall be cured in 
accordance with ASTM Standard Method of Making and Curing 
Concrete Compression and Flexure Test Specimens (C31).  The 
specimens will be cured under laboratory conditions unless the 
Engineer deems it necessary to cure additional specimens under job 
conditions. 
  

3.2 All concrete that fails to conform to Specifications shall be removed 
and replaced by the Contractor at no additional cost to the Owner. 

 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 329 / 404



 

 

Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc. 
Ver.13A Concrete Mix Design Section 03313 - Page 1 
  

SECTION 03313 CONCRETE MIX DESIGN 
 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

The Contractor shall submit the proposed concrete mix design to the 
Engineer in writing prior to the placement of any concrete. 

 
PART 2 MIX DESIGN: 
 

2.1 Structural, Pavement (Exterior and Interior), Pathways/Trails, and Curb 
& Gutter Concrete, 3,500 psi 

 
A. The concrete mix, including aggregate gradations and testing 

requirements, shall meet the following proportions: 
 

Type of Cement    1PF/1PN 
 
Lbs of Cement/Fly Ash or Pozzolan 423/141 
 
Lbs. of Cementitious Material  564 

   per Cubic Yard (Min.) 
 
   Water/Cement Ratio (Max.)  0.48 
 
   Air-Entrainment    6.0% - 8.5% 
         7.5% - 10.0% (slip forming) 
 
   Total lbs Aggregates   2850 min./3150 max. 
 
   Ratio of Coarse Aggregate   30%±3% 
   to Total Aggregate 
 
   Type of Coarse Aggregate   Crushed Limestone 
 
   Slump in Inches (Max.)   3 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 330 / 404



 

 

Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc. 
Ver.13A Concrete Mix Design Section 03313 - Page 2 
  

 
B. Aggregate Gradations: 

 
1. Fine Aggregate: 

 
    % Passing  Target  Tolerance 
 
    1-inch Sieve  100  None 
    3/8-inch Sieve —  — 
    No. 4 Sieve  87  ±10 
    No.10 Sieve  60  ±10 
    No.30 Sieve  28  ±12 
    No.200 Sieve 1.5  ±1.5 
 
 
   2. Coarse Aggregate: 
 
    % Passing  Target  Tolerance 
 
    1½-inch Sieve 100  — 
    1-inch Sieve  100  -8 
    ¾-inch Sieve  78  ±12 
    ½ inch Sieve  —  — 
    3/8-inch Sieve 30  ±15 
    No. 4 Sieve  6  ±6 
    No. 10 Sieve  —  — 
    No. 20 Sieve  2 *  ±2 
    No. 200 Sieve 1.5  ±1.5 
 
           * The percent passing may be increased to 3 ±3 provided 

no more than 1.5% is passing the No. 200 sieve when 
washed. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 331 / 404



 

 

Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc. 
Ver.13A Concrete Mix Design Section 03313 - Page 3 
  

 
2.2 Interior and Exterior Non-Pavement Flatwork Concrete, 3,500 psi 

 
A. The concrete mix, including aggregate gradations and testing 

requirements, shall meet the following proportions: 
 

Type of Cement    1PF/1PN 
 
Lbs of Cement/Fly Ash or Pozzolan 423/141 

 
   Lbs. of Cementitious Material  564 
   per Cubic Yard (Min.) 
 
   Water/Cement Ratio (Max.)  0.48 
 
   Air-Entrainment    6.0% - 8.5% 
 
   Total lbs Aggregates   2850 min./3150 max. 
 
   Type of Aggregate    Sand-Gravel  
 
   Slump in Inches (Max.)   3 
 

B. Aggregate Gradations: 
 
    % Passing  Target  Tolerance 
 
    1-inch Sieve  100  — 
    3/8-inch Sieve —  — 
    No. 4 Sieve  66  ±22 
    No.10 Sieve  37  ±13 
    No.30 Sieve  12  ±8 
    No.200 Sieve 1.5  ±1.5 
 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 332 / 404



 

 

Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc. 
Ver.13A Concrete Mix Design Section 03313 - Page 4 
  

2.3 Flowable Fill : 
 

A. The approximate quantities of each component per cubic yard 
of mixed material shall be as follows: 

 
   Cement (Type I or II)   50 lbs. 
   Fly Ash     200 lbs. 
   Fine Sand     2,700 lbs. 
   Water (Approximate)   420 lbs. 
   Air Content (Approximate)   10% 
 

B. Fine Sand Gradation: 
 
   No. 4 Sieve    At least 95% passing 
   No. 200 Sieve   Not more than 5% passing 
 
 
 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 333 / 404



 

 

Standard                      Baker & Associates, Inc 
▪Ver.09      Concrete Curing                                 Section 03370 - Page 1 
 

SECTION 03370 CONCRETE CURING 
 
 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

All concrete shall be cured for a period of 7 days.  Concrete shall be kept 
moist for at least 5 days after placement.  Curing shall be accomplished by 
methods approved by the Engineer. 

 
PART 2 CURING COMPOUNDS: 
 

2.1 If curing compounds are used, they shall be thoroughly agitated during 
use and shall be uniformly sprayed in a single coat.  Application shall 
be at a rate of 150 square feet per gallon of compound.  Application 
shall be made as soon as all surface water sheen has disappeared 
from the concrete surface.  If concrete surfaces become partially dry, 
they shall be thoroughly moistened with water immediately prior to the 
application of the compound.  Under no circumstances shall curing 
compound be used on surfaces to which new concrete is to be 
bonded. 

 
2.2 Transparent curing compounds shall conform to AASHTO M 148 Type 

2, or Federal Specification TT C-800 Type 2 and meet the following 
requirements: 

 
A. The compound shall be sufficiently transparent and free from 

permanent color to result in no pronounced change in color from 
that of the natural concrete at the conclusion of the curing 
period.  The compound shall, however, contain a dye of color 
strength sufficient to render the film distinctly visible on the 
concrete for a period of at least four hours after application. 

 
B. If at any time during the curing period any of the forms are 

removed, a coat of curing compound shall be applied 
immediately to the exposed surface. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 334 / 404



 

 

Standard                      Baker & Associates, Inc 
▪Ver.09      Concrete Curing                                 Section 03370 - Page 2 
 

 
PART 3 PROTECTION IN COLD AND FREEZING WEATHER. 
 

3.1 In cold weather, concrete shall be mixed and placed only when the 
temperature is at least 40 degrees Fahrenheit.  When the temperature 
may be expected to drop below 40oF during the curing period, suitable 
means shall be provided for mixing and maintaining the concrete at a 
minimum temperature of 50 degrees Fahrenheit for 7 days after 
placement.  Adequate equipment shall be provided for heating the 
concrete materials and protecting the concrete during freezing or near 
freezing weather.  Under no circumstances shall frozen materials or 
materials containing ice be used for the preparation of concrete.  Salt, 
chemicals or other foreign materials shall not be mixed with the 
concrete for the purpose of preventing freezing.  All materials, 
reinforcement, forms, fillers and ground which the concrete is to come 
in contact with shall be free from frost. 

 
3.2 The housing, covering or other protection used in connection with 

curing shall remain in place and intact for at least 48 hours after the 
artificial heating is discontinued. 

 
3.3 The Contractor shall be responsible for the quality and strength of the 

concrete placed during cold weather and any concrete injured by frost 
action shall be removed and replaced at the Contractor's expense. 

 
 
 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 335 / 404



 

 
▪Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Manholes Section 03480 - Page 1 
 

SECTION 03480 MANHOLES 
 
 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

This Section shall govern the construction of concrete manholes.  Manholes 
shall be located and constructed to a depth as shown on the Drawings.  
Additional requirements for the construction and installation of manholes are 
shown on the Detail Drawings found at the end of this Section. 

  
PART 2 MATERIALS: 
 

2.1 Manholes shall be constructed of precast concrete and shall conform 
to ASTM Specification C-478.  48-inch diameter manholes shall have a 
wall thickness of 5-inches. 

 
2.2 Cement mortar when required, shall consist of one part Portland 

Cement, Type II, or better, and three parts sand. 
 

2.3 Manhole step, when required, shall be similar and equal to American 
Step Company NO. ML-13-NCR. Each step shall be a minimum of 13-
inches wide and have a slip-proof tread and be steel reinforced 
copolymer polypropylene construction. 

 
2.4 Manhole ring and covers shall be cast iron and shall be similar and 

equal to Deeter No. 1030 or Neenah No. R-1595-A. 
 

2.5 Elastomeric plastic manhole adapters (rubber rings around pipe where 
it passes through the concrete manhole base) shall be as 
manufactured by Fernco-Concrete Manhole Adapter (water stop) or 
equal. 

 
2.6 Positive seal gasketing systems used for manhole sections with 

precast pipe openings shall be similar and equal to Press Seal Gasket 
Corp, type "PSX". 

 
PART 3 CONSTRUCTION:   
 

3.1 Joints between manhole rings shall be sealed with "ram-nek" pre-
formed gaskets in accordance with the Detail Drawings. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 336 / 404



 

 
▪Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Manholes Section 03480 - Page 2 
 

3.2 Precast concrete grade adjustment rings shall be used for the top 
section of each manhole.  The precast rings shall be furnished in 
heights to allow for 1-inch adjustment and shall be a minimum of 6-
inches wide. 

 
3.3 Manhole steps, when required, shall be cast into the manhole wall at 

the same time the manhole section is poured.  Steps shall be spaced 
12 inches apart and shall have rungs set a minimum of 7-inches from 
the manhole wall.  Manhole steps of the insert type may be substituted. 

 
3.4 Stubs shall be provided at manholes when so designated on the 

Drawings or as requested by the Engineer.  Stub outs will be sealed 
with a water-tight removable plug. 

 
3.5 Elastomeric plastic manhole adapters (rubber rings around pipe where 

it passes through the concrete manhole base) shall be installed on all 
manhole pipes. 

 
3.6 Precast manhole sections which include precast pipe openings shall 

have a positive seal gasketing system used. 
 

3.7 All manholes shall receive damp-proofing on their exterior surfaces 
below grade.  Manholes which will be in groundwater shall receive 
waterproofing on their exterior surfaces below grade.  (See Sections 
07100 & 07150) 

 
3.8 The manhole base, if cast-in-place, shall be constructed in accordance 

with Sections 03100, 03210, 03310, 03311, 03313 and 03370. 
 
PART 4 MANHOLE SEWER TESTING: 
 

Each manhole will be checked for conformance with the Drawings and 
Specifications. 

 
4.1 Visual Examination:  Each manhole shall be visually checked by the 

Engineer, both exterior and interior for quality of workmanship, and 
inadequacies which might affect the operation or water-tight integrity of 
the structure.  The Contractor shall make any repairs deemed 
necessary by the Engineer. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 337 / 404



 

 
▪Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Manholes Section 03480 - Page 3 
 

 
4.2 Water Tightness Test:   

 
A. Each manhole shall be tested for leakage and each test shall be 

witnessed by the Engineer.  Leakage test shall be performed 
prior to backfilling around the manholes and in accordance with 
the following: 

 
B. All lines shall be plugged, and the manhole filled with water to at 

least 1 foot above the highest manhole joint.  Any visible 
external leakage noted within two hours shall constitute failure, 
and the Contractor shall repair and retest the manhole until 
satisfactory results are obtained. 

 
C. A separate manhole test will not be required when manholes 

are tested simultaneously with sewer line construction. 
 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 338 / 404



City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska
Monday, June 2, 2014

Regular Meeting

Item Claims1

Council to approve a claim in the amount of $2239.88 to Scotts 
Bluff County for the purchase of an ID Card Printer for Region 22 
Emergency Management.

Staff Contact: Rick Kuckkahn, City Manager

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 339 / 404



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 340 / 404



City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska
Monday, June 2, 2014

Regular Meeting

Item Claims2

Regular Claims

Staff Contact: Renae Griffiths, Finance Director

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 341 / 404



5/30/2014 10:32:28 AM Page 1 of 22

Expense Approval Report
City of Scottsbluff, NE By Vendor Name

Post Dates 5/20/2014 - 6/2/2014

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

Vendor: ALAMAR UNIFORMS

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

48.11UNIFORMS & CLOTHINGUNIFORMS

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 48.11

Vendor ALAMAR UNIFORMS Total: 48.11

Vendor: AMAZON.COM HEADQUARTERS

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

40.61DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESBks/dpt sup.

14.99AUDIOVISUAL SUPPLIESBks/dpt sup.

16.43BOOKSBks/dpt sup.

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 72.03

Fund: 211 - REGIONAL LIBRARY

164.85BOOKSBks/dpt sup.

Fund 211 - REGIONAL LIBRARY Total: 164.85

Vendor AMAZON.COM HEADQUARTERS Total: 236.88

Vendor: ANDREA FOLCK

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

217.03BUSINESS TRAVELTraining

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 217.03

Vendor ANDREA FOLCK Total: 217.03

Vendor: ASSOC SUPPLY COMPANY, INC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

116.86EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEEquip Maint

15,947.15BUILDING MAINTENANCEBldg Maint

5,061.89BUILDING MAINTENANCEBldg Maint

414.61DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDept Supp

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 21,540.51

Vendor ASSOC SUPPLY COMPANY, INC Total: 21,540.51

Vendor: BERNHARDT, KIRK

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

72.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESCON SRV

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 72.00

Vendor BERNHARDT, KIRK Total: 72.00

Vendor: BLUFFS BROADCASTING

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

500.00DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDept Supp

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 500.00

Vendor BLUFFS BROADCASTING Total: 500.00

Vendor: BLUFFS SANITARY SUPPLY INC.

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

-193.55BUILDING MAINTENANCEBldg Maint

114.92BUILDING MAINTENANCEBldg Maint

53.03JANITORIAL SUPPLIESJan. sup.

182.48BUILDING MAINTENANCEBldg Maint

146.88BUILDING MAINTENANCEBldg Maint

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 303.76

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 342 / 404



Expense Approval Report   Post Dates: 5/20/2014 - 6/2/2014

5/30/2014 10:32:28 AM Page 2 of 22

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

Fund: 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

57.95DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESdept supplies

Fund 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES Total: 57.95

Vendor BLUFFS SANITARY SUPPLY INC. Total: 361.71

Vendor: CAPITAL BUSINESS SYSTEMS INC.

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

71.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESCont. srvc

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 71.00

Vendor CAPITAL BUSINESS SYSTEMS INC. Total: 71.00

Vendor: CENTER FOR BIOPREPAREDNESS EDUCATION

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

90.00SCHOOL & CONFERENCEtwo student fees

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 90.00

Vendor CENTER FOR BIOPREPAREDNESS EDUCATION Total: 90.00

Vendor: CHANCELLOR, ANTHONY G

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

108.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESUMPIRE FEES

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 108.00

Vendor CHANCELLOR, ANTHONY G Total: 108.00

Vendor: CITY OF SCB

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

12.15POSTAGEPOSTAGE

2.50LEGAL FEESLEGAL FEES

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 14.65

Vendor CITY OF SCB Total: 14.65

Vendor: CNA SURETY

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

950.00LIABILITY INSURANCEBOND

100.00BONDINGDEV S. BOND

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 1,050.00

Vendor CNA SURETY Total: 1,050.00

Vendor: COLONIAL LIFE & ACCIDENT INS CORP, I

Fund: 713 - CASH & INVESTMENT POOL

22.75LIFE INS EE PAYABLESUPPLEMENTAL LIFE INS - EE

25.95DIS INC INS EE PAYABLESUPPLEMENTAL DISABILITY  INS …

Fund 713 - CASH & INVESTMENT POOL Total: 48.70

Vendor COLONIAL LIFE & ACCIDENT INS CORP, I Total: 48.70

Vendor: CONNECTING POINT INC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

240.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESCont. srvc

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 240.00

Vendor CONNECTING POINT INC Total: 240.00

Vendor: CONSOLIDATED MANAGEMENT

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

213.50SCHOOL & CONFERENCESCHOOLS & CONF

209.25SCHOOL & CONFERENCESCHOOLS & CONF

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 422.75

Vendor CONSOLIDATED MANAGEMENT Total: 422.75

Vendor: CONTRACTORS MATERIALS INC.

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

24.84DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDept Supp

11.76GROUNDS MAINTENANCEGrnds Maint

181.49DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDept Supp

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 343 / 404



Expense Approval Report   Post Dates: 5/20/2014 - 6/2/2014

5/30/2014 10:32:28 AM Page 3 of 22

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

3.82EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEEquip Maint

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 221.91

Fund: 212 - TRANSPORTATION

47.04DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESSUPP

50.96DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESSUPP

7.84DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESSUPP

Fund 212 - TRANSPORTATION Total: 105.84

Fund: 213 - CEMETERY

84.67DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDept Supp

Fund 213 - CEMETERY Total: 84.67

Fund: 641 - WATER

49.02DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUP

Fund 641 - WATER Total: 49.02

Vendor CONTRACTORS MATERIALS INC. Total: 461.44

Vendor: CREDIT MANAGEMENT SERVICES INC.

Fund: 713 - CASH & INVESTMENT POOL

586.00WAGE ATTACHMENT EE PAYWage Attach

Fund 713 - CASH & INVESTMENT POOL Total: 586.00

Vendor CREDIT MANAGEMENT SERVICES INC. Total: 586.00

Vendor: CRESCENT ELECT. SUPPLY COMP INC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

59.01BUILDING MAINTENANCEBLDG MAINT

59.01BUILDING MAINTENANCEBLDG MAINT

60.24BUILDING MAINTENANCEBLDG MAINT

60.24BUILDING MAINTENANCEBLDG MAINT

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 238.50

Vendor CRESCENT ELECT. SUPPLY COMP INC Total: 238.50

Vendor: CULLIGAN OF SCOTTSBLUFF

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

8.10BUILDING MAINTENANCEBLDG MAINT

8.10BUILDING MAINTENANCEBLDG MAINT

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 16.20

Vendor CULLIGAN OF SCOTTSBLUFF Total: 16.20

Vendor: DALE'S TIRE & RETREADING, INC.

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

30.36EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEEquip Maint

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 30.36

Fund: 213 - CEMETERY

42.06EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEEQP MTC

35.47EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEEquip Maint

Fund 213 - CEMETERY Total: 77.53

Vendor DALE'S TIRE & RETREADING, INC. Total: 107.89

Vendor: DOGGETT, RONALD L

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

36.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESUMPIRE FEES

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 36.00

Vendor DOGGETT, RONALD L Total: 36.00

Vendor: ENVIRO SERV INC

Fund: 641 - WATER

75.00SAMPLESSAMPLES

60.00SAMPLESSAMPLES

Fund 641 - WATER Total: 135.00

Vendor ENVIRO SERV INC Total: 135.00

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 344 / 404



Expense Approval Report   Post Dates: 5/20/2014 - 6/2/2014

5/30/2014 10:32:28 AM Page 4 of 22

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

Vendor: EXPRESS TOLL

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

6.80SCHOOL & CONFERENCEDEV S. CONF

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 6.80

Vendor EXPRESS TOLL Total: 6.80

Vendor: FASTENAL CO.

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

81.25DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUPP

9.02DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUPP

17.82DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUPP

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 108.09

Fund: 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

65.70DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESdept supplies

Fund 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES Total: 65.70

Vendor FASTENAL CO. Total: 173.79

Vendor: FEDERAL EXPRESS CORP.

Fund: 631 - WASTEWATER

7.75POSTAGESHIPPING FEES

Fund 631 - WASTEWATER Total: 7.75

Vendor FEDERAL EXPRESS CORP. Total: 7.75

Vendor: FLOYD'S SALES & SERV INC.

Fund: 212 - TRANSPORTATION

95.39VEHICLE MAINTENANCEFILTERS

157.62VEHICLE MAINTENANCEFILTERS

Fund 212 - TRANSPORTATION Total: 253.01

Fund: 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

22.22VEHICLE MAINTENANCEvehicle mtnc

Fund 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES Total: 22.22

Vendor FLOYD'S SALES & SERV INC. Total: 275.23

Vendor: FRANK IMPLEMENT INC.

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

57.12EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEEQP MTC

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 57.12

Vendor FRANK IMPLEMENT INC. Total: 57.12

Vendor: GERING CIVIC CENTER

Fund: 224 - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

356.63CONTRACTUAL SERVICESSUPPLIES

Fund 224 - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT Total: 356.63

Vendor GERING CIVIC CENTER Total: 356.63

Vendor: GOLD WATCH LLC

Fund: 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

750.00DISPOSAL FEESdisposal fees

750.00DISPOSAL FEESdisposal fees

Fund 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES Total: 1,500.00

Vendor GOLD WATCH LLC Total: 1,500.00

Vendor: HAWKINS, INC.

Fund: 641 - WATER

4,159.80CHEMICALSCHLORINE

1,707.40CHEMICALSCHLORINE

Fund 641 - WATER Total: 5,867.20

Vendor HAWKINS, INC. Total: 5,867.20

Vendor: HAYWARD, ANDREW

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

75.00DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEP SUP

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 345 / 404



Expense Approval Report   Post Dates: 5/20/2014 - 6/2/2014

5/30/2014 10:32:28 AM Page 5 of 22

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

800.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESCON SRV

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 875.00

Vendor HAYWARD, ANDREW Total: 875.00

Vendor: HEILBRUN FARM IND SUPP.INC.

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

31.98VEHICLE MAINTENANCEequip repr

13.12VEHICLE MAINTENANCEEquip repr

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 45.10

Fund: 212 - TRANSPORTATION

220.39VEHICLE MAINTENANCEPARTS

106.26VEHICLE MAINTENANCEFILTERS

91.80VEHICLE MAINTENANCEfILTERS

102.46EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEPARTS

25.38VEHICLE MAINTENANCEFILTER

Fund 212 - TRANSPORTATION Total: 546.29

Fund: 631 - WASTEWATER

59.64VEHICLE MAINTENANCEVEH MAINT

4.95EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEEQUIP MAINT

Fund 631 - WASTEWATER Total: 64.59

Fund: 641 - WATER

20.38DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUP

Fund 641 - WATER Total: 20.38

Vendor HEILBRUN FARM IND SUPP.INC. Total: 676.36

Vendor: HENKEL'S MACHINE AND WELDING

Fund: 631 - WASTEWATER

50.00VEHICLE MAINTENANCEVEH MAINT

Fund 631 - WASTEWATER Total: 50.00

Vendor HENKEL'S MACHINE AND WELDING Total: 50.00

Vendor: HOA SOLUTIONS, INC

Fund: 631 - WASTEWATER

977.20EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEEQUIP MAINT

Fund 631 - WASTEWATER Total: 977.20

Vendor HOA SOLUTIONS, INC Total: 977.20

Vendor: HODGES, JOSHUA H

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

18.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESUMPIRE FEES

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 18.00

Vendor HODGES, JOSHUA H Total: 18.00

Vendor: HOLIDAY INN - KEARNEY

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

169.90SCHOOL & CONFERENCESCHOOLS & CONF

169.90SCHOOL & CONFERENCESCHOOLS & CONF

169.90SCHOOL & CONFERENCESCHOOLS & CONF

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 509.70

Vendor HOLIDAY INN - KEARNEY Total: 509.70

Vendor: HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES

Fund: 631 - WASTEWATER

199.99DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUP

Fund 631 - WASTEWATER Total: 199.99

Vendor HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES Total: 199.99

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 346 / 404



Expense Approval Report   Post Dates: 5/20/2014 - 6/2/2014

5/30/2014 10:32:28 AM Page 6 of 22

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

Vendor: HWM, INC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

425.00EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEEquip. main.

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 425.00

Vendor HWM, INC Total: 425.00

Vendor: HYDROTEX

Fund: 212 - TRANSPORTATION

1,783.56OIL & ANTIFREEZEOIL

Fund 212 - TRANSPORTATION Total: 1,783.56

Vendor HYDROTEX Total: 1,783.56

Vendor: ICMA RETIREMENT TRUST-457

Fund: 713 - CASH & INVESTMENT POOL

965.00DEFERRED COMP EE PAYDEFERRED COMP - EE

360.14MISC PAYROLL DEDUCTCITY MGR ER CONTRIBUTION

Fund 713 - CASH & INVESTMENT POOL Total: 1,325.14

Vendor ICMA RETIREMENT TRUST-457 Total: 1,325.14

Vendor: IDEAL LINEN SUP INC.

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

31.40JANITORIAL SUPPLIESJanitorial Supp

31.40JANITORIAL SUPPLIESJanitor Supp

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 62.80

Fund: 212 - TRANSPORTATION

38.24DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESSUPP

38.24DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESSUPP

Fund 212 - TRANSPORTATION Total: 76.48

Fund: 631 - WASTEWATER

31.72DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUP

Fund 631 - WASTEWATER Total: 31.72

Fund: 641 - WATER

26.10CONTRACTUAL SERVICESMATS

31.72DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUP

Fund 641 - WATER Total: 57.82

Vendor IDEAL LINEN SUP INC. Total: 228.82

Vendor: INDEPENDENT PLUMBING & HEATING, INC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

14.00GROUNDS MAINTENANCEGRD MTC

53.60GROUNDS MAINTENANCEGRD MTC

57.60GROUNDS MAINTENANCEGRD MTC

32.60GROUNDS MAINTENANCEGRD MTC

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 157.80

Vendor INDEPENDENT PLUMBING & HEATING, INC Total: 157.80

Vendor: INGRAM LIBRARY SERVICES INC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

1,268.96BOOKSBks

88.95BOOKSBks

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 1,357.91

Fund: 211 - REGIONAL LIBRARY

151.78BOOKSBks

-34.27BOOKSBks

107.58BOOKSBks

Fund 211 - REGIONAL LIBRARY Total: 225.09

Vendor INGRAM LIBRARY SERVICES INC Total: 1,583.00

Vendor: INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE

Fund: 713 - CASH & INVESTMENT POOL

7,195.40MEDICARE W/H EE PAYABLE941 TAXES WITHHELD

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 347 / 404



Expense Approval Report   Post Dates: 5/20/2014 - 6/2/2014

5/30/2014 10:32:28 AM Page 7 of 22

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

25,134.65FED W/H EE PAYABLE941 TAXES

26,780.46FICA W/H EE PAYABLE941 TAXES WITHHELD

Fund 713 - CASH & INVESTMENT POOL Total: 59,110.51

Vendor INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE Total: 59,110.51

Vendor: J G ELLIOTT CO.INC.

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

16.25BONDINGNOTARY BONDS

16.25BONDINGNOTARY BONDS

16.25BONDINGNOTARY BONDS

276.25BONDINGNOTARY BONDS

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 325.00

Fund: 213 - CEMETERY

16.25BONDINGNOTARY BONDS

Fund 213 - CEMETERY Total: 16.25

Vendor J G ELLIOTT CO.INC. Total: 341.25

Vendor: JOHN DEERE FINANCIAL

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

30.97DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEP SUP

19.99DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEP SUP

15.99DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEP SUP

95.45DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEP SUP

32.55GROUNDS MAINTENANCEGRD MTC

117.98DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEP SUP

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 312.93

Fund: 213 - CEMETERY

44.55DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEP SUP

44.55DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEP SUP

Fund 213 - CEMETERY Total: 89.10

Vendor JOHN DEERE FINANCIAL Total: 402.03

Vendor: JOPLIN, LORRIE

Fund: 223 - KENO

109.98CONTRACTUAL SERVICESTREE REBATE

Fund 223 - KENO Total: 109.98

Vendor JOPLIN, LORRIE Total: 109.98

Vendor: KLEIN FAMILY TRUCKING, INC

Fund: 224 - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

5,000.00ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENTLB840 GRANT

Fund 224 - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT Total: 5,000.00

Vendor KLEIN FAMILY TRUCKING, INC Total: 5,000.00

Vendor: KRIZ-DAVIS COMPANY INC.

Fund: 631 - WASTEWATER

73.62EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEEQUIP MAINT

Fund 631 - WASTEWATER Total: 73.62

Vendor KRIZ-DAVIS COMPANY INC. Total: 73.62

Vendor: LAWSON, JAMY A

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

200.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESCON SRV

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 200.00

Vendor LAWSON, JAMY A Total: 200.00

Vendor: LYNN PEAVEY CO INC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

100.50INVESTIGATION SUPPLIESINVEST SUPPL

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 348 / 404



Expense Approval Report   Post Dates: 5/20/2014 - 6/2/2014

5/30/2014 10:32:28 AM Page 8 of 22

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

103.20INVESTIGATION SUPPLIESINVEST SUPPL

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 203.70

Vendor LYNN PEAVEY CO INC Total: 203.70

Vendor: M.C. SCHAFF & ASSOC, INC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

1,040.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESDEV S. CONTRACTUAL SERV

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 1,040.00

Vendor M.C. SCHAFF & ASSOC, INC Total: 1,040.00

Vendor: MARTY'S ELECTRIC SERVICE

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

908.00BUILDING MAINTENANCEMAINTENANCE

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 908.00

Vendor MARTY'S ELECTRIC SERVICE Total: 908.00

Vendor: MATTHEW M HUTT, PH-D

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

125.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESCONTRACTUAL

450.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESCONTRACT

450.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESCONTRACT

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 1,025.00

Vendor MATTHEW M HUTT, PH-D Total: 1,025.00

Vendor: MENARDS

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

21.92EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEsuppls

13.85DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDept Supp

81.67DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDept Supp

21.99DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDept Supp

19.56DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDept Supp

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 158.99

Fund: 212 - TRANSPORTATION

2.37DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESSUPP

Fund 212 - TRANSPORTATION Total: 2.37

Fund: 213 - CEMETERY

283.05DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDept Supp

Fund 213 - CEMETERY Total: 283.05

Fund: 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

99.90DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESdept supplies

Fund 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES Total: 99.90

Fund: 631 - WASTEWATER

4.28DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUP

22.77DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUP

15.88DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUP

Fund 631 - WASTEWATER Total: 42.93

Vendor MENARDS Total: 587.24

Vendor: MENDOZA, PAUL

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

198.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESUMPIRE FEES

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 198.00

Vendor MENDOZA, PAUL Total: 198.00

Vendor: MES

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

134.82EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEequip reprs

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 134.82

Vendor MES  Total: 134.82

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 349 / 404



Expense Approval Report   Post Dates: 5/20/2014 - 6/2/2014

5/30/2014 10:32:28 AM Page 9 of 22

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

Vendor: MIDWEST CONNECT, LLC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

113.75EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEEquip. main.

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 113.75

Vendor MIDWEST CONNECT, LLC Total: 113.75

Vendor: MONEY WISE OFFICE SUPPLIES

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

34.25DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUPPL

16.10DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUPPL

174.00DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDpt sup.

128.26DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUPPL

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 352.61

Vendor MONEY WISE OFFICE SUPPLIES Total: 352.61

Vendor: MOTOROLA

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

501.60EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEEQUIP MAINT

284.80EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEEQUIP MAINT

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 786.40

Vendor MOTOROLA Total: 786.40

Vendor: MUNICIPAL SUPPLY, INC.

Fund: 641 - WATER

3,097.47DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUP

Fund 641 - WATER Total: 3,097.47

Vendor MUNICIPAL SUPPLY, INC. Total: 3,097.47

Vendor: NE CHILD SUPPORT PAYMENT CENTER

Fund: 713 - CASH & INVESTMENT POOL

2,089.06CHILD SUPPORT EE PAYNE CHILD SUPPORT PYBLE

Fund 713 - CASH & INVESTMENT POOL Total: 2,089.06

Vendor NE CHILD SUPPORT PAYMENT CENTER Total: 2,089.06

Vendor: NE DEPT OF ENVIRONMENTAL CONTROL

Fund: 631 - WASTEWATER

10,475.40ADMIN COSTS & FEESSRF LOAN PAYMENT

279,491.21DEBT SERVICE-PRINCIPALSRF LOAN PAYMENT

43,454.15DEBT SERVICE-INTERESTSRF LOAN PAYMENT

Fund 631 - WASTEWATER Total: 333,420.76

Vendor NE DEPT OF ENVIRONMENTAL CONTROL Total: 333,420.76

Vendor: NE DEPT OF REVENUE

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

335.01SALES TAX PAYABLESales & Use Tax

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 335.01

Fund: 641 - WATER

10,370.99SALES TAX PAYABLESales & Use Tax

6,385.07SALES TAX PAYABLESales & Use Tax

105.98DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESSales & Use Tax

Fund 641 - WATER Total: 16,862.04

Fund: 661 - STORMWATER

98.80SALES TAX PAYABLESales & Use Tax

Fund 661 - STORMWATER Total: 98.80

Fund: 713 - CASH & INVESTMENT POOL

17,082.07STATE W/H EE PAYABLESTATE INCOME TAX WITHHELD

Fund 713 - CASH & INVESTMENT POOL Total: 17,082.07

Vendor NE DEPT OF REVENUE Total: 34,377.92

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 350 / 404



Expense Approval Report   Post Dates: 5/20/2014 - 6/2/2014

5/30/2014 10:32:28 AM Page 10 of 22

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

Vendor: NE LAW ENFORCEMENT TRAINING CENTER

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

80.00SCHOOL & CONFERENCESCHOOLS & CONF

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 80.00

Vendor NE LAW ENFORCEMENT TRAINING CENTER Total: 80.00

Vendor: NE MUNICIPAL FIRE CHIEFS ASSOC.

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

450.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESnfpa online codes

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 450.00

Vendor NE MUNICIPAL FIRE CHIEFS ASSOC. Total: 450.00

Vendor: NEBRASKA MACHINERY COMPANY

Fund: 631 - WASTEWATER

2,374.70EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEEQUIP MAINT

Fund 631 - WASTEWATER Total: 2,374.70

Vendor NEBRASKA MACHINERY COMPANY Total: 2,374.70

Vendor: NEFSMA

Fund: 661 - STORMWATER

90.00SCHOOL & CONFERENCESTRM WTR CONF

35.00MEMBERSHIPSSTRM WTR MMBRSHP

90.00SCHOOL & CONFERENCESTRM WTR CONF

Fund 661 - STORMWATER Total: 215.00

Vendor NEFSMA Total: 215.00

Vendor: NORTHWEST PIPE FITTINGS, INC. OF SCB

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

2.56GROUNDS MAINTENANCEGrnds Maint

58.04DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDept Supp

37.86GROUNDS MAINTENANCEGrnds Maint

17.05GROUNDS MAINTENANCEGrnds Maint

11.52GROUNDS MAINTENANCEGrnds Maint

10.05GROUNDS MAINTENANCEGrnds Maint

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 137.08

Fund: 641 - WATER

132.12DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUP

Fund 641 - WATER Total: 132.12

Fund: 661 - STORMWATER

144.92DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESSTRM WTR SUP

29.86DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESSTRM WTR SUP

-25.48DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESSTRM WTR SUP

Fund 661 - STORMWATER Total: 149.30

Vendor NORTHWEST PIPE FITTINGS, INC. OF SCB Total: 418.50

Vendor: NPPD

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

393.89ELECTRICITYElectric

612.09ELECTRICITYElectric

515.87ELECTRICITYElectric

1,451.01ELECTRICITYElectric

2,969.85ELECTRICITYElectric

223.24ELECTRICITYElectric

1,593.07ELECTRICITYElectric

100.40STREET LIGHTSElectric

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 7,859.42

Fund: 212 - TRANSPORTATION

591.08ELECTRICITYElectric

1,791.10ELECTRIC POWERElectric

27,983.49STREET LIGHTSElectric

Fund 212 - TRANSPORTATION Total: 30,365.67

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 351 / 404



Expense Approval Report   Post Dates: 5/20/2014 - 6/2/2014

5/30/2014 10:32:28 AM Page 11 of 22

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

Fund: 213 - CEMETERY

334.19ELECTRICITYElectric

Fund 213 - CEMETERY Total: 334.19

Fund: 216 - BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT

85.42STREET LIGHTSElectric

Fund 216 - BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT Total: 85.42

Fund: 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

715.62ELECTRICITYElectric

Fund 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES Total: 715.62

Fund: 631 - WASTEWATER

735.89ELECTRICITYElectric

14,400.27ELECTRIC POWERElectric

Fund 631 - WASTEWATER Total: 15,136.16

Fund: 641 - WATER

68.30ELECTRICITYElectric

7,874.47ELECTRIC POWERElectric

Fund 641 - WATER Total: 7,942.77

Vendor NPPD Total: 62,439.25

Vendor: O'BANNON, BRIAN

Fund: 223 - KENO

150.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESTREE REBATE

Fund 223 - KENO Total: 150.00

Vendor O'BANNON, BRIAN Total: 150.00

Vendor: OREGON TRAIL PLBG & HTG INC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

185.00BUILDING MAINTENANCEBLDG MAINT

185.00BUILDING MAINTENANCEBLDG MAINT

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 370.00

Vendor OREGON TRAIL PLBG & HTG INC Total: 370.00

Vendor: OROZCO, BRET T

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

54.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESUMPIRE FEES

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 54.00

Vendor OROZCO, BRET T Total: 54.00

Vendor: PANHANDLE CONCRETE PROD INC.

Fund: 631 - WASTEWATER

90.00DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUP

Fund 631 - WASTEWATER Total: 90.00

Vendor PANHANDLE CONCRETE PROD INC. Total: 90.00

Vendor: PAUL CONWAY SHIELDS

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

418.41EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEhelmet parts

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 418.41

Vendor PAUL CONWAY SHIELDS Total: 418.41

Vendor: PAUL REED CONSTRUCTION & SUPPLY,INC

Fund: 224 - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

50,100.66ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENTAIRPORT WATER MAIN EXTENS…

Fund 224 - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT Total: 50,100.66

Vendor PAUL REED CONSTRUCTION & SUPPLY,INC Total: 50,100.66

Vendor: PERMA-BOUND

Fund: 211 - REGIONAL LIBRARY

51.02BOOKSBks

Fund 211 - REGIONAL LIBRARY Total: 51.02

Vendor PERMA-BOUND Total: 51.02

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 352 / 404



Expense Approval Report   Post Dates: 5/20/2014 - 6/2/2014

5/30/2014 10:32:28 AM Page 12 of 22

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

Vendor: PLATTE VALLEY BANK

Fund: 713 - CASH & INVESTMENT POOL

11,455.96HSA EE PAYABLEHSA EE PYBLE

337.50HSA ER PAYABLEHSA ER PYBLE/SINGLE D

2,100.00HSA ER PAYABLEHSA ER PYBLE - FAMILY D

Fund 713 - CASH & INVESTMENT POOL Total: 13,893.46

Vendor PLATTE VALLEY BANK Total: 13,893.46

Vendor: PLATTE VALLEY VAC & SEW

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

178.69EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEequip reprs

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 178.69

Vendor PLATTE VALLEY VAC & SEW Total: 178.69

Vendor: POSTMASTER

Fund: 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

96.75POSTAGEPostage

Fund 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES Total: 96.75

Fund: 631 - WASTEWATER

96.75POSTAGEPostage

Fund 631 - WASTEWATER Total: 96.75

Fund: 641 - WATER

96.76POSTAGEPostage

Fund 641 - WATER Total: 96.76

Vendor POSTMASTER Total: 290.26

Vendor: PRINT EXPRESS

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

688.75DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDpt sup.

419.40DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDept Supp

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 1,108.15

Vendor PRINT EXPRESS Total: 1,108.15

Vendor: PRO OVERHEAD DOOR COMPANY, INC

Fund: 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

726.25BUILDING MAINTENANCEbldg mtnc

Fund 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES Total: 726.25

Vendor PRO OVERHEAD DOOR COMPANY, INC Total: 726.25

Vendor: RAMADA INN-KEARNEY

Fund: 213 - CEMETERY

77.00BUSINESS TRAVELBusiness Travel

Fund 213 - CEMETERY Total: 77.00

Vendor RAMADA INN-KEARNEY Total: 77.00

Vendor: RCI

Fund: 812 - HEALTH INSURANCE

785.60FLEXIBLE BENFT EXPENSESFlex Claim Exp

9,412.20CLAIMS EXPENSEMedical Claims Exp

36,691.33PREMIUM EXPENSEPREMIUM

43,282.93CLAIMS EXPENSEMedical Claim

Fund 812 - HEALTH INSURANCE Total: 90,172.06

Vendor RCI Total: 90,172.06

Vendor: REAMS SPRINKLER SUPPLY CO., INC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

1,537.45GROUNDS MAINTENANCEGrnds Maint

1,373.98GROUNDS MAINTENANCEGrnds Maint

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 2,911.43

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 353 / 404



Expense Approval Report   Post Dates: 5/20/2014 - 6/2/2014

5/30/2014 10:32:28 AM Page 13 of 22

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

Fund: 213 - CEMETERY

451.66DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDept Supp

Fund 213 - CEMETERY Total: 451.66

Vendor REAMS SPRINKLER SUPPLY CO., INC Total: 3,363.09

Vendor: RECREATION SUPPLY CO., INC.

Fund: 215 - SPECIAL PROJECTS

1,196.85DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDept Supp

Fund 215 - SPECIAL PROJECTS Total: 1,196.85

Vendor RECREATION SUPPLY CO., INC. Total: 1,196.85

Vendor: REGIONAL WEST MEDICAL CENTER

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

58.75DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESsupplies

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 58.75

Vendor REGIONAL WEST MEDICAL CENTER Total: 58.75

Vendor: REGISTER OF DEEDS

Fund: 213 - CEMETERY

10.00LEGAL FEESLegal Fees

10.00LEGAL FEESLegal Fees

10.00LEGAL FEESLegal Fees

10.00LEGAL FEESLegal Fees

10.00LEGAL FEESLegal Fees

Fund 213 - CEMETERY Total: 50.00

Vendor REGISTER OF DEEDS Total: 50.00

Vendor: RENAE L GRIFFITHS

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

794.23SCHOOL & CONFERENCEEXPENSES-CONFERENCE

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 794.23

Vendor RENAE L GRIFFITHS Total: 794.23

Vendor: RIGHT BRAIN UNLIMITED

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

369.85GROUNDS MAINTENANCEGrnds Maint

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 369.85

Vendor RIGHT BRAIN UNLIMITED Total: 369.85

Vendor: RIOS JR, ESIQUIO

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

288.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESUMPIRE FEES

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 288.00

Vendor RIOS JR, ESIQUIO Total: 288.00

Vendor: ROBERT GOMEZ

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

54.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESUMPIRE FEES

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 54.00

Vendor ROBERT GOMEZ Total: 54.00

Vendor: ROOSEVELT P P DIST

Fund: 641 - WATER

2,031.61ELECTRIC POWERElectric

Fund 641 - WATER Total: 2,031.61

Vendor ROOSEVELT P P DIST Total: 2,031.61

Vendor: RV'S 4 U

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

90.00EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEequip check

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 90.00

Vendor RV'S 4 U Total: 90.00

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 354 / 404



Expense Approval Report   Post Dates: 5/20/2014 - 6/2/2014

5/30/2014 10:32:28 AM Page 14 of 22

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

Vendor: S M E C

Fund: 713 - CASH & INVESTMENT POOL

240.00SMEC EE PAYABLEEE CONTRIBUTION - BIWEEKLY

Fund 713 - CASH & INVESTMENT POOL Total: 240.00

Vendor S M E C Total: 240.00

Vendor: SANDBERG IMPLEMENT, INC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

33.24EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEEQP MTC

98.60EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEequip repr

390.83DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEP SUP

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 522.67

Fund: 213 - CEMETERY

359.00DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEP SUP

356.93DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEP SUP

Fund 213 - CEMETERY Total: 715.93

Vendor SANDBERG IMPLEMENT, INC Total: 1,238.60

Vendor: SCB FIREFIGHTERS UNION LOCAL 1454

Fund: 713 - CASH & INVESTMENT POOL

210.00FIRE UNION DUES EE PAYFIRE EE DUES

Fund 713 - CASH & INVESTMENT POOL Total: 210.00

Vendor SCB FIREFIGHTERS UNION LOCAL 1454 Total: 210.00

Vendor: SCB POLICE OFFICERS ASS'N

Fund: 713 - CASH & INVESTMENT POOL

378.00POL UNION DUES EE PAYPOLICE EE DUES

Fund 713 - CASH & INVESTMENT POOL Total: 378.00

Vendor SCB POLICE OFFICERS ASS'N Total: 378.00

Vendor: SCOTTS BLUFF COUNTY

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

1,119.94DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESSUPPLIES

1,119.94DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESSUPPLIES

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 2,239.88

Vendor SCOTTS BLUFF COUNTY Total: 2,239.88

Vendor: SIMON CONTRACTORS

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

264.00GROUNDS MAINTENANCEGrnds Maint

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 264.00

Fund: 212 - TRANSPORTATION

465.50STREET MAINTENANCECONCRETE

395.25STREET MAINTENANCECONCRETE

318.50STREET MAINTENANCECONCRETE

57.92STREET REPAIR SUPPLIESROAD GRAVEL

735.00STREET MAINTENANCECONCRETE

761.25STREET MAINTENANCECONCRETE

420.00STREET MAINTENANCECONCRETE

577.80STREET REPAIR SUPPLIESASPHALT COLD MIX

997.50STREET MAINTENANCECONCRETE

665.00STREET MAINTENANCECONCRETE

892.50STREET MAINTENANCECONCRETE

787.50STREET MAINTENANCECONCRETE

262.50STREET MAINTENANCECONCRETE

Fund 212 - TRANSPORTATION Total: 7,336.22

Vendor SIMON CONTRACTORS Total: 7,600.22

Vendor: SOURCE GAS

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

142.81HEATING FUELMonthly Energy Fuel

70.65HEATING FUELMonthly Energy Fuel

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 355 / 404



Expense Approval Report   Post Dates: 5/20/2014 - 6/2/2014

5/30/2014 10:32:28 AM Page 15 of 22

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

70.66HEATING FUELMonthly Energy Fuel

47.30HEATING FUELMonthly Energy Fuel

122.58HEATING FUELMonthly Energy Fuel

254.48HEATING FUELMonthly Energy Fuel

3,961.06HEATING FUELMonthly Energy Fuel

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 4,669.54

Fund: 212 - TRANSPORTATION

835.52HEATING FUELMonthly Energy Fuel

Fund 212 - TRANSPORTATION Total: 835.52

Fund: 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

217.01HEATING FUELMonthly Energy Fuel

Fund 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES Total: 217.01

Fund: 641 - WATER

133.65HEATING FUELMonthly Energy Fuel

Fund 641 - WATER Total: 133.65

Vendor SOURCE GAS Total: 5,855.72

Vendor: STAPLES

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

14.39DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEP SUP

102.26DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESsupplies

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 116.65

Vendor STAPLES Total: 116.65

Vendor: STAR HERALD

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

474.47LEGAL PUBLICATIONSLegal Publishing

108.01LEGAL PUBLICATIONSLegal Publishing

12.97LEGAL PUBLICATIONSLegal Publishing

1,668.29RECRUITMENTLegal Publishing

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 2,263.74

Vendor STAR HERALD Total: 2,263.74

Vendor: STATE HEALTH LAB

Fund: 641 - WATER

1,975.00SAMPLESSAMPLES

135.00SAMPLESSAMPLES

Fund 641 - WATER Total: 2,110.00

Vendor STATE HEALTH LAB Total: 2,110.00

Vendor: STATE OF NE.

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

105.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESCONTRACTUAL

105.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESCONTRACTUAL

105.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESCONTRACTUAL

105.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESCONTRACTUAL

105.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESCONTRACTUAL

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 525.00

Vendor STATE OF NE. Total: 525.00

Vendor: STATE OF NEBR-DEPT OF ADMIN SVC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

9.93TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

3.68TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

4.00TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

1.58TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

0.94TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

12.53TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

7.89TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

44.79TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

14.46TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 356 / 404



Expense Approval Report   Post Dates: 5/20/2014 - 6/2/2014

5/30/2014 10:32:28 AM Page 16 of 22

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

5.45TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

2.92TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 108.17

Fund: 212 - TRANSPORTATION

6.71TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

Fund 212 - TRANSPORTATION Total: 6.71

Fund: 213 - CEMETERY

6.12TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

Fund 213 - CEMETERY Total: 6.12

Fund: 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

5.28TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

Fund 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES Total: 5.28

Fund: 631 - WASTEWATER

3.46TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

Fund 631 - WASTEWATER Total: 3.46

Fund: 641 - WATER

2.70TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

Fund 641 - WATER Total: 2.70

Fund: 661 - STORMWATER

0.47TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

Fund 661 - STORMWATER Total: 0.47

Fund: 721 - GIS SERVICES

0.47TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

Fund 721 - GIS SERVICES Total: 0.47

Vendor STATE OF NEBR-DEPT OF ADMIN SVC Total: 133.38

Vendor: THE GALE GROUP

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

27.19BOOKSBks

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 27.19

Vendor THE GALE GROUP Total: 27.19

Vendor: THOMAS P MILLER & ASSOC, LLC

Fund: 224 - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

41,583.33CONTRACTUAL SERVICESCONTRACT

Fund 224 - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT Total: 41,583.33

Vendor THOMAS P MILLER & ASSOC, LLC Total: 41,583.33

Vendor: TOYOTA FINANCIAL SVCS

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

383.99RENT-MACHINESRENT-MACH-HIDTA

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 383.99

Vendor TOYOTA FINANCIAL SVCS Total: 383.99

Vendor: TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

87.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESFEES

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 87.00

Fund: 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

87.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESFEES

Fund 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES Total: 87.00

Fund: 631 - WASTEWATER

87.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESFEES

Fund 631 - WASTEWATER Total: 87.00

Fund: 641 - WATER

87.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESFEES

Fund 641 - WATER Total: 87.00

Vendor TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC Total: 348.00

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 357 / 404



Expense Approval Report   Post Dates: 5/20/2014 - 6/2/2014

5/30/2014 10:32:28 AM Page 17 of 22

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

Vendor: US BANK

Fund: 212 - TRANSPORTATION

3,672.50DEBT SERVICE-INTERESTBOND INTEREST

Fund 212 - TRANSPORTATION Total: 3,672.50

Vendor US BANK Total: 3,672.50

Vendor: US BANK

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

15.00SCHOOL & CONFERENCEConference

66.50SCHOOL & CONFERENCETraining

60.00SCHOOL & CONFERENCEclass fee

55.56GASOLINEGASOLINE

12.60DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUPPL

83.00SCHOOL & CONFERENCESCHOOLS & CONF

83.00SCHOOL & CONFERENCESCHOOLS & CONF

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 375.66

Vendor US BANK Total: 375.66

Vendor: VAN GALDER, JONATHAN P

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

36.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESUMPIRE FEES

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 36.00

Vendor VAN GALDER, JONATHAN P Total: 36.00

Vendor: VERIZON WIRELESS

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

471.61TELEPHONECELL PHONE

22.40TELEPHONECELL PHONE

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 494.01

Vendor VERIZON WIRELESS Total: 494.01

Vendor: WALMART COMMUNITY/GEMB

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

18.91DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDept Supp

9.97DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESsupplies

135.47DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEP SUP

12.24VEHICLE MAINTENANCED.S. VEHCLE

13.02DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDpt sup.

41.97DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESsupplies

27.46DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESsupplies

-13.73DEPARTMENT SUPPLIEScharged for one to many items

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 245.31

Fund: 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

46.55DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESdept supplies

Fund 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES Total: 46.55

Vendor WALMART COMMUNITY/GEMB Total: 291.86

Vendor: WATER ENVIRONMENT FEDERATION

Fund: 631 - WASTEWATER

62.00MEMBERSHIPSMEMBERSHIP FEES

Fund 631 - WASTEWATER Total: 62.00

Vendor WATER ENVIRONMENT FEDERATION Total: 62.00

Vendor: WELLS FARGO BANK N.A.

Fund: 713 - CASH & INVESTMENT POOL

8,293.40REGULAR RETIRE EE PAYRETIREMENT GENERAL - EE

2,861.03REGULAR RETIRE EE PAYRETIREMENT GENERAL ADDTL -…

2,471.72REGULAR RETIRE ER PAYRETIREMENT GENERAL ADDTL -…

8,630.90RETIRE POLICE EE PAYTSA POLICE

50.15RETIRE POLICE EE PAYTSA POLICE ADDTL - EE

6,140.44RETIRE FIRE EE PAYABLETSA FIRE

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 358 / 404



Expense Approval Report   Post Dates: 5/20/2014 - 6/2/2014

5/30/2014 10:32:28 AM Page 18 of 22

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

365.00RETIRE FIRE EE PAYABLETSA FIRE ADDTL - EE

Fund 713 - CASH & INVESTMENT POOL Total: 28,812.64

Vendor WELLS FARGO BANK N.A. Total: 28,812.64

Vendor: WESTERN TRAVEL TERMINAL

Fund: 631 - WASTEWATER

8.50VEHICLE MAINTENANCEVEH MAINT

36.00VEHICLE MAINTENANCEVEH MAINT

Fund 631 - WASTEWATER Total: 44.50

Vendor WESTERN TRAVEL TERMINAL Total: 44.50

Vendor: ZM LUMBER CO.

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

39.00GROUNDS MAINTENANCEGrnds Maint

71.80GROUNDS MAINTENANCEGrnds Maint

7.18GROUNDS MAINTENANCEGrnds Maint

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 117.98

Vendor ZM LUMBER CO. Total: 117.98

Grand Total: 818,343.22

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 359 / 404



Expense Approval Report   Post Dates: 5/20/2014 - 6/2/2014

5/30/2014 10:32:28 AM Page 19 of 22

Report Summary

Fund Summary

 Payment AmountFund Expense Amount

111 - GENERAL 335.0162,709.14

211 - REGIONAL LIBRARY 0.00440.96

212 - TRANSPORTATION 0.0044,984.17

213 - CEMETERY 0.002,185.50

215 - SPECIAL PROJECTS 0.001,196.85

216 - BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT 0.0085.42

223 - KENO 0.00259.98

224 - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 0.0097,040.62

621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES 96.753,640.23

631 - WASTEWATER 96.75352,763.13

641 - WATER 16,958.8038,625.54

661 - STORMWATER 98.80463.57

713 - CASH & INVESTMENT POOL 123,775.58123,775.58

721 - GIS SERVICES 0.000.47

812 - HEALTH INSURANCE 53,480.7390,172.06

194,842.42Grand Total: 818,343.22

Account Summary

 Payment AmountAccount Number Account Name Expense Amount

111-21311 SALES TAX PAYABLE 335.01335.01

111-52111-141 DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES 0.001,346.62

111-52111-142 DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES 0.001,311.15

111-52111-151 DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES 0.00916.38

111-52111-171 DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES 0.001,275.52

111-52111-172 DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES 0.001,483.00

111-52121-111 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES 0.0062.80

111-52121-151 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES 0.0053.03

111-52163-142 INVESTIGATION SUPPLIES 0.00203.70

111-52181-142 UNIFORMS & CLOTHING 0.0048.11

111-52221-151 AUDIOVISUAL SUPPLIES 0.0014.99

111-52222-151 BOOKS 0.001,401.53

111-52411-142 POSTAGE 0.0012.15

111-52511-142 GASOLINE 0.0055.56

111-53111-112 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 0.00900.00

111-53111-116 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 0.0087.00

111-53111-121 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 0.001,040.00

111-53111-141 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 0.00450.00

111-53111-142 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 0.00650.00

111-53111-151 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 0.00311.00

111-53111-172 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 0.001,864.00

111-53161-115 LEGAL PUBLICATIONS 0.00474.47

111-53161-121 LEGAL PUBLICATIONS 0.00108.01

111-53161-151 LEGAL PUBLICATIONS 0.0012.97

111-53211-142 LEGAL FEES 0.002.50

111-53421-111 BUILDING MAINTENANCE 0.00908.00

111-53421-141 BUILDING MAINTENANCE 0.00312.35

111-53421-142 BUILDING MAINTENANCE 0.00312.35

111-53421-172 BUILDING MAINTENANCE 0.0021,259.77

111-53441-141 EQUIPMENT MAINTENAN… 0.00942.44

111-53441-142 EQUIPMENT MAINTENAN… 0.00786.40

111-53441-151 EQUIPMENT MAINTENAN… 0.00538.75

111-53441-171 EQUIPMENT MAINTENAN… 0.00124.54

111-53441-172 EQUIPMENT MAINTENAN… 0.00116.86

111-53451-121 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 0.0012.24

111-53451-141 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 0.0045.10

111-53471-171 GROUNDS MAINTENANCE 0.003,944.41

111-53511-111 ELECTRICITY 0.00393.89

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 360 / 404



Expense Approval Report   Post Dates: 5/20/2014 - 6/2/2014

5/30/2014 10:32:28 AM Page 20 of 22

Account Summary

 Payment AmountAccount Number Account Name Expense Amount

111-53511-141 ELECTRICITY 0.00612.09

111-53511-142 ELECTRICITY 0.00515.87

111-53511-151 ELECTRICITY 0.001,451.01

111-53511-171 ELECTRICITY 0.003,193.09

111-53511-172 ELECTRICITY 0.001,593.07

111-53521-111 HEATING FUEL 0.00142.81

111-53521-141 HEATING FUEL 0.0070.65

111-53521-142 HEATING FUEL 0.00117.96

111-53521-151 HEATING FUEL 0.00122.58

111-53521-171 HEATING FUEL 0.00254.48

111-53521-172 HEATING FUEL 0.003,961.06

111-53551-171 STREET LIGHTS 0.00100.40

111-53561-111 TELEPHONE 0.009.93

111-53561-112 TELEPHONE 0.003.68

111-53561-114 TELEPHONE 0.004.00

111-53561-115 TELEPHONE 0.001.58

111-53561-116 TELEPHONE 0.000.94

111-53561-121 TELEPHONE 0.0012.53

111-53561-141 TELEPHONE 0.007.89

111-53561-142 TELEPHONE 0.00516.40

111-53561-143 TELEPHONE 0.0022.40

111-53561-151 TELEPHONE 0.0014.46

111-53561-171 TELEPHONE 0.005.45

111-53561-172 TELEPHONE 0.002.92

111-53631-142 RENT-MACHINES 0.00383.99

111-53711-111 SCHOOL & CONFERENCE 0.00794.23

111-53711-121 SCHOOL & CONFERENCE 0.006.80

111-53711-141 SCHOOL & CONFERENCE 0.00150.00

111-53711-142 SCHOOL & CONFERENCE 0.001,178.45

111-53711-171 SCHOOL & CONFERENCE 0.0081.50

111-53721-121 BUSINESS TRAVEL 0.00217.03

111-53811-111 BONDING 0.0016.25

111-53811-115 BONDING 0.0016.25

111-53811-121 BONDING 0.00116.25

111-53811-142 BONDING 0.00276.25

111-53831-111 LIABILITY INSURANCE 0.00950.00

111-53913-112 RECRUITMENT 0.001,668.29

211-52222-151 BOOKS 0.00440.96

212-52111-212 DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES 0.00184.69

212-52171-212 STREET REPAIR SUPPLIES 0.00635.72

212-52531-212 OIL & ANTIFREEZE 0.001,783.56

212-53441-212 EQUIPMENT MAINTENAN… 0.00102.46

212-53451-212 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 0.00696.84

212-53491-212 STREET MAINTENANCE 0.006,700.50

212-53511-212 ELECTRICITY 0.00591.08

212-53521-212 HEATING FUEL 0.00835.52

212-53531-212 ELECTRIC POWER 0.001,791.10

212-53551-212 STREET LIGHTS 0.0027,983.49

212-53561-212 TELEPHONE 0.006.71

212-57115-212 DEBT SERVICE-INTEREST 0.003,672.50

213-52111-213 DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES 0.001,624.41

213-53211-213 LEGAL FEES 0.0050.00

213-53441-213 EQUIPMENT MAINTENAN… 0.0077.53

213-53511-213 ELECTRICITY 0.00334.19

213-53561-213 TELEPHONE 0.006.12

213-53721-213 BUSINESS TRAVEL 0.0077.00

213-53811-213 BONDING 0.0016.25

215-52111-172 DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES 0.001,196.85

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 361 / 404



Expense Approval Report   Post Dates: 5/20/2014 - 6/2/2014

5/30/2014 10:32:28 AM Page 21 of 22

Account Summary

 Payment AmountAccount Number Account Name Expense Amount

216-53551-000 STREET LIGHTS 0.0085.42

223-53111-113 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 0.00259.98

224-53111-113 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 0.0041,583.33

224-53111-114 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 0.00356.63

224-59111-114 ECONOMIC DEVELOPME… 0.0055,100.66

621-52111-621 DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES 0.00270.10

621-52411-621 POSTAGE 96.7596.75

621-53111-621 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 0.0087.00

621-53193-621 DISPOSAL FEES 0.001,500.00

621-53421-621 BUILDING MAINTENANCE 0.00726.25

621-53451-621 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 0.0022.22

621-53511-621 ELECTRICITY 0.00715.62

621-53521-621 HEATING FUEL 0.00217.01

621-53561-621 TELEPHONE 0.005.28

631-52111-631 DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES 0.00364.64

631-52311-631 MEMBERSHIPS 0.0062.00

631-52411-631 POSTAGE 96.75104.50

631-53111-631 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 0.0087.00

631-53195-631 ADMIN COSTS & FEES 0.0010,475.40

631-53441-631 EQUIPMENT MAINTENAN… 0.003,430.47

631-53451-631 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 0.00154.14

631-53511-631 ELECTRICITY 0.00735.89

631-53531-631 ELECTRIC POWER 0.0014,400.27

631-53561-631 TELEPHONE 0.003.46

631-57110-631 DEBT SERVICE-PRINCIPAL 0.00279,491.21

631-57115-631 DEBT SERVICE-INTEREST 0.0043,454.15

641-21311 SALES TAX PAYABLE 16,756.0616,756.06

641-52111-641 DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES 105.983,436.69

641-52117-641 SAMPLES 0.002,245.00

641-52411-641 POSTAGE 96.7696.76

641-52611-641 CHEMICALS 0.005,867.20

641-53111-641 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 0.00113.10

641-53511-641 ELECTRICITY 0.0068.30

641-53521-641 HEATING FUEL 0.00133.65

641-53531-641 ELECTRIC POWER 0.009,906.08

641-53561-641 TELEPHONE 0.002.70

661-21311 SALES TAX PAYABLE 98.8098.80

661-52111-661 DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES 0.00149.30

661-52311-661 MEMBERSHIPS 0.0035.00

661-53561-661 TELEPHONE 0.000.47

661-53711-661 SCHOOL & CONFERENCE 0.00180.00

713-21511 MISC PAYROLL DEDUCT 360.14360.14

713-21512 MEDICARE W/H EE PAYAB… 7,195.407,195.40

713-21513 FICA W/H EE PAYABLE 26,780.4626,780.46

713-21514 FED W/H EE PAYABLE 25,134.6525,134.65

713-21515 STATE W/H EE PAYABLE 17,082.0717,082.07

713-21517 POL UNION DUES EE PAY 378.00378.00

713-21518 FIRE UNION DUES EE PAY 210.00210.00

713-21523 LIFE INS EE PAYABLE 22.7522.75

713-21524 SMEC EE PAYABLE 240.00240.00

713-21527 WAGE ATTACHMENT EE … 586.00586.00

713-21528 REGULAR RETIRE EE PAY 11,154.4311,154.43

713-21529 DEFERRED COMP EE PAY 965.00965.00

713-21531 RETIRE FIRE EE PAYABLE 6,505.446,505.44

713-21533 RETIRE POLICE EE PAY 8,681.058,681.05

713-21534 DIS INC INS EE PAYABLE 25.9525.95

713-21539 CHILD SUPPORT EE PAY 2,089.062,089.06

713-21541 HSA EE PAYABLE 11,455.9611,455.96

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 362 / 404



Expense Approval Report   Post Dates: 5/20/2014 - 6/2/2014

5/30/2014 10:32:28 AM Page 22 of 22

Account Summary

 Payment AmountAccount Number Account Name Expense Amount

713-21728 REGULAR RETIRE ER PAY 2,471.722,471.72

713-21741 HSA ER PAYABLE 2,437.502,437.50

721-53561-721 TELEPHONE 0.000.47

812-53861-112 PREMIUM EXPENSE 0.0036,691.33

812-53862-112 CLAIMS EXPENSE 52,695.1352,695.13

812-53863-112 FLEXIBLE BENFT EXPENSES 785.60785.60

Grand Total: 194,842.42818,343.22

Project Account Summary

 Payment AmountProject Account Key Expense Amount

**None** 194,842.42788,763.93

1114153421 0.005,165.74

1114252111 0.00428.46

1114253421 0.0016,094.03

1114253441 0.00116.86

1114253521 0.003,961.06

2117753471 0.0053.60

2117753511 0.00223.24

2122352111 0.001,196.85

2123153111 0.00259.98

6002052311 0.0035.00

6002053561 0.000.47

6002053711 0.00180.00

7000853111 0.001,864.00

Grand Total: 194,842.42818,343.22

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 363 / 404



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 364 / 404



City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska
Monday, June 2, 2014

Regular Meeting

Item Public Inp1

Council to consider a Community Festival Permit for the NEXT 
Young Professionals at the Broadway Mini Park, parking lot, 
including street closures, vendors, and noise permit for a Best of 
the West Beer and Wine Festival on August 23, 2014 from 12:00 
noon to 9:00 p.m.

Staff Contact: Nathan Johnson, Assistant City Manager

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 365 / 404



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 366 / 404



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 367 / 404



City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska
Monday, June 2, 2014

Regular Meeting

Item Public Inp2

Council to consider a Special Designated Liquor License for the 
Liquor Cabinet and NEXT Young Professionals to serve wine and 
beer at a Community Festival event at the Broadway Mini Park on 
August 23, 2014 from 12:00 noon to 9:00 p.m.

Staff Contact: Nathan Johnson, Assistant City Manager

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 368 / 404



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 369 / 404



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 370 / 404



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 371 / 404



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 372 / 404



 1 

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM  
 
TO:  Rick Kuckkahn, City Manager 
 
FROM: Kevin Spencer, Chief of Police 
 
CC:  Cindy Dickinson, City Clerk 
 
DATE: May 29, 2014 
 
RE: Request for a Special Designated License (SDL) – The Liquor 

Cabinet/Fund Raiser for the Next Young Professionals. 

 
In regards to the Liquor Cabinet’s SDL, for August 23, 2014 there will be sufficient law 
enforcement officers on duty to handle regular patrol duties in the city and to respond to the 
fund raiser in the event of a problem. As always, we would insist that management have 
adequate staff on hand to closely monitor the event and take steps to ensure minors do not 
drink.  
 
The police department does not object to the issuance of the Special Designated License.  
 
 
 
Kevin Spencer 
Chief of Police 

Scottsbluff Police 

Department 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 373 / 404



City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska
Monday, June 2, 2014

Regular Meeting

Item Public Inp3

Council to receive a report from Lane Danielzuk, Gering City 
Administrator, on a   proposal from the Sports Facility Advisory 
on the development of a regional recreation master plan.

Staff Contact: Rick Kuckkahn, City Manager

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 374 / 404



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 375 / 404



City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska
Monday, June 2, 2014

Regular Meeting

Item Reports1

Council to approve an outdoor teen dance and noise permit at the 
Lied Scottsbluff Public Library on July 18, 2014 from 7:00 p.m. to 
9:00 p.m.

Staff Contact: Abby Yellman, Librarian

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 376 / 404



Rev: 11/15/12 City Clerk 

A g e n d a   S t a t e m e n t 
 

Item No. 
 

For Meeting of:  June 02, 2014 
 

AGENDA TITLE: Outdoor Teen Dance 

 

SUBMITTED BY DEPARTMENT/ORGANIZATION:  Library 
 
 

PRESENTATION BY:   Assistant City Manager, Nathan Johnson 
 
 

SUMMARY EXPLANATION: The Lied Scottsbluff Public Library will be hosting an outdoor Teen 
Dance on July 18, 2014 from 7:00 p.m. – 9:00 p.m. as part of our Teen Summer Reading 
Program “Spark a Reaction”.  There will be a DJ present and music played until 9:00 p.m.  Teen 
librarian, Melissa Pohl, will be taking small flyers to the houses of the immediate library 
neighbors as a courtesy one week prior to the event to make them aware of the upcoming 
outdoor event.   
 

 

BOARD/COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: The library would appreciate council’s support to move forward 
with this outdoor teen event.   

 
  

EXHIBITS  
Resolution  Ordinance  Contract   Minutes   Plan/Map  
 
Other (specify)     Consent 
 

 

NOTIFICATION LIST:  Yes    No    Further Instructions    
Please list names and addresses required for notification. 
 
 

APPROVAL FOR SUBMITTAL:       
                                 City Manager 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 377 / 404



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 378 / 404



City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska
Monday, June 2, 2014

Regular Meeting

Item Reports2

Council to authorize Mayor to sign Grant Agreement for a 319 
grant in the amount of $40,000.00 for Stormwater Management.

Staff Contact: Annie Folck, City Planner

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 379 / 404



Rev 3/1/99CClerk 

A g e n d a   S t a t e m e n t 
 

Item No.  
 

For meeting of:  June 2, 2014  

 
AGENDA TITLE:   Council to authorize Mayor to sign Grant Agreement for 319 grant in the 
amount of $40,000 

 

SUBMITTED BY DEPARTMENT/ORGANIZATION:   Planning and Zoning 
 

PRESENTATION BY:    
 

SUMMARY EXPLANATION:  The City has applied for and been awarded a 319 grant in the 
amount of $40,000.  This grant program is intended for projects which will reduce non-point 
source pollution.  The proposed project is to continue removing concrete medians from our 
downtown parking lots, which will reduce impervious surfaces and allow more stormwater to filter 
into the ground.  This will allow for more green space in the parking lots, while eliminating 
tripping hazards and reducing the amount of time the streets department spends removing snow 
from these medians.  This grant agreement must be signed before the City begins any work on 
this project.   

 

BOARD/COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:     

  
EXHIBITS  

Resolution  Ordinance Contract  Minutes   Plan/Map  
 
Other (specify)    

 

NOTIFICATION LIST:  Yes     No     Further Instructions    

 
 
 

APPROVAL FOR SUBMITTAL:       
                                 City Manager 

  

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 380 / 404



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 381 / 404



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 382 / 404



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 383 / 404



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 384 / 404



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 385 / 404



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 386 / 404



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 387 / 404



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 388 / 404



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 389 / 404



City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska
Monday, June 2, 2014

Regular Meeting

Item Reports3

Council to authorize Mayor to sign the contract with Copier 
Connection for a Police Department copy machine.

Staff Contact: Chief Kevin Spencer

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 390 / 404



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 391 / 404



City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska
Monday, June 2, 2014

Regular Meeting

Item Reports4

Council to consider the Developers Agreement with C & T 
Holdings, LLC,  for the Five Oaks project and authorize the Mayor 
to execute the agreement.

Staff Contact: Annie Folck, City Planner

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 392 / 404



Rev 3/1/99CClerk 

A g e n d a   S t a t e m e n t 

 
Item No.  

 
For meeting of: June 2, 2014 

 

 
AGENDA TITLE: Developers Agreement/Contract, Five Oaks Drive – Lots 1-3, & Tract 2, Block 
6, Lot 8, & Tract 1, Block 14, Lot 7, Block 13, Five Oaks Subdivision and  Lots 9A-12A, Block 4, 
amended Five Oaks Subdivision replat,   and Lots 7-8, Block 5, Five Oaks Subdivision. 
 
SUBMITTED BY DEPARTMENT/ORGANIZATION:  Development Services Department 
 
PRESENTATION BY: Rick Kuckkahn, City Manager 
 
SUMMARY EXPLANATION: Council may authorize the Mayor to execute a contract that 
guarantees the improvements that will be installed as part of the Five Oaks development Paving 
District No. 311, which includes Five Oaks Drive – Lots 1-3, & Tract 2, Block 6, Lot 8, & Tract 1, 
Block 14, Lot 7, Block 13, Lots 9A-12A, Block 4, amended Five Oaks Subdivision replat, and 
Lots 7-8, Block 5, Five Oaks Subdivision. 
 
BOARD/COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION:  N/A 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends Council authorize the Mayor to execute the 
documents to allow for infrastructure improvements in the Five Oaks Subdivision.  

EXHIBITS  

Resolution  Ordinance  Contract  Minutes   Plan/Map  
 
Other (specify)   

 
NOTIFICATION LIST:  Yes    No    Further Instructions    

 
APPROVAL FOR SUBMITTAL:       

                                 City Manager 

  
 
 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 393 / 404



 

 

   

 CONTRACT FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS 
 

 This contract is made this 29th day of March, 2014, between the City of Scottsbluff, 

Nebraska, a Municipal Corporation, hereafter called “City”, and C & T Holdings, LLC, a 

Nebraska limited liability company, hereafter called “Owner”. 

 

 RECITALS 
            

1. Owner owns real estate described as follows: 

 

Lots 1-3 and tract 2 of Block 6, Lot 8 and tract 1 of Block 14, Lot 7 of Block 13, 

and Lots 7-8 of Block 5, Five Oaks Subdivision and Lots 9A, 10A, 11A, 12A, of 

Block 4, Amended Five Oaks Subdivision replat all situated in the Northwest 

Quarter of Section 14, Township 22 North, Range 55 West of the 6
th

 P.M., Scotts 

Bluff County, Nebraska, known as Five Oaks Subdivision.   

 

 This real estate will hereafter be called C & T Property.  

  

 2. Certain improvements in the area which are required by the Scottsbluff Municipal 

Code to be constructed by the property owner have not been constructed. The parties desire to 

memorialize their agreement with respect to the construction of these improvements. For that 

purpose, Owner desires to bind itself and its successors in interest to construct the improvements 

in accordance with the Scottsbluff Municipal Code as hereinafter provided. 

 

 AGREEMENTS OF THE PARTIES 
 

 In consideration of the mutual promises of the parties, it is agreed as follows: 

 

 3. By November 1st, 2014 Owner shall cause to be constructed, all in accordance 

with the plans and specifications to be approved by the City, which approval will not be 

unreasonably withheld, the following: 

 

Plug and abandon, at their current location, the water and sewer utilities previously 

constructed and located in Lot 3 of Block 6 of Five Oaks Subdivision.  Then construct 

160 feet of water and 130 feet of sewer utilities which will extend west of Five Oaks 

Drive in the future right-of-way of Pine Circle.  The water main shall be .5’ or 6” in 

diameter and sewer main shall be .67’or 8” in diameter and are estimated to cost $10,320.  

   

 The parties recite their understanding that the quantities described above may change 

when the final plans and specifications are approved. The cost of these improvements shall be 

paid by the Owner. 

 

   

 4. All improvements described in this agreement shall be constructed in accordance 

with plans and specifications approved by the City and in accordance with all ordinances and 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 394 / 404



 

 

 

 -2- 

codes adopted by the City.  All the improvements shall become the property of the City 

immediately upon acceptance of the improvements by the City Council. Owner warrants such 

improvements for a period of one year from the date of the acceptance of the improvements. 

 

 5. Should Owner fail to construct the improvements, the City may do so. Owner 

shall reimburse the City for all costs expended by the City in constructing such improvements. 

All improvements described in this agreement shall be constructed in accordance with plans and 

specifications approved by the City and in accordance with all ordinances and codes adopted by 

the City.  The City may at its option, assess all or any part of the unreimbursed cost of the 

improvements against the properties benefitted by the improvements.  When any installment of 

special assessments is unpaid for a period of six (6) months after the same is delinquent, the City 

may mail written notice to Owner of that fact and demand that Owner pay such installment. If 

Owner fails to do so within thirty (30) days after such notice is mailed, the City may proceed by 

appropriate action to enforce Owner's liability as described in this paragraph.  In any such action 

the City shall not be limited to the installments which are currently due but shall be entitled to 

collect the entire cost of the improvements, plus interest, less sums previously paid. Any 

forbearance by the City to exercise any right granted to it in this contract shall not be considered 

a waiver of the City's rights. Any notice under this paragraph shall be deemed properly sent if 

sent by certified U.S. mail, postage prepaid, to Owner at the following address: 

     

    1310 Circle Drive, Scottsbluff, Nebraska 

 

 6. To secure Owner’s liability, Owner agrees to provide security consistent with the 

policies established by the City. The estimated cost of the improvements contemplated by Owner 

are agreed to be $298,237. The parties recite their understanding that this is an estimate only and 

that the actual cost of the improvements may differ from the estimate. The security furnished by 

Owner will be in the amount of the actual cost of the improvements. It is contemplated that 

Owner will enter into a contract for the construction of the improvements. The actual cost of the 

improvements will be determined by the provisions of such contract. If the security furnished by 

Owner is a bond or letter of credit, the bond or letter of credit shall provide that upon demand by 

the City the City shall be paid all sums which the City is entitled to collect from Owner under 

this agreement. If the sums collected by the City under the bond or letter of credit are not 

sufficient to satisfy Owner’s liability to the City, Owner will remain liable for the balance. The 

City may, at its option, assess all or any part of the amounts owed for the improvements 

described in paragraph 3 hereof and not covered by the bond or letter of credit and not paid for 

by Owner.  

 

 7. Owner agrees to participate in and not object to the creation of any special 

improvement districts that may be subsequently created to construct and improve the C & T 

Property. This paragraph will not be deemed a waiver of Owner’s right to contest the extent to 

which it is benefitted by such special improvement district, or to contest the amount of any 

assessments levied against the Owner’s property.  

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 395 / 404



 

 

 

 -3- 

    8. This agreement shall run with the land and shall bind, in addition to the parties, 

the successors and assigns of the respective parties. 

 

 9. The parties agree to execute a Memorandum of Contract suitable for filing in the 

Office of the Register of Deeds of Scotts Bluff County, Nebraska, to give notice of the fact that 

this Contract has been executed. Owner shall reimburse the City for the costs of filing this 

Memorandum of Contract. 

 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have set their hands the day and year first herein 

written. 

 

      CITY OF SCOTTSBLUFF, NEBRASKA 

 

             

     By_____________________________ 

      Mayor 

 

      Dated__________________________ 

 

Attest: 

 

 

________________________ 

City Clerk 

       

      C & T Holdings, LLC, a Nebraska limited  

       liability company, Owner 

 

Seal   

 

      By______________________________ 

      (Title) 

       

      Dated___________________________ 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 396 / 404



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 MEMORANDUM OF CONTRACT 
 

 The City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska and C & T Holdings, LLC, a Nebraska limited liability 

company, hereafter called Owner, give notice that they have executed an agreement dated March 

29th, 2014. This agreement involves the following described real estate:  

 

Lots 1-3 and tract 2 of Block 6, Lot 8 and tract 1 of Block 14, Lot 7 of Block 13, and Lots 

7-8 of Block 5, Five Oaks Subdivision and Lots 9A, 10A, 11A, 12A, of Block 4, 

Amended Five Oaks Subdivision replat situated in the Northwest Quarter of Section 14, 

Township 22 North, Range 55 West of the 6
th

 P.M., Scotts Bluff County, Nebraska. 

 

 The contract generally provides for the development of the real estate described above 

including the construction of appropriate public improvements. It describes the improvements to 

be constructed, contains other provisions regarding the development, and describes the rights and 

duties of the parties. 

 

 Parties interested in the real estate described above should inform themselves concerning 

the details of this contract. 

 

 Dated ______________, 2014 

      CITY OF SCOTTSBLUFF, NEBRASKA 

                   By_____________________________ 

      Mayor 

Attest: 

 

________________________ 

City Clerk 

       

      C & T Holdings, LLC, a Nebraska limited 

        liability company, Owner 

 

      By______________________________ 

      (Title) 

       

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 397 / 404



City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska
Monday, June 2, 2014

Regular Meeting

Item Resolut.1

Council to consider the Ordinance for Annexation of Block 9, Five 
Oaks Subdivision, situated on the SE corner of Avenue I and 42nd 
Street (second reading).

Staff Contact: Rick Kuckkahn, City Manager

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 398 / 404



 

 ORDINANCE NO. _____ 

 

AN ORDINANCE ANNEXING A PARCEL OF LAND KNOWN AS BLOCK 9, FIVE OAKS 

SUBDIVISION LOCATED IN THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 14, TOWNSHIP 22 

NORTH, RANGE 55 WEST OF THE SIXTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, SCOTTS BLUFF 

COUNTY, NEBRASKA.  

 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

SCOTTSBLUFF, NEBRASKA: 

 

Section 1. The owners of the following described real estate (the real estate) have filed a written 

request that the real estate be annexed into the City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska (the City). The real estate 

described below is hereby found and declared to be contiguous and adjacent to the corporate limits of 

the City, to be urban or suburban in character, and not to be agricultural land which is rural in 

character: 

 
A PARCEL OF LAND KNOWN AS BLOCK 9 OF THE FIVE OAKS FINAL PLAT, CONTAINING 340,728 SQ. FT. (7.82 ACRES), 

MORE OR LESS, IN THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 14, TOWNSHIP 22 NORTH, RANGE 55 WEST, OF THE 6TH 

PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN SCOTTS BLUFF COUNTY, NEBRASKA, SAID TRACT OR PARCEL BEING MORE PARTICULARLY 

DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:  

 

COMMENCING AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SECTION 14, TOWNSHIP 22 NORTH, RANGE 55 WEST, OF THE 6TH 

PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, BEING A FOUND 1” DIAMETER STEEL BOLT, FLUSH IN THE SURFACE OF HIGHWAY 71, STAMPED IN 

PART “SURVEY MARK”, WHENCE THE WEST QUARTER CORNER OF SAID SECTION 14, BEING A FOUND 2” DIAMETER 

ALUMINUM CAP, FLUSH IN THE SURFACE OF HIGHWAY 71, NO STAMPING FOUND, BEARS SOUTH 0203'39" WEST, A 

DISTANCE OF 2675.32 FEET; THENCE ALONG SAID WEST LINE OF SECTION 14, SOUTH 0203'39" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 

770.84 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 8756'21" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 65.00 FEET TO A POINT ON THE EXISTING WESTERLY RIGHT 

OF WAY OF STATE HIGHWAY 71 AND TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; 

 

THENCE ALONG THE SAID EXISTING EAST RIGHT OF WAY LINE, NORTH 0203'39" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 262.75 FEET; 

THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAID EXISTING EAST RIGHT OF WAY LINE NORTH 0237'26" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 475.46 

FEET, THENCE ALONG THE EXISTING SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF 42ND STREET, SOUTH 8813'30" EAST, A DISTANCE 

OF 433.44 FEET TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF RED CEDAR DRIVE; THENCE ALONG SAID WEST RIGHT 

OF WAY LINE, SOUTH 0152'51" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 813.15 FEET; THENCE ON THE ARC OF A CURVE TO THE RIGHT, A 

RADIUS OF 20.00 FEET, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 9000'00", A DISTANCE OF 31.42 FEET, (A CHORD BEARING SOUTH 

4652'51" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 28.28 FEET) TO A POINT ON NORTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF WEST OAK BLVD.; THENCE 

CONTINUING THE FOLLOWING (5) FIVE COURSES ALONG THE SAID NORTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE: 

 

1.  NORTH 8807'09" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 5.05 FEET; 

2.  THENCE ON THE ARC OF A CURVE TO THE RIGHT, A RADIUS OF 174.00 FEET, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 2000'00", A 

DISTANCE OF 60.74 FEET, (A CHORD BEARING NORTH 7807'09" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 60.43 FEET);  

3.  THENCE NORTH 6807'09" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 204.03 FEET;  

4.  THENCE ON THE ARC OF A CURVE TO THE LEFT, A RADIUS OF 226.00 FEET, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 1949'11", A 

DISTANCE OF 78.18 FEET, (A CHORD BEARING NORTH 7801'45" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 77.79 FEET);  

5.  THENCE NORTH 8756'20" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 87.56 FEET TO A POINT ON THE EXISTING EAST RIGHT OF WAY 

LINE OF STATE HIGHWAY 71 AND TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

 

 

Section 2. The real estate described in paragraph 1 is hereby annexed to and included within the 

corporate limits of the City, and hereafter shall be and remain a part of the City for all purposes 

whatsoever. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 399 / 404



Section 3.  The owners, occupants and users of the real estate described in paragraph 1 shall be 

entitled to all the rights and privileges, and subject to all the laws, ordinances, rules and regulations of 

the City. Such owners, occupants and users shall receive substantially the benefits of other owners, 

occupants and users of lands within the City as soon as practical and adequate plans and necessary 

City Council action, if any, to furnish such benefits as police, fire, snow removal and water service 

shall be adopted as provided in Neb. Rev. Stat. §16-120 (Reissue 2012). 

 

Section 4.  This Ordinance shall become effective upon its passage, approval and publication as 

provided by law. 

 

PASSED AND APPROVED on __________________, 2014.    

 

 

_________________________________ 

Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_________________________ 

City Clerk     (Seal) 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 400 / 404



City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska
Monday, June 2, 2014

Regular Meeting

Item Resolut.2

Council to consider the Ordinance for Annexation of proposed 
Block 6, & Block 14, Five Oaks Subdivision, these parcels are west 
of proposed Five Oaks Drive and north of 36th Street and 
proposed Sage Brush Drive (second reading).

Staff Contact: Rick Kuckkahn, City Manager

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 401 / 404



 

 ORDINANCE NO. _____ 

 

AN ORDINANCE ANNEXING CERTAIN REAL ESTATE LOCATED IN THE  NORTHWEST 

QUARTER OF SECTION 14, TOWNSHIP 22 NORTH, RANGE 55 WEST OF THE SIXTH 

PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, SCOTTS BLUFF COUNTY, NEBRASKA, PLATTED AND NOW 

KNOWN AS LOTS 1-3 AND TRACT 2, BLOCK 6 AND LOT 8 AND TRACT 1, BLOCK 14, OF 

FIVE OAKS SUBDIVISION, CITY OF SCOTTSBLUFF, SCOTTS BLUFF COUNTY, NEBRASKA.  

 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SCOTTSBLUFF, 

NEBRASKA: 

 

Section 1. The owners of the following described real estate (the “real estate’’) have filed a written 

request that the real estate be annexed into the City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska (the “City’’). The real estate 

described below is hereby found and declared to be contiguous and adjacent to the corporate limits of the 

City, to be urban or suburban in character, and not to be agricultural land which is rural in character: 

 

A parcel of land known as annexation boundary for Lots 1-3 and Tract 2, Block 6, and 

Lot 8 and Tract 1, Block 14 of the Five Oaks final plat, containing 33,767 sq. ft. (0.775 

acres), more or less, in the Northwest Quarter of Section 14, Township 22 North, Range 

55 West, of the 6th Principal Meridian, in Scotts Bluff County, Nebraska, said tract or 

parcel being more particularly described as follows:  

 

COMMENCING  at the Northwest corner of Section 14, Township 22 North, Range 55 West, of the 6th 

Principal Meridian, being a found 1’’ diameter steel bolt, flush in the surface of Highway 71, stamped in 

part “survey mark”, Whence the West sixteenth of said Section 14, being a found 3 1-4" diameter 

aluminum cap, flush in the surface of 42nd street, stamped in part "Baker & Associates Inc, PLS 731", 

Bears South 8813'30" East, a distance of 1326.35 feet; thence South 2016'36" East, a distance of 

1783.86' feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING; 

 

Thence North 3814'05" East, a distance of 181.76 feet;  

 

Thence South 4435'28 " East, a distance of 47.65 feet;  

 

Thence South 2324'18" West, a distance of 95.61 feet;  

 

Thence South 2005'50" West, a distance of 86.55 feet;  

 

Thence South 1647'22" West, a distance of 307.56 feet;  

 

Thence North 7330'45" West, a distance of 75.73 feet;  

 

Thence North 1800'06" East, a distance of 184.60 feet;  

 

Thence North 2917'26" East, a distance of 146.00 feet;  

 

Thence on the arc of a curve to the right, a radius of 349.00 feet, a central angle of 0856'40", a distance 

of 54.48 feet, (a chord bearing North 5614'15" West, a distance of 54.43 feet), more or less, to the 

POINT OF BEGINNING. 

 

The above described parcel contains 33,767 sq. ft. (0.775 acres), more or less. 

 

BASIS OF BEARINGS: All bearings are based on the line connecting the Northwest corner of Section 

14, Township 22 North, Range 55 West, of the 6th Principal Meridian and the West sixteenth corner of 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 402 / 404



said Section 14, being a GRID bearing of South 8813’30’’ East a distance of 1326.35' feet as obtained 

from a global positioning system (GPS) survey based on the Nebraska High Accuracy Reference Network 

(NHARN). Said grid bearing is NAD 83 (2011) Nebraska State Plane Zone 2600. 

 

 

Section 2. The real estate described in paragraph 1 is hereby annexed to and included within the corporate 

limits of the City, and hereafter shall be and remain a part of the City for all purposes whatsoever. 

 

Section 3.  The owners, occupants and users of the real estate described in paragraph 1 shall be entitled to 

all the rights and privileges, and subject to all the laws, ordinances, rules and regulations of the City. Such 

owners, occupants and users shall receive substantially the benefits of other owners, occupants and users 

of lands within the City as soon as practical and adequate plans and necessary City Council action, if any, 

to furnish such benefits as police, fire, snow removal and water service shall be adopted as provided in 

Neb. Rev. Stat. §16-120 (Reissue 2012). 

 

Section 4.  This Ordinance shall become effective upon its passage, approval and publication as provided 

by law. 

 

PASSED AND APPROVED on __________________, 2014.    

 

 

_________________________________ 

Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_________________________ 

City Clerk     (Seal) 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 403 / 404



City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska
Monday, June 2, 2014

Regular Meeting

Item Exec1

Council reserves the right to enter into closed session if deemed 
necessary if the item is on the agenda.

Staff Contact: City Council

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/2/2014 Page 404 / 404


